# Community Weight Loss Programmes -Applying Traditional and Behavioural-Economic Approaches to Help Understand When They Are Cost-Effective

Edward Joseph Francmanis

# Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Leeds

Leeds Institute of Health Sciences – Academic Unit of Health Economics

November 2019

#### **Intellectual Property and Publication Statements**

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is his own and that appropriate credit has been given where reference has been made to the work of others.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from this thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

The right of Edward Joseph Francmanis to be identified as Author of this work has been asserted by him in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank:

- My supervision team of Dr David Meads, Prof. Claire Hulme and Prof. Andy Hill for their expertise, their constant feedback throughout the duration of the PhD, and their willingness to help. I am very grateful, and would not have been able to finish this PhD without their support and guidance over the last four years.
- Slimming World, who provided me with this opportunity, and the data necessary for the completion of my PhD, as well as feedback and advice.
- The Economic and Social Research Council for providing funding which helped enable this PhD.
- Prof. Sandy Tubeuf for agreeing to assess the progress of my PhD at the end of my 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> year, and Dr Adam Martin, who agreed to at the end of my 3<sup>rd</sup> year.
- My parents, Margaret and Paul who have always supported me and helped me persevere to complete this PhD.

#### Abstract

Adult obesity remains a public health crisis with little sign of abating. Interventions to tackle obesity are many, and funding choices should be supported by evidence on value for money. A key issue with the economic assessment of weight-management programmes is that effectiveness should be extrapolated into the future, and therefore predictions should be made regarding long-term weight-change. However, as these weight-trajectories are often unknown, assumptions must be made within the model. In previous models, weight-trajectory assumptions are often basic and comprehensive sensitivity analysis of these weight-trajectories is rare.

This PhD aims to improve the best practice of cost-effectiveness modelling for weight management programmes and test various scenarios regarding weighttrajectories following these programmes. Economic and behavioural economic theories of weight-management were identified and used to build a framework to explain decision making regarding weight-management, and predict weightchange. A meta-regression model to predict weight-regain following weightmanagement programmes was then built. Following this, a longitudinal dataset of a sample of the UK population was analysed to predict a background weight trajectory.

The cost-effectiveness model used the Slimming World programme as a casestudy, and combined the previous workstreams to inform weight-trajectories of the participants, parameters, and various sensitivity analysis, including scenarios used in economic evaluations from the literature. The research found that assumptions regarding weight-regain were the key driver of costeffectiveness, and that assumptions used by previous economic models may have caused large inaccuracies in estimations of cost-effectiveness.

This PhD provides guidance to future projects estimating long-term costeffectiveness of weight-management programmes. Policymakers will also gain an improved understanding of the potential weight-trajectories following weight-management programmes, and the impact than these long-term trajectories can have on the overall cost-effectiveness of the programme. This should lead to more accurate estimates of the value of interventions, and greater confidence in preventative healthcare spending decisions.

#### Contents

Chapter 1: The Obesity Problem in the United Kingdom	16
1.1 Introduction	16
1.2 BMI as a Measure of Obesity	17
1.3 Determinants of Obesity	17
1.3.2 Causes of the Increase in Obesity	19
1.4 Health Effects of Obesity	21
1.5 Costs of Obesity	22
1.5.1 Public Health Costs	22
1.5.2 Societal Costs	23
1.5.3 Individual Costs	23
1.6 The Problem	24
1.7 Aims and Objectives	25
Chapter 2: Can Economic and Behavioural Economic Theories help to Explain W	/eight
Management Benaviour? A Systematic Review	
2.1 Background	
2.2.1 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria	
2.2.2 Data Extraction and Synthesis	30
2.2.3 Citation Tracking	31
2.2.4 Results	31
2.3 How do current economics and behavioural economic theories explain wei management?	ght 33
2.3.1 Theme 1: Rational Choice	33
2.3.2 Theme 2: Time-Preference	41
2.3.3 Theme 3: Habits and Self-Control	46
Chapter 3: The Theoretical Framework of Weight Management	58
3.1 Rational Choice Framework	58
3.2 Time-Preference Framework	60
3.3 Habits and Self-Control Framework	61
3.4 Summary	62
Chapter 4: The Slimming World Programme and Dataset	63
4.1 Slimming World	63
4.1.2 The Cost of the Programme	65
4.1.3 Slimming World as a Case Study	66
4.2 Data	66
4.2.1 Key Parameters for Retention	67

4.2.2 The Variables in the Dataset	68
4.2.3 Missing Baseline Data	70
4.3 Describing the Population at Baseline	73
4.4 Outcome Data	81
4.4.1 Unobserved Attendance Data	83
4.2.2 Attendance	83
4.2.3 Clinical Outcomes	85
4.2.4 Weight Outcomes	86
4.5 Summary	92
Chapter 5: Analysis of Weight-Change and Attendance in the Slimming World Da	ataset
	94
	94
5.1.1 Rational Choice	95
5.1.2 Time-Preference	99
5.1.3 Habits and Self-Control	100
5.1.4 Overall Empirical Specification	102
5.1.5 Summary of Empirical Specification	103
5.2 Regression Methods	104
5.2.1 Method 1: Ordinary Least Squares	105
5.2.2 Generalised Linear Model	106
5.2.3 Method 2: Probit Model	106
5.2.4 Method 3: Heckman Specification Model	108
5.3 Results	110
5.3.1 Univariate Analysis	110
5.3.2 Full Linear Regression Model	113
5.3.3 Probit Model	119
5.3.4 Heckman Selection Model	122
5.3.5 Heckman Selection Model Predictions of Weight-Change at 6, 12 and Months	24 124
5.4 Discussion	130
Chapter 6: Model-Based Economic Evaluations of Behavioural Weight- Management Interventions: A Systematic Review of Model-Based Evaluat with a Focus on Assumptions on Effectiveness	tions
6.1 Introduction	133
6.2 Background	134
6.3 Methods 6.3.1 Search strategy	136
6.3.2 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	137
6.3.3 Data Extraction	138
	100

6.4 Results	140
6.4.1 Search Results	140
6.4.2 Characteristics of the Studies	140
6.4.3 Modelling Methodologies and Weight-Trajectory Assumptions	144
6.4.4 Reported Outcomes and Robustness to Adjusting Weight-Trajectory Assumptions	156
6.4.5 Quality Assessment of Included Studies	160
6.5 Discussion	163
Chapter 7: Weight Outcomes after Behavioral Weight-Management Programs: A Meta-Analysis of Long-Term Follow-Up	167
7.1 Introduction	167
7.2 Methods	169
7.2.1 Search Strategy	169
7.2.3 Data Extraction	171
7.3 Results	173
7.3.1 Search Results	173
7.3.2 The Behavioural Weight-Management Programmes	174
7.3.3 Study Population	181
7.3.4 Weight-Change Outcomes	181
7.4 Meta-Regression Analysis	185
7.4.1 Meta-Regression Analyses Methodology	185
7.4.2 Meta-Regression Analyses Results	189
7.5 Discussion	203
Chapter 8: Projections of Weight-Change Outside of the Slimming World Progra Evidence from the ELSA Dataset and a Slimming World Follow-up Study	mme: 206
8.1 Introduction	206
8.2 Methods	208
8.2.1 The English Longitudinal Study of Ageing	208
8.2.2.1 The ELSA Dataset	209
8.2.2.2 Analysis of the ELSA Dataset	211
8.2.3 The Slimming World Follow-up Study	213
8.3 Results	216
8.3.1 The ELSA Dataset	216
8.3.2 The Slimming World Follow-up Study	222
8.4 Discussion	227
Chapter 9: The Cost-Effectiveness Model for the Economic Evaluation of Behavioural Weight-Management Programmes	230
9.1 Background	230

9.2 Methods	232
9.2.1 The Cost-Effectiveness Model	232
9.2.2 The Case-Study of the Slimming World Cohort	233
9.2.3 Weight-Change Trajectories in the Cost-Effectiveness Model	234
9.2.4 Health States and Mortality Rates	239
9.2.5 Model Output Validation	243
9.2.6 Health Utility States and Healthcare Costs	243
9.3 Sensitivity Analysis of the Base Case	246
9.4 Alternative Scenario Analysis	248
9.5 Alternative Scenarios taken from the Literature of Economic Evaluation	is 250
9.6 Scenario analysis on the Control Group and Background Trajectories . 2	252
9.6.1 Analysis of Background Weight-Trajectories	252
9.7 Alternative Programme Consideration	253
9.8 Probabilistic Sensitivity Analysis of Selected Scenarios of Weight- Change	253
9.9 Hypothetical Scenarios of Weight-Change and Weight-Regain	254
9.10 Discussion	255
Chapter 10: The Results of Cost-Effectiveness Modelling and the Impact of Changing Assumptions of Effectiveness	259
10.1 Results from the Base-Case Scenario	259
10.1.1 One-Way Sensitivity Analysis	263
10.1.2 Probabilistic Sensitivity Analysis of the Base-Case	264
10.2 Alternate Weight-Trajectory Scenarios	267
10.3 Testing Weight-Regain Scenarios used in Previous Economic Evaluations	272
10.4 Adjusting the Control group Assumptions and Background Trajectories	S 275
10.4.1 Analysis of Adjustments to Background Weight-Trajectories	276
10.5 Alternative Programme Consideration	277
10.6 Probabilistic Sensitivity Analysis of Selected Scenarios	278
10.7 Hypothetical Scenarios of Weight-Change and Weight-Regain	280
10.8 Discussion	281
Chapter 11: Discussion	285
11.1 The Research Problem	285
11.2.1 Theoretical Framework of Weight-Management	286
11.2.2 The Slimming World Data	286

11.2 Man	.3 The Current Literature on Economic Evaluations of Weight- agement	289
11.2	.4 Evidence of Weight-Regain	291
11.2	.5 Background Weight-Trajectories	293
11.2 Assเ	.6 Cost-Effectiveness Modelling and Testing Weight-Trajectory	293
11.3 S	trengths and Weaknesses	294
11.4	Future Research	297
11.5	Recommendations	300
Reference	ce List	304
Appendix	<	331

TABLE 1: SEARCH TERMS USED IN THEORY IDENTIFICATION	28
TABLE 2: DATA RETENTION PARAMETERS	67
TABLE 3: MEMBER INFORMATION AT BASELINE	69
TABLE 4: MEMBER KEY VARIABLES MISSING SUMMARY	70
TABLE 5: SUMMARY OF BASELINE VARIABLES	73
TABLE 6: SUMMARY OF GENDER	74
TABLE 7: DISTRIBUTION OF MEMBERS BY BMI CLASSIFICATION AT BASELINE	76
TABLE 8: DISTRIBUTION OF MEMBERS BY AGE GROUP AT BASELINE	77
TABLE 9: PROPORTION OF INDIVIDUALS IN EACH IMD QUINTILE	77
TABLE 10: BASELINE SUMMARY BY JOIN TYPE	79
TABLE 11: SUMMARY STATISTICS BY INCOME IMD QUINTILE	80
TABLE 12: JOIN TYPE PROPORTIONS FOR EACH INCOME IMD QUINTILE	80
TABLE 13: OUTCOME VARIABLES	82
TABLE 14: PROPORTION OF MEMBERS THAT ACHIEVE WEIGHT CHANGE LEVELS	86
TABLE 15: A HISTOGRAM OF WEIGHT-CHANGE AT 12-WEEKS	86
TABLE 16: OUTCOMES BY TIME-PERIOD OF LEAVING THE PROGRAMME	87
TABLE 17: OUTCOMES BY JOIN TYPE	87
TABLE 18: OUTCOMES BY AGE GROUP	88
TABLE 19: OUTCOMES BY BMI GROUP	89
TABLE 20: OUTCOME COMPARISON OF COMPLETERS WITH VARIOUS LEAVE EARLY RATES	90
TABLE 21: OUTCOMES BY INCOME IMD QUINTILE	90
TABLE 22: OUTCOMES BY EDUCATION & SKILLS IMD QUINTILE	91
TABLE 23: UNIVARIATE REGRESSION RESULTS PREDICT LOCF WEIGHT- CHANGE WITH BASELINE WEIGHT AS A CONTROL VARIABLE (APPENDIX	8)
TABLE 24: UNIVARIATE REGRESSION RESULTS WITH BASELINE WEIGHT AND    12-WEEK ATTENDANCES AS CONTROLS (APPENDIX 9)	. 112
TABLE 25: MULTIVARIATE OLS REGRESSION MODEL TO PREDICT LOCF    WEIGHT-CHANGE AT 12-WEEKS (APPENDIX 10)	. 114
TABLE 26: THE OLS REGRESSION MODEL WITHOUT ATTENDANCE DATA    (APPENDIX 11)	. 118
TABLE 27: PROBIT REGRESSION MODEL PREDICTING ATTENDANCE IN WEEK    (APPENDIX 12)	11 . 119
TABLE 28: PROBIT REGRESSION MODELS PREDICTING ATTENDANCE AT 12-WEEKS, 6-MONTHS AND 1-YEAR (APPENDIX 13)	. 121
TABLE 29: HECKMAN SELECTION MODEL PREDICTING WEIGHT-CHANGE AT WEEK 11 WITH ATTENDANCE AT WEEK 11 AS THE SELECTION OUTCOME (APPENDIX <i>15</i> )	122
TABLE 30: LOCF WEIGHT-CHANGE AND PREDICTED WEIGHT-CHANGE AT WEI    11 (APPENDIX 16)	ΞK .124
TABLE 31: HECKMAN SELECTION MODEL PREDICTING LOCF AT 6, 12 AND 24 MONTHS WITH ATTENDANCE AS THE SELECTION OUTCOME (APPENDIX 2	20)
	5

TABLE 32: LOCF AND PROJECTED WEIGHT-CHANGE AT 6-MONTHS (APPENDIX    21)
TABLE 33: HECKMAN CORRECTION MODEL PREDICTED WEIGHT-CHANGE AT 12- MONTHS (APPENDIX 22)    128
TABLE 34: HECKMAN CORRECTION MODEL PREDICTED WEIGHT-CHANGE AT 24- MONTHS (APPENDIX 23)    129
TABLE 35: SEARCH TERMS
TABLE 36: THE BEHAVIOURAL WEIGHT-MANAGEMENT PROGRAMMES MODELLED
TABLE 37: MODELLING METHODS AND WEIGHT-TRAJECTORY ASSUMPTIONS.145
TABLE 38: COST-EFFECTIVENESS RESULTS
TABLE 39: SEARCH TERMS EMPLOYED IN THE SEARCH STRATEGY
TABLE 40: A SUMMARY OF THE INCLUDED BWMS180
TABLE 41: A SUMMARY OF THE TIME PERIODS IN THE PROGRAMMES (MONTHS)
TABLE 42: WEIGHT-CHANGE IN EACH PROGRAMME
TABLE 43: A SUMMARY OF WEIGHT CHANGE IN THE PROGRAMMES
TABLE 44: UNIVARIATE META-REGRESSIONS ON WEIGHT-LOSS IN THE WEIGHT- LOSS PHASE
TABLE 45: MULTIVARIATE META-REGRESSION MODELS PREDICTING WEIGHT- LOSS IN THE WEIGHT-LOSS PHASE
TABLE 46: UNIVARIATE META-REGRESSIONS ON WEIGHT-CHANGE IN FOLLOW- UP OBSERVATIONS
TABLE 47: A MULTIVARIATE META-REGRESSION ON WEIGHT-CHANGE FOR ALL OBSERVATIONS POST WEIGHT-LOSS PHASE
TABLE 48: META REGRESSION MODEL PREDICTING WEIGHT-CHANGE    INCLUDING ALL OBSERVATIONS
TABLE 49: META REGRESSION MODELS PREDICTING WEIGHT-CHANGEINCLUDING ALL OBSERVATIONS WITHOUT AGE VARIABLE201
TABLE 50: MISSING DATA AT BASELINE
TABLE 51: A SUMMARY OF KEY VARIABLES AT BASELINE
TABLE 52: FREQUENCIES OF TOP QUALIFICATION ACHIEVED
TABLE 53: THE SELF-ASSESSED GENERAL HEALTH OF RESPONDENTS
TABLE 54: MISSING DATA IN EACH VARIABLE
TABLE 55: BASELINE WEIGHT, BMI AND TARGETS FOR ALL RESPONDENTS 215
TABLE 56: WEIGHT-CHANGE FROM BASELINE AT EACH WAVE OF OBSERVATIONS216
TABLE 57: UNIVARIATE REGRESSIONS PREDICTING WEIGHT-CHANGE
TABLE 58: MULTIVARIATE REGRESSION MODEL PREDICTING WEIGHT-CHANGE
TABLE 59: THE BASIC MODEL OF PREDICTING WEIGHT-CHANGE FROM    BASELINE OVER TIME
TABLE 60: REGRESSION MODEL TO PREDICT A BACKGROUND WEIGHT-    TRAJECTORY
TABLE 61: A SUMMARY OF OUTCOMES FOR ALL RESPONDENTS
TABLE 62: UNIVARIATE REGRESSIONS PREDICTING WEIGHT CHANGE BETWEEN    BASELINE AND FOLLOW-UP
TABLE 63: MULTIVARIATE REGRESSIONS PREDICTING WEIGHT-CHANGE BETWEEN LEAVING SLIMMING WORLD AND FOLLOW-UP

### List of Figures

FIGURE 1: ADULT OVERWEIGHT AND OBESITY PREVALENCE RATES IN ENGLAND (NHS DIGITAL, 2019A)1
FIGURE 2: THE INFLUENCERS OF OBESITY
FIGURE 3: PRISMA FLOWCHART
FIGURE 4: FLOWCHART OF THE EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE IDENTIFICATION PROCESS
FIGURE 5: DISTRIBUTION OF BASELINE BMI
FIGURE 6: DISTRIBUTION OF AGE AT START DATE
FIGURE 7: DISTRIBUTION OF THE TARGET WEIGHT-LOSS SET BY SLIMMING WORLD MEMBERS
FIGURE 8: DISTRIBUTION OF JOIN TYPES
FIGURE 9: NUMBER OF MEMBERS THAT REMAIN IN THE PROGRAMME THROUGH EACH TIME-PERIOD
FIGURE 10: DISTRIBUTION OF ATTENDANCES IN THE FIRST 12 WEEKS
FIGURE 11: KERNEL DENSITY ESTIMATE FOR RESIDUALS OF THE OLS REGRESSION
FIGURE 12: Q-Q NORMALITY PLOT FOR THE OLS REGRESSION
FIGURE 13: P-P PLOT FOR THE OLS REGRESSION11
FIGURE 14: A PLOT OF RESIDUALS AGAINST FITTED VALUES FOR THE OLS REGRESSION
FIGURE 15: HECKMAN CORRECTION MODEL PREDICTED WEIGHT-CHANGE OVER TIME
FIGURE 16: MODELLING METHODS EMPLOYED IN THE GRIFFITHS ET AL. (2012) REVIEW BY INTERVENTION TYPE
FIGURE 17: A PRISMA DIAGRAM FOR THE SEARCH STRATEGY14
FIGURE 18: MODELLING METHOD EMPLOYED15
FIGURE 19: WEIGHT-REGAIN ASSUMPTIONS MADE
FIGURE 20: A FLOWCHART OF THE SEARCH STRATEGY 17
FIGURE 21: MEAN WEIGHT TRAJECTORIES FROM BASELINE FOR EACH PROGRAMME
FIGURE 22: A GRAPH OF WEIGHT-CHANGE FROM BASELINE AGAINST TIME FROM THE END OF THE WEIGHT-LOSS PHASE
FIGURE 23: NORMAL PROBABILITY PLOT OF STANDARDISED PREDICTED RANDOM EFFECTS FOR THE WEIGHT-LOSS PHASE
FIGURE 24: A BUBBLE PLOT OF WEIGHT-CHANGE OBSERVATIONS OVER TIME
FIGURE 25: A GRAPH OF PREDICTED WEIGHT-CHANGE FROM BASELINE AGAINST TIME FROM THE END OF THE WEIGHT-LOSS PHASE
FIGURE 26: A GRAPH OF WEIGHT-TRAJECTORIES FROM THE END OF THE WEIGHT-LOSS PHASE USING ALL OBSERVATIONS AND WITHOUT VLCD PROGRAMMES
FIGURE 27: NORMAL PROBABILITY PLOT OF STANDARDISED PREDICTED RANDOM EFFECTS FOR ALL OBSERVATIONS
FIGURE 28: NORMAL PROBABILITY PLOT OF STANDARDISED PREDICTED RANDOM EFFECTS FOR ALL OBSERVATIONS WITHOUT AGE AND GENDER
FIGURE 29: WEIGHT-CHANGE OVER TIME FOR THE SAMPLE

FIGURE 30: A HISTOGRAM OF WEIGHT-CHANGE FROM BASELINE	218
FIGURE 31: PREDICTED MEAN WEIGHT OVER TIME FOR THE SLIMMING WO COHORT	RLD
FIGURE 32: A HISTOGRAM OF BMI GROUPS AT BASELINE AND FOLLOW-UP.	224
FIGURE 33: THE THREE STAGES OF WEIGHT-CHANGE	234
FIGURE 34: MEAN BMI OVER TIME IN THE BASE-CASE	239
FIGURE 35: HEALTH STATES IN THE COST-EFFECTIVENESS MODEL	240
FIGURE 36: BMI GROUPS OVER TIME (WITH MORTALITY)	242
FIGURE 37: PROPORTION OF COHORT WITH OBESITY OVER TIME	242
FIGURE 38: A TORNADO PLOT OF ONE-WAY SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS	264
FIGURE 39: COST-EFFECTIVENESS PLANE IN THE BASE-CASE	266
FIGURE 40: COST-EFFECTIVENESS ACCEPTABILITY CURVE IN THE BASE-C/	4SE 267
FIGURE 41: WEIGHT-CHANGE OVER TIME FOR EACH SCENARIO	270
FIGURE 42: TORNADO PLOT OF NET BENEFIT OF VARIOUS SCENARIOS	274
FIGURE 43: TWO-WAY SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS SHOWING ICERS (£) FOR VARYING LEVELS OF WEIGHT-LOSS AND TIME FOR WEIGHT-REGAIN	281

#### Abbreviations

- BMI: Body Mass Index
- BOCF: Baseline Observation Carried Forward
- BWM: Behavioural Weight-Management programme
- CVD: Cardiovascular Disease
- DALY: Disability-Adjusted Life-Year
- ELSA: English Longitudinal Study of Aging
- **GDP: Gross Domestic Product**
- GLM: Generalised Linear Model
- **GP: General Practitioner**
- HSE: Health Survey for England
- IMAGE: Individual Motivation And Group Experience
- IMD: Index of Multiple Deprivation
- LOCF: Last Observation Carried Forward
- LSOA: Lower Super Output Area
- **MI: Myocardial Infarction**
- NHS: National Health Service
- NICE: National Institute of Clinical Excellence
- **OLS: Ordinary Least Squares**
- PSA: Probabilistic Sensitivity Analysis
- QALY: Quality-Adjusted Life-Year
- **RCT: Randomised Controlled Trial**
- SD: Standard Deviation
- SSB: Sugar-Sweetened Beverage
- SW: Slimming World
- SWoR: Slimming World on Referral
- T2D: Type II Diabetes
- VIF: Variance Inflation Factor
- VLCD: Very-Low Calorie Diet

## Chapter 1: The Obesity Problem in the United Kingdom

#### 1.1 Introduction

Obesity is a growing public health challenge in the UK with 29% of adults being classified as obese in 2017 (NHS Digital, 2019). This is concerning due to this level being comfortably above the OECD average of 19.5% and gives the UK the 6<sup>th</sup> highest level of obesity amongst OECD countries (Devaux et al., 2017). The prevalence rate in England has trended upwards over time, almost doubling since 1993, where the obesity rate was close to 15%, shown in Figure 1. The OECD predicts a continuation of this growth, with the obesity rate in England expected to rise to 35% by the year 2030 (Devaux et al., 2017). As well as the increased prevalence of obesity rising, the combined rate of overweight and obesity has risen over the last two decades with close to two-thirds of the population of the UK currently being heavier than a healthy-weight (NHS Digital, 2019a). The rate of morbid obesity rose from 1% to 4% between 1993 and 2017 (NHS Digital, 2019a).

Figure 1: Adult Overweight and Obesity Prevalence Rates in England (NHS Digital, 2019a).



#### 1.2 BMI as a Measure of Obesity

Obesity is defined using an individual's BMI, which is calculated by dividing weight in kilograms by height in metres squared. Individuals are defined as overweight if their BMI is above 25kg/m<sup>2</sup>, whilst individuals with obesity are those with a BMI over 30kg/m<sup>2</sup> (WHO, 2016). There is a strong correlation between BMI and a number of diseases which shows that BMI is a good indicator of health risk (Department of Health, 2011).

#### 1.3 Determinants of Obesity

One of the problems in slowing the increase of obesity, is that there are many complex behavioural and societal factors that have affected the increase in average population calorie intake, and the reduction in calorie expenditure (Butland et al., 2007; Chan and Woo, 2010). Because of this, there is no simple solution to resolve the obesity issue at a population level. The Foresight report (Butland et al., 2007) lists seven influencers of obesity at the individual level (Figure 2).





The first factor affecting obesity is biology, which includes both the effect of genetics and the effects of sickness. Individuals have heterogeneous metabolic rates which are influenced by weight, age, and other biological factors (Johnstone et al., 2005). Generally, younger and heavier individuals have faster metabolisms than other individuals which means that individuals will maintain their weight at differing calorie intake and expenditure levels. As well

as having heterogeneous metabolic rates, it is also the case that people have differing appetites, and so some will satisfy their hunger with a smaller amount of food, whilst some will require more to reach this satiety point (van der Klaauw and Farooqi, 2015).

Food consumption is the next factor involved in obesity prevalence. Because food consumption determines the total calorie intake for an individual, it is a large factor of whether an individual is in a calorie deficit or surplus, and therefore loses or gains weight. Therefore, individual choice regarding food consumption is a significant factor contributing towards obesity. Similarly, physical activity is a key determinant of calorie expenditure, as exercising requires energy. As well as this, more intense and prolonged exercise causing a larger calorie expenditure which can cause a larger calorie deficit and result in larger weight-loss.

If an individual desires a healthier diet, achieving this healthier diet may be unfeasible if the local environment does not accommodate this. For example, there may be few healthy food shops in the area, or the individual may be unable to afford a healthier diet. As well as this, the opportunity for activity in the individual's local environment can influence the level of physical activity undertaken. For example, are there sports clubs and gyms in the area that are affordable? Are there safe cycling routes? Is the area safe to exercise alone? If these requirements are not met, even if an individual wants to participate in physical activity, it may be inconvenient if the local environment presents limited opportunities to do so.

The final direct influencer of obesity is individual psychology, and the impact of decision making on weight management. Individuals can have heterogeneous psychological drives for particular foods and consumption patterns, or physical activity patterns, which can in turn affect bodyweight. Different individuals will also have heterogeneous reactions to external stimuli, with some being more tempted than others by advertising, smells and packaging (Ruhm, 2012).

Societal influence can influence individual psychology in regards to weight decisions. This may include the impact of the media in determining people's ideal body weight, what children are taught in school, peer pressure to lose weight or eat calorie dense food and drink, and culture. Culture has an important influence on individual habits. For example, a typical night socialising

for individuals may involve eating a calorie dense meal whilst drinking alcohol, which are viewed as empty calories. If an individual wants to lose weight, then they may have to forgo this social experience, or have a low-calorie meal and water, which may conflict with societal norms.

#### 1.3.2 Causes of the Increase in Obesity

The economic focus on growth is one reason for the increase in the obesity rate globally. Increased economic growth and consumerism is causing an increase in demand for food, beverages and technology that reduces exertion of energy. These three factors all increase the average calorie surplus and therefore the obesity rate (Ananthapavan et al., 2014).

Cawley (2004) explains how the increase in obesity prevalence over the past couple of decades can be explained by technological change. Mass preparation of food has led to lower prices through increased supply, which has increased the amount of food that each individual can afford, and resulted in a larger quantity of food demanded (Lakdawalla and Phillipson, 2002; Lakdawalla and Phillipson, 2009). Technology has also reduced waiting times with the ability to quickly make meals in microwaves and purchase meals from the growing number of fast-food outlets.

Also, due to technological change, food variety has risen, which has led to an increase in snacking between meals (Cutler et al., 2003; Sorensen et al., 2003). Between 1978 and 1996 in the United States, Cutler et al. (2003) found that average calorie intake rose by 268 per day for men, and by 143 for women. In men, 90% of this calorie increase came from extra snacking, with snacking causing 112% of the calorie intake increase in women. This implies that the average calorie intake from meals has stayed fairly constant, and that women in 1996 were actually consuming less calories from meals than women in 1978.

Technological change has also caused work to be more sedentary. Many manual labour jobs are being automated and people are more and more often working from desks and burning very few calories. Phillipson and Posner (1999) state that due to technological change, people now have to pay for exercise in terms of both time and money rather than being paid to do physical activity when manual labour jobs were more common. Lakdawalla and Phillipson (2007) found that men who spend 18 years working in the highest ranked "fitness demanding" labour jobs are on average 14% lighter than those in the lowest ranked. This is represented as a difference in BMI of 3.5kg/m<sup>2</sup>. The changing role of women in society is also thought to be a contributor to the change in obesity prevalence rate. Anderson et al. (2003) found significant evidence of a causal effect of maternal employment on the probability of a child being overweight. This could be due to parents being less able to supervise eating and exercise. If one of the parents is working less it means that less of their time is expended on work, and there will be more time available to shop for food, cook meals, play with the child, and take them to play sports or participate in outdoor activities. It is possible that these habits developed by the child at an early age are taken forward into later life (Anderson et al., 2003). Leisure activities for children have also seen a large shift from hobbies that are active to hobbies that are more sedentary, such as video games and watching television (Vandewater et al., 2004).

Another factor in the rise in obesity has been the fall in the total number of smokers in the population (NHS Digital, 2019b). Courtemanche et al. (2016) estimated that quitting smoking leads to an average weight gain of 11-12 pounds, which was estimated to account for around 14% of the rise in obesity in the United States. Since 2010, the smoking rate amongst adults in the UK has fallen from 19.9% to 15.5%, so it is likely that the reduction in the number of smokers has contributed to the rise in the obesity rate in the UK also.

In a study by Lakdawalla and Phillipson (2002) using data from 1974-1996, the researchers attributed around 40% of weight growth to agricultural innovation lowering food prices and 60% to demand factors such as physical activity changes at home and at the workplace. Cawley (2015) in a review of economic research on obesity, concluded that there is no single main cause of the increase in obesity which makes providing population level interventions challenging for policymakers.

#### 1.4 Health Effects of Obesity

The main concern with the increase in the obesity prevalence rate in the UK is that obesity increases the risk status for a number of diseases. Men with obesity are five times more likely to develop Type 2 diabetes than a male of healthy weight, three times more likely to develop colon cancer, and two and a half times as likely to have high blood pressure, which can cause stroke and heart disease (Department of Health, 2011). Obese women are almost 13 times more likely to have Type 2 diabetes, more than four times more likely to have high blood pressure, and more than three times as likely to suffer a heart attack than their healthy weight counterparts (Department of Health, 2011). Individuals with obesity also have a higher risk of other diseases, including angina, gall bladder disease, liver disease, ovarian cancer, and osteoarthritis (Department of Health, 2011). Research has shown a total of 18 comorbidities that have a statistically significant relationship to obesity (Guh et al., 2009). An estimated 7.1% of deaths in England and Wales in 2014 were attributed to overweight and obesity, with each individual losing an average of 12 years of life which equals a total of 430,029 life years (Tovey, 2017).

The Global BMI Mortality Collaboration (2016) found in a meta-analysis of 239 studies on obesity that identified the hazard ratio<sup>1</sup> of each BMI group compared with a healthy BMI of 18.5-<25.0kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Before filtering the participants, the analysis found a reduced hazard ratio of 0.95 for those overweight (BMI of 25.0-<30.0kg/m<sup>2</sup>) but an increase in each subsequent group with those severely obese (BMI of 40.0-<60.0kg/m<sup>2</sup>) having a hazard ratio of 1.95. After filtering participants to those that had never smoked, had no known chronic disease at baseline and excluding the first 5 years of follow-up, the researchers found those that were overweight had an increased hazard ratio of 1.11 and this rose up to those that were severely obese having a hazard ratio of 2.71.

A collaborative analysis of 57 studies on the relationship between BMI and mortality found a strong positive correlation (Prospective Studies Collaboration, 2009). The analysis revealed each 5kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI was correlated with around a 30% higher rate of mortality. At a BMI of between 30 and 35kg/m<sup>2</sup>,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hazard ratio signals the ratio of deaths in the group compared to the baseline group (normal weight)

median survival fell by 2-4 years whilst those with a BMI of between 40 and 45kg/m<sup>2</sup> had their median survival reduced by 8-10 years. In 2015, being either overweight or obese caused 7.1% of all deaths globally (Mokdad, 2017). As well as these negative effects on life-expectancy, obesity also reduces physical functioning with individuals with obesity having a lower functional capacity than those of a healthy weight (Pataky et al., 2014).

#### 1.5 Costs of Obesity

In addition to the negative public health effects that come with having a high obesity rate, there are also costs that come with treating diseases, costs to society and businesses, and costs to the individuals themselves. Globally, obesity is estimated to cost society \$2 trillion each year (McKinsey & Company, 2014). In a UK context, obesity has the second greatest human generated impact on the UK (after smoking) – one that costs \$73 billion each year, equivalent to 3% of GDP (McKinsey & Company, 2015).

#### 1.5.1 Public Health Costs

In a systematic review of the economic effects of obesity, Yusefzadeh et al. (2019) found that around 10% of health care costs are directly and indirectly attributable to adult obesity. This equates to an obese individual having 32% higher health care costs than a person of normal weight on average.

The UK government reported that an estimated £6.1bn was spent in 2014 to 2015 on medical costs associated with overweight and obesity, and is expected to reach £9.7bn by 2050 (Public Health England, 2017a). This is a substantial burden for the NHS budget, and one that is growing. A systematic review that included 23 studies on the economic burden of obesity concluded that there is an urgent need for public health measures to reduce the obesity prevalence rate (Tremmel et al., 2017).

As the NHS has limited resources, it cannot afford to treat every health problem across the population. NICE must therefore prioritise which treatments to fund based on the cost-effectiveness of each treatment – weighing up the effectiveness of the treatment in terms of improvements to quality of life, gains to life years, against the cost of the treatment (Weinstein, 2009). With diseases relating to obesity taking up an increasing percentage of the NHS budget, this results in resources being taken away from other diseases and redistributed towards co-morbidities of obesity, further damaging the population's health.

#### 1.5.2 Societal Costs

As well as direct healthcare costs there are also wider costs to society that must be considered. As obesity causes health problems there is productivity loss due to illness as well as underachievement in education, lower engagement in society and discrimination in the workplace (Goettler et al., 2017). Butland et al. (2007) estimates that wider societal costs of overweight and obesity are around 7 times that of direct healthcare costs in the UK which represents a substantial proportion of GDP. By reducing the prevalence of obesity, the UK stands not only to gain from the reduced healthcare burden, but also from increased productivity and output. Public Health England (2017b) estimated that the cost to wider society is £27 bn. This is expected to reach £49.9bn by 2050.

#### 1.5.3 Individual Costs

Individuals with obesity face a number of negative effects associated with their weight, with the main problem being poor health and co-morbidities. As well as health problems, individuals with obesity also face wage penalties in the workplace (Cawley, 2004). This could be caused by lower productivity due more sick days or discrimination – both in applying for jobs and when being considered for promotions. Discrimination from society due to weight can also lead to mental health problems and increase the likelihood of further weight gain (Sutin and Terracciano, 2013).

#### 1.6 The Problem

To tackle the obesity problem, companies in the private sector, such as Slimming World and Weight Watchers, have developed community weight-loss programmes which aim to help customers adjust their lifestyles and weightmanagement behaviours (Slimming World, no date a; The New Weight Watchers, no date). These programmes have been successful in helping customers lose weight whilst they attend classes that promote healthy lifestyles and weight-management behaviour. A recent systematic review of over 1 million behavioural weight-loss programme participants showed a mean weightloss of 3.9kg at 3 months (Stubbs et al., 2015). However, once participants leave these programmes, little is known about whether individuals maintain their weight-loss, continue to lose weight, or regain weight.

One strategy undertaken by NICE to combat the rising obesity rate and reduced the rates of diseases associated with obesity is referral of individuals with obesity to commercial weight-management programmes (NICE, 2014). These programmes aim to help participants adjust their lifestyles in order to improve weight-management behaviour. To accurately assess whether these programmes offer long-term value for money, the effectiveness and associated costs should be measured over the course of a lifetime. To gain an understanding of the potential outcomes and costs of referring individuals to these weight-management programmes, the long-term cost-effectiveness of referral should be assessed via modelling methods. The key issue with the assessment of weight-management programmes however, is that weighttrajectories after people leave the programme are unknown, and therefore long-term costs and effects associated with weight-change are unknown. Therefore, assumptions must be made regarding the long-term weight-change of participants. Currently in the literature, assumptions are often basic in regards to weight-trajectories, and comprehensive sensitivity analysis of these weight-trajectories is rare.

#### 1.7 Aims and Objectives

This PhD will aim to improve the best practice of cost-effectiveness modelling for weight-management programmes, and test various scenarios regarding weight-trajectories following these programmes. To achieve this aim, the following questions will be answered.

- 1. Which economic and behavioural economic theories explain how individuals behave in regards to weight management?
- 2. Are the hypothesis made by the theoretical framework reflected in real world data?
- 3. How have economic evaluations of weight management programmes been modelled in the past?
- 4. What weight-trajectories can be expected following the completion of weight-management programmes?
- 5. What is the impact on cost-effectiveness of adjusting assumptions regarding long-term weight-trajectories?

The first stage of the PhD (Q1) is to identify how economic and behavioural economic theories explain weight management behaviour. A systematic review of current literature is undertaken to find theories that can be used to explain weight management decision making. The theories identified are then be used to form a theoretical framework of individual weight management behaviour.

The second phase (Q2) uses a case study, the Slimming World weight management programme, to provide evidence for this theoretical framework regarding the influencers of weight-change, using a large dataset. The framework is then be used to make predictions about how individuals, both those who remain in the programme, and those who leave, will fare with weight-change in the two-year intervention period.

The third phase (Q3) examines how the longer term cost-effectiveness of weight management programmes has been modelled. A review of the literature is undertaken, with focus on the assumptions made and the methods

employed. Information found from this review is used to inform the modification of a cost-effectiveness model.

The fourth phase (Q4) reviews the long-term follow up of behavioural weightmanagement in the literature to gain an understanding of the weighttrajectories that can be expected following the completion of a weightmanagement programme. This information is then used to form more general predictions of weight-trajectories after individuals leave weight-management programmes.

The penultimate phase (Q5) draws on the preceding phases to develop a costeffectiveness model, and model cost-effectiveness for the case study - the Slimming World programme. The predictions of weight-change within the Slimming World programme and predictions of weight-trajectories following weight-management programmes inform weight-change in the model, whilst the review of modelling literature informs the modifications to more general assumptions, and assumptions regarding the control group. Finally (Q6), sensitivity analyses are performed on the uncertain parameters within the model, including weight-change each year, to assess the impact of adjusting parameters on cost-effectiveness.

The thesis therefore aims to provide information about the factors which determine the success of lifestyle weight-management programmes. By doing this, service providers will be able to improve their programmes to take into account individual characteristics, demographics and habits. Policymakers will also gain an improved understanding of weight-trajectories following weight-management programmes, and the impact than these long-term trajectories can have on the overall cost-effectiveness of the programme. The cost-effectiveness model will also provide guidance on future projects estimating long-term cost-effectiveness of other public health programmes. This should therefore lead to more accurate estimates of the value of interventions, and greater confidence in preventative healthcare spending decisions.

## Chapter 2: Can Economic and Behavioural Economic Theories help to Explain Weight Management Behaviour? A Systematic Review

#### 2.1 Background

When estimating the value of weight management programmes, it is important to consider long-term effects. In order to estimate long-term weight trajectories it is useful to consider economic and behavioural economic theories of weight management so predictions can be made regarding outcomes according to individuals' characteristics.

Economic theory states that individuals that play a part in the economy have the goal of maximising their own utility (Aleskerov et al., 2007). Neo-classical theory makes the assumption that individuals have perfect information and are rational, and so can exactly assess how much expected utility they will receive from all options they have available to them, once probabilities and payoffs have been taken into account (Weintraub, 1993). However, behavioural economics recognises that some of the assumptions made by economic theory can limit the validity of predictions. Behavioural economic theory therefore loosens some of these assumptions in order to capture the heterogeneity, and sometimes lack of rationality, in the behaviour and decision making of individuals (Just, 2014).

This review aims to identify economic and behavioural economic theories that explain individual's decisions regarding weight change, what motivates them to make these decisions, and irrational behaviours that can lead to sub-optimal body weight outcomes. This will be done to better understand the decisionmaking of individuals who are attempting to lose weight, and those who are attempting to maintain weight loss.

The methods section is presented next including a description of the search strategy, the inclusion and exclusion criteria and the data extraction. Following this, the basic economic framework is presented as an introduction to the economic and behavioural economic theories in the review. Three themes of weight management behaviour that came forth during the data extraction are discussed. These three themes are rational choice, where it assumed people act with perfect rationality, time-preference, where the timing of returns affects decision making, and habits and self-control, which affect how individuals behave. In each of these sections the theories identified are discussed alongside any empirical evidence identified. The discussion section then summarises the main findings from the review.

#### 2.2 Methods

A preliminary search of Medline was performed using key terms such as 'economic theory' alongside terms including 'weight maintenance' and 'weight management' to identify the most common keywords in the literature that could be used to perform the main search. The books "Health Economics", "Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes" and "Behavioral Economic and Public Health" were consulted to find theory names that could be used as search terms to identify papers (Pauly et al., 2012; Drummond et al., 2005; Roberto and Kawachi, 2015). From here a comprehensive list of search term combinations was compiled in Table 1, where terms in each column were combined by "OR" and the four columns are combined by "AND". Therefore, papers identified must have had at least one keyword from each column. Two additional smaller scale searches were also performed. The first search combined columns 1+2+3 using "AND". The second combined columns 1+4, using "AND" also. This search was run in Medline, Embase, PsychINFO, The Cochrane Library, Web of Science, Econlit and CINAHL. All searches were run between 3<sup>rd</sup> May 2016 and 24<sup>th</sup> May 2016.

1	2	3	4
"Overweight"	"Economic* "	"Model "	"Willpower "
"Obes* "	"Behavioural	"Theory "	"Rational* "
	Economic* "		
"Weight trajectory*	"Behavioral	"Framework	"Bias* "
"	Economic* "	"	
"Weight Loss "		"Approach "	"Habit* "
"Weight Maint* "		"Principle "	"Self-Control "
"Weight		"Hypothesis	"Self-Regulation "
Management "		"	
			"Behav* "
			"Time-Preference "
			"Present Bias* "
			"Hyperbolic "
			"Discount" "
			"Peer Effect* "

Table 1: Search Terms used in Theory Identification

"Information Deficit
"
"Prospect Theory
"Rational Choice "
"Ego Depletion "
"Imperfect
information "
"Heuristics "
"Framing "
"Incentiv* "
"Consumer Choice
"
"Bounded
 Rationality "
"Dual System
 Theory "
"Dual Decision
 Theory "
"Grossman "
"Salience "
"Utility Maximi* "
"Rational Addiction
"
"Primrose Path "
"Myopic Addiction
"
"Status Quo Bias "
"Habitual Behav* "

#### 2.2.1 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

Inclusion and Exclusion criteria were set to ensure that only papers relevant to the research question were included in the review. The criteria that papers must meet to be included are listed below.

- Only individuals over the age of 18 as generally weight management programmes are aimed at those over the age of 18.
- The studies discuss either an economic or a behavioural economic theory focused on explaining individual weight change, as discussing these theories was the aim of the review.
- Studies focus on individual decision-making rather than population level causes of the rise in the obesity prevalence rate, as the aim of the review is to make predictions about individuals after a weight management programme.

- Only papers that involve lifestyle interventions, due to the fact that these are the interventions that focus on behavioural change.
- Papers may involve individuals with co-morbidities such as diabetes, but are focused on weight rather than the co-morbidity itself, as the focus is on reviewing theories relating to weight management, not the comorbidities related to weight.
- The studies involved are all English language papers for practical reasons, but there was no constraint on the country of origin.

#### 2.2.2 Data Extraction and Synthesis

Once the search was run and duplicates had been removed, titles and abstracts were screened. Ten percent of the papers were selected at random to be checked by a second reviewer against the inclusion/exclusion criteria, followed by discussion and agreement over any discrepancies in choice. Following this, the approved papers were reviewed in order to decide whether they should be included in the review. All the papers that were approved to be used in the systematic review were agreed upon by the second reviewer.

Data extraction was performed using a bespoke data extraction form, shown in Appendix 1, created with the aim of collecting the most relevant data from each of the selected studies. The form included the author and date of the paper, the themes that the paper was grouped into, a short summary of the theory, and whether any empirical evidence was included in the paper.

The theories extracted were grouped into themes depending on the focus, assumptions and predictions of the theory. A narrative synthesis was undertaken to discuss the roles of the theories in explaining individual weight management. Theories that are intuitive and proven in empirical tests may inform how individuals with heterogeneous characteristics behave in regards to weight management, which can help shape predictions regarding who should be most successful at managing their bodyweight.

#### 2.2.3 Citation Tracking

Whilst some of the papers in in the review included empirical testing of the theory described, others did not. In order to enhance the comprehensiveness of the review, each paper's citations were tracked using google scholar in order to find empirical tests of the theory that may have been published. To narrow the search, the citation search only identified citations if they had either of the terms "obesity" or "weight" in the title. Papers that had over 100 identified citations were limited to citations published from 2012 onwards for practical reasons. Titles and abstracts of these citations were then read to identify any empirical tests of the theory of interest, or whether any new or adapted theories were described that met the initial inclusion criteria but were not included in the previous searches.

#### 2.2.4 Results

From the search of the ten databases 2,612 papers were found. A total of 887 duplicates were removed, initially using the Endnote duplicate removal tool followed by a manual check to leave 1,725 unique papers. From here, papers were screened by their title and abstract against the inclusion and exclusion criteria, which led to the removal of 1,691 of these papers. The 35 studies remaining were then read in full against the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Eleven of the full text papers were dropped, which left 24 papers that matched all of the inclusion criteria and are included in this review. One further paper was identified through citation tracking of the original 24 papers, resulting in a total of 25 papers included in the review. Figure 3 shows a flowchart of database searches. A total of 15 theories were discussed: 6 in the rational choice theme, 3 in the time-preference theme, and a further 6 in the habits and self-control theme.





The next section of the results section discusses the citation tracking search, which had the purpose of finding empirical papers which provided evidence of the theories included in the review. The citation tracking search identified a total of 635 papers, which was reduced to 551 after de-duplication by title and author. The flowchart of the identification of papers is shown in Figure 4. Fifteen of the papers were included in the final review, and are summarised in Appendix 2. These papers were not included in the initial review as they were focussed on empirical testing rather than theory, and so did not meet inclusion criteria. The next section will discuss these theories that were identified and the empirical evidence found alongside them.



Figure 4: Flowchart of the Empirical Evidence Identification Process

# 2.3 How do current economics and behavioural economic theories explain weight management?

The papers included in the review identified several economic and behavioural economic theories that provide explanations of how individuals make their decisions relating to weight management, and the factors that influence these decisions. These have been grouped into themes, according to the underlying premise, assumptions and predictions that they make. The three general themes are 1) rational choice, 2) time-preference, and 3) habits and self-control. Within these three themes, there exists variations in the explanations of the way individuals make their decisions and what influences their decisions regarding weight management behaviour, but they share much common ground.

#### 2.3.1 Theme 1: Rational Choice

#### 2.3.1.1 Utility maximising weight is higher than ideal weight

Traditional economic theory sets the groundwork as to why individuals' main priority may not be their weight management. Rational choice theory is set in the neo-classical economic framework which states that individuals are rational and aim to maximise utility. Within this framework, as an individual's body weight is not their only source of utility and individuals must maximise utility subject to constraint and competing preferences, an individual may choose to sacrifice their ideal weight for utility in other areas. This can result in equilibrium weight being at a weight higher than the individual's ideal weight. Therefore, it is a rational decision to be overweight (Richards and Hamilton, 2012). For example, different individuals will place differing values on being at their ideal weight, have different eating habits, gain different levels of enjoyment, or displeasure, from cooking and exercising, and have different access to foods and exercise methods (Grunert et al., 2012). Before making a decision, individuals are assumed to weigh up the potential costs and benefits of all their actions and choose the combination of options that provide the highest expected utility (Finkelstein et al., 2004).

If the total benefits of the consumption of a certain food (the pleasure from eating, the satisfaction of stopping hunger, and the requirement of nutrition for survival) outweigh the costs (price, time spent preparing the food, and future weight and health effects) then the individual will consume the food regardless of whether it will cause weight gain. Finkelstein et al. (2004) suggests that in the current environment, it is likely that there are several conditions that exist that lead individuals to sub-optimal food decisions, and result in overconsumption from both the perspective of the individual and society. Sun (2016) performed a study to find the optimal weight using mathematics and qualitative theory. The study found that the optimal weight for both males and females was greater than the health maximising weight.

Dual decision theory attempts to explain the interaction between the rational decision making process and impulsive decision making (Ruhm, 2012). The deliberative system follows the traditional economic framework in which individuals behave under a number of assumptions in order to maximise utility, whilst the affective system is more closely related to habits and self-control, and will be discussed later. The maximisation problem for the deliberative system is shown in Equation 1, where U is utility, W is weight, f is food consumption, c is other consumption, p is price and I is income. Here, individuals maximise their utility through their weight (which is a function of food consumption), food consumption and other consumption subject to their income constraint.

Equation 1

 $Max_{f,c} U(W(f), f, c)$  subject to c + pf = I

Individuals have an ideal weight, which they would choose if it were costless to achieve and their bodyweight was their only source of utility. However, because losing weight takes time and effort, and food provides direct utility, rational consumers might actually maximise their utility at a bodyweight that is higher than their ideal.

Food has both direct positive effect, through enjoyment and the satisfaction of hunger, and an indirect effect on marginal utility that is negative when the individual's weight is greater than their ideal weight. This is because individuals lose more utility the further they are from the ideal weight. The second part of Ruhm's (2012) dual-decision theory, the affective system will be explained later.

#### 2.3.1.2 Deprivation affects ability to manage weight

Managing weight successfully is based on awareness of weight, motivation to manage weight, and the ability to make good food choices (Drewnowski and Darmon, 2005). Unhealthy foods at present dominate the food supply as they are tasty, energy dense, convenient and cheap. Nutrient rich foods are generally more expensive than calorie dense foods, it is likely that those with higher incomes are less limited in their diets due to being able to afford better food. Because of this, there exists a 'poverty paradox' (Zukiewicz-Sobczak et al., 2014). This is where households with limited budgets can only afford to eat energy dense foods as they cannot afford a higher quality diet, and therefore may not have the resources to manage weight successfully (Drewnowski and Specter, 2004). As gym memberships, exercise equipment and clothing may be expensive, it is likely that those with higher income will also have better access to physical activity. Therefore, it could be that the individual discrepancies in weight-loss intentions and actual weight-loss for those in low-income households are caused by constraints, and not their ability to lose weight, and that individuals that want to lose weight struggle to do so because of a lack of access to the right tools.

Hruschka (2012) outlines potential reasons why low-income populations may be more overweight than higher-income groups. The main reason is that cheaper foods are those with the highest energy density, which leads to overconsumption of energy. It could also be that individuals may be sorted by the educational system and job markets due to bias against individuals with obesity. However, bias in the educational system and in early-career job markets do not account for those who become obese in later life, as these people will not have faced this bias. Another reason presented is that deprived households may be in geographical areas in which there is a low access to healthy food. Drewnowski (2012) and Bimbo et al. (2015) found that having a supermarket in the local area was linked to improved diet quality and a lower prevalence of obesity whilst Zeng et al. (2015) negated this, stating that food deserts have an ambiguous effect on bodyweight. Morris et al. (2013) found a positive and significant effect of food desert intensity on obesity prevalence, but this was only small in magnitude. A third possibility is that there is an association between deprivation and low self-control, which is necessary for managing weight. This could be due to being in stressful situations more often, or the lack of experience with using self-control that high-income individuals might have had through their education. Atella and Kopinska (2014) found individuals who had completed their lower secondary education had a significantly lower BMI than those who hadn't.

Pan et al. (2012) performed an analytical test of the relationship between obesity and self-reported food insecurity in the United States. It was found that those that had often been stressed about being able to afford nutritious meals over the last 12 months were significantly more likely to be obese than those who hadn't faced the same level of food insecurity. This indicates that despite these individuals being aware that they should be eating nutritious meals, they are unable to because of their economic position. Ailshire and House (2012) found, using large data from the United States, that those in society that were most socially disadvantaged gained more weight than higher social classes over time, and that these differences tended to be larger at a younger age. Guerra et al. (2015) found in a 5.5 year-long cohort study on a sample of individuals from Switzerland that financial difficulties were positively associated with weight gain.

However, this implies that both groups are actively trying to lose weight and

36
low-income individuals are less able. It could be that individuals in lowerincome groups attach less stigma to being overweight and have higher ideal body weights than high-income groups. Seward (2014) found that income affected desire to lose weight with those in low-income groups having a lower desire, and less weight loss attempts than those in less deprived groups.

Further research by Drewnowski et al. (2015) found that whilst property values were able to predict obesity, they did not predict 1-year weight change. In their analysis, no measures of socio-economic status had an effect on weight change over a year. This tells us that whilst there is a correlation between deprivation and obesity, this may not affect individuals that are trying to manage their weight. However, this study included a sample of only 444 individuals, with only 291 of these reporting that they were trying not to gain weight over the past 12 months.

Drewnowski and Specter (2004) however state that the relationship between obesity prevalence and low-income is apparent for women, but is less consistent for men. The 2013 Health Survey for England found that there was a negative correlation between household income and obesity, and this pattern was more apparent for women than men (Moody 2014). Whilst there was a correlation between obesity and deprivation by all measures for women, the correlation was only apparent in men for occupation and qualification based measures (Moody, 2014).

As well as having access to more expensive and healthier foods, individuals with high socio-economic status arguably have a larger cost associated with excess weight and poorer health due to their longevity advantage (Pampel et al., 2012). This means that as high socio-economic status individuals tend to live for longer, they have the most to gain from being healthier in each year of their life. This can give more motivation to put time and effort into weight management.

O'Neil et al. (2015) provides an insight into how stress and family support affects weight change. The researchers suggest that economic pressure can affect the access to the food required for a healthy body, which makes it difficult to maintain weight. Stress can also cause depressive symptoms, which can mean less motivation to maintain good health and make good health

37

decisions. The researchers hypothesise that support from a spouse can encourage healthier eating and mediate the effect of stress.

O'Neil et al. (2015) interviewed 702 couples who replied on a scale of 1-5 on how much stress they faced, and how much spousal support they received. They found that economic pressure often caused feelings of stress and anxiety. The researchers found a direct association between economic pressure and poor weight management behaviour for the wives in the sample, but not for the husbands.

However, higher levels of spousal support was associated with poorer weight management behaviour for husbands, but not wives. Couples suffering economic difficulties reported receiving less support from their spouse. The researchers find different relationships between spouses have different effects on weight behaviours. For example, some partners drew attention to weight issues, while some partners bonded over food and share it together.

2.3.1.3 Tighter time constraints make managing weight more difficult

As well as having a budget constraint to restrict choices, a finite amount of time also limits the options of individuals. The 'SLOTH' model explains a time constraint of 24 hours each day to split amongst 5 activities in order to get the maximum possible utility: sleep (S), leisure (L), occupation (work; O), travel (T) and home production (H). Each individual must also maximise their utility subject to a budget constraint, as individuals do not have unlimited spending power (Cawley, 2004).

Equation 2

 $\Delta W = c(F) - f(S, L, O, T, H, G) - \delta(G)W$ 

Equation 2 shows that when energy intake, c(F), is greater than energy expenditure, bodyweight will increase. Weight change is a function of how the individual allocates their time during each day, as well as their genetics, G. The individual's metabolic rate is  $\delta$ , which is also a function of the individual's genetics. We can see that therefore, individual's weight depends on three separate factors – energy consumption, how their 24 hours are spent, and genetics – all of which differ from person to person. Some individuals will enjoy eating, or be comfortable being overweight, while others may not like eating or greatly dislike being overweight. Whilst exercise and eating healthily are recommended to individuals to improve health, people will only do it when it is the best use of their time. Individuals who are very busy will likely place a higher value on each hour of free time as it is scarcer. This could mean that exercising or cooking rather than getting a takeaway for these people is more costly. This of course is assuming that people do not enjoy exercising or cooking. Contrary to this, Sturm and An (2014) found that in the United States the rising obesity prevalence rate coincided with an increase in leisure time. However, there are many other factors that can affect the obesity prevalence rate and this link may not be causal.

Whilst there used to be gender-defined roles, both parents often now work outside the home meaning that home production must now be completed in a shorter space of time after work. This time scarcity results in less free time for leisure and relaxation. Single parents have an even tighter constraint on their time, whilst low-income parents may not be able to afford childcare or eating out – both of which would increase the amount of free time available (Celnik et al., 2012).

#### 2.3.1.4 Society has an effect on individual weight preferences

Dragone and Savorelli (2012) introduce an alternative model of eating behaviour in which the utility of an individual, who belongs to a group (society), depends on two factors: the amount of energy taken in via food consumption, and on bodyweight. Each individual has a different 'satiation point', which is the point at which the marginal pleasure from one extra unit of food consumed is 0. If we make the assumption that energy consumption cost no money and provided no calories, a rational individual would eat until the point where marginal utility from food is 0. Therefore, the assumption is made that if an individual eats below their satiation point, they are on a diet, and attempting to lose weight. The authors state that utility from bodyweight is determined in two ways: health, and social desirability. Individuals take the socially desirable body weight into account in decision making as being closer to the desirable body weight provides greater utility than having a weight that is much greater than it. This social cost can be explained by discrimination from peers or discrimination in the work place. If this is the case, those that are not in work may have a lower cost associated with their obesity.

Oswald and Powdthavee's (2007) theory makes the assumption that the utility of body weight is influenced by the weight and size of the rest of society, and that people change their preferences in response to a change in the average population weight and size (Anand and Gray, 2009). The responses of individuals to this change can then feed back into further society weight gain causing a vicious circle.

2.3.1.5 Limited information and time can lead to poor weight management decision making

Whilst classic economic theory makes the assumption that individuals have perfect information and understanding of this information, this is very simplistic and unrealistic, especially when making food decisions. Often these decisions are made with limited information and limited time to think about the costs and benefits of decisions. Therefore, the collecting and processing of information can be costly to consumers (Grunert et al., 2012).

In situations where time is sparse, for example while waiting in the queue for a meal at lunch, individuals will not have time to collect and process the information they need to make a fully informed decision. In these cases, they will rely on heuristics, which are rules, or habits, that individuals create internally in order to make acceptable decisions quickly (Just and Payne, 2009). Saba et al. (2013) found in an Italian-based survey that respondents with obesity were significantly less interested in nutritional information than the non-obese respondents.

Etile's (2000) model that makes the assumption that individuals initially do not have complete knowledge about the risks of obesity, and instead learn about the harmful consequences of their actions through their own experience, and the experiences of peers (Sundermacher, 2012). When they experience adverse health consequences, this provides new information to the individual about their health production function, and allows the individual to revise their risk. The equation for Etile's model is shown in Equation 3 below.

Equation 3

 $\gamma_i(t, \text{ HS}_{it-1}, \text{ X}_{it}) = P(\text{ T}_i = t \mid \text{ T}_i > t, \text{ H}_{it}, \text{ HS}_{it-1}, \text{ X}_{it})$ 

Here  $\gamma_i$  represents the conditional probability of behaviour change given a health shock, HS, in period t or t - 1.  $X_{it}$  is a vector of covariates summarising the observed differences at t.

Etile (2000) makes three assumptions regarding health shocks. The first is that the health shock is related to and caused by obesity, and that the effects can be improved by behaviour change. The second is that the individual has the medical knowledge to link this health shock to their own behaviour and habits. The third is that the individual has the knowledge to be able to change their consumption habits and behaviours to achieve a lower risk level (Sundermacher, 2012).

The model predicts that there is a correlation between the decline in the health of the individual and the decision to adopt a healthier lifestyle. Individuals who are obese and who experience a health shock, or have a friend that experiences a health shock, will lose weight in the current or next period. However, in a summary of studies on the effect of health shocks, Sundermacher (2012) found no effect of health shocks on the behaviour of overweight individuals. It could also be the case that the link between overeating and a number of diseases is not understood by consumers. Even if individuals do know their health shock has been caused by them being overweight, they may not have the know how to successfully reduce weight, or, they may not have the willpower to diet successfully.

### 2.3.2 Theme 2: Time-Preference

Time-preference suggests individuals put a discount rate on events that occur in the future as people have a preference for the present. Because of this preference, benefits in the future are valued less than the same benefit occurring in the future, and a cost in future is preferred to a cost today. Therefore when making a decision, the net present value (NPV) must be calculated, which weighs benefits against costs with future benefits and costs being applied a discount rate. The formula can be found in Equation 4, where r is the discount rate. Equation 4

NPV = (present benefits + (future benefits \* (1 - r))) - (present costs + (future costs \* (1 - r)))

Heterogeneity in people's time-preference is the second theme used to explain the variation in how individuals manage their bodyweight. Time-preference affects how individuals evaluate benefits and costs of weight-related behaviours, such as eating, physical activity, and choices such as weight-loss strategies (Fan and Jin, 2013). An individual's personal time-preference and method of discounting will therefore have an effect on individual's weight decisions and weight trajectory (Richards and Hamilton, 2012).

#### 2.3.2.1 Larger discount rates make weight management more challenging

Exponential discounting assumes each individual has a constant discount rate (Jeffery, 2012). This is rational, as the delay of payoffs provides its own cost as the individual has to wait for them. Choosing a weight that maximises health will only be optimal if the discounted utility of being at optimal weight in future outweighs the present benefit of eating food or not doing physical activity (Cavaliere et al. 2014). It has been suggested that an increase in the average discount rate would lead to a rise in the population's BMI, and it could be that this has been a contributing factor to the increase in the obesity rate (Dodd, 2008). Barlow et al. (2016) found in a systematic review of time-preference literature that there was moderate evidence in favour of a significant link between high time-discounting and the risk of overweight and obesity.

Cavaliere et al. (2014) found a positive and significant relationship between time-preference, which was measured by people's self-report diet related behaviours, and BMI at the 1% significance level. A problem here is that diet behaviours are likely to affect BMI directly. Cavaliere et al. (2014) conducted face-to-face interviews of 240 people across 6 hypermarkets and 12 supermarkets in the city of Milan, Italy. The respondents were asked to answer questions about their height, weight, whether their diet was chosen based on taste or health effects and how often they look at nutritional information before making purchases. Respondents also answered questions covering a range of socio-demographic characteristics in order for these to be controlled. However, the researchers recognised that this time-preference pattern could be caused by a lack of awareness of long-term health effects from obesity, rather than individuals who have higher BMI being more impatient.

Courtemanche et al. (2014) presents the utility maximization problem for weight across multiple time periods in a two-period model. It is assumed that, food consumption, f, provides instant utility, U(f), at a cost of p per unit, and also a future utility, V(f), shown in Equation 5. Individuals' weight in the following period is a function of food consumption, w=g(f), with g increasing in f. Each consumer then receives a future utility from their weight, V(w) subject to the individual's discount factor,  $\delta$ .

Equation 5 shows that the utility in the second period is a function of the quantity of food consumed in the first period. Second period utility is decreasing with excess food consumption, as increased food consumption in the first period results in an increase in weight which reduces utility.

Equation 5

$$V(f) \equiv V^*(w) = V^*[g(f)]$$

shows the maximisation problem faced by each person (Courtemanche et al.,2014). Here, individuals maximise utility based on their current utility, cost and future utility, subject to a discount rate.

Equation 6

$${\max_{f} U(f) - pf + \delta V(f)}$$

In the first period utility is increasing and concave in food consumption, as food intake is enjoyable, and each additional unit of food intake provides less utility than the last. The model assumes that when an individual has a higher weight than ideal, the second period utility is decreasing in weight. The main prediction of time-preference theory is that those consumers with a less strong preference for the present should theoretically have a lower weight. As these individuals have a lower discount rate, the future utility from being at a lower weight has been discounted less and so is more likely to outweigh the benefit of food consumption in the present period. This yields a lower equilibrium weight (Courtemanche et al., 2014).

Courtemanche et al. (2014) investigated the relationship between time preferences, economic incentives and BMI using large American databases of prices, saving behaviour and BMI in order to test this theory. The researchers again found strong evidence of a correlation between time-preference and BMI. Impatience was associated with high BMI across a wide range of specifications.

#### 2.3.2.2 Immediate risk adds to incentives to manage weight

Time-preference theory predicts that the people that behave in the most risky fashion, and are in the poorest health to have the highest discount rates. This is because these individuals have a higher risk of death in each period and so as the future is more uncertain, any benefits or costs in the future are discounted more. Therefore, the present is valued relatively greater by an ill person than an individual with a lesser health risk (Richards and Hamilton, 2012). Another prediction of time-preference theory is that older people will have a greater motivation to be at a healthy weight, as the negative health effects from obesity generally occur later in life. Therefore for negative health effects, younger individuals apply a larger discount (Grunert et al., 2012). Richards and Hamilton (2012) surveyed 82 undergraduate students to find out their time-preference valuations in 50 separate scenarios. The researchers found that obesity was positively related to the discount rate of an individual. It was also found that those who engage in risky behaviour discount at a higher rate. This relationship could act in both ways. It could be that the individual's risky behaviour causes the higher discount rate as they have a higher chance of hazard in any given period. However, it could also be the case that individuals act in a risky fashion because they have a high discount rate, and value the utility gained from their risky behaviours relatively higher than the future health effects. One limitation of the Richards and Hamilton (2012) analysis is that the sample of undergraduates may not be a proportionate

representation of the whole population due to this population being younger and more educated than the average person. Another problem is that is difficult to put a value on a person's discount rate, and the rate will differ depending on whether it is regarding money or health.

2.3.2.3 Time-preference can be irrational with preferences being inconsistent over time

There is also the theory of hyperbolic discounting, which is irrational. This is where individuals do not discount at a constant rate, instead changing their preferences depending on which time period they are in. Hyperbolic discounters can irrationally place immediate gratification and short-term impulses ahead of long-term goals (Fan and Jin, 2013). Because their preferences are irrational and change with time, often individuals will make decisions in the present that go against their long-term goals and their utility maximisation plan. This results in individuals viewing their past decisions as mistakes. Fan and Jin (2013) found in a study of the US that individuals that were overweight or obese showed significant differences between their intended weight-loss plans and their actual eating and activity behaviours. This shows that individuals who are obese may set out with good intentions, but as their preferences change depending on what period they are in, may not stick to their initial goal.

With hyperbolic discounting, individuals underestimate the impact of their actions today on future consequences and do not discount at a constant rate (Richards and Hamilton, 2012). Hyperbolic discounters strongly discount values with a short delay whilst applying smaller discount rates for longer delays. For example, if a hyperbolic discounter is offered £100 today or £110 next year, it is likely that they will take the £100. However, if the individual is offered the choice between £100 in 10 years, or £110 in 11 years, a hyperbolic discounter would likely take the second option despite the fact that in 10 years they will be in exactly the same scenario as they were in the first question. This theory tries to explain how individuals may not discount at constant rates, and why individuals believe that they may have more self-control in future. This theory can be used to show why people often decide that rather than starting a diet now, they will start the diet at some future time-point such as next week or on the 1<sup>st</sup> of January (Richards and Hamilton, 2012).

#### 2.3.3 Theme 3: Habits and Self-Control

#### 2.3.3.1 Stronger habits increase the cost of weight change

One problem affecting weight management behaviour, and leading individuals to gain weight is that over-consumption of food and drinks and sedentary behaviour may be habitual. Dragone (2009) states that due to habits, and individuals finding that what they are used to is the easiest choice, a new level of food intake cannot be chosen without cost. This is because to change a habit, the individual will have to evaluate new options which requires both time and effort. Some individuals find these habits more difficult to change than others, and so for them it can be very costly to change their behaviour in regards to weight management. It is assumed that the cost to utility is increasing with the magnitude of change in habits – the more drastic the change, the harder it is to maintain.

Dragone's (2009) model predicts that the optimal weight trajectory depends on the individual's strength of habits, which is measured as the marginal effect on utility from changing the food intake level. When the marginal disutility from changing the food intake is low, an individual can rapidly switch to the steady state amount of food consumption, as the expected utility gains achieved at the level can overcome the adjustment cost. As the strength of habit increases, it is optimal to slow down the rate of convergence to the steady state level of food consumption in order to reduce the disutility from changing consumption habits.

Dragone's (2009) model implies the agent is so slow at adjusting their eating behaviour that they cannot stop suddenly at their optimal weight and keep losing weight and continue losing weight past the optimal weight. Eventually the individual will realise their weight being below optimal weight is again having a detrimental effect and they will put weight back on. This theory hypothesises there is an oscillatory pattern present in chronic dieters.

2.3.3.2 Habit change most successful when habits are replaced with an alternative

Individuals will spend time doing activities that are relatively more reinforcing to them, and the more the individual performs this activity, the more reinforcing the activity becomes (Buscemi et al., 2014; Jeffery, 2012). The activities that provide the most reinforcement are habitual, and as they are so reinforcing, they are automatic, require little thought, and therefore difficult to break. Individuals who tend to value food over alternatives will have this preference reflected in their resource allocation, and will therefore be more likely to be overweight. Reducing the consumption of high valued goods is facilitated by engaging in reinforcing substitute activities.

Buscemi et al. (2014) performed a study to test this theory on a group of 200 individuals that were overweight or obese aged 21-65 who had no heart problems or troubles moving, and were attempting no alternative weight loss methods. The participants were prescribed cognitive, diet, and physical activity meetings for a year-long period, where the meetings were weekly for the first 6 months, and bi-weekly for the next 6 months. It was found that there was a decrease in food reinforcement relative to non-food reinforcement, and this was associated with a decrease in BMI. Researchers found that at baseline, the average participant derived 37.9% of reinforcement from food-related activities. This had decreased to 30.3% at 6 months and gone back to 32.1% at 18 months. Individuals had lost on average 10.9% of their initial weight after 6 months, and 9.7% at 18 months, showing that much of this weight loss had been maintained, but due to reinforcement falling, some of the weight loss had been regained. It could be the case that this weight is put back on as individuals need to replace the reinforcement received from the classes, and replace it with food.

Xiameng et al. (2016) performed a similar test whereby individuals were surveyed at both the start and the end of a behavioural weight loss intervention. The participants were asked to answer 4 questions, on a 0-6 scale about their life during the 12 weeks of the intervention. They rated how exciting, how boring and how interesting their life had been, and how much they felt they had grown as a person. The researchers found that individuals answered significantly more positively about their lives after the intervention, and that this increase was associated with better adherence and weight loss. This helps to back up Buscemi et al.'s (2014) theory of reinforcement, and it could be that those individuals that lose the most weight initially are able to continue after the intervention due to their improved happiness after weight loss. 2.3.3.3 Individuals will stop their weight management once initial losses have been compensated

Djawadi et al. (2014) presents a framework of medical non-persistence, to explain why individuals that decide to diet often stop their efforts early. Often, these individuals are rationally better off continuing with their diet but do not comply with it as they lack to self-control to do so. The reason for this is that individuals are not perfectly rational, and in this framework, individuals value their gains and losses relative to a reference point, with the losses being valued more than gains. Lim and Bruce (2015) found in a study of 67 individuals that people displayed a stronger dislike of weight gain than their like of weight loss. Lim and Bruce (2015) found in a study of 67 individuals where individuals had to complete two decision-making tasks for weight loss, that people displayed a stronger dislike of losses is also found in weight loss, which shows that this stronger dislike of losses is also found in weight change. This study is limited by the small sample size.

There are three phases of assessment involved in the framework: the phase of invasion, the phase of high persistence, and the phase of discontinuation. In each time period, the individual makes one of two choices: to invest in health by continuing with the weight management (the cost of persistence), or by not investing, and discontinuing with the programme, which maintains the current health state, but gives a higher risk of disease.

The theory predicts that individuals will in fact discontinue their treatment before the course is over. Study participants incur costs during the invasion phase as they have to put in the effort to go to classes and learn how to lose weight, without receiving any immediate health gains. Due to this, there is a feeling of loss as this effort causes a loss of utility. However, as people are assumed to be loss averse, once these losses are compensated for, the individual has no incentive to continue with their weight management.

To test Djawadi et al.'s (2014) theory, 107 individuals partook in an investment game with two stages. The first stage is to induce the feeling of loss through time and effort of completing a task and receiving only 2 talers (the currency in the study) instead of the promised 8, so it feels like a loss of 6. The second stage is a lottery that mimics health investment for 12 time periods. Participants choose between a safe lottery, which has a 95% chance of paying out 2 talers, and a 5% chance of paying -1 talers, and a risky lottery, which has a 70% chance of paying 2 talers and a 30% chance of paying 0 talers, in each period. If the individual loses the lottery, they are unable to play again. Despite the rational optimising prediction being to continue with the safe option until period 10, the majority only play until period 7, which is the period where losses are compensated for, and in line with the theory prediction.

The evidence from the investment game backs up the framework of medical non-persistence as individuals in the test play the safe option until their losses are compensated for. After this, individuals start taking risks in the game as the marginal benefit of continuing with the safe option falls. The researchers suggest that interventions should take into account improvements that take persistence behaviour into account.

#### 2.3.3.4 Self-control problems can be countered with mechanisms

The second half of dual decision theory, mentioned earlier, is the affective system, in which decisions are influenced by quick acting processes, and are often automatic in response to cues and stimuli (Ruhm, 2012). The affective system is influenced by food characteristics and stimuli according to a motivational function that varies from person to person. Dual decision theory predicts that as the affective system does not account for the consequences of future weight, the costs of consuming excess energy are not fully accounted for, and so calorie intake and weight will likely be above optimum. In this case, individuals may actually have their utility raised by incentives that reduce the influence of the affective system.

Sophisticated agents know that deliberative processes in future periods can be interfered with by the responses of the affective system and so individuals may take steps to limit the options available to the affective system, and the impact it can have (Dodd, 2008). People will employ strategies to raise time-costs in order to avoid self-control problems. These could be things like sticking to a set of rules, keeping unhealthy foods out of the house, or buying in smaller quantities. Conflicts between the two systems are resolved through intermediate levels of food intake, with the relative power of each system varying by individual (Ruhm, 2012). Those with greater self-control have relatively weaker affective systems compared with those that have less self-control.

Ruhm (2012) tested this theory on large United States national health databases. It was found that whilst BMI has risen rapidly overtime, the probability of weight loss attempts at any given BMI is unchanged, which suggests that ideal weight has not risen, and that weight gain instead reflects mistakes induced by the affective system. This increase in mistakes could attribute itself to the improved ability of the food industry to manipulate the affective system and create demand for their products.

A distinction is made between consumers based on whether they are naïve or sophisticated regarding their understanding of how their time-preference will affect their self-control in future. Naïve consumers do not realise that their preferences will change, and believe that they do not have a time-preference. Sophisticated consumers on the other hand understand how time-preference will affect their future preferences perfectly (Dodd, 2008; Fan and Jin, 2013). As naïve consumers do not understand their lack of self-control, they may overeat in the current period because they expect that they will have the selfcontrol to forgo excess food consumption in the next period, and then, as they have incorrectly anticipated their future self-control, will not be able to stick to their weight management goals (Rosin, 2012).

Sophisticated individuals are able to look for mechanisms that will adjust payoffs and give them more incentive to stick to their weight plan (Dodd, 2008; Fan and Jin, 2013). Jeffery (2012) states that financial incentives should theoretically improve weight outcomes whilst removing these rewards should damage outcomes. If we assume that individuals can alter their own incentives via strategies such as dieters betting on their weight loss, so that the potential gain from their bet compensates the utility lost from discounting, then we could see improved outcomes. If individuals sign gym contracts, so if they don't continue attending their gym they will have wasted money on an un-used membership, the commitment of paying could act as an incentive to attend. Hashemi et al. (2015) found that more immediate forms of payment (such as an upfront fee rather than monthly payments) caused a significant increase in participation in a weight loss programme. Fan and Jin (2013) aimed to test the difference in self-control capabilities between individuals with obesity and individuals of normal weight. They used 4 large US databases to do this. Fan and Jin (2013) discovered that individuals who are overweight or obese felt they were less able to control their lives through self-motivation, and that this group of people exhibited a lower degree of self-control that was associated with poor eating and exercise behaviours. However, the researchers assume that all individuals have access to healthy foods and physical activity, which is a limitation as individuals in more deprived areas may not have the same access as those in less deprived areas.

#### 2.3.3.5 More weight loss attempts makes future weight loss more difficult

Rosin (2012) presents a model where it is assumed people's dislike of being overweight is learnt at the moment when they first attempt to lose weight. In Rosin's (2012) model, individuals plan out a certain time period, for example one year, and in that time they state the fraction of that period that will be spent dieting. The negative effect on utility in the period increases with diet duration and the extent of the energy deficit whilst dieting. This is due to the extra effort put into dieting. Here, the loss of utility falls at increasing rates with both the size of the energy deficit and the length of the diet. This is because individuals lose willpower during their diet and eventually the loss to utility they face from dieting is too great and the individual stops. Rosin (2012) also states that dieting is an increasing function of initial bodyweight, which is intuitive as those that have a highest body weight will have the most weight to lose. Therefore these individuals have a higher disutility from their weight, as they are likely to be further from their ideal weight.

Rosin's (2012) model predicts the extent of dieting, in terms of both energy deficit and duration, is a decreasing function of the effort exerted in dieting, the strength of social norms and metabolism. First, because a strict diet requires more effort, it therefore has a larger negative effect on utility. Individuals will therefore generally continue on a strict diet for a shorter amount of time than they would if the diet was less strict. The strength of social norms refers to the extent to which society has an opinion on obesity. If the ideal weight set by society is higher, then individuals will not diet for as long, and if the ideal weight is lower, then individuals will diet for longer. A faster metabolism

reduces the duration of diets a faster metabolism burns more energy. The model also predicts that individuals that have had more diet attempts will have a shorter diet duration.

2.3.3.6 A higher stock of past consumption increases the utility derived from present consumption

In Becker and Murphy's (1988) theory of rational addiction, individual utility depends on the amount of past addictive consumption (where past addictive consumption is consumption that increases the utility of present consumption). For example, according to the theory, an individual that has consumed a greater amount of cigarettes will have a greater addiction and gain more utility from an additional cigarette in comparison with a lighter smoker. The theory shows that people will quit their addiction if discounted costs are higher than the discounted benefits of continuing. Rational addiction assumes timeconsistent preferences, and predicts an overconsumption of energy which is consistent with optimising economic behaviour (Richards and Hamilton, 2012). With rational addiction, obesity is rational if you make the following two assumptions: overeating is the main cause of obesity, and that compulsive overeating, is an addiction. It is the general consensus that overeating is the main cause of obesity, but whether compulsive overeating is an addiction is questionable. It could be that some people are addicted to certain types of foods (foods high in sugar or fats) which could result in overeating. Whilst overeating can be stopped, it is not possible to cut out food entirely as it is required for sustenance. Therefore if it is an addiction, dealing with it is different to dealing with other addictions (Sundermacher, 2012). If the assumption is made that an individual with a higher bodyweight or BMI has a higher stock of past consumption, then rational addiction theory would lead us to believe that this individual would have a greater level of addiction, and therefore would find it more difficult to reduce their calorie intake and manage their weight successfully.

### 2.4 Discussion

Three underlying themes came forward in the papers selected for inclusion: rational behaviour, time-preference, and habits and self-control. Rational choice and the exponential discounting part of time-preference are based in economic theory whilst hyperbolic discounting and habits and self-control are generally behavioural economic theories. Each theory attempts to explain weight management behaviour and discusses how human decision making may not always optimal for achieving a healthy weight.

The rational choice theme involves theories about weight decisions regarding people having an equilibrium weight (a weight that optimises utility), that is higher than their ideal weight (the weight the individual would choose if achieving that weight were costless). This is because utility is derived from more than just weight, and so the utility maximising weight will not necessarily be the individual's ideal weight. For an individual to maintain a weight below equilibrium, the individual may therefore have to eat at below their utility maximising level of food consumption, or perform more than their utility maximising level of physical activity. As individuals are assumed to be utility maximising, maintaining the ideal weight would be sub-optimal. A limitation of the rational choice theme is the assumption that individuals have full information and rationality, which doesn't explain why individuals may attempt to go on a diet and fail to lose weight. In a real life setting individuals may not look at the number of calories in their food, and in restaurants often the caloric content of the meals is not listed at the point of purchase. As well as this individuals will also have limits on how accurate their knowledge of the number of calories burnt when exercising, their own metabolic rate and the risk factors of different diseases they face at different BMIs. Similarly, individuals are not always rational with people often choosing to eat a chocolate bar during a 'moment of weakness' when they know it will hamper their long-term goals and be a decision they regret. Whilst this theme is intuitive it does struggle to explain some behavioural reasons as to why individuals may not be able to manage their weight successfully.

The time-preference theme discusses the theory that utility received in the present period provides relatively more value than utility received in a future period. The theory tells us that the majority of people value the present more

than they value something that will occur in the future, and so apply a discount rate onto any future utility. Because increased body weight is a long-term effect, the utility gained from successfully managing weight and being thinner is discounted, whereas the utility from food, and disutility from exercise, occurs in the present, and is therefore not applied a discount. As the utility from managing weight is discounted, this provides a disincentive for forgoing the present utility benefit of food and not exercising. Hyperbolic discounting theory tells us that individuals can make irrational choices, as their preferences are inconsistent and change depending on which time period they are in. Inconsistent preferences can mean that despite individuals believing that in the long-term managing weight is the way to optimise utility, their preferences change in the short-term and they believe their utility will rather be optimised by over-eating – a decision which is then regretted in the next period. This theory is intuitive and explains why some individuals often act irrationally and regret their decisions when attempting to manage weight. Time-preference theory has been empirically proven and is intuitive and so discount rates must be involved in any framework coming from this review.

The final theme is self-control and habits, which describes theories relating to how the behaviour of many can be automatic, subconscious and not always utility maximising. This is because people are habitual and prefer to stick to what they know. This means that despite a different lifestyle choice being more satisfying in the long-term, such as losing weight, the initial cost of changing habits is too large for the person to be interested in changing them. If we consider an individual who habitually orders takeaway every night without concern for managing their weight and drives to work every day, it may be difficult for them to change their habits and begin allocating more of their time into cooking meals each evening and walking to work each morning. This of course would be incorporated into utility as a person may derive more satisfaction from a takeaway that preparing their own meals, but it is likely that the initial change is difficult to make and maintain. Habitual choices and responses require very little thought or effort, so an individual may revert back to what they know rather than constantly weighing up the costs and benefits of potential alternative options. The cost of collecting and processing new information, in terms of both money, time and cognition, tends to deter individuals from making the effort to learn about how to successfully manage their weight. A lack of self-control can be caused by rational addiction or the

affective system. Despite people believing that the decision they are making damages their long-term goals, they cannot resist the current satisfaction, and make a sub-optimal decision resulting in reduced overall utility.

A strength of the research is that the initial search was comprehensive and used many terms relating to each of the four categories. A further two searches were then added by combining the search terms in alternative ways and searching only the titles. This was in order to ensure that all key papers that met the criteria were identified.

Each of the 15 theories selected for use in the creation of a new theoretical framework of weight management are summarised below, along with the hypothesis that each theory makes:

Rational Choice:

- (1) As an individual's body weight is not the sole source of utility for the person, an individual may rationally choose to be overweight if it means gaining more utility from other areas such as overeating or being sedentary. The cost to an individual's utility from being overweight increases with extra pound the individual is over their ideal weight.
- (2) If an individual has a low-income, they will be less able to afford healthy foods (calorie-dense foods are cheaper) or have access to healthy foods (limited range of healthy food in neighbourhood shops). It could also be the case that there is limited access to exercise as gym memberships and athletic equipment cost money.
- (3) Each individual faces a time constraint as each person only has 24 hours in a day. If a person has a full-time job and a family, it may be difficult for them to find the time to exercise or cook home-made meals, and so the opportunity cost of any remaining hours of their day will be larger.
- (4) Individuals in households that face more economic stress may have poorer weight management behaviours which can be offset by having a supportive partner.

- (5) Society has an effect on individual weight preferences as bias and discrimination against being overweight has an effect on individual utility.
- (6) Provision of new information can impact on an individual's perception of risk, and therefore affect their decision making, as long as that information is processed by the individual. Individuals that have had a health shock (heart attack, stroke, diabetes) from their condition will have better knowledge about the risks of being obese and therefore be more likely to try and change their behaviour.

Time-Preference:

- (7) Individuals who place a greater value on the present are more likely to be overweight; this is due to the lower relative weighting they put on the disutility from future weight gain.
- (8) Individuals who face a more immediate risk to their health will be more motivated to reduce this risk.
- (9) Irrational hyperbolic discounters are likely to make decisions in the short-term that are inconsistent with their preferences (such as overeating or not attending a class when their goal is to lose weight) as their preferences change depending on what time-period they are in.

Habits and Self-Control:

- (10) Individuals with weaker habits are more likely to be able to adjust their lifestyles in order to manage their weight, as when they attempt to change their habits they incur lower disutility.
- (11) Individuals who replace their eating with another activity that they find to be reinforcing will help them stick to their diets.
- (12) Individuals participating in an intervention will continue with the intervention until all losses are compensated for (the benefit of the programme has compensated the cost and effort of attending).

- (13) Individuals generally have self-control problems, and those that are sophisticated and aware of the problems they will face in the next period are able to limit the impact that their lack of self-control can have on their weight management. This can be done by limiting future choices and making commitments such as not bringing unhealthy foods into their house or purchasing a gym membership. Therefore it is less likely that sophisticated individuals lapse back into old habits and regain weight.
- (14) Individuals who have attempted to lose weight in the past are likely to find each successive diet more difficult than the last.
- (15) Rational addiction theory states that those with a higher stock of past consumption will gain more utility from consumption in the present, therefore making it more difficult to reduce consumption and manage weight.

Using the findings from this review, a new framework will be constructed in Chapter 3 to form hypotheses regarding weight management behaviour. This framework will then be tested using a weight management programme as a case study and then used to predict weight loss and weight trajectories in the long-term depending on individual characteristics and demographic information in Chapter 5.

# Chapter 3: The Theoretical Framework of Weight Management

In the previous chapter, theories of weight-management and hypotheses regarding the influencers of weight-management behaviour were identified. The next stage, presented in this chapter, was to use these theories to create three frameworks of weight-management based on the themes of rational choice, time-preference and habits and self-control.

The rational choice framework includes theories based in neo-classical economics and discusses rational decision making based on the premise that individuals aim to maximise utility and bodyweight is a source of utility. The time-preference framework will involve theories regarding how individuals assess potential future events and discount these future values, which can be done either rationally or irrationally. The habits and self-control framework involves behavioural economic theories which can be applied to weight management to explain how individuals may behave in regard to weight and why individuals may not always act with full rationality.

## 3.1 Rational Choice Framework

Equation 7 shows that utility is dependent on a combination of the utility from the individual's bodyweight (W<sub>i</sub>), their consumption of food (F<sub>i</sub>) and all other consumption (C<sub>i</sub>). Individuals must choose a combination of these three factors to maximise their utility (U<sub>i</sub>). Utility from an individual's bodyweight weight is derived from three areas – social desirability (s) as it is assumed society prefers people of a healthy weight, health (h) as obesity contributes towards poorer health, and bias (b), as individuals with obesity are likely to earn less in the workplace (Puhl and Heuer, 2009; Reichert, 2015<sup>2</sup>). An individual derives a greater amount of utility from each of these three factors the closer they are to their ideal weight, which in turn increases the total utility received from bodyweight. Individuals gain utility from food as people both enjoy the taste of their food and the satisfaction of their hunger. Individuals also gain utility from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Reichart (2015) found that losing weight increased employment prospects for women in the UK but not men.

all other consumption as weight and food are not the only sources of satisfaction.

Equation 7

 $U_i = UW_i(s, h, b) + UF_i + UC_i$ 

Individuals maximise their utility subject to a budget constraint (I<sub>i</sub>), shown in Equation 8, as people do not have an infinite amount of money. This means that with no limit to spending, equilibrium weight may be different to when a limit on spending is considered. As well as facing a budget constraint, individuals also face a limit to their time (t), shown in Equation 9. The time constraint is shown as a 24 hour period where the hours are split across 5 different activities: sleep (S), leisure (I), occupation (O), transportation (T), and home production (H) (Cawley, 2004).

Equation 8

 $C_{C,i} + C_{F,i} = I_i$ 

Equation 9

t = S + L + O + T + H = 24 hours

These equations set out why an individual may rationally choose to be overweight, as bodyweight is not the only source of utility (Richards and Hamilton, 2012).

The rational choice framework explains why individuals may rationally choose to be overweight, and is formed using the theories in the rational choice section in Chapter 2. Equation 10 shows the theoretical framework of rational choice explaining weight management. The framework shows weight change is determined by a number of factors. The first is the difference between the individual's current weight and the weight that provides the most utility were weight the only source of utility – the ideal weight ( $W_{1i}$ ) as this shows how much excess weight the individual has according to their own personal preferences. The next two are the budget constraint ( $I_i$ ) and time constraint ( $T_i$ ), which reveal how much money and free time the individual has to invest in their weight management. How supportive the individual's partner is ( $PS_i$ ) is another contributing factor towards weight change. The level of bias and discrimination ( $B_i$ ) the individual faces also contributes to weight change as

those who receive the most should have the most motivation to lose weight, according to theory, although there may be negative psychological effects that make managing weight more difficult (Lim et al., 2017; Jung & Chang, 2015). The final contributing factor is how knowledgeable the individual is about weight management (K<sub>i</sub>) and the risks of obesity.

Equation 10

$$\Delta W_{i} = f((W_{i} - W_{Ii}), I_{i}, T_{i}, PS_{i}, B_{i}, K_{i})$$

#### 3.2 Time-Preference Framework

The time-preference framework argues that individuals value outcomes that are in the future differently to those in the present. Equation 11 shows that an individual's utility comes from the utility an individual gains in the present period ( $U_{i,t}$ ) plus their utility in the second period ( $U_{i,t+1}$ ) and so on, with each period being discounted at a constant rate, with periods further into the future being discounted more (Jeffery, 2012). Again the assumption is made that individuals derive utility from their weight, consumption of food, and other consumption. However, hyperbolic discounters, who discount irrationally, do not keep a constant discount rate – theirs will vary depending on which time period they are in (Fan and Jin, 2013).

Equation 11

 $U_i = U_{i,t}(W, F, C) + d_i(U_{i,t+1}(W, F, C)) + \dots + nd_i(U_{i,t+n}(W, F, C))$ 

Equation 12 shows the theoretical framework of weight management formed using theories identified in Chapter 2. The first contributing factor is the individual's personal discount rate ( $D_i$ ) as those who have higher discount rates are less concerned about the future impact of their decisions relating to weight management in the present. The second factor is the probability an individual suffers a health shock ( $H_i$ ) in the next period as those who are more likely to suffer a health shock soon will have a larger incentive to change their behaviour than those who do not have a high probability of an imminent shock. The final factor in time-preference affecting weight change is whether or not the individual is a hyperbolic discounter ( $HD_i=1$ ), as hyperbolic discounters have irrational preferences and will often act in ways that contradict their longterm weight management goals.

Equation 12

$$\Delta W_i = f(D_i, H_i, HD_i)$$

#### 3.3 Habits and Self-Control Framework

The habits and self-control framework uses theories from behavioural economics to explain what influences individuals' weight management decisions. In this framework, not only does the individual gain utility from bodyweight, food and other consumption, but also from maintaining their habits (hab), and the lifestyle they are used to (Dragone, 2009). Equation 13 shows the utility function.

Equation 13

$$U_i = U(W, F, C, hab)$$

Equation 14 shows the decision making process that influences weight change. The framework shows that the total amount of weight change depends on the individual's self-control (SC<sub>i</sub>). These self-control problems can be countered by investment in the programme (inv<sub>i</sub>) which is a combination of time, effort and money, as personal investment provides more commitment. Whether or not the individual makes this commitment is dependent upon whether the individual is sophisticated (sop<sub>i</sub>=1) about their self-control issues, and has the foresight to alter their payoffs in order to keep to their weight management goal. Self-control can also be improved by replacing over-eating with an alternative activity (alt<sub>i</sub>=1). The strength of weight management habits will also affect weight change as those with strong habits are likely to revert back to their bad habits more quickly. According to theory, those with poor weight management habits are likely to have had a larger number of past diets (pd<sub>i</sub>) and a larger stock of past over-consumption (poc<sub>i</sub>).

Equation 14

$$\Delta W_i = SC_i(inv_i(sop_i), alt_i) - hab_i(pd_i, poc_i)$$

## 3.4 Summary

This chapter has provided three frameworks for theories of weight management according to the themes set out in Chapter 2 – rational choice, time-preference and habits and self-control. These theoretical frameworks illustrate the influencers of weight-management behaviour and can therefore be used to form hypotheses regarding weight-change according to individual characteristics.

The next section will introduce a case study of the weight-management programme Slimming World, and a dataset that has been provided for the purpose of this PhD. As many of the influencers involved in these frameworks are either unobservable, or not collected by weight-management programmes, proxy variables will need to be identified to act as substitutes. Once these proxy variables have been identified, regression equations will be developed based on the equations described in this chapter and relationships between these variables in weight-change quantified.

## Chapter 4: The Slimming World Programme and Dataset

Chapter 3 set out theoretical frameworks that might be applied to predict weight change. In order to empirically test the hypotheses proposed within the frameworks, data from a weight management programme, Slimming World, will be used. Before the dataset is presented and described, Slimming World will first be introduced, and the Slimming World programme will be discussed in detail. This chapter will provide an overview of the weight management programme and the dataset that will be used to undertake the analyses.

## 4.1 Slimming World

Slimming World is a UK based company that aims to help people achieve their weight loss goals. The company was founded in 1969 and regards itself as "the most advanced slimming organisation in the UK" (Slimming World, no date a). The company has >16,000 groups which are run by >4,500 consultants. These groups comprise of 900,000 members attending Slimming World classes every week. As well as offering classes, Slimming World has a website and magazine which feature weight loss tips, weight loss stories from members, and recipes. For individuals who want to lose weight but are not able to attend classes, Slimming World offers an online membership which offers the same advice as the standard programme.

## 4.1.1 The Slimming World Group Programme

Slimming World's weight management programme begins with what is recommended to be a 12-week weight loss programme, and comprises of group classes, which vary in size, where members are first weighed and then offered advice and support regarding eating, cooking, physical activity and psychological tips to make dieting more manageable. There are three support mechanisms– a 'food optimisation' plan, 'IMAGE therapy' and 'body magic'. Each is described below.

Classes begin by each member either paying their fees or redeeming a SWoR voucher at a desk occupied by members of the group that have volunteered to assist the group leader. After registering, each individual is weighed, with their weight then being recorded by a consultant. Members can then tell their

consultant whether or not they would like for their weight to remain private from the rest of the group and either stay or not stay for the IMAGE therapy part of the class.

The Slimming World programme is based around a food optimisation eating plan which is centred on eating foods that are filling and are also low in energy density (Slimming World, no date b). The food optimisation plan takes into account the individual's preferences towards food, and adapts to their lifestyle and budget, which makes the plan more convenient for members to adapt their eating habits and to lose weight. In the basic plan, free-foods – those that are low in energy and filling can be eaten without being counted and there is no limit on the quantity. These foods include fruit, vegetables, pasta, potatoes, fish and lean meats. Healthy extras are additional foods that allow a healthy balanced diet, items such as bread, milk and cheese. Foods that are typically regarded as unhealthy are labelled as 'syns' in the Slimming World programme. These include crisps, chocolates and takeaways. Members are only allowed a limited number of these each day; the number is dependent on their weight and gender, with men being allowed more.

At Slimming World classes, the group engages in IMAGE therapy. This is a group discussion lead by the consultant with the aim of informing individuals, providing support, and ultimately adjusting individual behaviours in regards to weight loss. The support provided by consultants involves self-monitoring of feelings and emotions, visualisation techniques, evaluations of the positive and negative effects of actions, and personalised eating plans. Individuals in the group can discuss strategies that they find useful for helping them deal with cravings, and ways to make healthy meals (Slimming World, no date c).

With regards to physical activity, Slimming World promote changing lifestyles to incorporate physical activity through their 'body magic' plan, which focuses on giving members healthier routines, and exercise that the individuals enjoy (Slimming World, no date d). The body magic programme encourages members to engage in physical activity outside of classes in their own time. The programme recommends for members to start out doing light exercise and build up their activity levels over time when they are comfortable with more rigorous exercise. Members receive a body magic booklet which includes ideas and help with how to start and how to set goals to improve. This is in line with the Department of Health's public responsibility deal, where Slimming World have pledged to encourage physical activity in each member's daily routine (Slimming World, no date e; Department of Health, 2013).

Classes, which usually last around an hour are led by the consultant in a discussion scenario. All consultants are former members of Slimming World and receive regular formal training at the Slimming World headquarters.

### 4.1.2 The Cost of the Programme

Slimming World has multiple entry routes into the group programme with the financial cost and number of sessions varying by entry method. The standard entry method consists of an initial joining fee of £10 and then a further £4.95 each week (Slimming World, 2019). An alternative to this is to use one of many discount vouchers found in various magazines. These discounts can come in the form of a waived join fee or having the first week free. Slimming World also offer a pre-payment deal in which the first 6 sessions can be purchased for the price of 5, or the first 12 can be purchased at the price of 10. This package deal is called a 'countdown'.

As well as joining by paying for classes people in some areas of the UK can be referred to the Slimming World programme by a GP through the SWoR scheme. SWoR began in 2000 in partnership with Southern Derbyshire Health Authority. The cost of the programme is paid for by the NHS and subsidised by Slimming World (Slimming World, no date e). Referrals to Slimming World come in the form of a voucher that can be redeemed for 12-weeks of classes. SWoR reduces the financial barrier to joining the Slimming World programme as those who are referred avoid the weekly payment of £4.95 and the £10 initial joining fee. Individuals who receive vouchers to attend Slimming World classes for free are expected to attend all 12 sessions that have been funded by the NHS, but not all individuals referred fully engage with the programme. For those on the referral scheme, after the initial 12-week period they can choose to continue being a member of Slimming World at their own cost or request more vouchers. More than 210,000 patients have been referred to Slimming World in the last 13 years (Slimming World, no date e).

If an individual is within 3lbs of their target weight then they attend for free, for as long as they stay within 3lbs of their target. Targets are flexible and can be changed by the member at any point – usually when the member approaches their original target.

## 4.1.3 Slimming World as a Case Study

Slimming World has been chosen as an appropriate case study for a weight management programme as it fits NICE guidelines for an effective weight management programme. NICE recommendations include that programmes should be multi-component (focus on each of diet, physical activity and behavioural change), developed by a multi-disciplinary team, have staff trained in delivery, focus on lifestyle change and have regular meetings (NICE, 2014). The Slimming World programme meets all these recommendations.

## 4.2 Data

The dataset used to empirically test the hypotheses proposed within the frameworks was taken from a cohort of all Slimming World members who joined the programme between 1<sup>st</sup> January 2014 and 31<sup>st</sup> December 2014. A sample of a full calendar year was used to avoid any seasonal spikes, such as at New Year or before summer. Analysis was performed in STATA 13.1 (StataCorp, 2013). A total of 692,945 Slimming World members were included in the dataset. These members have a mean age of 42.70 years and 95.37% are female. The average Slimming World member in the cohort enters the programme with a BMI of 33.31kg/m<sup>2</sup> which means the average member is classed as obese.

Slimming World provided attendance data for 24 months for each individual from the date of their first attendance. As the first attendance is regarded by Slimming World as being before the intervention, it is referred to as 'week 0' of the programme. The dataset includes this baseline week and a subsequent 105 weeks of attendance data.

As the quality of data stored by Slimming World has improved over time, having a recent time period was necessary to improve the quality of the study. Over time Slimming World have collected more variables to allow research into the programme to be more informative. In addition, tablet computers have been given to consultants to enable weights recorded at each session to be fed directly into the Slimming World database and reduce the rates of input errors and missing data. However, another requirement of the dataset for this study is that there is the potential for a lengthy amount of follow-up. If a more recent year than 2014 was chosen, the maximum follow-up for the study would have been limited to less than 24-months. Therefore the members joining in the year 2014 was chosen as a balance between good quality data and a substantial amount of time for follow-up.

Slimming World collect data from all the participants in their programme. This includes demographic information including age, gender, where the individual lives, whether the person lives with a partner or children, employment status, and whether the individual is diabetic, as well as height and weight. Following the initial attendance, each individual has a weight recorded by the group's consultant and uploaded to the Slimming World database for each subsequent week – measured at the start of each Slimming World class. Members can choose to forgo being weighed but the vast majority of members are weighed at each attendance they make.

## 4.2.1 Key Parameters for Retention

As with all datasets where data is recorded manually, there is potential for entry errors in the variables. To account for this, the data managers at Slimming World cleaned the data by setting what they believed to be plausible parameter values in Table 2. Values outside these parameters were excluded from the dataset.

Variable	Minimum for Inclusion	Maximum for Inclusion
Age (years)	18	80
BMI (kg/m²)	20	90
Height (cm)	135	210
Start Weight (lb)	80	600
3-Month Weight Change from Baseline (%)	-30	20
6-Month Weight Change from Baseline (%)	-40	30

#### Table 2: Data Retention Parameters

12-Month Weight Change from Baseline (%)	-50	40
Pregnant	All Excluded	All Excluded
Breast Feeding	All Excluded	All Excluded
Target BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	20	90

The lower and upper bounds for age are in place due to children not being the focus of the programme and older individuals often having conditions which can affect weight. BMI, height and weight restrictions are there as people who fall below the minimum parameter are unlikely to be Slimming World members as they do not need to lose weight. The upper bounds are because people above these are likely input errors. With the weight change, any change outside of these bounds is likely due to an input error or a medical condition as this weight change is extreme. For an example, if a member had to have a limb amputated, which resulted in a substantial loss of bodyweight. As well as these exclusions, target BMI values were excluded if an individual had a target BMI lower than 20kg/m<sup>2</sup> as Slimming World does not allow individuals who have BMI's at this level to set lower targets. Target BMIs that were higher than baseline BMI were also removed as these are likely to be input errors, and for those that aren't Slimming World is being evaluated as a weight loss programme and so these individuals are not relevant to the analysis.

## 4.2.2 The Variables in the Dataset

The baseline variables in the Slimming World dataset are displayed in Table 3. This table defines each of the variables that Slimming World collect in the first week of attendance for each individual. The baseline data includes demographics and diabetic status as well as their weight before the intervention has begun.

Variable	Definition	Type of Variable	Unit of Measurement
ID	Member ID held my Slimming World used to link data	Discrete	Identifying code
Title	Prefix used in front of a person's name (Mr, Mrs etc.)	Categorical	Mr/Mrs/Miss/Ms/
Gender	The gender of the individual	Categorical	Male/Female/Other
Age at join date	The age of the individual at their first attendance	Continuous	Years
Height	The individual's self-reported height	Continuous	Cm
Weight	The weight of the individual measured at their first attendance and each week of attendance after	Continuous	KG
BMI	The BMI of the individual recorded each week using weight and height	Continuous	KG/m <sup>2</sup>
Baseline date	The date on which the individual made their first attendance	Discrete	Date
Diabetic Status	Whether the individual has diabetes	Binary	Yes/no
Breastfeeding	Whether the individual was breastfeeding at the start membership	Binary	Yes/no
Pregnant	Whether the individual was pregnant at the start of their membership	Binary	Yes/no
Employment Status	Whether the individual was in full-time or part-time employment at the start of their membership	Categorical	Full-Time/Part-Time
Shift worker	Whether the individual is a shift worker	Binary	Yes/no
Has children living at home	Whether the individual had children living at home at the start of their membership	Binary	Yes/no
Is partner at home	Whether the individual was living with a partner at the start of their membership	Binary	Yes/no
Initial Target	The target weight that an individual sets as a goal	Continuous	KG
Join Type	The route of sign-up the individual took	Categorical	The category of join type
Income IMD quintile	The income IMD rank and score of the LSOA that the individual resides in	Continuous	Quintiles (1 <sup>st</sup> , 2 <sup>nd</sup> , 3 <sup>rd</sup> , 4 <sup>th</sup> , 5 <sup>th</sup> )
Education & skills	The education, skills and training IMD rank and score of the LSOA that the	Continuous	Quintiles (1 <sup>st</sup> , 2 <sup>nd</sup> , 3 <sup>rd</sup> , 4 <sup>th</sup> ,
IMD quintile	individual resides in		5 <sup>th</sup> )

Table 3: Member Information at Baseline

After the first session, weekly values for weight and BMI are recorded. Slimming World also records how much the individual paid that session, whether the individual left the class early (after being weighed but before the IMAGE therapy), whether the individual was at their target weight (within 3lbs of target) and the group and consultant code of the attendance.

## 4.2.3 Missing Baseline Data

Whilst some data may be missing at random due to human or computer error, many of the fields are optional when filling out forms at Slimming World and there may be a reason why some individuals are more likely to complete forms than others. One hundred and five members had no recorded starting weight. Staff from Slimming World suggest this is likely to be individuals who attended IMAGE therapy without being weighed. These individuals were dropped as they represent a small proportion and without start weight they cannot be included in any meaningful analysis. Individuals with missing values for other variables remained in the dataset.

Table 4 sets out the missing data at baseline for key variables, for all those individuals who were involved in the final dataset for analysis.

Variable	Missing	Percentage (%)
ID	0	0.0
Gender	0	0.0
Age at Join Date	0	0.0
Height (cm)	39,466	5.7
Start Weight (kg)	0	0.0
Start BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	39,466	5.7
Diabetic Status	0	0.0
Employment Status <sup>3</sup>	440,624	63.6
Income IMD	183,019	26.4
Education, Skills and Training IMD	176,149	25.4
Has Children Living at Home	440,624	63.6

Table 4: Member Key Variables Missing Summary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Different consultants will likely have different approaches in the extent to which they encourage new members to fill out sign-up forms

Has a Partner Living at Home	440,624	63.6
Initial Target Weight (kg)	138,645	20.0
Initial Target BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	169,741	24.5
Join Type	39,476	5.7

Whilst some variables had no missing values, not all variables held values for all members. Baseline BMI was not provided by Slimming World and so was calculated using the height and weight variables. Height was missing for 39,466 (5.7%) members as height records were only available for those who attended week 1. Therefore, BMI could only be calculated for those who attended the week 1 class. Join type was also recorded at week 1 rather than week 0 which means that values are missing for all new members that did not attend the second week of the programme.

IMD values for income and education and skills were found by converting members' postcodes at the Slimming World headquarters using the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Governments' (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Governments, 2015a) 'postcode lookup' tool which uses English Indices of Deprivation 2015 data. The Indices of Deprivation was the fifth release of statistics regarding deprivation with previous releases coming in 2010, 2007, 2004 and 2000 (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Governments, 2015b). Areas in the UK are split into LSOAs which generally have 1,000 to 3,000 people in each. Each LSOA has associated IMD values which the MHCLG uses to give individual postcodes IMD values (Office for National Statistics, 2019). A total of 176,184 (25.4%) members either did not have their postcodes recorded or did not have their postcodes matched to IMD scores – due to the fact that the MHCLG's postcode matching tool only converts English postcodes. For income IMD score, 6,712 (0.96%) individuals had values for deciles that were not integers and these values were set as missing rather than making assumptions about their true values. Because income IMD had a slightly larger proportion of missing values this was used to compare missing with non-missing for IMD. Those who did not have income IMD recorded were 0.77 years younger on average (p<0.001), and had a mean BMI 0.10kg/m<sup>2</sup> lower than those with income IMD recorded (p<0.001).

Income and education levels have been shown to be associated in society, with those with greater educational attainment often being able to demand higher incomes (Wiles, 1974). Due to this, the relationship between the variables for income IMD and education and skills IMD quintiles was investigated. The domain of income IMD included indicators based on the number of people that were in families that were deprived in regards to household income. These indicators included the number of people in families receiving financial support such as income support, jobseeker's allowance, and child tax credits. If a high number of individuals in the area fit into these categories, the area would receive a high deprivation score for income. The education and skills IMD domain included indicators regarding educational attainment in school for children in the area, and the number of adults with no or little qualifications or English language proficiency. This means whilst there is likely a relationship between the two, they are distinct which is why IMD uses both.

Whilst IMD is not perfectly representative of the levels of income and education for each individual, it does provide an indicator of the levels of deprivation for each measure in the local area. Because of this association, the correlation between the two variables was assessed. A correlation of 0.816 was found between the two variables when they were assumed to be continuous, which signifies a high correlation.

Slimming World members had the option of completing information on their employment, whether they have children living at home and whether they lived with a partner. It was clear a large proportion of participants did not complete this information (n=441,624; 63.6%).

Employment status and whether the new member lives with a partner and/or children were all collected via an optional employment form – which is why the missing data for all three is identical. Again, a comparison was made between baseline BMI and age for those that did and did not fill out the employment form. Those who did not fill out the form had a 0.33kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI (p<0.001), and were 4.51 years older (p<0.001). With these baseline statistics both being significantly different it can be assumed that this data is not missing at random. This suggests that it could be those who are unemployed do not fill out the form or those that are without partners/children are less likely to fill out the form. The 'employment status' variable does not have an option for out of work so it is likely that those that do not fill out the form are without jobs.
However, it cannot be assumed that all those that have not filled out the form are unemployed.

The reason that those who are missing are older is likely because individuals that have retired, and therefore are no longer in the workforce, are generally older. The proportion of missing data for those who were 65 or older was 92.6% compared with 61.4% of those under 65. This significant difference (p<0.001) provides support to this hypothesis.

The final variable with a large proportion of missing data was the initial weight loss target that individuals set. There were 138,645 (20%) missing values for target weights which could either be because these individuals did not want to set a target; were not asked by their consultant to set a target; or the consultant did not record their target. Those that did not set a target had 1.1kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI (p<0.001) and were 0.25 years older (p<0.001). These differences imply that the data may not be missing at random.

# 4.3 Describing the Population at Baseline

Table 5 describes the sample population at baseline. The mean age across all individuals in the dataset at baseline is 42.70 years. The mean weight in the cohort is 90.52kg which translates to a mean BMI of 33.31kg/m<sup>2</sup> – which comes under the classification of obese (NHS, 2016). Out of all members in the cohort, 2% were reported to be diabetic. For those who filled out the employment form, 31% were in full-time work - with the other 69% being in part-time work; 58% lived with at least one child; and 74% lived with a partner.

IMD was converted from deciles into quintiles (0, 1, 2, 3, 4). The mean scores for income and education and skills IMD were 2.01 and 1.84 respectively. Slimming World members initially target a mean BMI of 28.04kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

Variable Label	n	Mean	SD	Min	Max
Age at Join Date (years)	692,945	42.70	13.58	18	80
Height (cm) (week1)	653,479	164.75	7.54	135	210

#### Table 5: Summary of Baseline Variables

Start weight (kg)	692,945	90.52	19.52	44.68	277.14
Start BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	653,479	33.31	6.53	20.00	89.53
Diabetic Status (0=not diabetic, 1=diabetic)	692,945	0.02	0.15	0	1
Employment Status (0=part- time, 1=full-time)	252,321	0.31	0.46	0	1
Income IMD Quintile (1-5)	509,926	3.01	1.37	1	5
Education, skills and training IMD Quintile (1-5)	516,796	2.84	1.36	1	5
Has Children Living at Home (0=no, 1=yes)	252,321	0.58	0.49	0	1
Has Partner Living at Home (0=no, 1=yes)	252,321	0.74	0.44	0	1
Initial Target Weight (kg)	557,613	76.13	16.58	0	245.85
Initial Target BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	523,204	28.04	5.58	20.00	84.68
Initial Target Weight Loss (kg)	557,613	-13.77	9.89	-161.48	0
Initial Target BMI Loss (kg/m²)	523,204	-5.05	3.56	-55.76	0

Table 6 shows the proportion of males and females in the sample, with the majority (95.4%) being female.

Table 6	6:	Summary	of	Gender
---------	----	---------	----	--------

Gender	n	%
Females	660,868	95.4
Males	32,077	4.6





Figure 5 shows the distribution of BMIs in the Slimming World sample under 80kg/m<sup>2</sup>, as only a small proportion of the sample had BMIs of 80kg/m<sup>2</sup> or above. The distribution shows a positive skew with a value of 1.05. This is likely to be present due to very few people having BMIs of 50-plus, and selection bias in that those who would be on the lower tail of a BMI distribution not joining the Slimming World programme as they do not need to lose weight. A summary of the distribution of baseline BMI by BMI classifications is shown below in Table 7, where obese I represents those with BMIs between 30kg/m<sup>2</sup> and 35kg/m<sup>2</sup>, obese II represents those with a BMI between 35kg/m<sup>2</sup> and 40kg/m<sup>2</sup> and obese III represents those with a BMI of 40kg/m<sup>2</sup> or higher. The most common group of members are those that are obese I with the least common being healthy weight – most likely because the majority of people in this BMI classification from the full population do not feel they need the assistance of a weight management programme.

Baseline BMI Classification	Baseline BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Ν	N (%)
Healthy Weight	18.5-24.99	36,153	5.5
Overweight	25-29.99	194,317	29.7
Obese I	30-34.99	202,727	31.0
Obese II	35-39.99	124,624	19.1
Obese III	40+	95,658	14.6

Table 7: Distribution of Members by BMI Classification at Baseline

\*BMI Classifications from NICE (2014)

Members' age at the date they join Slimming World is characterised by a bimodal distribution as seen in Figure 6. This shows that the age of members peaks at around 30 and then again in people's mid-40s.





A summary of the distribution by age group is shown in

Table 8. The most common group is members in their 40s followed by those in their 30s and then 20s. The least populated group is those that are 60 or older.

Age Group	Ν	N (%)
18-29	139,911	20.2
30-39	159,816	23.1
40-49	173,524	25.0
50-59	131,266	18.9
60+	88,428	12.8

 Table 8: Distribution of Members by Age Group at Baseline

Table 9, below, shows the distribution of both income and education and skills IMD. It can be seen that for income IMD, each group is well represented in the Slimming World sample, with all groups representing at between 18% and 22% of the sample. For education and skills IMD participants each group is still reasonably well represented, but there are fewer participants from the least deprived areas in terms of education and skills, with under 15% of the full sample being from these areas. The three best represented groups for education and skills IMD are the three most deprived groups.

Quintile	Income IMD (%)	Education and Skills IMD (%)
1	18.1	21.5
2	20.6	22.2
3	21.5	21.7
4	21.5	19.7
5	18.3	14.9

Table 9: Proportion of Individuals in each IMD Quintile

Figure 7, below, shows the distribution of weight-loss targets up to 60kg, as the frequency of weight-loss targets of 60kg or more was small. The histogram shows that few people aim to lose less than 5kg, with most aiming to lose 5-15kg of their starting weight. The frequency of weight-loss targets decreases with the size of the target.

Figure 7: Distribution of the Target Weight-Loss set by Slimming World Members



Appendix 3 and Figure 8 show the join type of all new members in the 2014 cohort. Four of these join types were explained in section 4.1, with the additional category being re-join. Re-join is classified as an individual who had previously been a member of the programme and re-joined as a new member in 2014. It is possible to identify individuals who re-join if the data manager at Slimming World was able to match them to their original member ID.

The data shows that almost half of individuals signed up to the programme on the standard tariff with no type of discount. Just under 10% signed up at the Slimming World class with a Countdown pre-paid package. Around one in five signed up with discounts found in magazines. Only a small percentage of new members joined through SWoR (2.7%). Over 1 in 5 of new members in 2014 had been members prior to 2014.



Table	10:	Baseline	Summary	/ by	/ Join	Туре

Join Type	Age	Baseline weight (kg)	Baseline BMI (kg/m²)	Income IMD quintile	Education IMD quintile	Target Weight Loss (kg)
Standard	41.84	89.69	32.96	2.03	1.84	-14.11
Re-join	43.68	90.20	33.22	2.06	1.93	-12.16
Countdown	45.33	91.20	33.44	2.36	2.18	-13.93
Discount	41.54	91.12	33.63	1.77	1.61	-13.62
Referral	47.28	101.38	37.22	1.77	1.63	-17.06

Table 10 shows key baseline statistics of the members in the dataset by join type. Those that joined the Slimming World programme via the referral scheme tended to be older, have a higher BMI, and set higher targets for weight loss than those who had joined via a standard membership, those that had re-joined the programme, those who purchased a countdown package and those who joined the programme using a discount voucher. Those in the discount and referral groups lived in the most deprived areas in terms of both income and education on average, with those that joined Slimming World via a countdown membership being more likely to be from the least deprived areas.

Figure 8: Distribution of Join Types

Income IMD Quintile	Age	Baseline Weight (kg)	Baseline BMI (kg/m²)	Target Weight Loss (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )
0	39.89	93.49	34.55	-14.94
1	41.58	92.05	33.84	-14.40
2	43.06	90.87	33.32	-13.90
3	44.44	89.51	32.77	-13.37
4	45.41	88.30	32.24	-12.92

Table 11: Summary Statistics by Income IMD Quintile

When reviewing the differences in age, baseline weight and BMI, and target weight loss, a clear pattern emerges in Table 11. Those living in less income deprived areas, tend to be older, have lower baseline weights and BMIs, and set less ambitious targets in terms of weight loss. A similar pattern is present when reviewing education and skills IMD quintiles.

Income IMD Quintile	Standard (%)	Re-join (%)	Countdown (%)	Discount (%)	Referral (%)
1	47.4	18.0	6.8	23.0	4.8
2	48.1	18.6	9.4	19.9	3.9
3	49.1	18.8	11.3	17.2	3.6
4	49.1	19.2	13.0	15.5	3.3
5	48.3	19.9	15.2	13.8	2.8

Table 12: Join Type Proportions for each Income IMD Quintile

Again, clear patterns emerge in Table 12 with join types between with income IMD quintiles. Less income deprived Slimming World members are significantly more likely to join Slimming World via a countdown membership, while those in more deprived areas are more likely to join Slimming World using a discount voucher or via a GP referral. Again, a similar pattern was seen across the education and skills IMD quintiles.

Now the Slimming World case study has been described at baseline, the next section will review the outcome data in the dataset: attendances and weight change.

### 4.4 Outcome Data

The outcome variables in the dataset provided by Slimming World are recorded in the weekly attendance data. This includes the weight, BMI and attendance patterns for each individual. Additional variables, shown in Table 13, were created with the purpose of better assessing the Slimming World programme based on both the theoretical framework in Chapter 3, for the purpose of analysis, and NICE (2014) recommendations, to illustrate how effective the programme is against NICE objectives. Using variables such as total attendances in the first 12 weeks, and LOCF weight change at 3 months, initial engagement can be summarised and used as outcome variables in regression analysis. The targets set by individuals and whether they achieve them can also be used to assess programme effectiveness from the point-of-view of members.

ο	2
0	Z

# Table 13: Outcome Variables

Variable	Definition	Type of Variable	Unit of Measurement
Total attendances	The total number of attendances the individual makes over the 24-month period	Continuous	Attendances
Total attendances at 12 weeks	The total attendances the individual makes in the first 12 weeks	Continuous	Attendances
Attendance at 3-6, 6-12, 12-24 months	Whether the individual made at least one attendance in each time-period	Binary	Yes/no
Completer	Whether the individual attended at least 10 of the first 12 weeks of the programme	Binary	Yes/no
LOCF weight at 3/6/12/24 months	LOCF weight of the individual at the specific time-point	Continuous	Kgs
LOCF weight change at 3/6/12/24 months	The weight change between baseline and the last observed weight at each time- point	Continuous	Kgs
3/5/10% weight change	Whether the individual achieves each percentage of weight loss during their time in the Slimming World programme	Binary	Yes/no
LOCF BMI at 3/6/12/24 months	The LOCF BMI of the individual at the specific time-point	Continuous	Kg/m <sup>2</sup>
LOCF BMI change at 3/6/12/24 months	The BMI change (unit and %) between baseline and the last observed weight at each time-point	Continuous	Kg/m², %
Target BMI loss	The BMI points and % of baseline BMI the individual would have to lose to reach their target BMI	Continuous	Kg/m², %
Target reached	Whether the individual was at or below their target weight at their final attendance	Binary	Yes/no
BMI change to healthy	The BMI change required for the individual to have a healthy BMI (BMI of 25kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Continuous	Kg/m <sup>2</sup>
Healthy BMI reached	Whether the individual's LOCF BMI was 25kg/m <sup>2</sup> or lower	Binary	Yes/no
Left Early attendances in first 12 weeks	The percentage of attendances in the first 12 weeks	Continuous	%

#### 4.4.1 Unobserved Attendance Data

As well as missing baseline data, there was missing data in subsequent weeks of the programme as not all those who join the Slimming World programme attend every session. For example, 39,466 of the 692,945 individuals who joined in 2014 did not attend the week after the week they joined the programme. This means there is missing data for these individuals as Slimming World cannot record data without attendance.

As the reason for an individual leaving the programme, and what happens to each individual's weight when they stop attending, is unknown assumptions have to be about weight trajectories over time and this will be discussed in later chapters. For the purpose of describing the outcomes, at 3 months, LOCF weight-change is used as the outcome of interest as the initial Slimming World programme, both countdown and referral, is determined as 12-weeks. At 6, 12 and 24 months, LOCF weight change is used for outcomes but only for those who have continued attending Slimming World classes past 3, 6 and 12 months. This is because if the last observation was recorded a long time prior, it is a strong assumption to make that the individual's weight remains constant.

#### 4.2.2 Attendance

Appendix 4 shows the proportion of individuals that stay in the programme for various lengths of time. Of the 692,945 that joined Slimming World in 2014, 44.15% made at least one attendance at any point after the initial 12 weeks. Nearly a quarter of individuals made at least one attendance after the first 6 months and just under an eighth of individuals made an attendance over a year after joining the programme. This is illustrated in Figure 9 below.



Figure 9: Number of Members that Remain in the Programme through each Time-Period

Individuals continuing to attend classes after the initial 12-week period means that when evaluating long-term results, the dataset still holds data for 81,910 individuals still attending after the first year. For the other 611,140 individuals that joined in 2014, long-term weight change will have to be predicted. Outcomes at 6, 12 and 24 months will only be reviewed for those who continue attending the programme.



Figure 10: Distribution of Attendances in the First 12 Weeks

Figure 10 shows the distribution of what proportion of individuals attend each number of sessions in the first 12 weeks, which has a skewness of -0.11. The completion rate for the initial 12-week programme across the entire sample was 33.2%. The least common number of attendances is 1 which is unusual as it significantly less common than all other values (all p<0.001).

#### 4.2.3 Clinical Outcomes

Table 14 shows the proportion of members that achieved clinical outcomes set out by NICE (2014) and the literature (Wing et al., 2011). Almost half of all members meet the goal of 3% weight change whilst nearly two-thirds of those that joined via SWoR achieved it. Almost 1 in 8 members achieve a weight loss of 10%; this rises to more than 1 in 5 for those who entered the programme by way of SWoR. All differences are significant between the whole sample and the referral group with p-values of <0.001. Members who join through SWoR are significantly less likely to reach a healthy BMI than all other groups, but this is likely due to individuals joining Slimming World via SWoR being further from a healthy BMI at baseline – shown in Table 10.

Members	N	Achieved 3% Weight Change (%)	Achieved 5% Weight Change (%)	Achieved 10% Weight Change (%)	Achieved Healthy BMI (%)
All	692,945	48.7	31.4	11.8	11.4
Standard	307,465	54.8	36.9	14.3	13.5
Re-Join	144,447	27.00	12.4	2.5	8.3
Countdown	63,875	58.6	39.3	15.1	11.4
Discount	119,786	47.3	29.7	10.9	10.4
Referral	17,896	63.1	46.7	21.1	2.2

Table 14: Proportion of Members that Achieve Weight Change Levels

# 4.2.4 Weight Outcomes

After the initial 12-week period in the Slimming World programme, the mean LOCF weight-change across all sample members was -3.20kg, with the distribution of weight-change between -20kg and 10kg being shown in Table 15 below. A skew is present with the majority of participants experiencing a small weight-loss inside the Slimming World programme.

Table 15: A Histogram of Weight-Change at 12-Weeks



Table 16 shows the outcomes of the individuals that remained in the programme after 3, 6 and 12 months.

Time Period (Months)	N	Total Attenda nces	LOCF Weight Change 3 Months (kg)	LOCF Weight Change 6 Months (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	LOCF Weight Change 12 Months (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	LOCF Weight Change 24 Months (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Target Reached (%)	BMI at last Attendance (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )
≤3	383,064	5.05	-3.20	-	-	-	1.9	32.36
3-6	142,303	13.79	-4.11	-4.46	-	-	10.0	31.68
6-12	85,676	26.97	-5.25	-7.11	-6.92	-	20.5	31.22
>12	81,902	61.50	-6.11	-9.62	-11.36	-10.48	32.5	30.35

 Table 16: Outcomes by Time-Period of Leaving the Programme

Table 16 shows that those who remain in the programme for longer have a greater weight-loss than all other groups over the initial 3 month period (all p<0.001). Also of interest is that at 12 months, those that leave the programme between 6 and 12 months weigh more than they did at 6 months. For those that leave the programme in the 6 to 12 month period, the mean weight at 6 months is lower than the LOCF weight at 12 months. For those who stay in the programme for longer than 12 months, the mean weight loss is less at 24 months than 12 months.

Table 17: Outcomes by Join Type

Join Type	N	Total Attendances in First 12 Weeks	Total Number of Attendances	LOCF Weight Change 3 Months (kg)	Target Reached (%)
Standard	307,465	7.47	17.17	-3.63	11.0
Re-join	114,447	6.21	10.73	-1.76	3.6
Countdown	63,875	8.44	21.04	-3.82	11.6
Discount	19,786	7.49	16.42	-3.20	9.6
Referral	17,896	9.06	24.12	-4.65	16.3

There are distinct patterns between the outcomes of the five different entry routes into Slimming World shown in Table 17. The members that join Slimming World through SWoR attend significantly more regularly than all other groups during the initial 12-weeks and have more attendances in total (all p<0.001). Those that re-joined the programme attended less sessions than all other groups and lost less weight. Referral members lose the most weight,

while those that join via countdown memberships are the most likely to reach their target weight.

Age Group	N	12-Week Attendances	Total Attendances	LOCF Weight Change 3 Months (kg)	Target Reached (%)
18-29	139,911	6.70	12.74	-2.93	7.0
30-39	159,816	6.93	14.16	-3.12	8.2
40-49	173,524	7.25	16.10	-3.31	9.8
50-59	131,266	7.51	18.17	-3.33	11.7
60+	88,428	8.05	22.86	-3.35	15.6

Table	18:	Outcomes	by	Age	Group
-------	-----	----------	----	-----	-------

Strong patterns emerge when looking at attendance outcomes by age group in Table 18. Older groups attend more sessions, both in the first 12 weeks and 24-months on average. However, weight-loss stayed relatively constant between the age groups, with all groups losing between 2.93 and 3.35kg on average. Despite this, older age groups are significantly more likely to reach their target weight in the Slimming World programme.

Table 19 shows the outcomes by the various clinically defined BMI groups. The data shows that those who have higher BMIs attend more sessions than those who with lower BMI, lose more BMI points on average and are less likely to reach their target in the 24-month follow-up period; this is likely due to those in higher BMI groups setting larger targets as they have a larger amount of excess weight. A further explanation could be that it takes longer to lose a greater amount of weight.

Baseline BMI Classification	Baseline BMI (kg/m²)	N	12-Week Attendances	Total Attendances	LOCF 3 Month Weight Loss (kg)	Target Reached (%)
Healthy Weight	18.5- 24.99	36,153	6.55	11.47	-1.95	9.3
Overweight	25- 29.99	194,317	7.21	14.71	-2.63	9.0
Obese I	30- 34.99	202,727	7.41	16.48	-3.16	9.0
Obese II	35- 39.99	124,624	7.47	17.50	-3.62	10.1
Obese III	40+	95,658	7.53	18.57	-4.25	12.3

Table 19: Outcomes by BMI Group

When members attend classes, they have a choice of whether to stay for IMAGE therapy and participate in a discussion about behavioural change with other members and the consultant, or leave before this. As not all individuals are consistent with whether they leave the classes they attend early or not, a method for summarising how often the individual leaves early was created. First, it has been assumed that all individuals stay for their first class as there is no data on whether or not they leave early for the initial attendance. It is likely that the individuals do stay for their first full class as this is when they are provided with all the information about how the programme works. To identify the effect of leaving early, completers of the programme are compared. This is so only individuals who attend regularly are included in the comparison. These are sorted into four groups shown in Table 20.

Early Leaver	N	12-Week Attendances	Total Attendances	LOCF BMI 3 Months (kg)	Target Reached (%)
Leave early <0.25	136,682	11.04	36.90	-5.85	23.3
Leave early <0.5 & =>0.25	48,965	11.00	29.01	-5.34	18.9
Leave early=>0.5 & <0.75	34,615	10.83	24.46	-5.03	16.1
Leave early =>0.75	9,867	11.05	25.36	-5.09	17.7

Table 20: Outcome Comparison of Completers with Various Leave Early Rates

Table 20 shows that those who leave early in less than 25% of sessions in the first 12-weeks perform significantly better than all other groups in the first 12 weeks which means that even though those that leave early are attending and being weighed, they do not receive the benefit of the IMAGE therapy which is shown by the lesser weight loss.

Table 21 shows outcomes by income IMD group. A trend appears with those who are in less deprived areas making more attendances and losing more weight between quintiles 1 and 4, with those in quintile 5 attending less and losing less weight than those in quintile 4. However, those in quintile 5 are more likely to reach the target weight they set when joining the Slimming World programme.

Income IMD Quintile	N	12-Week Attendances	Total Attendances	LOCF Weight Change 3 Month (kg)	Target Reached (%)
1	92,140	7.22	16.14	-3.27	9.5
2	104,959	7.32	16.80	-3.31	10.0
3	109,826	7.41	17.34	-3.33	10.6
4	109,706	7.46	17.61	-3.34	10.9
5	93,295	7.42	17.40	-3.28	10.7

Table	21:	Outcomes	bv	Income	IMD	Quintile
i ubio	<u> </u>	Catoonioo	~y	11001110		Quintino

When reviewing the relationship between education and skills IMD quintiles in Table 22, a less strong relationship between deprivation and lower attendances and less weight loss is less apparent. Those in the middle quintile attend the most classes with those in the most and least deprived quintiles attending the least Slimming World classes. In regards to weight change, those in the less deprived quintiles lose less weight, but are more likely to reach their target weight – because of the lower starting weight and more conservative targets set by those in less deprived groups.

Education & Skills IMD Quintile	N	12-Week Attendances	Total Attendances	LOCF Weight Change 12- Week (kg)	Target Reached (%)
1	111,209	7.29	16.60	-3.34	9.9
2	114,543	7.38	17.14	-3.34	10.3
3	112,057	7.43	17.41	-3.35	10.7
4	101,988	7.42	17.36	-3.30	10.7
5	76,999	7.31	16.80	-3.17	10.4

#### Table 22: Outcomes by Education & Skills IMD Quintile

# 4.5 Summary

This chapter has set out the key features of the Slimming World programme and the dataset of Slimming World members that will be used as a case study. This chapter included a description of the sample of Slimming World members and some key outcomes by different subgroups. The key findings in this chapter are listed below:

- The sample of individuals in the Slimming World dataset represent a diverse sample in terms of characteristics
- Around 44% of participants who join Slimming World continue attending after the initial 12-week period
- Participants who join the programme via Slimming World on Referral lose more weight than any other join type
- Individuals that are more obese attend more classes and lose more weight on average
- Income and education deprivation had no meaningful effect on weightloss at 12-weeks

The dataset features a number of strengths that will make the analysis performed a valuable addition to the current literature. The first strength is the size of the dataset. With almost 700,000 individuals in the sample the case study represents one of the largest studies on weight management that has been performed. As well as this, Slimming World routinely collect a large amount of data on all members, and a large number of participants have full data available at baseline. Another positive of the dataset is that over 80,000 individuals have data for over one year with some individuals having up to 2years of follow-up data.

A limitation of the dataset is that the analysis is limited to data routinely collected by Slimming World. Because the data was not collected for the purpose of this research, not all individual characteristics that can affect weight management are included, and so proxy variables have to be used, which may be less effective. As well as this, as not all fields in the sign-up forms are mandatory, there is a substantial amount of missing data for some variables. The final limitation is that weights cannot be collected for individuals who stop attending Slimming World and so weight trajectories for those outside the programme are unknown.

The next chapter will go on to discuss what variables can be used as proxies to test the theoretical framework and the regression methods that will be employed. Whilst some patterns have emerged from reviewing outcomes in the descriptives, the regression analysis in the next chapter will be able to test whether this is correlation or causation, and predictions will be able to be formed about what happens to different individuals using these characteristics.

# Chapter 5: Analysis of Weight-Change and Attendance in the Slimming World Dataset

The theoretical framework of weight management in Chapter 3 provided an overview of factors that influence weight management behaviour, including the individual characteristics and demographics that might predict greater success with weight loss and weight loss maintenance.

The first objective of this chapter is to test the hypotheses made by these theories of weight management in order to identify the key influencers of weight change in a weight management intervention. Data on the Slimming World programme will be used as a case study to test these hypotheses and identify predictors of weight-change and attendance.

Following this, the identified variables will be used to make predictions of the probability of individuals continuing to attend the Slimming World programme, and weight-change. Predictions of weight-change will then be made using the Heckman-correction for those who continue attending the programme, and those who leave the programme, and are therefore unobserved in the Slimming World data. These predictions of weightchange within the Slimming World programme will be used to inform the initial 24-months of cost-effectiveness analysis, which is defined in the model as the weight-loss period.

If key factors that predict weight-change in behavioural weightmanagement programmes can be identified from the analysis, then factors can be used to inform longer term modelling and make more accurate predictions of long-term weight-trajectories. By improving the accuracy of long-term weight-trajectories, modelling would better represent real-world outcomes, and therefore improve estimates of cost-effectiveness.

# 5.1 Empirical Specification

Whilst the Slimming World data is rich in terms of the number of variables available, and the number of individuals that are in the programme, because the data was not collected for the purpose of this specific

research there are limits on the analysis and tests that can be performed. Whilst some explanatory variables from the theoretical framework are available in the data, not every variable from the theoretical framework has been collected and so proxy variables must be used. This section will first set out which variables have been found to be the most appropriate in the Slimming World dataset.

Following this, the empirical specifications for each theme (rational choice, time-preference and habits and self-control) will be presented using the proxy variables, and will be combined into one overall equation to assess the theoretical framework and make predictions about weight change. The frameworks in each theme will be tested by identifying the effect magnitudes for each independent variable that have been input into a regression model as a proxy for a theory on weight management. These relationships between the explanatory variables and weight change will then be used to form predictions about weight change based on individual characteristics, which will be used in cost-effectiveness modelling.

#### 5.1.1 Rational Choice

Six variables were included in the rational choice framework to explain weight change  $(\Delta W_i)$ , shown in Equation 15 below. These were how far the individual is from their ideal weight  $(W_i - W_{Ii})$ , their budget constraint  $(I_i)$ , how many free hours they have per week  $(T_i)$ , how supportive the individual's partner is  $(PS_i)$ , how much discrimination the individual receives  $(B_i)$  and how knowledgeable  $(K_i)$  the individual is about obesity and weight management. Whilst some directly correspond with the variables available in the dataset, for others, proxy variables were considered. These are described below.

Equation 15

$$\Delta W_i = f((W_i - W_{Ii}), I_i, T_i, PS_i, B_i, K_i)$$

The first variable in the rational choice theoretical framework created in Chapter 3 was how overweight the individual is compared with their ideal weight (Ruhm, 2012; Dragone and Savorelli, 2012; Rosin, 2012). There were two potential methods of building this variable using the variables available in the Slimming World dataset. The first was that it could be assumed that every individual has a homogenous ideal weight (or BMI to control for height) that is set by society (or clinicians - a BMI under 25), and those that are furthest above this have the largest utility loss from their weight, with each extra pound of body weight reducing utility by more than the last (Lakdawalla and Phillipson, 2009). However, it is unlikely that every person has the same image of their ideal body, and some may maximise their utility from their bodyweight at different levels than others (Oswald and Powdthavee, 2007; Anand and Gray, 2009). Instead, the assumption was made that the target BMI/weight set by an individual at their registration for the Slimming World programme is their own personal ideal weight that they would gain the most utility from. In this case the difference between the individual's target weight and their weight yields their utility loss. A limitation of this assumption is that it is likely that people who are very obese set targets that are interims, which are made with the intention of being a realistic target rather than being a final target which would be their ideal weight, although recent study showed that setting an ambitious target improved weight loss (Avery et al., 2016). Equation 16 illustrates the rational choice econometric model. The first explanatory variable is measured by the difference between the individual's weight at baseline  $(W_{0,i})$  and the individual's personal ideal weight  $(W_{x,i})$  (Ruhm, 2012). Target weight was chosen over a healthy weight (defined by a BMI of 25kg/m<sup>2</sup> or lower) as a target weight incorporates preferences and therefore the bodyweight that individuals derive most utility from.

Equation 16

$$\Delta W_{i} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1} (W_{0,i} - W_{x,i}) + \beta_{2} I_{i} + \beta_{3} P_{i} + \beta_{4} C_{i} + \beta_{4} J_{i} + \beta_{5} (BMI_{B,i} - 25) + \beta_{6} R_{i} + \beta_{7} D_{i} + \beta_{8} (A_{i} * E_{i}) + \varepsilon_{i}$$

For the variable of disposable income, the income IMD quintile ( $I_i$ ) of the area that each individual lives in has been chosen (Drewnowski and Darmon, 2005). A problem with this proxy is that in each LSOA there were on average 1,614 people, and it is limiting to assume that each of these people have identical budget constraints (Stokes, 2012). Seward (2014) highlights that income affects desire to lose weight with those in low-income groups having a lower desire to lose weight and fewer weight loss attempts. However, if an individual became a Slimming World member then the assumption can be made that the individual has signaled they were attempting to lose weight.

The next variable that required a proxy to be found was the amount of free time individuals have (Cawley, 2004). It was assumed that those in full-time work, rather than part-time work, will have less free time, as those in full-time work must allocate more hours to work. Another proxy for the amount of time a person has available was whether the individual has a partner or children at home as both of these come with responsibilities that could take time out of a person's day. Making this assumption was limiting as there will be some people who cook healthy meals because they want their children to eat well, or exercise because it is an activity they do with their partner. Another problem with this proxy was missing data. Slimming World collected data regarding whether the individual is employed, has a partner and has children, in an optional additional form. As the form is optional, there was a large amount of missing data for the employment, partner and children variables. However, initially, the proxy for time constraint are whether the individual is in full-time or part-time work  $(I_i)$  and whether the individual has a partner  $(P_i)$  and/or children living at home  $(C_i)$ .

As the level of spousal support each individual receives is not stored in the data, a proxy would have be needed to test this theory (O'Neil et al., 2015). However, whilst the Slimming World dataset has information about whether each member has a partner, there is no way to tell the difference between supportive and non-supportive partners and so due to uncertainty about any proxy, this variable was not included.

The next variable that was hypothesised to influence weight change was the amount of discrimination each individual receives as a result of their weight (Dragone and Savorelli, 2012). If much of discrimination comes in the workplace, such as a lack of promotion or a wage penalty, it could be that those in full-time work are discriminated against the most and therefore have the largest utility loss (Brown and Routon, 2018) However, it could be that those who only have part-time employment are discriminated against so heavily that they cannot gain entry to the full-time job market (Flint et al., 2016). In this case, these individuals would have the most incentive to improve their weight management. It is likely that those that have the most excess weight are likely to receive the most discrimination, so the difference between baseline BMI and a healthy BMI (25kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was the most appropriate proxy to use to test this hypothesis.

The next variable in the rational choice framework was how much knowledge an individual has about the risks of obesity and losing and maintaining weight, which is unknown (Grunert, 2012). It may be that Slimming World members that have joined through SWoR ( $R_i$ ) are at an advantage as they have gained knowledge about the risks of obesity from their GP. Similarly, individuals that have had a health shock, which in the Slimming World database could be those with type 2 diabetes ( $D_i$ ) may have also gained additional knowledge about the effects of their risky behaviour from doctors and other medical staff (Etile, 2000). With improved knowledge about the risks, these individuals may be more equipped to manage their weight successfully, as well as being likely to have more motivation to manage their weight as they are more aware of the consequences.

Education could also have an impact on knowledge as those that are most educated may be able to better process their doctor's information (Grossman, 1972). Those who attended the most Slimming World classes are also likely to have taken in the most information as they have had the most exposure to the programme. As well as having data on whether the individual attended the session or not, there is data recorded on whether the individual left before the IMAGE therapy, and therefore did not receive the full extent of the intervention that week. It can be assumed that as the goal of IMAGE therapy is to provide information and support those that attend and stay for the most sessions should be better equipped to lose weight in the Slimming World programme and maintain their weight loss. Again, this should be coupled with education as the more educated are likely to process the IMAGE therapy more effectively. However, it is likely that the individuals that attend more sessions are also more motivated and engaged with the programme so this selection bias should be taken into account. The final variable in Equation 16 was an interaction between the information the individual receives from attendances where the individual stayed for the full session  $(A_i)$ , and the education IMD score  $(E_i)$  as individuals who are better educated are more likely to process new information more efficiently (Etile, 2000; Grunert et al., 2012).

Appendix 5 shows a summary of the each of the theories involved in the rational choice framework, the 'ideal' variable that would have been the most appropriate variable to test the hypotheses, and the proxy variable that was able to be used.

#### 5.1.2 Time-Preference

In the time-preference framework, shown in Equation 17, the 3 variables included were the individual's discount rate  $(D_i)$ , their probability of a health shock  $(H_i)$ , and whether the individual is a hyperbolic or exponential discounter  $(HD_i)$ . Again, some variables in the time-preference framework do not correspond directly with those available in the Slimming World dataset and so proxy variables were used

Equation 17

$$\Delta W_i = f(D_i, H_i, HD_i)$$

A proxy for discount rate was needed as the discount rate for each individual in the programme was unknown (Richards and Hamilton, 2012). One proxy for discount rate was an individual's educational attainment. This is because those who have stayed in education for a longer time are likely to either be more patient, as those that continue with education delay the reward of wages for higher future wages, or have learned how to be more patient through their education (Van der Pol, 2011; Fersterer and Winter-Ebmer, 2003; Perez-Arce, 2017). This is also shown by the relationship between education and BMI (Atella and Kopinska, 2014). Ideally, the educational attainment level that each individual has reached would be used, but Slimming World does not ask for this from members and so proxies were required. Education IMD quintile was used to make assumptions regarding the educational attainment of individuals in the area. Here it must was assumed that each individual had the average education level in the area which is limiting but unavoidable. Therefore the first variable in the time-preference empirical framework, shown in Equation 18, was education IMD quintile  $(E_i)$ .

Equation 18

$$\Delta W_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 E_i + \beta_2 D_i + BMI_{B,i} + \beta_3 a_i + \varepsilon_i$$

Both whether the individual is diabetic, and BMI at baseline were included as proxies for the probability of a health shock in the next period. (Richards and Hamilton, 2012). However, the question is whether all diabetics report to Slimming World that they have type 2 diabetes and their condition is recorded in the dataset. Whilst there may be some false negatives it is unlikely that there are any false positives, so it may be possible to conduct analysis assuming that a no-response indicated being free of the disease, which would lead to conservative results.

The final variable in the time-preference framework was whether the individual is a hyperbolic discounter (Fan and Jin, 2013). As it is impossible for Slimming World to collect data on whether an individual is a hyperbolic discounter a proxy will need to be used. Eisenhauer and Ventura (2006) showed a negative relationship between educational attainment and hyperbolic discounting and so education IMD score will be used as a proxy again. Older people are likely to have more motivation to manage weight, with Grunert et al. (2012) hypothesising that this is because the health effects from their obesity is likely has a shorter delay due to health consequences usually becoming apparent in later life. This results in more risk in the next period, which is an example of preferences changes depending on the time period. For example, the risk of developing type 2 diabetes and suffering from heart disease increase with age (Pippitt et al., 2016; North and Sinclair, 2012). Therefore, age ( $a_i$ ) was used as a proxy for hyperbolic discounting.

Appendix 6 shows a summary of the hypotheses and variables used in the time-preference framework.

#### 5.1.3 Habits and Self-Control

The habits and self-control theoretical framework, displayed in Equation 19, contained 7 variables, with 5 of the variables influencing either the individual's self-control ( $SC_i$ ) or strength of habits ( $hab_i$ ). Self-control is a function of the individual's investment in the programme ( $inv_i$ ), which is itself a function of whether the individual is sophisticated about their self-control issues ( $sop_i$ ), and whether the individual has replaced their overeating with an alternative

activity  $(alt_i)$ . Strength of habit is a function of the total number of past-diets the individual has attempted  $(pd_i)$  and the individual's stock of past overconsumption of food  $(poc_i)$ . Again, not all these variables were present in the Slimming World dataset and so proxies were selected.

Equation 19

$$\Delta W_i = SC_i(inv_i(sop_i), alt_i) - hab_i(pd_i, poc_i)$$

Equation 20 shows the empirical framework for habits and self-control. A proxy for the level of investment in the programme was taken from a categorical variable – the individual's join type  $(M_i)$ , as each membership has a different upfront cost (Djawadi et al., 2014).

Equation 20

$$\Delta W_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 M_i + \beta_2 c_i + \beta_3 r_i + \beta_4 (BMI_{B,i} - 25) + \varepsilon_i$$

As sophisticated individuals are those that employ strategies to generate commitment to the programme, it was assumed that those who purchase a Countdown ( $c_i$ ) (an upfront payment for either 6 or 12 weeks of classes) reveal themselves to be sophisticated rather than naïve (Dodd, 2008); signaling a generation of commitment at Slimming World. One problem with this proxy was that it is likely more wealthy members can afford this than those that are less well off. Another potential problem was that as there is a discount at Slimming World for purchasing a Countdown, some individuals may purchase them for the discount rather than commitment reasons. Even taking these points into consideration, the upfront payment is likely to motivate individuals to put more into the programme as they know they are paying regardless of whether they attend or not.

For the alternative activity variable, as it is unknown what people do outside classes, it is impossible to know whether people are replacing eating with alternative activities and therefore it was impossible to create a suitable proxy using the Slimming World dataset (Buscemi et al., 2014).

As strength of habit is unmeasurable, proxies had to be used to make assumptions about which groups have the strongest habits and who has the most difficulty changing their routines and maintaining the change (Dragone, 2009). The first influencer on strength of habit is the number of past-diets (Rosin, 2012). The proxy variable chosen was whether the individual had been a member of Slimming World pre-2014 ( $r_i$ ). This indicates that the individual has tried to lose weight in the past and that they have struggled to make a long-term change to their habits which has led to them re-joining Slimming World's weight management programme. If it is assumed that individuals who were members of the Slimming World programme before 2014 have had more diet attempts then predictions can be made future weight management success. A limitation of using this a proxy was that the assumption is made that only those who have rejoined the programme have attempted weight-loss before, and it is unlikely these individuals are the only members to have attempted weight loss in the past. However, joining the Slimming World programme is a different method of weight-loss attempt and so the proxy may still be valid.

The second influencer of strength of habit was past-overconsumption as the more over-consumption the individual has engaged in, the stronger their poor weight management habits are likely to be, and therefore the more difficult they are likely to find changing their lifestyles in the long-term to be. The stock of past-overconsumption was unavailable in the Slimming World dataset, but as overconsumption of food causes weight gain, those who have overconsumed the most in the past are likely to have the largest BMIs (Becker and Murphy, 1998). Therefore the proxy for past-overconsumption chosen was how overweight the individual is – the difference between their BMI and a BMI of 25.

Appendix 7 shows a summary of the habits and self-control theories and variables.

#### 5.1.4 Overall Empirical Specification

The final step before moving into the methods of implementing the empirical specification was to combine the three themes into one overall specification to explain weight management. The first reason for doing this is that individual decisions regarding weight management are likely to be influenced by rational choice, time-preference and habits and self-control simultaneously. Another reason for this combination is that due to the limited number of variables and the necessary use of proxies, there was overlap between the variables used in

each framework. Given the overlap one single framework should be able to explain weight change more effectively than any one theme alone, Equation 16, Equation 18, and Equation 20 were combined into the specification in Equation 21. According to the theoretical framework, and the literature regarding the proxies, each of the variables in the empirical specification should contribute toward explaining weight change.

Equation 21

$$\Delta W_{i} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1} (W_{0,i} - W_{x,i}) + \beta_{2} I_{i} + \beta_{3} P_{i} + \beta_{4} C_{i} + \beta_{4} J_{i} + \beta_{5} (BMI_{B,i} - 25) + \beta_{6} R_{i} + \beta_{7} D_{i} + \beta_{8} (A_{i} * E_{i}) + \beta_{9} E_{i} + \beta_{10} a_{i} + \beta_{11} M_{i} + \beta_{12} c_{i} + \beta_{13} r_{i} + \varepsilon_{i}$$

#### 5.1.5 Summary of Empirical Specification

The aim of this section was to relate the theoretical frameworks from Chapter 3 to the variables available in the Slimming World dataset. The theoretical frameworks have provided rationale for which variables should be included in predictive modelling of weight change.

Whilst some of the hypotheses that have been formed have been intuitive, there are a number of contrasting predictions. For example, the prediction that individuals that have joined through a referral will lose more weight, as they have met with a GP to discuss the risks of obesity and therefore are better informed. Conversely, referral members have not paid any initial fee to join the Slimming World programme and therefore have smaller losses to compensate, which, theoretically, leads to them discontinuing the programme earlier than someone that has paid to participate in the programme. These two hypotheses therefore contradict each other regarding the impact of joining the Slimming World programme by the GP referral pathway.

Another variable that the theories predict conflicting effects on weight loss was baseline weight or BMI. Rational addiction theory suggests that people that are more overweight have a larger stock of past consumption, they will find it more difficult to change their habits and lose weight. However, utility theory suggests that as these individuals are further from their target weight, they will also have a larger utility loss from their weight. Overall, these two effects may somewhat negate each other. What may be expected is that those who are most overweight are able to lose weight initially as they have more to lose and are more motivated, but struggle to maintain this weight loss as their habits are too strong to change in the long-term.

A further consideration when running the analysis is that there may be correlation between variables. This can be problematic. Collinearity can increase standard errors of coefficients and limit the accuracy of estimations made in regression modelling (Gujarati, 2003). The first of the correlated variables are the difference between baseline weight and target weight, and baseline BMI and a healthy BMI. This is because BMI is derived directly from weight, and target weights are likely close to a healthy weight. The next potential correlation is between having partner at home and having children at home as it is likely that many members that have partners will have children and vice versa. Whether the individual has diabetes and age may also be a problem as the prevalence rate for diabetes increases with age. Education IMD and income IMD may also be correlated as those who are more educated generally earn higher wages (Tamborini et al., 2015).

The next section will discuss the regression methods that will be used to test the empirical framework and make predictions regarding weight change.

# 5.2 Regression Methods

Now that the empirical framework has been set out, the methods for testing theoretical hypotheses and making predictions about weight trajectories will be discussed. The Slimming World data discussed in Chapter 4 will be used to estimate parameter values and predictions regarding outcomes. Data analysis was performed using STATA 13.1 (StataCorp, 2013).

First, the initial 12-week programme at Slimming World will be used to test the theoretical framework before moving onto what influences whether individuals continue attending Slimming World classes after the first 12 weeks and making predictions about who continues attending. These predictions will then be used to make further predictions about long term weight trajectories.

After estimations using the 12-week outcomes have been analysed, parameters associated with likelihood of continued attendance will be

estimated. These will then be combined to give an understanding of what may happen after the 12-week programme.

The first of the methods that will be used to test the theoretical framework is the most common form of linear regression - OLS.

## 5.2.1 Method 1: Ordinary Least Squares

The aim of OLS is to model the relationship between the dependent variable, in this case weight change, and the independent variables, which are the predictors of weight change, for example age and income. The regression model is a linear function of the independent variables plus a random component. Using OLS, it is possible to estimate the coefficient attached to each independent variable, which represents the effect that a one unit change has on the dependent variable. The sign of the independent variables describes the direction of the effect on the independent variable. In the case of dummy variables, the coefficients shift the intercept of the regression curve. Parameters should be chosen with the aim of minimising the residual sum of squares and maximising R<sup>2</sup>, which states the proportion of the variance in the dependent variable that is explained by the explanatory variables. OLS regression will be used to estimate the coefficient values and forecast weight change in a linear regression model that represents the full theoretical model (Verbeek, 2012).

According to the Gauss-Markov Theorem, linear regression where errors have zero expected mean, are uncorrelated and have homoscedastic variance is regarded as being the best linear unbiased estimators. If the assumptions of OLS are not held, bias can be introduced into the model and estimates can be inaccurate. If this is the case, another form of linear regression – GLMs can be used as an alternative as they are bound by less assumptions.

#### 5.2.2 Generalised Linear Model

GLMs rely on maximum likelihood estimation rather than the sum of squares, as is the case in OLS estimation and can be fit to non-linear relationships using a link function. There are three components to a GLM model.

- 1) The random component
- 2) Systematic component
- 3) Link function between 1) and 2)

The random component is the probability distribution of the response, or outcome variable (Y). The response variable has a normal distribution and it is assumed that the error term is normally and independently distributed with a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of  $\sigma$ . The systematic component of a GLM is the predictor variables (Xs) which are combined to create the linear predictor which predicts the response variable. The third part is the link function which is used to connect the predictors to the outcome and can be used in situations where the predictors are not linearly related to the outcome variable. The link function explains how the expected outcome relates to the linear predictor.

For a linear function Equation 22 shows the link function ( $\eta$ ), whilst Equation 23 shows the link function for a non-linear logistic regression.

Equation 22

$$\eta = g(E(Y_i) = E(Y_i))$$

Equation 23

 $\eta = logit(\pi)$ 

# 5.2.3 Method 2: Probit Model

In a probit model, the dependent variable can take only one of 2 possible values – the probability that the outcome is either true or false (Liao, 1994). Therefore probit models cannot predict the magnitude of weight change.

Equation 24

$$Pr(Y=1|X) = \phi(X^T\beta)$$

Equation 24 represents the probability of the outcome being true given the explanatory variables.  $\phi(X^T\beta)$  represents the cumulative distribution function of a normal distribution – the explanatory variables and coefficient values estimated by maximum likelihood estimation.

In a probit model, a 1 unit increase in X results in a  $\beta$ % increase in Y. In order to find probability, the outcome variable must be transformed from one that is dichotomous to one that is continuous. The function then becomes which turns the outcome variable to one that can only take the form of 0 or 1 to one that becomes a probability between 0 and 1. The probit model uses the link function shown in Equation 25.

Equation 25

$$F(Y) = Y' = X\beta + \varepsilon$$

This function is found by the following method shown in Equation 26, Equation 27, and

Equation 28, where the outcome is equal to the cumulative normal distribution, $\phi$ , of the explanatory variables and the coefficient plus the error term.

Equation 26

$$Y = \phi(X\beta + \varepsilon)$$

Equation 27

 $\phi^{-1}(Y) = X\beta + \varepsilon$ 

Equation 28

 $Y' = X\beta + \varepsilon$ 

So in this case the probit link function is shown in Equation 29.

Equation 29

$$F(Y) = \phi^{-1}(Y)$$

After estimation, probabilities can be found using standard normal distribution, where the independent variables and the coefficient values correspond to a Zscore( $X\beta = Z$ ). The cumulative normal distribution, $\phi$ , can take any z score,  $\phi(Z) \in [0,1]$ . A 1 unit change in X<sub>i</sub> causes a  $\beta_i$  change in the z-score of Y. This creates a non-linear cumulative distribution which can fit better than a linear regression, and, in this case, give a probability of whether the individual reaches their target weight, 3%, 5% or 10% weight loss and whether that weight loss is maintained at 12- and 24-months.

#### 5.2.4 Method 3: Heckman Specification Model

The final method that will be employed is a two-part model – the Heckman correction. Heckman makes the assumption that missing values of the dependent variable imply that the dependent variable is unobserved (people didn't make the attendance). For individuals that did not attend the programme in the last week of the programme, LOCF as an outcome holds some uncertainty as there is the question of whether individuals continued losing weight after the left the programme, whether they maintained their weight loss or whether they gained weight. The level of uncertainty is reasonably small in the analysis at 12-weeks, but when reviewing weight-change outcomes at 6 months, 12 months and 24 months, the level of uncertainty increases. In Heckman, it is essential that in the selection equation, there are variables included that predict whether the individual is selected but are not included in the regression equation predicting the outcome variable. This model corrects for selection bias which may be present in the data that Slimming World has provided. As individuals are only weighed by Slimming World when they attend classes, there is selection bias in that the data will only be available for those that attend classes and are engaged with the programme. This means that the samples are non-randomly selected, estimation of parameters only using these individuals can cause selection bias is present as those that attend classes are likely to lose and maintain more weight than those that stop attending (Jin, 2016).

In order to correct for this bias, a control function is implemented. This part of the model assumes a probit regression, as in method 2, where the probability of being observed is calculated by the formula in Equation 30 which states the probability of attending (A), which is condition on a vector of explanatory variables (Z) is equal to the cumulative distribution function,  $\phi$ , of a vector of explanatory variables and a vector of unknown parameters ( $\gamma$ ). The estimation
yields a prediction of the probability of each individual completing the programme.

Equation 30

$$Pr(A = 1|Z) = \phi(Z\gamma)$$

The second stage of the model involves correcting for selection bias by transforming the predicted probabilities into an additional explanatory variable which is then incorporated into an equation to predict weight change. Conditional expectation of weight change for an individual that attends is given by Equation 31.

Equation 31

$$E[\Delta W|X, A = 1] = X\beta + E[\varepsilon|X, A = 1]$$

The equation shows that the expected weight change ( $\Delta W$ ) which is conditional on the explanatory variables and that the individual is observed is equal to the coefficient and the explanatory variables plus the conditional expected error term.

The Heckman-correction regression model was chosen for analysis because it was judged to be the most appropriate method of predicting data for participants that had unobserved outcomes, as it uses the observed sample to predict non-biased estimates for the non-observed sample.

In the Slimming World programme, participants who are observed are those that are most engaged in the programme, as they have continued attending Slimming World classes. As attendances have been shown to positively influence weight-loss, it is likely that those who continue to attend, lose more weight than those who stop attending. Therefore, there is a systematic difference between the outcomes of those who are observed and unobserved, which means that the data is missing not at random, and selection bias is present (Sterne et al., 2009). Because of this, consideration for this selection bias has to be made when making predictions of outcomes for the nonobserved sample using data from the observed sample (Jackobsen et al., 2017). Complete case analysis, single imputation, and multiple imputation were also considered to account for missing data (Jackobsen et al., 2017). However, these were decided to be suboptimal. Complete case analysis was not appropriate as the vast majority of people do not attend Slimming World for the full 24-month period and so the analysis would be very limited, and the data in the remaining sample would not be missing at random and so would not representative of all Slimming World participants (Pigott, 2001). For imputation to be appropriate, data must be missing at random, which means that there is no systematic reason for those with missing data to have different outcomes to those without missing data (Jackobsen et al., 2017). Due to the data being missing not at random, imputation would be biased, as imputed values would be based on the outcomes of individuals who are still attending the Slimming World programme and engaged with their weight-loss. Therefore, imputation was not appropriate for this data analysis.

Because the data for individuals who leave the Slimming World programme are unobserved, it is difficult to judge the validity of predictions of their weightchange. Judgements of validity must therefore be based on how plausible the results are.

## 5.3 Results

## 5.3.1 Univariate Analysis

The first step to regression analysis was to perform univariate analysis using OLS regression where each of the explanatory variables was run in a regression with the outcome being LOCF weight change at the 12<sup>th</sup> Slimming World class, which is referred to as 'week 11'. This was to analyse the univariate relationships between each of the explanatory variables and the outcome variable. In each of the regressions, baseline weight was used as a control variable so the effects of each variable on weight-change was independent of starting weight. The coefficient values are shown in Table 23. To illustrate the effect of using a categorical variable for income IMD and education & skills IMD quintiles, analysis was performed twice – once with these two variables as continuous variables, and once inputting these two variables as categorical variables, and results were added to the Appendix.

Corresponding tables for regression results using categorical IMD variables are highlighted in the table titles for the remainder of this chapter.

Table 23: Univariate Regression Results Predict LOCF Weight-Change with	
Baseline Weight as a Control Variable (Appendix 8)	

Variable	n	Coefficient	t- statistic
Target Weight Change (kg)	554,300	0.0216***	45.37
Income IMD Quintile (0: most deprived, 4: least deprived)	510,082	-0.0577***	-18.55
Partner at Home (1=yes, 0=no)	252,321	-0.393***	-28.45
Children at Home (1=yes, 0=no)	252,321	-0.0720***	-5.83
Employment Status (1=part-time, 0=full-time)	252,321	-0.119***	-9.01
Diabetic (1=yes, 0=no)	692,945	-0.362***	-15.17
Full Attendances	692,945	-0.513***	-530.93
Education and Skills IMD Quintile (0: most deprived, 4: least deprived)	516,796	-0.0198***	-6.37
Age at Start Date (years)	692,945	-0.121***	-45.90
Join Type (re-join=1, standard=0)	451,912	1.891***	211.14
Join Type (countdown=1, standard=0)	371,340	-0.127***	-9.65
Join Type (discount, standard=0)	427,251	0.491***	47.81
Join Type (referral=1, standard=0)	325,361	-0.472***	-19.85

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

Table 23 shows that each variable was significant at the 0.1% level. Key drivers of weight loss were setting a more ambitious target, living in a less deprived area in terms of both income and education, having a partner and/or children living at home, having a part-time job rather than a full-time job, attending more Slimming World classes, being diabetic and being older. Joining Slimming World via SWoR or a countdown predicted a greater weight loss than joining a standard membership, whilst joining via a discount code or re-joining the Slimming World programme predicted less weight loss after 12-weeks.

As well as this, the same regressions were run using total attendances in the initial 12 week period as a control variable to review the effect magnitudes of

each variable if the effect of the variables on attendances is nullified. The results are shown in Table 24.

Table 24: Univariate Regression Results with Baseline Weight and 12-WeekAttendances as Controls (Appendix 9)

Variable	n	Coefficient	t- statistic
Target Weight Change (kg)	554,300	0.0225***	62.14
Income IMD Quintile (0: most deprived, 4: least deprived)	509,926	-0.0197***	-8.20
Partner at Home (1=yes, 0=no)	252,321	-0.120***	-11.58
Children at Home (1=yes, 0=no)	252,321	-0.120***	-13.03
Employment Status (1=part-time, 0=full-time)	252,321	-0.00421	-0.43
Diabetic (1=yes, 0=no)	692,945	0.0586**	3.19
Full Attendances	692,945	-0.0880***	-61.73
Education and Skills IMD Quintile (0: most deprived, 4: least deprived)	516,796	-0.00737**	-3.07
Age at Start (years)	692,945	0.00632***	30.78
Join Type (re-join=1, standard=0)	451,912	1.189***	171.26
Join Type (countdown=1, standard=0)	371,340	0.473***	48.42
Join Type (discount, standard=0)	427,251	0.494***	65.36
Join Type (referral=1, standard=0)	325,361	0.458***	26.37

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

The impact of including the number of attendances as a control variable is a reduction in the coefficient value for most explanatory variables. This is due to those variables that are significant predictors of weight-change also being significant predictors of attendance within the first 12-weeks. Introducing attendances as a control variable switched the sign of some coefficient values – namely the coefficient for diabetes, age, countdown and referral. This means that while these variables were all significant predictors of a greater weight-loss at 12-weeks, they were stronger predictors of attendance and, given a fixed number of attendances, these variables predict less weight-loss.

The impact of full attendances has been greatly reduced, but the positive effect of not leaving classes early is still prevalent, with each IMAGE therapy session providing a further loss of 0.09kg over 12 weeks.

#### 5.3.2 Full Linear Regression Model

The model selection approach used was a general-to-specific approach which entailed starting the selection process with all variables that were found in the theoretical framework (Campos et al., 2005). The general model used Equation 21 as a starting point but some adjustments were made in order for the model to be effective. The first adjustment was that full attendances and education and skills IMD quintile were included separately due to difficulty in interpreting the coefficient and no benefit to the explanatory power of the regression model. Another adjustment made was the various join types were all included as one categorical variable for practicality reasons. The variable for the difference between baseline BMI and a healthy BMI was also removed due to its similarity with the target weight-loss variable. As well as this, to identify the effect of IMAGE therapy on weight-change with the full attendances variable, the total number of attendances in the first 12 weeks was included in the model.

The final change to the regression model was that the three variables taken from the employment form – partner at home, children at home, and employment status – were dropped from analysis. This was for two reasons. The first was that the sample size was reduced as a large proportion of sample members did not complete the employment form. The second was that the employment form was optional, and only completed by individuals that were in full-time or part-time work. Therefore, data regarding whether the individual has a partner or children was missing if the individual was unemployed, or chose not to complete the form. Baseline weight and gender were then included as a control variable to ensure the result was independent of these two factors.

Before running the regression model, the relationships between each variable were reviewed in order to make sure that the explanatory variables all held linear relationships with the dependent variable, LOCF weight change at 3 months, in order to avoid any specification error (Baum, 2006). When reviewing each relationship, no clear non-linear trends were identified between weight-change and any of the explanatory variables. The model was then run in STATA to create the output in Table 25. Only individuals with full data across all explanatory variables in the model were included in analysis.

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Target Weight Change	0.0192***	45.36
Income IMD Quintile	-0.0409***	-9.00
Diabetic	0.342***	15.25
Full Attendances	-0.109***	-61.10
Total Attendances	-0.517***	-296.51
Education and Skills IMD Quintile	0.0104*	2.27
Age at Start Date	0.00486***	17.86
Standard Join Type	0	
Rejoin Join Type	1.140***	107.17
Countdown Join Type	0.371***	31.54
Discount Join Type	0.385***	38.86
Referral Join Type	0.315***	16.24
Baseline Weight	-0.0299***	-132.27

-1.125\*\*\*

3.667\*\*\*

393,318

-64.23

155.95

Table 25: Multivariate OLS Regression Model to Predict LOCF Weight-Change at 12-Weeks (Appendix *10*)

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

<u>Male</u> Constant

Ν

All variables included in the regression model in Table 25 were significant predictors of LOCF weight-loss at 12-weeks at the 0.1% level, other than education and skills IMD quintile which was significant at the 5% level.. No further variables were removed from the regression model. The model produced an R<sup>2</sup> value of 49.57% which means just under half of the variance in weight-change was explained by the model. When holding all else constant setting a more ambitious target continued to predict more weight-loss. Interestingly, when holding all other variables constant, individuals with diabetes lost significantly less weight which may imply that although individuals with diabetes may have more motivation to lose weight, dietary restrictions may hamper their ability to lose weight. Attendances were the largest predictor of weight loss with each attendance predicting over half a kilogram of additional weight loss. Attending a class and staying for IMAGE therapy predicted an additional 0.11kg of weight loss for each full attendance. When holding all variables constant, participants that joined on standard memberships lost the most weight in the initial 12-week period. This implies that the benefit of purchasing a countdown or being referred to Slimming World

does not include a greater motivation to lose weight holding all other variables constant.

After the regression model was run in full, residuals were then plotted to identify the distribution and check for normality (Miller, 1997). The first is a kernel density plot of the residuals against a normal distribution, shown in Figure 11. The plot shows a close to normal distribution with a higher peak.



Figure 11: Kernel Density Estimate for Residuals of the OLS Regression

Following this, the quantile of the residuals were plotted against the quantiles of a normal distribution, which is shown in Figure 12, below. Here, the plot deviates from the normal distribution at the tails. The normal probability plot in Figure 13, shows a closer to normal distribution with small deviations from normal in the middle of the plot.





Figure 13: P-P Plot for the OLS Regression



Figure 14 shows a plot of the residuals against the fitted values from OLS regression model 1. The plot shows that although the residuals have a slightly greater variance as the fitted values get smaller, the plot does not reveal a concerning level of heteroscedasticity. Overall, the deviations from normality are not pronounced enough to make any hypothesis testing invalid, especially given the sample size.



Figure 14: A Plot of Residuals against Fitted Values for the OLS Regression

The final diagnostic test was for collinearity. In multivariable regression, the efficiency depends on correlation between the explanatory variables, as linear regression assumes that explanatory variables are uncorrelated (Woo et al., 2014). To test whether problematic collinearity was present within the regression model, VIF scores were investigated. VIF indicates the extent to which coefficients are inflated due to collinearity and provides a score indicating the amount of collinearity present. Woo et al. (2014) state that it is generally accepted that a VIF score of above 10 may be harmful within a regression model.

When checking the VIF scores for each coefficient, no problematic collinearity was identified with the highest VIF score being for income IMD quintile and education and skills IMD quintile, which were both 3.01.

As attending classes indicates programme engagement, and is an outcome in itself, the OLS model was also reviewed without either the total attendances or full attendances variables to highlight the impact of each variable on weight-change. The R<sup>2</sup> statistic fell to 13.00% which implies that much of the variance in weight-change was explained by attendance, but some of weight-change could be explained by participant characteristics at baseline. The output is shown in Table 26, below.

Baseline age was one variable where the coefficient sign changed from positive to negative. This implies that age is likely a better predictor of increased attendances than weight loss, as when controlling for attendance, being older no longer predicts more weight loss. Countdown and Referral join types saw a similar pattern, with both signs changing from positive to negative. Other than these three variables, all other predictors did not change sign, and so are consistent predictors of both attendance and weight-loss.

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Target Weight Change	0.0195***	35.01
Income IMD Quintile	-0.0958***	-16.06
Diabetic	0.337***	11.43
Education and Skills IMD Quintile	0.0693***	11.54
Age at Start Date	-0.0155***	-43.88
Standard Join Type	0	
Rejoin Join Type	1.818***	131.10
Countdown Join Type	-0.154***	-10.02
Discount Join Type	0.297***	22.92
Referral Join Type	1.818***	-17.90
Baseline Weight	-0.0343***	-115.90
Male	-1.286***	-56.82
Constant	0.361***	12.18
Ν	393,318	

|--|

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

## 5.3.3 Probit Model

After the relationships between characteristics and LOCF outcomes at the end of the 12-week programme were assessed, the next stage of analysis was to use a probit model to review the influencers of attendance in week 11 – the final session of the initial 12-week programme, and continued attendance after the initial 12-weeks. The regression output is shown in model 1 in Table 27, with the same explanatory variables used as in the OLS model predicting weight-change. The model was also run without the two attendance variables, as week 11 was within the initial 12-weeks, as without these two it is clearer to see which variables are predictors of attending until the end of the programme without knowledge of earlier attendances. This output is shown in model 2 in Table 27.

The probit model found that similar variables predicted whether an individual would attend in week 11 of the Slimming World programme, and how much weight-loss an individual would achieve after 12-weeks. Setting a more ambitious target, being in an area of less income deprivation and being older predicted an improved likelihood of completing the 12-week programme. Being in an area of less education and skills deprivation had a small positive effect on the likelihood of attendance when including attendances as an explanatory variable, but predicted a lower likelihood of attendance without controlling for attendances in the first 12-weeks. In terms of join type, those who re-joined the programme were much less likely to be a completer, whilst joining via a countdown, discount or referral predicted an increased chance of completion. Whilst model 2 revealed the relationships between individual characteristics and attendance in week 11 independent of previous attendances, model 1 was more predictive, with a pseudo  $R^2$  of 54.83% compared with 2.63% in model 2. According to the F-statistic, both models were found to be statistically significant predictors of attendance at the 0.1% level.

Table 27: I	Probit	Regression	Model	predicting	Attendance	in Week 11
(Appendix	12)					

Variable	Coefficient (model 1)	t-statistic (model 1)	Coefficient (model 2)	t-statistic (model 2)
Target Weight Change	-0.0000719	-0.21	-0.000566*	-2.35
Income IMD Quintile	0.00532	1.44	0.0325***	12.52

119

Diabetic	0.0113	0.63	0.00984	0.78
Full Attendances	0.0217***	17.20		
Total Attendances	0.546***	281.17		
Education and Skills IMD Quintile	0.00961*	2.58	-0.0305***	-11.69
Age at Start Date	0.00124***	5.71	0.0105***	68.16
Standard Join Type	0		0	
Rejoin Join Type	0.0860***	9.50	-0.362***	-57.70
Countdown Join Type	0.0530***	5.93	0.211***	32.19
Discount Join Type	0.0445***	5.52	0.0401***	7.15
Referral Join Type	0.124***	8.42	0.425***	38.87
Baseline Weight	0.000413*	2.24	0.00207***	16.10
Male	0.0156	1.15	0.0917***	9.40
Constant	-5.281***	-219.81	-0.925***	-71.45
Ν	393,318		393,318	

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

The next variables of interest to predict were whether individuals made an attendance after the initial 12-week period, is whether an attendance was made more than 6-months from joining, and whether an attendance was made over a year after joining the Slimming World programme. The regression outputs are shown in Table 28, below, with model 1, 2 and 3 predicting attendances after 12-weeks, 6-months and 1-year. For attendance after 6-month and attendance after 1-year, predicted values of attendance after 12-weeks and after 6-months were included as explanatory variables. Model 1 produced a pseudo R<sup>2</sup> value of 56.24% whilst model 2 and 3 reported values of 35.99% and 27.90% respectively, which is intuitive as the level of uncertainty rises over time. Again, according to the F-statistic, all three models found the explanatory variables were significant predictors of attendance at the 0.1% level.

Being in a higher income IMD Quintile and being older were both positive influencers of probability of attendance after each of the 3 time points. Education and skills IMD quintile did not have any significant effect on probability of attending at 6-months or 1-year. Joining Slimming World via a countdown membership predicted a significantly higher likelihood of attending after 12-weeks, but did not have an impact at 6-months or 1-year. Those who re-joined the Slimming World programme, or joined via a discount code or referral were significantly less likely to still be attending Slimming World classes after 6-months and 12-months. With regarding to engagement in the first 12-weeks, those who attended more sessions were significantly more likely to continue attending after each of the three time-periods, but the effect declined over time. However, the effect of each additional full-attendance was a greater predictor of increased attendance at both 6-months and 1-year than at 12-weeks, implying that those who are most engaged with the programme initially, and stay for IMAGE therapy, are significantly more likely to continue attending in the long-term.

Variable	Coefficien t (12- Weeks)	t- statistic (12- Weeks)	Coefficient (6-Monts)	t- statistic (6- Months)	Coefficient (1-Year)	t- statistic (1- Year)
Target Weight Change	- 0.000146	-0.42	-0.000304	-0.97	-0.0000250	-0.07
Income IMD Quintile	0.0244***	6.66	0.0317***	9.42	0.0174***	4.57
Diabetic	-0.0305	-1.66	-0.0179	-1.15	-0.00556	-0.33
Full Attendances	0.0572***	42.50	0.0815***	67.84	0.0596***	27.83
Total Attendances	0.463***	286.08	0.241***	43.40	0.109***	15.64
Education and Skills IMD Quintile	0.0135***	3.68	-0.00337	-1.00	-0.00721	-1.90
Age at Start	0.00554**	25.42	0.00834***	41.03	0.00779***	29.07
Standard Join Type	0		0		0	
Rejoin Join Type	0.0125	1.46	-0.126***	-14.61	-0.133***	-12.51
Countdown Join Type	0.0857***	9.45	-0.00933	-1.16	0.0100	1.14
Discount Join Type	-0.0153	-1.91	-0.0540***	-7.40	-0.0488***	-5.91
Referral Join Type	0.0280	1.82	-0.193***	-15.02	-0.0422**	-2.96
Baseline Weight	0.00134** *	7.33	0.00204***	12.24	0.000900**	4.77
Male	0.0344*	2.49	-0.00537	-0.44	-0.0413**	-3.08

Table 28: Probit Regression Models Predicting Attendance at 12-Weeks, 6-Months and 1-Year (Appendix *13*)

#### 121

Attendance after 12- Weeks	-	-	0.468***	10.73	0.180***	3.65
Attendance after 6- Months	-	-	-	-	1.210***	22.54
Constant	-4.530***	-209.70	-4.155***	-121.40	-3.538***	-69.69
Ν	393,318		393,318		393,318	

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

## 5.3.4 Heckman Selection Model

After the probit regression models were run, the final stage to predicting weight-change outcomes for the Slimming World population was to use the Heckman correction to predict weight-change conditional on attendance at various time-points. The first model was a two-step model, created to predict weight-change at the end of the 12-week programme, conditional on whether the individual attended the week 11 session, which was the final session within the initial 12-week period. The prediction of whether the individual attended in week 11 was taken from the probit model 1 in Table 27, shown previously.

For the outcome equation predicting weight-change at week 11, the selection equation must have at least one variable that is not present in the outcome equation. In this case join-type and total attendances were removed from the equation. This was because join-type and attendance without IMAGE therapy were identified to have a stronger association with attendance than weightchange. The regression output for the Heckman correction model predicting weight-change at week 11, in Table 29, was similar to the OLS model predicting LOCF weight-change at 12-weeks. Target weight change, less income IMD deprivation and attendances all continued to be significant predictors of more weight-loss. The selection output is shown in Appendix 14.

Table 29: Heckman Selection Model Predicting Weight-Change at Week 11with Attendance at Week 11 as the Selection Outcome (Appendix 15)

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Target Weight Change	0.0351***	39.03
Income IMD Quintile	-0.0773***	-7.92
Diabetic	0.291***	6.63

Full Attendances	-0.107***	-34.64
Education and Skills IMD Quintile	0.0393***	4.00
Age at Start Date	0.0106***	18.82
Baseline Weight	-0.0463***	-96.12
Male	-1.439***	-41.74
Constant	-1.136***	-20.32
Ν	393,318	

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

\*Selection output omitted

Table 30 shows values for LOCF weight-change, the predicted weight-change from the OLS model with attendance data, and the Heckman correction model predictions for weight-change at week 11, the end of the 12-week programme. Each of the three values are very similar for those that attended the final Slimming World class, which is understandable as there is very little uncertainty. However, differences arise in those who didn't attend the final Slimming World session. The OLS model predicted a very similar mean LOCF weight-change for non-attenders as the LOCF weight-change, at just over - 2.2kg.

The Heckman correction model predicted a weight-loss of over 6kg across the full sample at 12 weeks, which may be optimistic, as the model has predicted that those who do not attend the 12<sup>th</sup> session, in week 11, have continued losing weight outside the programme. This is due to the model having no information regarding any weight-change outcomes for those who are unobserved, and the model having to base predicted weight-change on the outcomes of those who are observed. Whilst the model has predicted that those who do not attend lose less weight at 12-weeks, it appears as if the difference between the two groups has been underestimated, if this assumption is that those who do not attend do not lose weight, or, lose less weight than those who attend. This is likely an invalid estimation of weight-change as it is unlikely that on average, those who leave the programme will have lost a substantial amount more at 12-weeks.

Group	N	LOCF Weight- Change (kg)	OLS Model Prediction of LOCF Weight- Change (kg)	Heckman Correction of Weight- Change at Week 11 (kg)
Full Sample	393,318	-3.499 (3.167)	-3.499 (2.230)	-6.112 (1.300)
Attended Week 11	155,230	-5.376 (3.340)	-5.357 (1.340)	-6.410 (1.322)
Did Not Attend Week 11	238,088	-2.275 (2.346)	-2.288 (1.824)	-5.918 (1.247)

Table 30: LOCF Weight-Change and Predicted Weight-Change at Week 11 (Appendix *16*)

\*standard deviation in parentheses

# 5.3.5 Heckman Selection Model Predictions of Weight-Change at 6, 12 and 24 Months

Following predictions at 12-weeks, the Heckman correction was then used to make predictions regarding weight-change at 6-months, 1-year, and 2-years, with the aim of making predictions regarding the weight-change of nonattenders more accurate than LOCF weight-change. To do this, predictions were made regarding LOCF weight-change using the two step models conditional on whether the individual had made an attendance after 12-weeks, 6-months, and 1-year respectively, using the probit models from Table 28, shown previously. Therefore, only individuals who were still attending Slimming World classes in the time-period being reviewed were observed, with those who stopped attending being censored in the model. For example, when predicting weight-change at 6 months, only those who made an attendance in the period between the 3-months and 6-months after baseline were observed.

The model specification for the second step, the prediction of weight-change, featured the same explanatory variables as the first step, but again without join-type and total attendances. For the model predicting weight-change at 6-months, LOCF weight-change at 3 months was included as an explanatory variable to indicate each individual's ability to lose weight within the initial 12-week programme. However, for weight-change at 12-months and weight-change at 24-month, the predicted weight-change values from the Heckman models at 6-months and 12-months were used to predict 12-month and 24-month values for weight-change respectively.

Table 31, below, shows the regression output for the second step in the Heckman Correction model for weight-change predictions at 6-months, 12months and 24-months. Again, target weight, full attendances and age were significant predictors of increased weight-loss, with the impact of full attendances becoming insignificant at 24-months. Interestingly, income quintiles did not have a significant effect on weight-change at any of the three time points, whilst being in a more deprived area in terms of education predicted significantly more weight-loss at 6 and 12-months. The selection output for each model is shown in Appendix 17, Appendix 18 and Appendix 19.

Table 31: Heckman Selection Model Predicting LOCF at 6, 12 and 24 Months with Attendance as the Selection Outcome (Appendix *20*)

Variable	Coefficient (6-Months)	t- statistic (6- Months)	Coefficient (12- Months)	t- statisti c (1- Year)	Coefficien t (24- Months)	t- statistic (2- Year)
Target Weight Change	0.0108***	15.52	0.0129***	16.30	0.0364***	10.86
Income IMD Quintile	-0.0127	-1.69	-0.00936	-0.49	-0.00919	-0.25
Diabetic	-0.0673*	-1.97	0.225**	2.72	0.203	1.34
Full Attendances	-0.122***	-48.79	-0.0733***	-9.31	-0.0110	-0.59
Education and Skills IMD Quintile	0.0181*	2.39	0.0457*	2.37	0.0292	0.79
Age at Start Date	-0.0179***	-40.85	-0.0184***	-16.15	-0.0139***	-5.92
Baseline Weight	- 0.00306***	-8.02	-0.0248***	-25.34	-0.0490***	-25.10
Male	0.651***	24.31	1.192***	-	1.313***	-
LOCF Weight- Change 3 Months	1.419***	664.79	-	-	-	-
Heckman Weight- Change 6 Months	-	-	1.154***	296.68	-	-
Heckman Weight- Change 12 Months	-	-	-	-	0.920***	137.64
Constant	2.833***	64.36	4.812***	32.19	5.645***	14.24

N	393,318		393,318		393,318	
P<0.05*, p<0.01**, p<0.001***						

\*Selection output omitted

Table 32 illustrates LOCF weight-change and predicted LOCF weight-change at 6-months from the Heckman correction model in Table 31. For the Heckman-correction model, as previously mentioned, only weightchange outcomes for individuals who continued attending Slimming World classes after the initial 12-week programme were observed. The table shows that predicted weight-change at 6-months is very similar to LOCF weightchange for those who continue attending the Slimming World programme.

However, as the Heckman correction model does not observe those who stop attending, and so therefore bases predictions of weight-change at 6 months on baseline characteristics and outcomes within the 12-week programme, the model's prediction of weight-change differs from the LOCF value. The model predicts more conservative weight-loss in comparison with the LOCF values. This may be a more realistic representation of weight-loss, as LOCF assumes that weight-change remains constant after a member of Slimming World leaves the programme, whereas the Heckman correction model considers the effect of not attending.

The issue with LOCF is that it assumes that participants have exactly the same measurement for weight-change as when they left the programme. When the goal of the intervention is behaviour change, using LOCF for dropout can exaggerate results, as it assumes that individuals have been able to maintain the weight-change that they were able to achieve when engaged with the programme (Kenward & Molenberghs, 2009). It could be that because these individuals leave before the initial 12-week programme is finished, they have not had enough exposure to the programme to be able to absorb enough information and develop strategies that would enable them to achieve further weight-loss and maintain weight-loss (Moroshko et al., 2011).

Therefore, this estimate appears to be plausible, as on average, those who leave before the initial 12-week programme is over are likely to have been disengaged with the programme and regain weight after leaving. However, the individuals who left the programme may have still received some benefit from attending the programme on average, and managed to maintain some of their weight-loss.

Group	N	LOCF Weight- Change (kg)	Heckman Correction Predicted Weight-Change (kg)
Full Sample	393,318	-4.328 (4.718)	-3.994 (4.756)
Attended after 3 months (observed)	191,275	-6.925 (5.329)	-6.722 (4.755)
Last attendance before 3 months (unobserved)	202,043	-1.870 (2.006)	-1.411 (2.984)

Table 32: LOCF and Projected Weight-Change at 6-Months (Appendix 21)

\*standard deviation in parentheses

Table 33 shows weight-change outcomes at 12-months. Again, when assessing the various weight-change outcome figures at 12-months, the Heckman correction model projects a more conservative weight-change for those who stop attending than the LOCF values, with those who left the programme within the first 12-weeks regaining much of their initial weight-loss. Those who attended past the initial 3-month period but left the programme before 6-months were shown to have continued to lose slightly more weight. This could be because these individuals completed the initial 12-week period and were engaged with the Slimming World programme. This means that many of them may have been able to maintain their habits over the next 6-months and some will have been able to continue to lose weight, although this weight-change was predicted to be less than for those individuals who continued attending past 6-months.

For those who continued attending past 6-months, the Heckman-correction model predicted 1.18kg less weight-loss than what was observed at the last observation of weight-change. This may be due to the small range of weightloss predictions when compared with the LOCF weight-change values, as the Heckman-correction model does not predict extreme values as observed in the data. When comparing the median values, the LOCF data shows a value of 8.16kg compared with 7.79kg for the Heckman-correction predictions. It may be that the Slimming World members who have such a high weight-loss are outliers and therefore the Heckman-correction predictions are more representative of expected weight-change in a sample of Slimming World participants.

Across all groups, the Heckman-correction weight-change was just over 1kg less than the LOCF weight-change, which implies that Heckman-correction is again a more conservative estimate of weight-change.

Table 33: Heckman Correction Model Predicted Weight-Change at 12-months(Appendix 22)

Group	N	LOCF Weight- Change (kg)	Heckman Correction Predicted Weight-Change
Full Sample	393,318	-4.532 (5.535)	-3.512 (5.848)
Attended after 6 months (observed)	107,767	-9.454 (7.470)	-8.279 (5.896)
Last attendance between 3 and 6 months (unobserved)	84,187	-4.606 (3.753)	-5.013 (5.181)
Last attendance before 3 months (unobserved)	201,364	-1.867 (2.003)	-0.333 (3.709)

\*standard deviation in parentheses

When assessing the Heckman correction model weight-change projections at 24-months, shown in Table 34, those who left the programme in the first 12weeks were predicted to have regained all but 0.06kg of their weight-change on average. Those who left the programme between 3 and 6 months were predicted to have regained 0.58kg of weight-loss when compared with the prediction at 12-months, but still maintained much of the weight-loss on average. At 24-months, weight-change was predicted to be only slightly lower than the LOCF value for those leaving between 3 and 6 months.

Members who left between 6-months and 12-months were predicted to have gained around 0.5kg on average after leaving. For those that continued attending after 12-months, the Heckman-correction model predicted a weight-loss 2.15kg lower than the LOCF value, which, similarly to the projection for those observed at 12-months, is likely due to extreme values in the LOCF weight-change variable.

Overall, the predictions made by the Heckman-correction models appear to be plausible, with the outcomes being intuitive at each time period. As well as this, the Heckman-correction predictions suggest a more conservative estimate of weight-change when compared with LOCF analysis.

Table 34: Heckman Correction Model Predicted Weight-Change at 24-months (Appendix 23)

Group	N	LOCF Weight-Change (kg)	Heckman Correction Predicted Weight-Change
Full Sample	393,318	-4.387 (5.522)	-3.064 (5.912)
Attended After 12 Months (observed)	55,042	-10.644 (8.995)	-8.497 (6.211)
Last attendance between 6 and 12 months (unobserved)	53,523	-7.115 (5.682)	-6.632 (5.823)
Last attendance between 3 and 6 months (unobserved)	83,588	-4.587 (3.744)	-4.436 (5.298)
Last attendance before 3 months (unobserved)	201,165	-1.867 (2.003)	-0.057 (3.976)

\*standard deviation in parentheses

\*\*Last attendance before 3 months was lower when predicting weight-change at 24 months as some participants who dropped out in the first 3-months attended again after a year

Figure 15, below, illustrates weight-change over the 24 months following joining the Slimming World programme by group. It can be seen that at 3 months, all individuals made an attendance and so the mean weight-change of the full sample is shown. From here, those who continue attending continue to lose weight over the next 3-months, whilst those who leave the programme regain weight. Again, at 12-months, those who remain in the programme are predicted to lose more weight with those who leave regaining weight on average. The pattern continues at the final time-point at 24-months.



Figure 15: Heckman Correction Model Predicted Weight-Change over Time

# 5.4 Discussion

The purpose of this chapter was to identify proxy variables that could be used to model weight-change, and make predictions regarding weight-change for both those who remain in the Slimming World programme, and those who dropout. By building regression models using proxy variables, this chapter has helped to provide evidence regarding the predictive ability of the theoretical framework of weight-management. The key findings from the chapter are as follows:

- Many variables in the Slimming World dataset were significant predictor of weight-change in the first 12-weeks
- Attendance was the most influential predictor of weight-change in the first 12-weeks, as well as continued attendance after 12-weeks
- The Heckman-correction model predicted less weight-loss on average for those that had left the programme compared with LOCF weightchange by accounting for the effect of attendance
- The Heckman-correction model predicted that even Slimming World members who left the programme in the first 12-weeks maintained some weight-loss on average at 24-months

130

Individual characteristics, join method, and attendance data were found to be significant predictors of future attendance, and weight-change, with predictions generally aligning with the hypotheses made by the theoretical framework. As the models were judged to have predictive power, the variables in the models were able to be used to make predictions of weight-change for those who were left the programme, and therefore were unobserved.

Using the Heckman-correction regression model has provided an alternative to using last-observation carried forward, or baseline-observation carried forward as a solution for missing data. Whilst LOCF and BOCF are very simplistic and do not consider any potential weight-change after leaving the programme, or assuming zero effect of the programme, the Heckman-correction has taken into account the effects of non-attendance in the latter stages of the 24-month period, alongside weight-change within the programme and individual characteristics to predict more intuitive estimations of weight-change. Therefore, by including non-attendance the Heckman-correction model assumes there is some benefit to attendance (unlike BOCF), but some regain when dropping out (unlike LOCF).

One limitation of the analysis is that proxy variables were required as not all characteristics in the theoretical framework were included in the Slimming World dataset. Therefore, some hypotheses may not have been proven by the regression analysis, but this may have been due to issues with the proxy variable not correctly reflecting the desired characteristic.

A limit of the predictions in this chapter is because weight-change outside of the Slimming World programme is unknown, the predictions made by the Heckman-correction model cannot be validated. The best method would be if follow-up of Slimming World members could be performed to validate these predictions, but in lieu of this the Heckman-correction predictions pass the face-validity test.

This chapter has been able to improve upon current assumptions regarding drop-out in weight-management programme by creating a regression model which is able to make individual level predictions. With prospective cohorts, data could be collected for purpose, and so remove the need for proxy variables. For example, future weight-management programme could collect data regarding income rather than using income IMD level, or include additional co-morbidities alongside diabetes.

These weight-change predictions at 1-year and 2-years will be used as measures of effectiveness for the case study when analysing the costeffectiveness of the Slimming World programme. As well as this, to test the robustness of these predictions, sensitivity and scenario analysis will be performed on weight-change projections to test the impact of adjusting estimated values.

# Chapter 6: Model-Based Economic Evaluations of Behavioural Weight-Management Interventions: A Systematic Review of Model-Based Evaluations with a Focus on Assumptions on Effectiveness

# 6.1 Introduction

The previous chapters of this PhD analysed data from the commercial weightmanagement programme Slimming World, and made predictions about effectiveness in the short-term to be used in cost-effectiveness modelling. To inform adaptations to a cost-effectiveness model, a review of how costeffectiveness models have been applied to BWMs in the past was undertaken. The focus of the review was which models and assumptions have been employed, especially with regards to weight-trajectories following the BWM. The purpose of this review was to understand how previous analysts have modelled weight-management and the assumptions they have made regarding long-term effectiveness. This in turn would contribute toward the improvement of the current standard of cost-effectiveness modelling for behavioural weightmanagement programmes.

In public health interventions, economic evaluation is necessary for decision makers to optimise resource use. To make optimal decisions, economic evaluations must consider all relevant information, for the relevant course of time (Caro et al., 2012). As obesity is a condition which increases the risk of a number of diseases at all stages of life, costs and effects should be evaluated over the course of a lifetime (Masters et al., 2013). Weight-loss and long-term weight trajectories are therefore important factors in determining the effectiveness of an intervention. As trials and observational studies cannot feasibly track the costs and effects for each intervention or scenario over a lifetime, modelling methods must be employed to make estimations of these costs and effects (Ryder et al., 2009). Without modelling, decision makers may have insufficient evidence to reach an informed decision, and be underestimating the impact of weight-management interventions. The aim of this chapter is to review how the long-term cost-effectiveness of BWMs had been modelled in previous evaluations, and what methods and assumptions had been used when considering weight-trajectories following the BWM. A recent systematic review, Griffiths et al., (2012), had the aim of

investigating economic evaluations of weight-management programmes. This chapter uses the papers identified by Griffiths et al. (2012), and a modified search strategy based on the strategy presented in Griffiths et al. (2012) to find papers that had modelled long-term costs and effects of BWMs since the final search performed in November 2010.

To address the aim of the chapter, multiple research questions were set out, listed below:

- How have papers modelled behavioural weight-management interventions in the past?
- What assumptions have economic evaluations made about weighttrajectories following programme completion?
- What effect does changing assumptions about weight-trajectories have on estimates of cost-effectiveness?

# 6.2 Background

The systematic review by Griffiths et al. (2012) aimed to review any intervention where weight-loss was the primary objective, and both the incremental costs and effects were presented. The programme identified 44 papers, with 27 of these papers including a consideration of future effects and costs. These were published between 1999 and 2012. The 17 papers included in the original Griffith's et al. (2012) paper that did not employ modelling methods were not discussed as this update focusses on modelling methods and the assumptions made in modelling.

Griffiths et al. (2012) found that the most common co-morbidities being modelled were type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular diseases, which they recommended are included as minimum in economic evaluations in order to represent reality. By including more diseases that are associated with weight change, modelling studies will gain a more accurate estimation of the costs and effects of an intervention.

Figure 16 shows a histogram of the modelling choices in both BWMs and other interventions from Griffiths et al. (2012). Markov modelling was the most popular choice with 11 of the 27 papers employing this method, whilst only two

used simulation modelling.



Figure 16: Modelling Methods Employed in the Griffiths et al. (2012) Review by Intervention Type

Of the 21 behavioural interventions included in the original review, only seven BWM evaluations modelled future effects. This was compared with 20 of 23 pharmaceutical and surgical trials using modelling methods. Griffiths et al. (2012) hypothesised this was due to cost-effectiveness evidence being required by reimbursement agencies. Of the seven BWM studies that employed modelling methods, two used Markov modelling, two used mathematical modelling and two used simulation modelling whilst one was unclear. Griffiths et al. (2012) highlighted that only Markov and simulation modelling are appropriate for modelling the future effects of weight management interventions due to their ability to model time and disease complications, and that despite this, the majority of papers continue to employ alternative methods.

Griffiths et al. (2012) stated a well-designed model should be able to incorporate extensive sensitivity analyses by altering parameter values. These parameter values should come from primary data in RCTs with sensitivity analysis using ranges defined by realistic extremes. A limitation noted by Griffiths et al. (2012) was that instead of including co-morbidities, often a direct relationship between BMI and mortality was used. This limits the extent to which sensitivity analysis can be performed. Models should then be validated internally and externally to minimise bias, with few studies meeting this requirement.

# 6.3 Methods

# 6.3.1 Search strategy

The search strategy was created by modifying the original search strategy in Griffiths et al. (2012) in line with the aim of this study. To make the search more appropriate for identifying cost-effectiveness modelling studies, new search terms were identified from preliminary searches of Medline in the categories of 'obesity', 'cost-effectiveness' and 'diet'. As well as this to ensure papers focussed on modelling methods, a new category for search terms – 'model', was included. Table 35 shows the modified search strategy where each column was combined by the operator 'OR' and each row was combined by the operator 'AND'.

To test how effective the strategy was, the search terms were used to identify the papers included in Griffiths et al. (2012). The modified search strategy was able to identify 26 of the 27 modelling papers (96.3%) included in Griffiths et al. (2012), and all 7 of the 7 papers that modelled BWMs. As the 26 papers were all identified in a search of OVID Medline, Embase and PsychINFO, these three databases were used to update the review. The search strategy removed results that did not focus on adults, did not focus on humans, and were not published in English.

Obesity	Cost- effectiveness	Diet	Model
Overweight	Cost-utility analysis	Exercise	Simulation
Hyperphagia		Lifestyle	Markov
Overeating		Bariatric surgery	Mathematical
		Gastric band	Quality- adjusted-life- years
		Weight-loss	Sensitivity- analysis
		Drug	

Table 35: Search Term	าร
-----------------------	----

After performing the search in Table 35 to test whether the modelling papers included in Griffiths et al. (2012) were able to be identified, the search was then further refined to focus on economic evaluations of BWMs, as lifestyle programmes were the focus of this update, whilst Griffiths et al. (2012) focussed on all weight-management interventions. The search was refined by using the 'NOT' operator for the terms 'bariatric surgery', 'gastric band' and 'drug'. This was to improve the efficiency of the search as less inappropriate papers would be identified by the search.

If any reviews were identified, the included papers were searched to identify any modelling papers that fir the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Grey literature was included if it matched the criteria in the search strategy.

The final search in Griffiths et al. (2012) was run in November 2010 and so this updated search was limited to papers published from 2010 to the current date (27/07/2018), so the update would focus on papers published after the final Griffiths et al. (2012) search. As searches within OVID can only be limited by year, the search contained all articles published in 2010. However, only papers published in November or December of 2010 were considered.

Following the search, a second reviewer checked 20% of the titles and abstracts to ensure that there was consistency in which papers were included in the review, and that both reviewers were including the same papers based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Where there was a disagreement between reviewers on any papers, the reasons for including and not including the paper were discussed, and an attempt was made to agree upon whether each paper would be included. If an agreement could not be reached following discussion, a third party arbitrated. Following this, each of the papers that were selected to be included in the review were checked by the second reviewer, and again, any disagreements were discussed until an agreement was made.

## 6.3.2 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

The review inclusion and exclusion criteria were taken from the original Griffiths et al. (2012) paper, but again, with modifications to fit the aims of this update. The inclusion criteria were as follows:

- The paper must report on a BWM.
- Weight-change must be the primary study objective.
- The study must use modelling methods to combine costs and effects into a form of cost-effectiveness, cost-utility or cost-benefit analysis.
- The programme must be for adults (age 16+).

Exclusion criteria were:

- The intervention involved surgery, pharmacotherapy or meal replacements.
- Any papers not in English language.
- If participants had a pre-existing condition that was the focus of the intervention.

The inclusion and exclusion criteria were set to ensure the focus remained on economic evaluations of BMWs with the primary aim of weight-change. Interventions with surgery, pharmacotherapy or meal replacements were excluded as the focus of these interventions was not behavioural change. Papers that focussed on samples of individuals with pre-existing conditions were also excluded as this review is interested in a general population, and having a pre-existing condition may affect weight-change outcomes.

## 6.3.3 Data Extraction

Data from the BWM papers that used economic modelling in the Griffiths et al. (2012) review and the papers identified in the modified search were extracted using a bespoke data extraction form, with the aim of capturing a number of pieces of information. The first was what the intervention compromised of and the service offered to participants. The methods used in modelling in each paper were also extracted. The long-term assumptions made by each model about weight trajectories and the source of these trajectories were noted. The cost-effectiveness and the effect of sensitivity analysis on long-term effectiveness for each intervention were also recorded.

The data extracted from each of the papers were combined in a narrative synthesis. Since the aim of the review was to identify methods, choices and assumptions by modellers, rather than evaluate the cost-effectiveness of BWM interventions, no qualitative evidence synthesis was attempted. However, descriptive statistics were presented. Data regarding the BWMs and the study

sample was synthesised first to understand what each intervention entailed. Following this, the modelling methods and the assumptions made about weight-trajectories were presented. The last data to be synthesised were the estimates of cost-effectiveness and the effect of adjusting the assumptions regarding weight-trajectories on these estimates.

For cost-effectiveness measures, net benefit was calculated where possible. This was done using the formula in Equation 32, with the thresholds used being £20,000 per QALY as used by NICE (Paulden, 2017). Where currencies were not reported in British Sterling, the following conversion rates were taken on the  $22^{nd}$  September 2018 from Morningstar (2018) and used: £1 = 4.55NIS, 1.30USD, 1.14EUR, 1.82AUD, 1.30CHF. Where a range of costs or benefits was reported, a mean value of the two was used.

Equation 32

Net Benefit = (Incremental QALYs \* Threshold) – Incremental Cost

## 6.3.4 Quality Assessment

Papers that were included were then subjected to a comprehensive quality assessment, using the Phillips checklist, which is a checklist designed specifically for the purpose of assessing the quality of modelling studies (Phillips et al., 2006). After papers were identified and included in the review, the checklist was completed for each study in turn. Responses to the checklist included 'Y' for yes, 'N' for no, 'U' for unclear and 'NA' for not applicable.

# 6.4 Results

# 6.4.1 Search Results

The search of the three databases returned 245 unique results. Of the 245 titles and abstracts reviewed, 22 that had full-texts available met the inclusion criteria and were selected. Seven papers were dropped after reading the full-texts as it was found they either did not consider future effects, participants had a pre-existing condition, or weight-change was not reported. Fifteen full-texts published since the original review's final search were included in this update. Figure 17 shows a summary of the search process.





# 6.4.2 Characteristics of the Studies

The seven papers taken from Griffiths et al. (2012) and the 15 studies identified by the search strategy modelled various interventions. A summary of each of the interventions across the 22 papers is shown in Table 36. The table shows a summary of the sample of participants in each study, the length of each of the programmes, and a brief description of what the programme entailed. The seven papers published in 2010 and before were taken from

Griffiths et al. (2012), while the 15 papers published after 2010 were identified by the search strategy described in this chapter.

Paper	Study Sample	Programme Length	Study Design and Programme Description
Gray et al. (2018)	UK men aged 35-65	1-year	Participants offered a weight-management programme encouraging physical activity and diet change
Thomas et al. (2017)	UK adults with a high risk of type 2 diabetes taken from HSE	Unclear	Diabetes prevention intervention focusing on lifestyle change – applied a weight-loss from a meta- analysis of interventions
Michaud et al. (2017)	US overweight and obese adults	1-year	Community weight-loss programme
Zomer et al. (2017)	UK individuals that were overweight or obese taken from the HSE aged 30-74 free of CVD	1-year	Hypothetical weight-loss applied to HSE data
Ahern et al. (2017)	UK adults with a BMI of 28kg/m <sup>2</sup> or higher	1-year	A community weight- management programme (12-weeks or 52-weeks)
Smith et al. (2016)	US individuals that were overweight or obese	1-year	Online lifestyle programme for diabetes prevention

 Table 36: The Behavioural Weight-Management Programmes Modelled

Haussler and Breyer (2016)	German individuals with obesity	1-year	Lifestyle intervention for obesity reduction
Hoerger et al. (2015)	US individuals with obesity and covered by Medicare	6-months with a view for extension if successful	Intensive behavioural therapy for obesity – hypothesised weight- change
Wilson et al. (2015)	Mexican-origin individuals	12-weeks	Community-based lifestyle intervention to reduce diabetes risk
Fuller et al. (2014)	Australian, UK and German overweight and obese adults	1-year	Community weight- management programme or GP advice
Lewis et al. (2014)	UK adults with obesity	3-years	Weight-management lifestyle programme
Meads et al. (2014)	UK adults	1-year	Primary care referral to a community weight- management programme
Ginsberg and Rosenberg (2012)	Israeli population	Not discussed	Applied the effects of various weight- management programmes at a population level
Miners et al. (2012)	UK individuals with obesity	1-year	E-learning devices with a meta-analysis of RCT data informing effects
Forster et al. (2011)	Australian population that were overweight or obese	6-months and 1-year	Applied the effect of a low- fat diet and diet and exercise programme at a population level
Cobiac et al. (2010)	Two programmes: Australian individuals with a desire to improve diet, exercise and/or weight	2-months for the weight- management programme 6-months for the	A weight-management programme, 'Lighten Up', for promoting healthy lifestyle changes in diet and activity with behavioural support
	UK individuals aged 18-65 with BMI 27kg/m <sup>2</sup> to 40kg/m <sup>2</sup>	commercial weight-loss programme	A commercial weight-loss programme, 'Weight Watchers', with focus on a

			low-calorie diet and advice on physical activity
Trueman et al. (2010)	UK individuals with a BMI of 30kg/m <sup>2</sup> or higher, or 28kg/m <sup>2</sup> with comorbidities	2-years	Advisors providing advice regarding weight- management, improving diet and behavoural change
Gustafson et al. (2009)	US women with low- income aged 40-64 and a BMI of 25kg/m <sup>2</sup> -45kg/m <sup>2</sup>	16-weeks	Weekly group sessions delivered by a health counsellor about healthy eating, physical activity, and behaviour change
Bemelmans et al. (2008)	Dutch general population aged 20- 80	5-years for community intervention	Community intervention with focus on nutrition and exercise
	Overweight Dutch adults aged 30-80 with a moderate risk of diabetes	3-years for health care intervention	Health care intervention with focus on diet and exercise in a health care setting
Galani et al. (2007)	Swiss simulated population of individuals with overweight or obesity	3-years	Lifestyle intervention consisting of group dietician sessions and supervised exercise sessions
Roux et al. (2006)	US hypothetical cohort of 35-year old women with BMI of 25kg/m <sup>2</sup> or higher, and no hypertension, type 2 diabetes, or hypercholesterolemi a	1-year	A dietary weight-loss intervention with a 6-month weight-loss phase and 6- month maintenance phase A diet and pharmacotherapy intervention
Olsen et al. (2005)	Danish GP attendees with a BMI of 30kg/m <sup>2</sup> or higher, large waist circumference, dyslipidemia or type 2 diabetes	1-year	Dietician counselling with advice on healthy eating and physical activity

Papers focused on programmes offering diet, physical activity, and behavioural support to individuals that were overweight or obese. Four of the 22 papers included interventions that lasted over 1-year in duration. The types of programmes being modelled included community weight-management programmes, advice from healthcare professionals, online help and e-devices,

and diet programmes, as well as some studies applying hypothetical weightloss to survey data. Ten of the 22 papers included samples from the UK population.

6.4.3 Modelling Methodologies and Weight-Trajectory Assumptions

A range of modelling methods were employed across the 7 studies included from the Griffiths et al. (2012) and the 15 studies identified by this review, shown in Table 37, below, alongside a summary of the assumptions made in modelling regarding long-term weight trajectories, the evidence the assumptions were based on, and time-horizons considered.
Table 37: Modelling	Methods and	Weight-Trajectory	Assumptions
0		, , ,	

Paper	Model Type	Weight-regain Type	Weight-regain Assumption	Weight-regain Assumption Justification*	Control Group*	Post- programme Weight Regain End Point	Time- horizon
Gray et al. (2018)	Markov	Follow-up at 3.5 years	No regain assumption made after 3.5 years, then unclear assumptions regarding weight- trajectory	N/A	'No intervention' group were weighed at 12-months, then applied an average population trajectory of 0.46kg per year from 12-months to 3.5 years. This was using the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition study (Freisling et al., 2016). Five alternative hypothetical control scenarios were also included	3.5 years	Lifetime
Thomas et al. (2017)	Patient- Level Simulati on Model	Linear regain - fixed time	Regain to match non- intervention metabolic trajectory after 5 years	Regain according to assumptions used for NICE guidelines regarding diabetes prevention (Gillett et al., 2011)	Alternative simulation with individuals being given no intervention	Lifetime	20-years

				Unclear assumptions made about non- intervention metabolic trajectory			
Michaud et al. (2017)	Markov	Probabilities for weight-change each year	Annual transition probabilities depending on initial weight change and individual characteristics which stayed constant over time	Annual transition probabilities taken from an evaluation of a community weight-loss programme (Estabrooks et al., 2017)	Compared with no intervention simulation applied to same individuals – unclear weight trajectories for no intervention group	Lifetime	Lifetime
Zomer et al. (2017)	Markov	No regain	No regain	N/A	N/A	No regain	10-years
Ahern et al. (2017)	Patient- level Simulati on Model	Linear regain - fixed time	24-month follow-up then regain to baseline between years 2 and 5 after then followed national weight trends	No source for assumption regarding regain to baseline between 2 and 5 years National weight trends from the HSE (HSE, 2016)	Same as the intervention group assumptions	5-years and lifetime	25-years

Smith et al. (2016)	Markov	Probabilities of weight-change were applied to participants at a 12-month follow- up, but no weight-change assumptions after the 12- month follow-up	No regain.	N/A	Usual care – applied a probability of various weight- change levels at 12- months	No regain	10-years
Haussler and Breyer (2016)	Markov	Follow-up then linear regain of diabetes risk - fixed time	4-year follow-up then linear adjustment to match control group diabetes risk after follow-up over 10 years	Assumption based on findings regarding long-term effects of weight- reduction (Diabetes Prevention Programme Research Group, 2009; Norris et al., 2005)	Artificial control group formed from German panel data and used their recorded weight trajectories	14-years	20-years
Hoerger et al. (2015)	Markov	Linear regain - fixed amount	Regain 0.3 units of BMI per year until baseline	According to a meta- analysis of dietary counselling for weight-loss (Dansinger et al., 2007). Unclear weight-trajectory after regain.	Usual care with constant weight throughout	Until baseline reached	Lifetime (or when patient reaches 95 years)

Wilson et al. (2015)	Continu ous Markov model	No weight-regain assumption made. Projected weight-loss based on SSB consumption	Follow-up of participants at 3- years and projected weight loss at 3- years based on SSB consumption. No reference to assumptions about weight-trajectories after 3-years	Methods for projecting weight- loss using SSB consumption from Wang et al. (2012)	Simulated control group with matching characteristics. Unclear weight- trajectory	No regain	20-years
Fuller et al. (2014)	Markov	Probability of weight-regain between 12- months and 24- months, then linear regain	Average re-gain of 0.09kg/m <sup>2</sup> per month. After 2 years, individuals gained 0.03 BMI points per month from the end of follow-up until weight is regained. Unclear trajectory after baseline weight is met	Weight regain probabilities taken from trial data. Weight trajectories after 2 years taken from Dansinger et al. (2007)	Standard care - probability of weight- regain between 12- months and 24- months average of 0.03kg/m <sup>2</sup> per month with baseline weight being met around 4- years post- intervention	Until baseline (met at approximate ly 5 years post- intervention)	Lifetime
Lewis et al. (2014)	Mathem atical	Follow-up then linear-regain - fixed amount	Regain 1.87kg/m <sup>2</sup> per year until background rate is met then 0.16kg/m <sup>2</sup> per year	Initial regain taken from trial data. Background rate taken from Ara et al. (2012) as the background natural annual change in BMI	No treatment group who were applied the background annual rate of 0.16kg/m <sup>2</sup> growth per annum	Until background rate and lifetime	10-years

Meads et al. (2014)	Markov	Linear regain - fixed amount	Linear regain of 0.429kg per year	Regain rate taken from Ara et al. (2012)	Usual care group which had a fixed weight from baseline to 12-months then a linear regain of 0.429kg per year	Lifetime	Lifetime
Ginsberg and Rosenberg (2012)	Mathem atical	Non-linear regain for effect of intervention	50% of effect of intervention decrease each year	Recidivism rate was based on a number of studies (Franz et al., 2007; Knowler et al., 2002; Wing and Phelan, 2005; McGuire et al., 1999a; McGuire et al., 1999b)	No control group and no assumptions regarding weight- gain of population without an intervention	Lifetime	Lifetime
Miners et al. (2012)	Discrete Event Simulati on	Linear regain - fixed amount	Regain 1kg per year – converted into BMI for men and women based on average height	Figure of 1kg per year taken from Fine et al. (1999) and Heitmann and Garby (1999)	Conventional care in which individuals gain 1kg per year following treatment cessation	Lifetime	Lifetime
Forster et al. (2011)	Markov	Linear regain – fixed amount	Gain 0.03 BMI points per month from the end of intervention for 5.5 years. No weight-loss remained indefinitely. Unclear what assumptions are made after 5.5	Assumption taken from a meta- regression on diet and exercise programmes (Dansinger et al., 2007)	Synthetic control groups which experienced only weight-change from the general BMI trend (Haby and Marwick, 2008)	5.5 years	Lifetime

			years post- intervention				
Cobiac et al. (2010)	Unclear	Non-linear decay of effect	Decay of intervention effect of 50% per year	Found in a meta- regression weight lost was regained after 5.5 years (Dansinger et al., 2007)	Used average change in BMI between 1999/2000 and 2004/05 as a background weight trajectory for Lighten Up, not discussed for Weight-watchers (Dunstan et al., 2001; Barr et al., 2006)	Indefinite	Lifetime
Trueman et al. (2010)	Patient Simulati on	Linear regain to match no- intervention followed by background trajectory weight- change	12-month weight-loss regained over the next 2-years then a background weight- gain of 1-kg per year	24-month outcomes from Counterweight Project Team (2010). No evidence provided for assumptions regarding further weight-gain	Simulated population of the UK applied a weight- trajectory representing annual UK weight-gain (1kg per year)	2-years of regain, indefinite background trajectory	Lifetime

Gustafson et al. (2009)	Mathem atical	No regain	No regain	N/A	Control intervention	No regain	30.4 years (Life expectancy for average member)
Bemelmans et al. (2008)	Markov	No-regain. Change in transition rates between BMI categories reverted to pre- intervention level	Change in transition rates between BMI categories reverted to pre-intervention level – sustained effect of programme compared with reference case	The 5-year change in transition rates was based on the intervention results. The basis for the sustained effect is unclear	Parameters of the model applied to the same hypothetical cohort and are unchanged throughout the time- horizon	Permanent effect of programme	Lifetime
Galani et al. (2007)	Markov	Linear weight regain.	Weight-loss maintained to 6- years then a linear re-gain to baseline over the next 4-years	Assumptions based on data found in observational trials (NICE, 2006)	Standard care, no regain assumptions stated	10-years	Lifetime
Roux et al. (2006)	Patient Simulati on	Probability of weight-loss maintenance	Participants were applied a probability of achieving 10% weight loss at 6- months, and then a probability of maintaining that weight-loss at 1 and	Weight-maintenance probabilities from small body of literature regarding weight-loss maintenance (Lowe et al., 2001; Anderson et al.,	Routine care – applied a smaller probability of weight- loss at 6-months, and a probability of maintaining that weight-loss	Regain according to probabilities at 6- months/1- year and 5- years then	Lifetime

			5 years – those who maintain at 5 years maintain indefinitely, those who do not regain to baseline instantly	1999; Gosselin and Cote, 2001; McGuire et al., 1999b; Anderson et al., 2001). Longer-term maintenance rates from the National Weight-Control Registry (Wing and Hill, 2001)		weight stays constant.	
Olsen et al. (2005)	Mathem atical	No regain	Change in probability of death is maintained indefinitely	N/A	GP advice	No regain	Lifetime (participant s expected to reach 80)

\*All references in the 'weight-regain assumption justification' and 'control group' columns were cited in the corresponding paper in the 'paper' column

Figure 18 shows a histogram of the modelling methods employed across the 22 papers. Markov modelling was the most commonly used model design, whilst 5 papers used simulation models and 4 relied on mathematical equations.



Figure 18: Modelling Method Employed

Fourteen of the 22 (64%) studies considered a lifetime time-horizon. The remaining 8 studies used time-horizons ranging from 10-years to 30.4-years<sup>4</sup> with a mean horizon of 18.18 years.

Of the 22 papers included in the review, 15 (68%) made assumptions about weight-regain following the end of the study period. Whilst Gustafson et al. (2009) and Bemelmans et al. (2008) did not make any assumptions about weight regain in the base-case, they tested alternative scenarios in which intervention effects were not sustained. Gray et al. (2018) and Wilson et al. (2015) followed-up participants at 3.5 and 3 years respectively, but did not make any assumptions about further weight-change after follow-up.

Linear regain following programme completion was the most common assumption made, illustrated in Figure 19, with 11 of the 22 papers making this assumption. Two papers used probabilities of weight-regain with Michaud et al. (2017) assigning probabilities to different rates of weight-change, and Roux et al. (2006) using probability chances of weight-loss maintenance at various

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The time-horizon of 30.4 years was chosen to match the mean life-expectancy of the average participant

time-points. Ginsberg and Rosenberg (2012) and Cobiac et al. (2010) both made the assumption that weight-regain was non-linear, with intervention effectiveness decaying by 50% each year. The remaining 7 papers assumed that the effect of the BWM intervention was permanent and sustained in the long-term. Fourteen of the 15 papers based these assumptions on literature including trial data, meta-analyses, and recommendations from a governing body.



Figure 19: Weight-Regain Assumptions Made

The papers that modelled weight-regain made a range of assumptions about weight-regain end-points. Four of the 15 studies assumed that participants regained weight to reach baseline, with another 4 papers assuming that participants regained weight until they matched the non-intervention background weight trajectory. Six of the studies assumed a fixed amount of regain or fixed probabilities of weight-regain for a certain time-period (2-10 years). The final study, Roux et al. (2006), assumed a percentage of individuals maintained their weight-loss at specified time-points.

A total of 8 papers included a consideration of a background weight-trajectory that individuals joined in the long-term. The remainder either assumed a constant weight in the long-term, or did not make their assumption clear. Six of these 8 papers cited the evidence used to produce the assumption. Twenty-one of the 22 papers used control groups in their analysis, with the exception being Ginsberg and Rosenberg (2012) who used a cost-effectiveness model to apply the effects of a group of weight-loss programmes to the population of Israel. The most common assumption made by papers was a hypothetical control group with matching baseline characteristics, or individuals taken from panel data, which were applied a rate of annual weight-gain.

Sensitivity analyses were employed on weight-regain assumptions in 9 of the 22 papers (41%). Four of the papers tested two-way sensitivity analyses. Cobiac et al. (2010) varied the decay of effect from 0% to 100% per year, whilst Roux et al. (2006) varied the probability of weight-loss maintenance at 1-year and 5-years. Hoerger et al. (2015) tested scenarios of faster weight regain and no re-gain, although in the no-regain scenario, maintenance costs were also assumed to continue. Ginsberg and Rosenberg (2012) adjusted the decay of effect from 50% in the base-case, to 20% and 80% per annum.

Three papers tested more conservative estimates of weight-regain. Meads et al. (2014) tested two alternative conservative assumptions where all weightloss was regained within 2 and 3 years. Similarly, Thomas et al. (2017) used an alternative scenario where the weight-trajectory matched the no-intervention group in 3 years rather than the 5 assumed in the base-case. Whilst Gustafson et al. (2009) assumed permanent effects of the intervention in the base-case, weight-regain assumptions were tested in scenario analysis. Gustafson et al. (2009) tested the assumptions of regaining half of weight-loss and regaining all weight-loss after 1-year.

Two papers tested only more optimistic scenarios. Trueman et al. (2010) tested a scenario in which the weight trajectory was returned to the background trajectory rate after 12-months rather than all weight being regained to match the control group, meaning the intervention effect was sustained over the control group for the model time horizon. Forester et al. (2011) analysed the effect of halving the rate of weight-regain.

Miners et al. (2012) also considered an alternative scenario in which the time taken to gain 0.1 BMI points was doubled. However, Miners et al. (2012) also doubled the amount of time taken to gain 0.1 BMI points in the conventional

care group, and so this alternative scenario was not a true test of altering the weight-regain assumption in the intervention group.

6.4.4 Reported Outcomes and Robustness to Adjusting Weight-Trajectory Assumptions

Table 38 shows a summary of the cost-effectiveness results reported by each study. When reviewing the outcomes reported in the 22 papers, 15 papers reported QALYs as an effectiveness measure. Two papers reported disability-adjusted-life-years (DALYs), with 2 papers using life-years gained as their measure of effectiveness. Zomer et al. (2017) assessed the thresholds a hypothetical intervention would be cost-effective at. Two papers did not quote measures of effectiveness but stated that the programmes reviewed were cost-saving. A total of 18 included programmes were found to be cost-effective, with 7 of these being cost-saving in the long-term.

For the 15 papers that reported QALYs gained, net benefit was calculated at both the £20,000 and £30,000 per QALY thresholds. Thirteen interventions were found to be cost-effective at both thresholds, with neither Miners et al. (2012) or Wilson et al. (2015) finding their programmes to be cost-effective at the required threshold. The mean net benefit across the 15 studies was £1,651 at the £20,000 per QALY threshold and £3,188 at the £30,000 per QALY threshold.

Table 38: Cost-Effectiveness Results

Paper	Incremental Costs	Incremental Benefits	Cost-Effectiveness Reported Results	Net Benefit
Gray et al. (2018)	£1450-£1680 per participant	0.679-0.821 QALYs per person	£1790-£2200 per QALY against hypothetical scenarios for control groups	£13,435
Thomas et al. (2017)	-£75 per participant	0.03552 QALYs per person	Dominant over no intervention (-£2120 per QALY)	£785
Michaud et al. (2017)	Not stated	Not stated	Return on investment of \$16.7 for every \$1 invested	N/A
Zomer et al. (2017)	Not stated	Not stated	Interventions should cost <£34/<£51 to be cost- effective at £20,000/£30,000 cost-per QALY	N/A
Ahern et al. (2017)	£46 per person	0.01925 QALYs gained vs control	£2,394 per QALY vs the control group	£339
Smith et al. (2016)	\$591 per participant	0.0412 QALYs per person	\$14,351 per QALY	£369
Haussler and Breyer (2016)	Not stated	Not stated	Cost saving of €327 per year	N/A
Hoerger et al. (2015)	-\$24	0.0542 QALYs per person	Dominant	£1,102
Wilson et al. (2015)	Total of \$5,972,720 for 2%, \$6,127,407 for 5%	104 QALYs for 2% weight-loss goal and 99 QALYs for 5% weight-	\$57,430 per QALY for 2% weight-loss scenario and \$61,893 per QALY for 5% weight-loss scenario	-£7,519 for 2%, -£8,173 for 5%**
Fuller et al. (2014)	-70AUD per participant	0.03 QALYSs per person	Cost-saving (-6,225 AUD per QALY)	£639
Lewis et al. (2014)	£1,613 per participant	0.128 QALYs per person	£12,585 per QALY vs no treatment	£947
Meads et al. (2014)	-£924 per person	0.22 QALYs per person	Dominant over usual care	£5,324

Ginsberg and Rosenberg (2012)	1.55billion NIS	32,671 QALYs for the population of Israel	47,559 NIS per QALY	£68***
Miners et al. (2012)	£762 per person	0.007 QALYs per person	£102,112 per QALY	-£622
Forster et al. (2011)	446AUD for diet and exercise, 187AUD for low- fat diet per person	5,900 DALYs for diet and exercise, 2,900 for low-fat diet per person	12,000 AUD per DALY for diet and exercise programme, 13,000 AUD per DALY for low-fat diet	N/A
Cobiac et al. (2010)	At a population level, AUD5.3m for Lighten Up / AUD8.3m for Weight Watchers	38 DALYs for Lighten Up, 54 DALYs for Weight Watchers	130,000 AUD per DALY for Lighten Up (dominated) / 140,000 AUD per DALY for Weight Watchers (dominated)	N/A
Trueman et al. (2010)	-£27 per person	0.06 QALYs gained	-£473 (dominant)	£1,227
Gustafson et al. (2009)	\$242 per participant	0.13 life years gained	\$1,862 per life year gained	N/A
Bemelmans et al. (2008)	€6,954,000,000	1,220,000 QALYs saved	€5,700 per QALY for combined implementation of interventions	£1,378***
Galani et al. (2007)*	285CHF per person	0.2538 QALYs	1284CHF per QALY	£4,857
Roux et al. (2006)	\$3,080 per person	0.243 QALYs	\$12,640 per QALY	£2,488
Olsen et al. (2005)	1,293DKK per person	0.0528 life years gained	23,481DKK per life year gained	N/A

\*Figures were taken as the mean across all subgroups as overall figures were not reported

\*\*Net benefit was calculated using the sample of 335 members

\*\*\*Net benefit was calculated using the population quoted in the study

All 9 papers that performed sensitivity analysis on weight-regain assumptions reported the effect on cost-effectiveness. Cobiac et al. (2010) found from twoway sensitivity analysis that increasing BMI regain by 0.01units per month increased ICER values by 3%. Roux et al. (2006) adjusted the percentage chance of both 1-year weight-loss maintenance and 5-year weight-loss maintenance, and found a large effect on cost-per-QALY estimates, with an increase in the chance of long-term weight-maintenance from 20% to 40% halving the cost-effectiveness ratio estimate, and a fall in the long-term maintenance rate to 0% more than doubling the ICER. The effect of a reduction in the percentage chance of maintenance was shown to have a larger impact than increasing the likelihood of maintenance.

Hoerger et al. (2015) also performed two-way sensitivity analysis on the effects of a fully-effective programme. Hoerger et al. (2015) found the programme was cost-saving in the long-term with the base-case assumptions, but the cost per QALY was \$2,604 when a faster regain was assumed. The cost per QALY for the permanent weight-loss, but continuing maintenance costs was \$28,896 per QALY. The base-case provided an additional 0.0422 QALYs, which fell to 0.0403 QALYs for the faster regain scenario, and rose to 0.0786 for the permanent weight-loss scenario. In Ginsberg and Rosenberg's (2012) study, reducing the decay of effect from 50% to 35% and 20% reduced costs per QALY from 47,559 to 29,661 NIS and 11,812 NIS respectively. Increasing the recidivism rates to 65% and 85% increased costs per QALY to 65,475 NIS and 83,355 NIS.

Meads et al. (2014) focussed on testing more conservative assumptions. The programme remained dominant against usual care when assuming that all weight was regained in 3-years and 2-years. However, the cost savings fell from £924 per person to £301 and £165 respectively. Incremental QALYs gained fell from 0.22 in the base-case to 0.07 with the 3-year regain assumption and 0.04 in the 2-year regain scenario. Thomas et al. (2017) also tested a more conservative scenario by assuming all weight was regained in 3-years rather than 5. This led to the programme no longer being cost-saving for those with a BMI of under 35kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Gustafson et al. (2009) found that by regaining half of the weight-lost after one year, the number of QALYs saved fell from 0.13 to 0.067, and to 0.013 if it was assumed that all weight-loss was regained after a year. This caused the cost-per-QALY figures to rise from

\$1,862 per QALY to \$3,612 and \$18,615 per QALY in the half of weight regained and all of weight regained scenarios respectively.

In the base case in Trueman et al. (2010), the assumption was made that participants regain weight to match the no intervention group 2 years from programme completion. An alternative scenario was also considered, where instead of following this pattern, at the programme completion participants gain weight at the natural trajectory, and so maintain their weight-loss over the no-intervention group. In this scenario, the incremental cost fell from -£27 per person to -£80, whilst the incremental QALYs gained increased from 0.06 to 0.09, which again was dominant over no intervention. Forster et al. (2011) found that by halving the rate of weight regain, the cost per DALY for the diet and exercise programme fell from 12,000AUD to 3,000AUD.

#### 6.4.5 Quality Assessment of Included Studies

The quality of the included studies was assessed using Phillips et al. (2006). The form is included in Appendix *24*. When assessing the quality of the papers, it was found that generally economic evaluations of weight-management programmes were appropriately stating the objective of the study, as well as clearly stating the perspective and decision maker. Papers were also consistent in clearly stating the options under review, clearly defining a control group and stating the baseline values and observed outcomes that were inputted into the model. The main exception to this was Ginsberg and Rosenburg (2012), which did not clearly explain the objective of the evaluation and the options being assessed were not adequately explained with a control group not being used for comparison. Ahern et al. (2017) failed to clearly define the perspective of the cost-effectiveness analysis, whilst both Gustafson et al. (2009) and Michaud et al. (2017) used a payer-perspective, but were unclear about who the payer was.

In the majority of cases, justification for the chosen model structure was rare, and alternatives to the chosen decision model were not discussed. Both Markov and simulation models were found to appropriately discuss model structure, and were transparent in their description of the process of the model. Diagrams of Markov models were common which was beneficial and improved transparency of model transitions. Cycle length was often not clearly stated, although the more recent papers have improved upon this. Mathematical models were found to be unclear about how disease progression takes place and the causal relationships within the model.

Key parameters were often discussed in detail in both Markov and simulation models, and references for parameter values were included by the majority of these. Utility values were also discussed. However, the process of identification of the parameter value papers was a common omission. Quality assessment of the data was also lacking with Thomas et al. (2017) being the only study that appropriately discussed an assessment of the quality of data included in the model.

Mathematical models were rarely transparent regarding the included utility values and values of other parameters, and it was often unclear how these values were incorporated into the decision models. Hoerger et al. (2015), Lewis et al. (2014) and Olsen et al. (2005) were also lacking in their data identification and it was not clear which parameters were included in the model. Olsen et al. (2005) was also unclear about pre-model inputs regarding the intervention that was being assessed.

Sensitivity analysis was lacking within the studies. Methodological uncertainty was the only type that was consistently assessed. Early studies rarely assessed parameter uncertainty appropriately, especially in mathematical models, but this has improved over time as the comprehensiveness of studies has progressed. Where probabilistic sensitivity analysis did not take place, the exclusion was not justified. Sensitivity analysis regarding model structure was extremely rare. Miners et al. (2012) and Roux et al. (2006) were the only two papers that assessed structural uncertainty appropriately, in which alternative functions in relation to disease states in were considered.

When considering the consistency of modelling, no discussions of thorough testing of the mathematical logic were made apparent. However, conclusions were valid across all studies, and where counterintuitive results were found, explanations were provided. There were a large number of studies however, that did not discuss their results in comparison with other economic evaluations. Neither Gustafson et al. (2009) or Michaud et al. (2017) included quality of life in their estimations of cost-effectiveness when using a payer perspective, and it was unclear whether this was appropriate. The outcomes in Olsen et al. (2005) were found to be inconsistent with the perspective of healthcare providers and society as utility from health states was not included.

The papers that did not consider any weight-regain, Zomer et al. (2017), Bemelmans et al. (2008) and Olsen et al. (2005) were found to be low-quality studies with a lack of clear justification and transparency across the majority of the data dimensions listed in Phillips et al. (2006). Apart from this, there appeared to be little relation between weight-regain assumptions, the extensiveness of sensitivity analysis conducted regarding weight-regain, and evaluation quality. However, papers that considered long-term weighttrajectories following the regain period appeared to be generally more thorough and of higher quality than those that did not. It was found that Thomas et al. (2017), Fuller et al. (2014), Meads et al. (2014), Forster et al. (2011) and Roux et al. (2006) were of particularly good quality, with two of these being simulation models and three being Markov models, although both Fuller et al. (2014) and Forster et al. (2011) were unclear about weight-trajectories postweight-regain.

In summary, papers have improved somewhat over time, with the more recent papers being more thorough than earlier papers, especially when considering the early mathematical papers. This may have been due to checklists such as CHEERS (Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards) improving the standards of reporting in modelling studies over time (Husereau et al., 2013). However, papers must improve transparency regarding the justification of model structure and identification of parameter values and utilities. As well as this, sensitivity analysis should be more extensive in future, and consider a wider range of potential outcomes.

#### 6.5 Discussion

This systematic review finds that there has been a growth in the number of economic evaluations of BWM interventions that employ modelling methods. Griffiths et al. (2012) specified that to capture the effects of weight-change effectively, Markov or simulation modelling should be employed. In the original review, 4 of the 7 papers (57%) assessing BWMs used either Markov or simulation models, whilst 13 of the 15 papers in the update used either of these two methods (87%). The difference in the rates that Markov and simulation models are used indicates that the modelling of cost-effectiveness when reviewing BWMs has become more sophisticated since the original Griffiths et al. (2012) review was undertaken, which should have improved the accuracy of more recent cost-effectiveness modelling when assessing behavioural weight-management programmes, likely because of its ability to capture the effects of time, and the simplicity of the modelling when compared with patient-level simulation models.

Despite the evidence found in the previous chapter of this PhD, that many participants in weight-loss programmes regain weight in the long-run, studies continue to have deficiencies with regard to assumptions about weighttrajectories following the interventions. In some cases, studies do not consider any weight gain following the completion of the programme, which limits the accuracy of cost-effectiveness estimates. Only 4 papers reported the outcome of a programme with a duration of over 12-months. However, all models considered a time-horizon of at least 10-years, with the majority of studies considering a lifetime time-horizon. Therefore, a much larger period of model time horizons are modelled based on assumptions, rather than being based on observed outcomes. Estimation of the weight-trajectories of participants following programme completion are a key component to determining long-term cost-effectiveness

A range of weight-gain assumptions were reported in the papers. Fifteen of the 22 papers made predictions about weight-regain and further weight-trajectories after programme completion. Linear weight-regain was the most common assumption with 11 of the 15 papers taking this approach. Linear regain was either modelled in the form of a fixed amount of weight-regain per time period, for example 1kg per year, or a linear regain to either baseline weight or to

match the no intervention trajectory after a certain amount of time. A problem with a fixed weight gain rate is that if this is indefinite, and the assumption is made that weight regain in the first year following the programme is equivalent to weight-gain in the 10<sup>th</sup> year following the programme, which does not follow the pattern of weight-regain described in the previous chapter. As well as this, participants are assumed to gain weight year-on-year until the end of the time-horizon, which may be unrealistic due to changes in body composition as individuals age, and a very high proportion of the cohort becoming morbidly obese (Gaddey and Holder, 2014).

Another problem with fixed average weight gain is that the assumption is made that those who lose a large amount of weight inside the programme gain weight at the same rate as those who do not lose much weight, which again, is limiting. However, if assuming a weight-loss regain to baseline weight or a no intervention trajectory within a fixed time frame, the assumption is being made that those who lose the most weight, and are therefore the most successful with weight-loss, then regain the most weight-loss following the end of the programme. This may be incorrect as, if a BWM interventions create effective, sustained weight management habits, it may be that those who lose most weight do not regain weight at a greater rate (Beeken et al., 2017).

Another assumption used in the literature was that participants regain weight at a fixed rate until they reach their baseline weight, or they match the control group weight trajectory, meaning that those who lose weight most quickly are able to maintain some weight-loss for a longer period of time. This improves upon the assumption where weight is regained to baseline within a fixed time, but also faces the limit that all individuals regain weight at the same rate regardless of their initial weight-loss, and that this weight-loss regain is linear.

Two alternatives to linear regain were also employed in modelling. The first was a decay of effect each year, where the amount of weight regained each year falls until little to no effect of the intervention remains. This is more representative of the real world, in terms of weight regain occurring quickly and slowing over time, as shown by the pattern of weight-regain found by the metaregression analysis in the previous chapter, but only one paper from the original review, and one paper identified in the update employed this method. The final assumption used in modelling in the papers found in this update was treating BMI categories as separate health states, where individuals transition between different BMI categories over time according to transition probabilities. This assumption captures the heterogeneity in weight-regain patterns between people, which is useful, and allows other characteristics, such as gender, age, income, BMI and weight-loss within the programme to be taken into account when inputting transition probabilities if the model works at an individual level. By using these characteristics to predict weight trajectories post-intervention, cost-effectiveness by subgroup could be estimated more accurately which would improve the ability of policymakers to target particular groups of people.

Eighteen papers reported cost-effective outcomes. A total of 7 papers also reported that a programme would also be cost-saving. This is promising for policymakers considering funding behavioural weight-management interventions as it shows that the majority of BWMs are expected to be costeffective in the long-term.

Whilst the majority of studies did consider weight regain following programme completion, only 9 papers tested their assumption in sensitivity analysis. Briggs et al. (2012) recommends that where uncertainty is present, sensitivity analysis should be carried out when modelling cost-effectiveness. As weight-loss regain is an unknown, and the rate of regain depends on a number of influencers, testing alternative scenarios is a sensible test of the robustness of cost-effectiveness estimates (Blomain et al., 2013). Only 7 of these papers tested more conservative scenarios than the base case. Three saw large increases in their estimated cost effectiveness ratios (Gustafson et al., 2009; Roux et al., 2006; Ginsberg and Rosenberg, 2012), two were no longer cost-saving (Thomas et al., 2017; Hoerger et al., 2015), one remained cost-saving but saw a fall in the number of QALYs provided from 0.22 to 0.04 per person (Meads et al., 2014), whilst one paper found only a small impact of a 3% change in ICER for each additional 0.01BMI point gained per month (Cobiac et al., 2010).

These impacts on sensitivity analysis show the need to test weight trajectory scenarios as cost-effectiveness estimates may be sensitive to weight-regain assumptions. Whilst programmes can remain cost-effective subject to altering weight regain assumptions, policymakers can often be faced with the task of choosing between multiple potential interventions, and providing information

about multiple scenarios of weight-regain will improve the decision making process.

Two studies tested more optimistic weight regain scenarios with one paper reported an increase in QALYs gained from 0.06 to 0.09, with the programme remaining cost-saving (Trueman et al., 2010). Forster et al. (2011) tested a more optimistic assumption also and saw the cost-per-DALY fall from 12,000AUD to 620AUD in one programme and 13,000AUD to 3,000AUD in another. These weight-change projections should also be validated to ensure assumptions regarding weight-trajectories reflect reality (Eddy et al., 2012).

In summary, behavioural weight-management interventions are often costeffective, and can be cost-saving in the long-term. However, at present, the majority of cost-effectiveness models do not put enough consideration into the impact of long-term weight regain on costs and effects. Models should attempt to empirically generate values on weight regain rather than rely on assumptions alone. Where assumptions are required, a series of sensitivity analyses are required to test the impact of changing these assumptions on cost-effectiveness, due to the uncertainty in weight regain rates following behavioural weight-management interventions. The results of the model predictions, including the model traces across weight and BMI groups, should be validated to ensure realistic and intuitive results are obtained. Modelling should also consider alternatives to linear regain, such as non-linear regain or probabilities of weight-loss maintenance, in order to better capture real-world weight-regain patterns. Modelling studies should also at least employ Markov modelling and should consider patient-level simulation models to be able to incorporate individual characteristics and improve estimates of costeffectiveness. These findings will inform the adaptation of an economic model to improve the modelling of behavioural weight-management programmes and the estimation of cost-effectiveness. The assumptions regarding long-term weight-trajectories used in the economic evaluations in this review will also be tested within the economic model, in order to identify the impact of changing assumptions on estimates of cost-effectiveness.

# Chapter 7: Weight Outcomes after Behavioral Weight-Management Programs: A Meta-Analysis of Long-Term Follow-Up

# 7.1 Introduction

The final phase of this PhD is to modify an economic model with the aim of improving the accuracy of the cost-effectiveness modelling of weightmanagement interventions. The robustness of the model and uncertainty regarding long-term outcomes will be tested by adjusting various modelling assumptions, using data from the Slimming World programme as a case study. Before doing this, a number of phases must be completed to be able to predict weight-trajectories and appropriately and model cost-effectiveness. In Chapter 5, regression analyses were run using the 24-month outcome data for the Slimming World programme to predict individual weight-change, and gain an understanding of the heterogeneity in weight-change outcomes. In Chapter 6, a review of previous models found assumptions regarding weight-trajectories following behavioural weight-management programmes (BWMs) were often basic. For longer term weight-trajectories, we looked to evidence in the literature. A systematic review was undertaken with the aim of identifying BWMs that followed-up participants for at least 3 years from the start of the programme.

Behavioural lifestyle interventions have the potential to be successful in the short-term, but longer-term outcomes are less certain given that follow-up of participants after they leave the programme is rare. Slimming World has the ability to continue recording the weight trajectories of members, but only for as long as an individual continues to attend Slimming World classes. As bodyweight can have consequences for health at any time-point, weight-trajectories in the long-term are important to determining the effectiveness of a programme. Therefore, a limitation of many programmes where continued attendance is required to record results is that those who are not followed-up are unobserved. This causes uncertainty in outcomes, and these missing data can cause biased estimates of effectiveness (Kang, 2013).

Leaving a programme may not necessarily be due to the individual discontinuing their weight management. There is the possibility the individual feels they have learnt enough to manage their weight without the help of a programme, or that he/she would like to continue attending but does not have the time or money available to them. Similar assumptions are made in other behavioural change interventions. For example, in the smoking cessation intervention literature, the common assumption is that those who leave and do not respond to follow-up have resumed smoking (Blankers et al., 2016; Ussher et al., 2015). However, it is limiting to assume that all those who leave the programme or do not respond to follow-up have reverted to pre-programme habits.

The aim of this chapter is to systematically review evidence of the long-term outcomes of behavioural weight-management programmes. The following objectives are set out to achieve the aim of this chapter:

- To identify papers that report outcomes of a behavioural weightmanagement programme at least 3-years from the start of the programme.
- To describe these programmes in detail and extract relevant data regarding the programmes.
- To conduct meta-regression analyses to establish the influencers of weight-change.
- To use meta-regression analysis to estimate long-term-weight change.

To meet the first objective, a search strategy was designed to identify these papers, and was employed in multiple databases. Three-year outcomes were chosen as a minimum length of follow-up. This gave an extra year's follow up when compared with the Slimming World data and, it was felt, would optimise the number of studies included. Once the papers were identified, the programmes were described to understand the approaches taken across the various BWMs, and data was extracted for use in meta-analyses. Finally, multiple meta-regressions were undertaken to establish the effects of various participant and programme characteristics on weight-change outcomes, and to predict a weighted mean long-term weight-trajectory across the included programmes. By establishing a pattern of weight-change, this chapter can help to inform a better understanding of weight-management behaviour following weight-management programmes.

# 7.2 Methods

## 7.2.1 Search Strategy

Preliminary searches were undertaken in OVID Medline to find common key terms used in papers evaluating weight loss and long-term weight outcomes. The terms found using this method were included in a full search (Table 39). Searches were run in Medline, Embase, PsychINFO and CINAHL.

Time-Period	Weight	Intervention Type
Long-term	Weight-loss	Lifestyle
Follow-up	Weight-maintenance	Behavio*
Longitudinal	Diet ADJ3 maintenance	
3-year*	Weight-traject*	
Three-year*	Weight-gain	
4-year*	Weight ADJ3 change	
Four-year*		
5-year*		
Five-year*		

Table 39: Search Terms Employed in the Search Strategy

The aim of the search was to identify papers that reported the long-term weight outcomes of behavioural weight management programmes. For the search, the terms in each of the columns in Table 39 were combined using the 'OR' operator, and each column was combined using the 'AND' operator. Therefore, for papers to be identified, they were required to include at least one term from each column. For the Medline, Embase and PsychINFO search, titles were searched for all terms, except for 'weight-traject\*' which was searched as a key term as few papers included the term in the title, and the terms 'lifestyle' and 'behavio\*' were required to be included in the title for convenience. This approach was formed in an iterative process, and the strategy provided a manageable amount of papers which included key papers for meeting the aims of the review.

To add further focus to the search, the terms 'cognitive', 'surgery', 'disorder', 'medicat\*', 'mother\*', 'depression', 'pregnan\*', 'gastric', 'bariatric' were included in the search as keywords using the operator 'NOT' to avoid papers that focussed on surgical interventions, pharmaceutical interventions, pregnancy and individuals with metal health issues. These operators were included to reduce the number of inappropriate papers that the search identified in relation to the inclusion criteria listed below.

Papers were limited using filters in OVID and CINAHL to be in the English language, to involve only adults, and to have been published within the last 15 years to ensure all behavioural weight-management programmes identified were relevant to today's environment. Citation tracking was then performed on the included papers.

## 7.2.2 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

In order to ensure that only relevant papers were included in the systematic review, inclusion and exclusion criteria were set. The inclusion criteria were as follows:

- The participants in the study were adults (16+)
- The paper evaluated a lifestyle/behavioural weight-management programme
- The primary aim of the programme was weight-management
- The paper reported weight-change between at least two-time points with the final time-point being a minimum of 3-years after baseline

Papers were excluded if:

• The programme focussed on a population with a particular condition not relating to weight (programmes targeted at a population of individuals with type 2 diabetes were not excluded as type 2 diabetes is strongly related to obesity)

- The programme offered pharmacotherapy or surgery as a treatment option, either alone or alongside the behavioural programme
- The programme's primary focus was an alternative outcome to weightmanagement (such as improved mental health or reduced knee pain)

All papers identified were screened based on title and abstract. Following screening, all papers that were remaining were then read in full and then checked against the criteria once again. All the remaining papers were included in the review. A second reviewer screened the titles and abstracts of 20% papers identified. The included papers were agreed upon after discussion.

## 7.2.3 Data Extraction

Data were extracted using a bespoke data extraction form. Columns with the following headings were used to collect data from each of the nine included papers in the extraction form:

- Country
- Programme
- Population
- Follow-up Length
- Initial n
- Follow-up n
- Initial weight-change
- Follow-up weight-change
- Measurement method
- Limitations
- Comments

These headings were chosen in order to understand the components of the programmes and the populations involved in the programmes. In addition, specific baseline and outcome data were recorded to be used in meta-analyses.

For the purpose of the meta-regressions, outcomes reported as percentage change or BMI change were converted into kilograms. The conversion from

BMI to kilograms used either a reported mean height in the study when possible, and if not, a height of 5'4", to represent the average height of a woman, was used (for studies that only included females). Observations for women and men were recorded separately where possible. Where standard errors were not reported, standard deviations and confidence intervals were converted to standard errors using the formula in Equation 33, where standard error (SE) equals the standard deviation (SD) divided by the square root of the sample size (n).

Equation 33

$$SE = \frac{SD}{\sqrt{n}}$$

Where weight-loss figures were reported by group, for example weight-loss by BMI category, a mean value for weight-loss was calculated, and a pooled standard deviation was calculated using the formula in Equation 34, before converting this pooled standard deviation to standard error.

Equation 34

$$SD_{pooled} = \sqrt{\frac{SD_1^2 + SD_2^2 + \ldots + SD_n^2}{n}}$$

## 7.3 Results

#### 7.3.1 Search Results

The search was run in February 2018 and updated in January 2019. The final search identified 255 unique papers. After screening the titles and abstracts, 17 papers were selected to be read in full, of which eight were excluded in line with the stated criteria. In addition, a further two papers were identified from a systematic review which fit the inclusion criteria, resulting in a total of eleven full-texts for inclusion in the review. Citation tracking was performed on the included papers, but this yielded no additional studies. The flowchart of the search strategy is shown in Figure 20, below.





#### 7.3.2 The Behavioural Weight-Management Programmes

Thirteen behavioural weight-management programmes were identified across the 11 papers included in the studies, as some papers contained multiple BWMs. A summary of the programmes is presented below:

A diabetes-prevention intervention based in Poland, DE-PLAN, was the focus of Gillis-Januszewska et al. (2017). The programme was based on behaviourchange with five lifestyle goals: weight-loss, reduced fat intake, increased consumption of fruit and vegetables, and increased physical activity. Participants were those aged 25 or older with a high diabetes risk. Nurses with specialised training delivered a 10-month intervention with a 4-month intensive phase where participants were given one individual session followed by 10 group sessions. Participants were given verbal advice by nurses on diet and physical activity changes as well as printed materials. Participants were also invited to participate in organised physical activity twice a week. The maintenance phase which followed the intensive phase consisted of motivational phone calls and letters. Participants were weighed on-site at baseline, 12-months and 36-months. Two hundred and sixty-two patients were invited to participate after screening; of these 105 completed all 3 measurements.

Seguin et al. (2017) evaluated the long-term effects of the Strong Women– Healthy Hearts Programme, an evidence-based programme which operated in 22 states across the United States. The programme comprised of two hourlong weekly classes over a 12-week period. Participants were given advice about dietary behaviour change and regular aerobic exercise in a community setting. Of the participants in the original study, 600 were invited to participate in a follow-up survey either online or on paper. Of the 600 invited, 165 responded, with 154 having complete data for baseline weight, postprogramme weight and follow-up weight. Follow-up weight were recorded at 3years from the start of the programme. The sample consisted of woman aged 40 or above who lived alone, were sedentary, and had a BMI of 24kg/m<sup>2</sup> or higher at baseline.

The long-term effectiveness of a weight-loss intervention, which was part of the Prevention of knee Osteoarthritis in Overweight Females (PROOF) study, a Dutch randomised controlled trial for women aged between 50 and 60, was

evaluated by De Vos et al. (2016). Participants in the intervention group met with a dietitian and discussed their current diet and activity, with goals mutually agreed by the dietician and participant. The first three appointments occurred fortnightly with the remaining sessions planned through mutual agreement with the total meeting time per year being 4 hours. Physiotherapists also led 20 weekly classes which were low-intensity and aimed at finding sporting activities that participants "could enjoy and maintain until after the intervention" (De Vos et al., 2016). The intervention lasted for a total of 2.5 years. At 6.6 years, participants were visited at home by a research assistant and weighed. Of the 407 participants that were randomly assigned, 366 completed the 2.5-year programme and 247 agreed to follow-up at 6.6-years. De Vos et al. (2016) reported outcomes for the intervention group relative to the control group, who were offered no intervention. As the control group weight-change was close to zero at the end of the intervention and at the final follow-up, the outcomes reported in De Vos et al. (2016) were still included in the meta-analyses.

Rolland et al. (2014) performed a retrospective analysis on participants of LighterLife Total, a UK-based commercial weight-management programme, who had weights available at baseline and at least 12-months. The programme was designed for individuals with BMIs of 30kg/m<sup>2</sup> and higher. The programme comprised of a three-pronged approached using a VLCD, group support and behavioural therapy. The aim of the study was to help participants achieve weight-loss and to enable participants to improve their weight-management ability. Following the initial weight-loss phase, which lasted for a mean of 20 weeks, participants attend weekly group meetings to encourage improved weight-management behaviour. Participants were allowed to re-enter the weight-loss phase when it suited them. Weight measurements were recorded weekly in group sessions with 580 of the initial 5965 participants having a weight recorded 3-years after the end of their initial weight-loss phase.

Two programmes from the Look Action for Health in Diabetes (AHEAD) study were included in the meta-analyses, with outcomes at different time-points being reported by the Look AHEAD Research Group (2014) and Wadden et al. (2011). The participants, who were from United States, were between 45 and 76 years of age, were overweight and had type 2 diabetes, were randomised into either an intensive lifestyle intervention of a diabetes support and education group. The six months of the intensive lifestyle intervention was delivered in the form of three group meetings and one one-to-one meeting per month with a healthcare professional (dieticians, psychologists and exercise specialists). For the next 6 months, participants attended two group sessions and one one-to-one meeting per month. Participants were prescribed dietary guidelines, meal plans and meal replacements for the first 4-months with the guidelines being less strict from months 5-12. Physical activity was prescribed with those achieving the recommended amount being prescribed more. Participants were encouraged to record food intake and physical activity.

From years 2-8, Look AHEAD targeted weight-loss maintenance and helping those who did not lose weight initially with their weight-loss goals. In years 2-4, participants had an individual meeting and a telephone or email discussion each month. In years 5-8 the participants were only provided with the individual monthly on site meeting. Participants were also offered monthly group meetings in years 2-8. The group sessions consisted of being weighed and discussing diet, physical activity and lifestyle change. The dietary support and education group consisted of three meetings per year, for the first 4 years, in which participants discussed diet, physical activity and social support. The healthcare professionals that ran the sessions provided information regarding diet and physical activity but did not prescribe specific behavioural strategies to help participants adhere to the recommendations. In years 5-8, participants met once yearly. Any participants in the group who was interested in greater support was referred to their primary care doctor. A total of 5,145 individuals were randomised into the study with 4,585 of these providing outcomes 8 years after randomisation.

Kuller et al. (2012) evaluated the Women on the Move through Activity and Nutrition (WOMAN) study in which participants from the United States were randomised to either a lifestyle change or health education group. Both of these programmes focused on behavioural change and so were included in the meta-analyses. Eligible participants were between the ages of 52 and 62 with a BMI of between 25kg/m<sup>2</sup> and 39.9kg/m<sup>2</sup> amongst other criteria. The health education group were provided with six educational seminars in the first year of the intervention and several times per year over the next 36 months. The lifestyle change intervention was a group-based programme delivered by a team comprised of nutritionists, exercise physiologists, and psychologists. The first year of the programme consisted of 40 visits to the clinic with monthly visits thereafter. Because of a lack of funding, the lifestyle change programme ended approximately 36-months after baseline with therefore "little to no intervention" being provided between 36-months and 48-months (Kuller et al., 2012). Physical activity was introduced after 6-months with participants being set targets to achieve in their own time. Of the 508 participants that were randomised, 456 completed the 48-month evaluation.

The Treatment of Underserved Rural Settings (TOURS) study was evaluated by Millsom et al. (2011). The study took place in the United States over the course of six months in which participants attended 24 weekly group sessions, delivered by a professional in family and consumer sciences, nutrition, psychology, exercise science, or another related field. The study focused on improving behavioural skills of participants such as goal setting and reinforcement. Dietary and physical activity goals were set by participants with the aim of weight-loss and were encouraged to log their caloric intake and physical activity. After the completion of the six-month programme, participants were randomised to one of face-to-face counselling, telephone counselling, or mail-only contact as an extended care programme for the next year. Face-toface counselling consisted of two monthly group meetings, telephone counselling involved 2 monthly phone calls whilst those in the mail-only contact group were sent two weight-management newsletters each month. Participants were then followed up 2.5 years later – 4 years after baseline. A total of 234 participants were recruited for the TOURS study with 220 completing the 18month extended-care phase and 110 responding the final follow-up.

Christiansen et al. (2007) evaluated a retrospective follow-up for participants of a Danish private health resort for weight-loss. The programme consisted of an intensive lifestyle modification programme which participants attended for a mean of 21 weeks, with participants living onsite. Participants were treated by a group of supervisors including dieticians, physical therapists and a psychologist. Participants were provided a low-calorie diet, group-based physical activity sessions, health education and behavioural techniques. Participants who attended for a minimum of 8 weeks of treatment were contacted at 3 and 4 years. Three cohorts of individuals with severe obesity were followed-up – a 2-year follow-up, a 3-year follow-up and a 4-year followup. Only the 3-year and 4-year cohorts were included in this review, which consisted of 196 and 161 individuals respectively. Of the 196 and 161 individuals, 123 and 99 met all inclusion criteria and had complete data available. Follow-up data was recorded using a postal survey followed by a telephone interview.

Van Strien et al. (2007) analysed the effect of a weight-management intervention on a prospective cohort of Dutch individuals with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes across 33 general practices. All participants received a referral to a dietician after diagnosis and were provided with individually tailored advice regarding dieting. Participants attended a total of 2 appointments with the dietician. Participants were weighed within the practice 8-weeks from their diagnosis date, and then again 4-years from diagnoses. Eighteen of the 97 participants were not weighed at 8-weeks but all 97 individuals were weighed at 4-years.

Lantz et al. (2003) reviewed the outcomes of a Swedish trial where participants were randomised to a 2-year programme either with or without an initial VLCD. Those in the VLCD group were provided with a meal replacement milkshake during the VLCD phase and then reintroduced to a conventional low-calorie diet after 12-weeks. Participants in the non-VLCD group began the programme with a conventional low-calorie diet. Participants met a dietician every 6 months for individual guidance. Programme attendees also met with a nurse or dietician in in weeks 1, 2, 4, 6, 8 and then every 4 weeks thereafter for support and additional information about nutrition, behavioural strategies for weight-management, and improving physical activity. Individuals randomised to the VLCD group began this phase after 12-weeks. Participants were also offered group cooking classes as well as groups for swimming and physical training.

After the initial 24-month weight-loss phase in Lantz et al. (2003), participants were offered a support programme for a further 2-years. Participants were weighed at 24-months, 48-months and 96-months. Eighty-seven of the initial 113 individuals who began the programme completed measurements at 24-months. Fifty-five of these completed measurements at 48-months. A total of 96 individuals were measured at the final follow-up (a mean of 87.5 months).

Table 40 shows a summary of the 13 BWMs. All programmes offered lifestyle guidance and behavioural support. Eight of the 13 programmes offered physical activity sessions, whilst 3 used a VLCD as the basis for weight-loss.

178

Nine of the 13 programmes offered an extended maintenance period whilst 10 of the 13 programmes followed-up individuals after they left the programme. The programmes that did not follow-up participants after they left the programme reported weight-change at the end of the maintenance phase.

Table 40: A	Summary	/ of the	Included	BWMs
-------------	---------	----------	----------	------

Intervention	Weight Loss Phase Length (months)	Programme Length (months)	Last Follow-up from Weight-Loss Phase End (months)	Activity Programme	VLCD Included	Maintenance Phase Included	Participants Followed-up After Leaving
Gillis-Januszewska et al. (2017)	12	12	24	Yes	No	No	Yes
Seguin et al. (2017)	3	3	33	Yes	No	No	Yes
De Vos et al. (2016)	6	30	74	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Rolland et al. (2014)	4.6*	40.6	36	No	Yes	Yes	No
Look AHEAD (2014)/ Wadden et al. (2011, Lifestyle Intervention)	12	96	84	Yes	No	Yes	No
Look AHEAD (2014)/ Wadden et al. (2011, Support and Education)	12	96	84	No	No	Yes	No
Kuller et al. (2012, Lifestyle Group)	6	30	42	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Kuller et al. (2012, Education Group)	6	30	42	No	No	Yes	Yes
Milsom et al. (2011)	6	18	42	No	No	Yes	Yes
Christiansen et al. (2007)**	4.83	4.83	37.17	Yes	No	No	Yes
Van Strien et al. (2007)	1.84	1.84	46.16	No	No	No	Yes
Lantz et al. (2003, VLCD)	24	48	72	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Lantz et al. (2003, Non-VLCD)	24	48	72	No	No	Yes	Yes

\*Rolland et al. (2014) did not have a fixed weight-loss phase and reported the mean initial weight-loss phase length \*\*The figure for follow-up time are taken from a mean of the 36 and 48-month follow-ups from the two cohorts in Christiansen et al. (2007)
Across the 13 programmes, there were a wide range of methods employed by programme providers for weight-management, the duration of the weight-loss phases, weight-loss maintenance support, and the time from baseline to the final follow-up. Table 41, below, shows a summary of the length of the weight-loss phases, the full programme length including any maintenance phase, and the length of time between the end of the weight-loss phase to the final follow-up. The mean weight-loss phase lasted for just over nine months whilst the mean final follow-up weight-change recorded in each programme was just under 4 and a half years from the completion of the weight-loss phase.

Variable	Mean	Min	Max
Weight-Loss Phase (months)	9.41	1.84	24
Programme Length (months)	35.25	1.84	96
Final Follow-up from Weight-Loss Phase End (months)	52.95	24	84

Table 41: A Summary of the Time Periods in the Programmes (months)

## 7.3.3 Study Population

Across the 13 programmes, a total of 12,769 participants were included and measured at the end of the weight-loss phase. At the final follow-up, outcomes for 6,254 were available, which represented 49% of the population who were measured at the end of the weight-loss phase. The majority of participants were women (78.6%) with 5 of the 13 programmes consisting of women exclusively. The mean baseline bodyweight across the programmes was 99.1kg with the range of mean starting body weight across the programmes being 81.5kg to 142kg. The mean age across studies was 52.1 years old, with the youngest sample being 39.6 and the oldest being 60.8 years of age.

# 7.3.4 Weight-Change Outcomes

After reviewing the approaches and populations in each of the weightmanagement programmes, the weight-change outcomes of each programme were assessed. The summary of weight change in Table 42 shows a large range of weight change at programme completion and weight change after the programme end.

Intervention	Weight Change at Weight Loss Phase Completion (kg)	Weight Change from Baseline to Programme Completion (kg)	Weight Change from Baseline to Final Follow-up (kg)	Weight Change from Weight Loss Phase Completion to Follow-up (kg)
Gillis- Januszweska et al. (2017)	-2.27	-2.27	-1.14	1.13
Seguin et al. (2017)	-1.32	-1.32	-5.02	-3.70
De Vos et al. (2016)	-2.18	-1.78	-0.95	1.23
Rolland et al. (2014)	-25.70	-12.90	-12.90	12.80
Look AHEAD (2014)/ Wadden et al. (2011, Lifestyle Intervention)	-8.57	-4.28	-4.28	4.29
Look AHEAD (2014)/ Wadden et al. (2011, Support and Education)	-0.59	-2.05	-2.05	-1.46
Kuller et al. (2012, Lifestyle Group)	-7.80	-5.70	-3.40	4.40
Kuller et al. (2012, Education	-1.20	-0.40	-0.20	1.00
Milsom et al. (2011)	-9.88	1.73	4.10	13.98
Christiansen et al. (2007)	-21.71	-21.71	-8.15	13.56
Van Strien et al. (2007)	-2.94	-2.94	0.04	2.98
Lantz et al. (2003, VLCD)	-9.20	-9.20	-0.46	8.74
Lantz et al. (2003, Non- VLCD)	-6.30	-6.30	-0.46	5.84

Table 42:	Weight-0	Change in	Each	Programme
-----------	----------	-----------	------	-----------

The study with the largest weight loss at the final follow-up was Rolland (2014), with participants maintaining 12.9kg of this weight-loss. The participants in

Milsom (2011) had the least successful weight-change with the mean weight gain being 4.1kg between baseline and the final follow-up.

Only two programmes saw continued weight loss following the weight-loss phase – Seguin et al. (2017) and the Look AHEAD (2014) support and education group. Overall, from the 13 programmes listed in Table 42, all 13 reported weight-loss at the end of the weight-loss phase. The individuals in 11 of the 13 programmes maintained at least some weight-loss on average compared with baseline. This pattern is illustrated in Figure 21, which shows the mean weight trajectory for the participants of each of the 13 programmes. Generally, participants reach their maximum weight-loss at the first observation, with weight then gradually being regained over time.



Figure 21: Mean Weight Trajectories from Baseline for Each Programme

Table 43 shows a summary of weight change in each time period for each of the programmes. The greatest mean weight-loss is at the end of the weight-loss phase with participants losing 7.7kg on average. The participants on average then regain 5kg of this weight-loss between the end of the weight-loss phase and the final follow-up, leaving them with a bodyweight 2.7kg lower than baseline. The greatest standard deviation is at the end of the weight-loss phase with the smallest being on the weight-change between baseline and the final follow-up.

Weight Change Period	Mean	Min	Мах
Weight Change at Weight Loss Phase Completion (kg)	-7.67 (7.89)	-25.70	-0.59
Weight Change at Programme Completion (kg)	-5.32 (6.27)	-21.71	1.73
Weight Change from Baseline to Final Follow-up (kg)	-2.68 (4.26)	-12.90	4.10
Weight Change between the Weight-Loss Phase and the Final Follow-up (kg)	4.98 (5.75)	-3.70	13.98

 Table 43: A Summary of Weight Change in the Programmes

Standard deviations in parentheses

The greatest standard deviation on the mean results across the 13 programmes was around the weight-change at the end of the weight-loss phase, which could be because those in the programmes that lose the most weight in the short-term regain more weight which leads to a smaller range of weight-change at later observations.

The results here have illustrated the substantial heterogeneity between the outcomes of the BWMs, with a large range of weight-change being shown between the 13 programmes at the end of the weight-loss phase, and following the weight-loss phase. This heterogeneity was explored in meta-regression analysis in the next section.

#### 7.4 Meta-Regression Analysis

The purpose of meta-analysis is to combine data from a number of studies to estimate an overall effect size. Meta-regression analysis was chosen as the most appropriate method of combining the studies in this review to make predictions about weight trajectories. The first reason for this choice is that individual patient level data was not available and meta-regression analysis is able to analyse data at a study level. The second reason is that metaregression analysis is able to give a weighting to different studies based on sample size and the variance in results, which effect the estimate of overall effect. Meta-regressions can also be used establish relationships between weight change outcomes and both programme and participant characteristics. These relationships can then be used to make predictions of weighttrajectories based on the impact of programme and participant characteristics. Guidance for the meta-regression analysis was taken from Harbord and Higgins (2008).

Amongst the 11 programmes included in this review, there exists substantial heterogeneity. To explain this heterogeneity, meta-regressions were performed to identify the key predictors of weight change in the programmes and therefore, identify the cause of the heterogeneity in weight outcomes. The analysis was run in STATA 13.1 (StataCorp, 2013).

## 7.4.1 Meta-Regression Analyses Methodology

The first stage of the meta-regression analyses was to investigate the heterogeneity in weight-loss outcomes. The initial meta-regression predicted weight-change in the initial weight-loss phase from each programme using various programme and participant characteristics as explanatory variables. The meta-regression equation is shown in Equation 35 where W is weight, A represents mean age at baseline, G represents the percentage of females in the study,  $W_0$  is start weight, and pl is the length of the weight loss phase of the intervention. Two binary variables, pa and V, were included for whether the programme included a physical activity programme or a VLCD respectively. These variables were chosen as they were identified as potential influencers of weight-change that were reported in each of the 13 programmes. The age, gender and start-weight of the individuals were all assumed to have an influence on each individual's desire and ability to lose weight, whilst the

characteristics of the programme were assumed to affect how much weight participants lost.

Separate observations were used for females and males in the programmes from Wadden et al. (2011)/Look AHEAD (2014), Van Strien et al. (2007) and Lantz et al. (2003). Also, as Christian et al. (2007) reported the outcomes for the 3-year cohort and 4-year cohort separately, and so the two cohorts were used as separate observations too. Therefore, there were a total of 19 observations recorded across the 13 programmes at the end of the weight-loss phase.

Equation 35

$$\Delta W = \beta_0 + \beta_1 A + \beta_2 G + \beta_3 W_0 + \beta_4 p l + \beta_5 p a + \beta_6 V + \varepsilon$$

Before running multi-variate regressions, univariate regressions were run with weight loss in the weight-loss phase as the dependent variable, using the explanatory variables in Equation 35 as the predictors of weight-loss. These univariate regressions were run to identify the relationship between each included variable and weight-loss. Baseline weight was used as a control variable as weight-loss independent of start weight was of more interest as those who weigh more may lose weight more easily due to higher metabolic rates that come with a greater body mass.

Multivariate meta-regression analysis was then performed, with the aim of gaining information regarding the factors that influence weight-loss within the weight-loss phases and how much weight individuals are predicted to lose within weight-loss phases. The outcomes were presented as weighted mean values of weight change in kilograms, as were parameter estimates.

The second stage of the meta-regression analyses included all observations of weight-change from baseline that were recorded after the end of the weightloss phase. In total, 41 observations were recorded across the 13 programmes. For the second stage, additional variables were added to the meta-regression equation from the first stage, shown in Equation 36. The first variable added was the initial weight-loss in the weight-loss phase,  $\Delta W_0$ . The second was the intervention length, *il*, which states the full length of time participants were engaged with the programme, including any extended maintenance phases. A binary variable, M, was included to denote whether the observation was taken during a maintenance phase. Again, all three variables were assumed to influence weight-change as they affect either individual ability or the characteristics of the programme. As all observations were taken during either a maintenance phase or at follow-up, no term for follow-up was included. The final variable in the equation indicates the number of months after the weightloss the observation was recorded at. Again, univariate regressions were run before the multi-variate analysis, with start weight, the time from the end of the weight-loss phase, and the weight-loss within the programme being used as control variables. The time from the end of the weight-loss phase was included as there was a large range in the time of follow-up, and impact of time to follow-up was not the interest of univariate regressions. Weight-loss within the programme was used as a control variable to focus the univariate regression results on the impact of explanatory variables on weight-change following the programme independent of how much weight was lost in the programme. A Monte Carlo permutation test was also used to predict adjusted p-values with 10,000 permutations.

Equation 36

$$\Delta W = \beta_0 + \beta_1 A + \beta_2 G + \beta_3 W_0 + \beta_4 p l + \beta_5 p a + \beta_6 V + \beta_7 \Delta W_0 + \beta_8 i l + \beta_9 M + \beta_{10} T + \varepsilon$$

The assumption of linearity was reviewed for the relationship between the time in the weight-loss phase and weight-loss. In the Slimming World data, the majority of weight-loss occurred initially, with weight-loss slowing down each month. This is intuitive as individuals tend to lose the most weight early on in interventions due to a greater motivation to lose weight, as they are furthest from their ideal weight (Ruhm, 2012). However, this motivation is reduced over time as self-control is depleted and weight-loss slows down, as discussed in the habits and self-control theoretical framework in Chapter 3 (Dragone, 2009; Djawadi, 2014). In order to capture this non-linear relationship, the models included quadratic terms (Alexopoulous, 2010). Without using a quadratic term, the coefficient would have to be interpreted as if each additional month provided an identical effect on weight-change, which is inaccurate.

The assumption of linearity was also reviewed for the relationship between time from the end of the weight-loss phase and weight-loss. This was due to the hypothesis that most regain occurs in the first month after leaving the programme, with each additional month having a decreasing rate of regain. This pattern was also shown to be prevalent in the literature (Ross et al., 2018). One reason for this pattern is that when individuals diet, their metabolisms slow down, and therefore, if individuals return to their preintervention habits, they will gain weight quickly, with the weight-gain slowing over time as the metabolism returns to normal (Blomain et al., 2013).

When plotting the relationship between the two variables, the assumption of linearity for regression did not hold. This was because the relationship between the time variables and weight-change was non-linear, as shown in Figure 22 below, with the effect decreasing with time.





Using a quadratic term was judged to be the best option as the metaregression model could remain linear, which would be beneficial as other relationships in the multivariate model had linear relationships with the dependant. As well as this, a linear model enabled easily interpreted results for estimating the relationships between the independent variables and the dependent when compared with the use of non-parametric regression models (Whitley and Ball, 2002). As well as this, the dependant variable could remain as a continuous variable and predictions of weight-loss could be made using the model, which wouldn't be possible with a logistic regression (Sperandei, 2014).

A quadratic term was used rather than a cubic term as there was only one curve in each relationship, and introducing cubic terms hampered the fit of the model, as quadratic terms were found to provide the best fit.

After identifying the influencers of weight-loss and weight-loss maintenance, the aim of the final meta-regression was to establish a pattern of weight-loss trajectory following the end of the weight-loss phase. This meta-regression used all observations recorded – both at the end of the weight-loss phase and at follow-up time points. The aim of this stage was use the observations of weight change alongside the predictors of weight change in order to predict weight-change at each time point across all individuals. After running the metaregression, weight-change was predicted and plotted against the time from the end of the weight-loss phase to illustrate the pattern of weight-regain following the end of a weight-loss programme.

## 7.4.2 Meta-Regression Analyses Results

The univariate meta-regressions predicting weight-loss in the weight-loss phase, shown in Table 44, were performed using baseline weight as a control variable. The regressions found that age and the weight-loss phase being longer predicted less weight-loss. As the length of the weight-loss phase had a non-linear relationship with weight-loss, a squared term for weight-loss phase length was also included with the weight-loss phase variable, and vice-versa. This variable predicted that the impact of each additional month of the weightloss programme reduced weight-loss by 0.005kg. Being female, having a greater starting weight, the programme including physical activity sessions, and the programme using a VLCD predicted more weight-loss within the weight-loss phase. Age and start weight had significant effects on weight-loss at the 5% level.

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Age (years)	0.748*	2.46
Female (%)	-4.809	-1.32
Start Weight (kg)	-0.253**	-3.33
Weight-Loss Phase Length (months)	0.549	0.68
Weight-Loss Phase Length Squared (months)	-0.00586	-0.20
Physical Activity Programme	-2.154	-0.70
VLCD	-7.412	-1.91

Table 44: Univariate Meta-Regressions on Weight-Loss in the Weight-Loss Phase

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

Two multivariate meta-regression models were run, with the results shown in Table 45. The first model used Equation 35, as well as the squared term for weight-loss phase length, and predicted a weighted mean weight-change of -7.92kg (7.07kg standard deviation) was predicted. The multivariate metaregression found that only the programme including a VLCD programme predicted more weight-loss at the 5% level (p=0.03). Overall, the variables explained 70.72% of the between study variance. The joint test for all covariates gave a p-value of 0.0027, which implies there is evidence to suggest the covariates are significant predictors of weight-change. The model also produced an I<sup>2</sup> statistic of 99.15%, which implies significant heterogeneity, and that meta-regression was an appropriate method of analysis.

The second model did not include programmes that used a VLCD programme, due to the question of whether VLCD programmes are comparable with non-VLCD programmes. This meant 3 observations were removed from analysis – Rolland et al. (2014), and the two VLCD observations from Lantz et al. (2003). Without VLCD programmes included, 69.62% of variance was explained by the model, which predicted a weight-loss of 6.52kg (6.08 standard deviation), with no variables being significant at the 5% level. The joint test of covariates here produced a p-value of 0.0073, which again suggests the covariates are significant predictors of weight-change, even without the VLCD programmes included. The l<sup>2</sup> statistic again revealed a large amount of variance attributable to residual heterogeneity with a value of 99.29%.

Variable	Coefficient (full	t-	Coefficient	t-
	model)	statistic	(no-vcld)	statistic
		(full		(no-
		model)		vlcd)
Age	0.501	1.44	0.225	0.66
Female	-0.457	-0.15	-2.279	-0.79
Start Weight	-0.154	-1.20	-0.223	-1.85
Weight-Loss Phase Length	-0.311	-0.47	0.0444	0.07
Weight-Loss Phase Length	0.0303	1.22	0.00885	0.36
Squared				
Physical Activity	-1.130	-0.46	-2.208	-0.99
Programme				
VLCD	-9.485*	-2.53	-	-
Constant	-18.48	-0.60	4.766	0.16
Ν	19		16	

Table 45: Multivariate Meta-Regression Models Predicting Weight-Loss in the Weight-Loss Phase

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

After finding both models were predictive in multivariate analysis, model checking was performed for the full model as it was a better predictive model. The first step was to use a Q-Q plot to check whether any outliers were present in the data, and to check the assumption of normal random effects. Figure 23 shows a close to normal distribution which implies the assumption of normal random effects was met.

Figure 23: Normal Probability Plot of Standardised Predicted Random Effects for the Weight-Loss Phase



Following the analysis of the weight-loss phases, long-term follow-up outcomes were analysed. The second stage of the meta-regression analyses began by performing univariate regression analysis using the variables in Equation 36. Again weight-loss phase length was included as a squared term, as was the length of the full programme including any maintenance phases, and time from weight-loss phase end due to the non-linear relationship with weight-loss.

The results of the univariate meta-regressions are shown in Table 46 with each of the variables being a predictor of weight-change at observations recorded after the end of the weight-loss phase. As mentioned before, start weight, weight-lost in the weight-loss phase, and time from the end of the weight-loss phase were included as control variables, as was weight-loss squared due to the non-linear relationship between with weight-loss. Three variables were significant at the 5% level – initial weight change, with each additional kilogram of weight-loss predicting 0.52kg more weight-loss in the long-term, the full programme length, and whether the programme had a maintenance phase. These two also both predicted more weight-change, which is intuitive as

programme with maintenance phases are generally longer programmes.

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Age	0.165	1.33
Female	1.00528	0.71
Start Weight	0.0178	0.48
Weight-Loss Phase Length	-0.421	-1.34
Weight-Loss Phase Length Squared	0.00965	0.85
Physical Activity Programme	-1.0786	-1.24
VLCD	-3.250	-1.68
Initial Weight-Change	0.525***	7.68
Full Programme Length	-0.112	-1.73
Full Programme Length -Squared	0.000730	1.27
Maintenance Phase	-2.594*	-2.74
Time from Weight-Loss Phase End	0.0549	0.76
Time from Weight-Loss Phase End Squared	-0.000484	-0.63

Table 46: Univariate Meta-Regressions on Weight-Change in Follow-upObservations

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

Following the univariate regressions, multivariate regression analysis was run predicting weight-change at the follow-up observations. Table 47 shows the multivariate meta-regression output for the 41 observations that were recorded across all studies at follow-up time points after the end of the initial weight-loss phases. Because the length of the weight-loss phase, whether the programme included a maintenance phase, and the time from the end of the weight-loss phase were already included in the model, the length of the full programme was removed from analysis due to concerns about potential collinearity.

The covariates included in the meta-regression explained 78.15% of the between-study variance in the outcome variable, weight-change from baseline, represented by an adjusted-R<sup>2</sup> statistic, which is a large proportion of the heterogeneity in outcomes. The I<sup>2</sup> statistic was 95.47%, which again suggested a high level of heterogeneity, whilst the joint covariate test produced a p-value of 0.000. Again, in Table 47 the regression results for the same regression equation without the observations taken from VLCD programmes.

Variable	Coefficient (full model)	t-statistic (full model)	Coefficient (no-VLCD)	t-statistic (no-VLCD)
Age	0.392*	2.49	0.253	1.68
Female	2.266	1.70	1.327	1.06
Start Weight	0.109	1.80	0.0447	0.75
Weight Loss Phase	-0.513	-1.28	-0.368	-1.01
Weight Loss Phase Squared	0.0182	1.22	0.00948	0.69
Physical Activity Programme	-2.128*	-2.44	-3.290**	-3.67
VLCD	-3.513	-1.31		
Initial Weight Loss	0.304**	2.77	0.122	1.03
Maintenance Phase	-1.631	-1.41	-0.788	-0.70
Time from Weight-Loss Phase End	0.0555	0.81	0.0409	0.64
Time from Weight-Loss Phase End Squared	-0.000494	-0.71	-0.000319	-0.50
Constant	-31.49*	-2.42	-17.91	-1.42
Ν	41		36	

Table 47: A Multivariate Meta-Regression on Weight-Change for allObservations Post Weight-Loss Phase

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

A number of variables had a significant impact on long-term weight-change outcomes in the full model. Each additional year of age resulted in 0.39kg less weight-loss from baseline, which is a large magnitude for each year of age. A greater starting weight predicted less weight-loss in the long-term, which is the opposite of the short-term effect where a greater starting weight predicted more weight-loss in the weight-loss phase. This may be due to heavier participants at baseline reverting to old habits in the long-term and regaining more weight-loss than their lighter peers. The programme offering physical activity sessions was also a significant predictor of more weight-loss. This could be due to habit formation and participants continuing to engage in physical activity in the long-term following programme completion.

A greater weight-loss inside the programme predicted significantly greater weight-loss from baseline in the long-term, with each additional kilogram of weight lost within the weight-loss phase predicting an estimated 0.3kg of weight-loss maintained at follow-up. However, this also means that those who lose most weight within the weight-loss phase gain more weight after the completion of the weight-loss phase as each kilogram lost within the weightloss phase predicts less than a kilogram of maintained weight-loss. The programme including a maintenance phase predicted an additional 1.63kg of weight-loss maintenance.

The coefficient signs were identical for every variable in the no-VLCD model, although the coefficient size was smaller for all variables, except the physical activity, programme coefficient, which was larger in the no-VLCD model, predicting an additional 3.3kg of weight-loss compared to the additional 2.1kg predicted by the full model.

After the relationships between participants and programme characteristics, and weight-loss in the short-term, and weight-loss maintenance in the longterm were established, the final piece of meta-analysis was to establish a pattern of weight-regain over time following BWMs.



Figure 24: A Bubble Plot of Weight-Change Observations over Time

Figure 24 shows a bubble plot of observations across all programmes in a random effects meta-regression model predicting weight-change on time from the end of the weight-loss phase. In the bubble plot, the location of each circle

illustrates the weight-change at each observation with the corresponding timepoint the observation was recorded at. The size of each circle is proportional to the weight of the study observation in the meta-regression model. The line represents the predicted values of weight-change for each time-point, with the weight-loss experienced in the weight-loss phase being gradually regained over time.

The final meta-regression used all 60 observations to predict a weighted mean weight-change over time for participants across the 13 programmes. Again squared terms were included for the length of the weight-loss phase and the time from the end of the weight-loss phase. The length of the full programme was also removed from the equation. In the multivariate meta-regression, each additional month following the end of the programme initially predicted an additional 0.2kg of weight-regain, when controlling for all other variables, although this gain depreciated over time as the squared term produced a coefficient of -0.002kg. The regression produced an adjusted R<sup>2</sup> value of 80.04%, an I<sup>2</sup> value of 97.96%, and the joint covariate test had a p-value of 0.000. The full output is shown in Table 48.

Table 48: Meta	Regression	Model Predicting	Weight-Change	including al	I
Observations					

Variable	Coefficient (full model)	t-statistic (full model)
Age	0.323*	2.20
Female	0.817	0.66
Start Weight	0.0328	0.60
Weight Loss Phase	-0.511	-1.71
Weight Loss Phase Squared	0.0196	1.70
Physical Activity Programme	-1.602	-1.85
VLCD	-2.053	-0.93
Initial Weight Loss	0.491***	4.52
Maintenance Phase	-0.679	-0.75
Time from Weight-Loss Phase End	0.199***	4.14
Time from Weight-Loss Phase End Squared	-0.00190**	-3.28
Constant	-21.75	-1.78
Ν	60	

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

Figure 25 illustrates the weight trajectory with weight regain slowing slightly over time. The graph shows participants are predicted to have lost around 7kg at the end of the weight-loss phase, and proceed to regain weight over time at a depreciating rate until weight-regain over the next 7 years. After 2 years, participants are expected to regain just over 2kg of weight-loss, whilst between 48 months and 84 months, there is only around a kilogram of weight-change.

Figure 25: A Graph of Predicted Weight-Change from Baseline against Time from the End of the Weight-Loss Phase



As participants of the Slimming World programme do not engage in a VLCD, there is the question of whether VLCD programmes are comparable to the Slimming World programme. Because the purpose of this piece of work was to gain insight into weight-regain following behavioural weight-management programmes, in order to model weight-change following the Slimming World programme, the multi-variate regression analysis was run without the programmes with a VLCD included – Rolland et al. (2014), and the VLCD arm of Lantz et al. (2003). As the final follow-up observation in Lantz et al. (2003) includes both the VLCD and non-VLCD arm, this observation was still included

in analysis. Therefore, a total of 8 observation were removed from analysis. The regression model used the same equation as the multivariate regression that used all observations, but without using VLCD as an explanatory variable, as VLCD programmes were not included and so the variable was redundant. The full regression output is shown in Appendix 25. The adjusted R<sup>2</sup> value fell to 70.77%, although the joint covariate test still produced a p-value of 0.000. The I<sup>2</sup> statistic was 96.12%. Each additional month from the end of the weightloss phase predicted an additional 0.17kg of weight-gain, but the squared term producing a coefficient value of -0.0016kg, which are both close to the values predicted by the regression model with all 60 observations included.

Figure 26, below, shows the predicted weight-trajectories from the end of the weight-loss phase for both models. Without the VLCD programmes, predicted weight-loss is around 1.5kg less, with weight being regained at a similar rate until around 4 years. At this point, the predicted weight-gain depreciates at a faster rate than the model using all observations predicts, until weight-loss is predicted from year 5 onwards. This is less plausible than the weight-trajectory predicted by the model using all observations, and is likely due to the low number of observations made over 5 years after the end of the weight-loss phases. Because removing VLCD programmes from the regression only made a small difference, and an indicator variable was included in the regression model for whether the observation was from a VLCD programme, the model with all observations was judged to be the better model to use to make predictions regarding weight-regain.



Figure 26: A Graph of Weight-Trajectories from the End of the Weight-Loss Phase using All Observations and without VLCD Programmes

Again, Q-Q plot was used to test whether there was a normal distribution of random effects. Figure 27 shows that the distribution again was close to normal revealing no issues with the meta-regression model.



Figure 27: Normal Probability Plot of Standardised Predicted Random Effects for all Observations

The final piece of analysis was to run the meta-regression without the age variable. The reason for this was that as ages were taken as an average of each study population, the range of ages between the studies was small, and as seen earlier, the coefficient value for each year of age in the meta regression model is large, which means that if an individual who is an extreme – either old or young, the accuracy of predictions will be limited. Table 49 shows the full model, which includes age, against a second model, which does not.

The no-age model had a higher I<sup>2</sup> to the full model, at 97.99%, and also had a p-value of 0.000 for the joint covariate test. The adjusted R<sup>2</sup> value was slightly lower at 78.22% compared with 80.04% in the full model, but this causes little concern regarding the negative effects of removing variables on the predictive ability of the model. The no-age model found that being female predicted more weight-loss than being male, which is the opposite of the prediction made in the full model.

The no-age model also estimated that a greater starting weight predicts greater long-term weight-loss, but only by 0.04kg per kilogram of weight, compared with 0.03kg less weight-loss in the full model. Another impact of removing age was that the impact of the length of the weight-loss phase was lessened, as each additional month predicted 0.21kg more weight loss compared with 0.51kg in the full model, with the squared term also producing a smaller coefficient value. The final notable difference was that when age was not controlled for, VLCD had an increased effect of weight-change.

Variable Coefficient (no-age t-statistic (nomodel) age model) Female -0.478 -0.42 Start Weight -0.0406 -0.90 Weight Loss Phase -0.207 -0.75 Weight Loss Phase Squared 0.00783 0.73 Physical Activity Programme -1.656 -1.84 VLCD -3.316 -1.51 0.553\*\*\* Initial Weight Loss 5.06 Maintenance Phase -0.618 -0.66 Time from Weight-Loss Phase End 0.194\*\*\* 3.88 Time from Weight-Loss Phase End -3.00 Squared -0.00181\*\* Constant 3.405 0.77 Ν 60

Table 49: Meta Regression Models Predicting Weight-Change including allObservations without Age Variable

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

Again, when checking the distribution of random effects for the no-age model, in Figure 28, there was little evidence from the Q-Q plot that the random effects were not normally distributed. Figure 28: Normal Probability Plot of Standardised Predicted Random Effects for all Observations without Age and Gender



#### 7.5 Discussion

This review adds to the current literature. It is the first meta-analysis of longterm outcomes at least 3-years post-baseline following participation in a behavioural weight-management programme. The main finding from the review was that participants regain weight following the end of the weight-loss phase in a non-linear fashion with the rate of weight-regain declining over time, and at least some weight-loss being maintained in the long-term. The review also found that despite maintenance programmes improving long-term weight-loss maintenance, participants in these programmes still regained weight after the initial weight-loss phase.

These results highlight the importance of considering future weight gain when evaluating the effectiveness of any weight-loss or lifestyle change intervention as even for those participants that attend maintenance phases and are engaged with follow-up, the effects are not sustained. The results are promising for policymakers – given that some weight-loss can be maintained in the long-term, even without maintenance programmes.

The meta-regression analysis found that individuals are expected to gain around half a kilogram per year following a behavioural weight-management programme. As a comparison to the general population, Mozaffarian et al. (2011) found a mean weight gain across a sample of over 100,000 individuals in the United States was 0.38kg per year. This is lower than the predicted weight-regain in this study, which is intuitive as weight regain is likely to be greater following a weight-loss programme due to individuals reverting to preintervention habits (Middleton et al., 2013). This trend is further illustrated by the non-linear pattern of weight regain after the weight-loss phase finishes with weight regain slowing over time.

The non-linear pattern of regain is useful for accurately estimating costeffectiveness, as a non-linear pattern will provide a different estimation than if a linear regain is assumed. This is because if participants regain the majority of weight quickly, the health effects will not be as beneficial as if the weight regain is assumed to be linear, as the participants will spend less time with a lower bodyweight. This pattern shows that assuming a linear weight regain to baseline or a fixed annual weight regain is limiting, does not represent real world weight-change trends, and therefore may overestimate health benefits. The strengths of the review are that it brings together a number of programmes from various countries, and combines them to show a trend which is intuitive – weight-management programme participants losing weight in the short-term with weight being regained at a declining rate. The explanatory variables managed to explain a large amount of the between-study variance in metaregression analysis, and a large proportion of the participants were followed up in the long-run in each of the studies. Another strength of the review is that the participants in nine of the 13 programmes followed the same weight trajectory pattern – weight-loss in the short-term and slowly regaining over-time, with some weight-loss being maintained at the final follow-up at least 3-years from baseline. Of the four that did not fit this pattern, two programmes reported participants regaining weight to greater than baseline, with the other two reporting continued weight-loss after the initial weight-loss phase.

There were also some limitations to this review. The first is that 13 programmes is a small number, and therefore limits the statistical power of the analyses, which is a common problem with meta-analysis. As well as this, there was substantial variance between the studies in review, which makes drawing conclusions from the meta-regression analysis more uncertain. For example, some programmes were more intensive than others, but this was unobserved in the meta-regressions. Also, the retention rates by programmes in both the short-term and long-term varied between studies which can introduce selection bias. This is because those who responded to follow-up, and those who attended continued attending through maintenance phases, may have been more engaged with the programmes and therefore lost more weight or maintained more weight loss in the long-term. However, around half the participants that were attending at the end of the weight-loss phase had outcomes recorded at least 3-years from baseline which is a substantial proportion. Also, it may have been the case that those who did not respond had joined alternative programmes or continued managing their weight successfully without the help of a programme. The programme outcomes still illustrate what is possible from participants engaged with BWMs.

With the meta-regression analyses showing that some weight loss is maintained in the long-run for those who responded to follow-up, it is encouraging to both policymakers, and those wanting to lose weight, that lifestyle interventions can have lasting impacts on bodyweight and therefore health. For this thesis, this chapter has helped to describe the pattern of weight trajectories following the weight-loss phase which can be used to guide assumptions about weight-regain made in cost-effectiveness modelling where long-term outcomes are unknown.

In the cost-effectiveness model, after participants of the Slimming World programme have completed the initial intervention phase, the meta-regression model created in this chapter will be used to make individual level predictions of weight-change. By using this technique, projections of long-term weightchange will be more accurate as evidence from the literature will have been used to inform projections, rather than making general assumptions. Sensitivity and scenario analysis will be performed on the parameters in the regression model, as well as the method of implementing the regression model, in order to gain an understanding of the effect of changing assumptions on estimations of cost-effectiveness.

# Chapter 8: Projections of Weight-Change Outside of the Slimming World Programme: Evidence from the ELSA Dataset and a Slimming World Follow-up Study

## 8.1 Introduction

The previous chapters explored the assumptions on long-term weighttrajectories following BMW programmes in economic modelling, and investigated evidence regarding weight-regain following behavioural weightmanagement programmes. Chapter 9 will utilise the Slimming World dataset and information found in previous chapters to predict long-term weighttrajectories for the Slimming World members, and test the assumptions made in other economic evaluations regarding long-term weight-change. However, to build these long-term weight-trajectories, two other sources of information were used: the ELSA, which was used to inform a background weight trajectory, and a follow-up study performed by Slimming World, which was used to inform the weight-trajectories of drop-outs. This enables a more informed and complete picture of weight-trajectories over a lifetime.

The purpose of cost-effectiveness modelling is to identify the impact of providing an intervention, considering both the effects and costs in the long-term. However, without information about what would happen to patients if the intervention was not provided, the findings regarding disease outcomes in the intervention group would be meaningless. To assess the impact of the intervention, outcomes must be compared to an alternative scenario in which no intervention, or a usual level of care, was provided. In randomised controlled trials, participants are randomised into either an intervention group or a control group, and the outcomes of each group are compared at the end of the intervention period in order to ascertain the effect of administering the intervention against the outcomes of the control group.

As well as using the ELSA dataset to create a background weight-trajectory for individuals in the intervention group, the background trajectory was applied to the control group. A cohort of individuals was created with identical baseline characteristics as the Slimming World cohort was created and applied weighttrajectories according to the trajectories seen in the general English population. The creation of an artificial control group enables a comparison between the two groups to identify the difference between the outcomes of the intervention group and what would have happened to a similar group of patients if they had not received any intervention.

As well as assessing the ELSA dataset to understand background weighttrajectories in the United Kingdom, this chapter seeks to understand weightchange trends for participants who leave the Slimming World programme. A problem with assessing behavioural weight-management programmes is that they are generally unable to observe weight-change for individuals who leave the programmes. By analysing a follow-up study Slimming World performed on their own members, this chapter seeks to identify weight-change patterns following attending the Slimming World programme, and use regression models to predict weight-change for individuals who leave the programme in costeffective modelling.

The Slimming World follow-up study was undertaken with the aim of measuring the body weights of a small sample of members who joined the Slimming World programme around 3 years prior. The follow-up study therefore provides valuable insight into the potential weight trajectories of Slimming World members after they leave the programme.

This chapter will describe the details of both the ELSA and the follow-up study, and the methods used to create a background weight-trajectories and weightchange between leaving the Slimming World programme and follow-up. The baseline data for the respondents will then be presented, as well as outcome data collected at attendances and at follow-up. Following this, the data will be analysed using regression techniques to review the different weight outcomes according to individual characteristics, and make predictions regarding followup weight-change. By analysing these two datasets, patterns of weight-change of outside of the Slimming World programme, and the meta-regression of longterm weight-change in Chapter 6, will be identified, for use in costeffectiveness modelling. This chapter therefore aims to fill gaps in knowledge by answering the questions:

- 1) What is the weight-trajectory for people in England who do not receive an intervention?
- 2) What is the weight-trajectory of people who leave a behavioural weightmanagement programme?

#### 8.2 Methods

#### 8.2.1 The English Longitudinal Study of Ageing

The English Longitudinal Study of Ageing is a study of a number of cohorts of people from England aged 50 or older at the first assessment (ELSA, 2019). The members in the sample were taken from respondents to the HSE and are therefore representative of a general English population. Three cohorts were included initially – a cohort taken from the 1998 HSE, a 1999 HSE cohort and a 2001 HSE cohort.

The information recorded in the HSE for the three cohorts were included in the ELSA data and labelled as 'wave 0' data, and used as the baseline data for all participants. Following 'wave 0', 'wave 1' interviews took place in 2002 for all participants. The participants were interviewed every 2 years after wave 1, with 9 waves in total as of March 2019. The interviews included nurse visits in waves 2, 4, 6 and 8. Participant body-weight was measured by nurses in waves 2, 4 and 6. In wave 8, weight measurements were carried out by the interviewers. New participants were introduced in waves 3, 4, 6, 7 and 9 to maintain an appropriate sample size, although only participants that joined in wave 0 were included in this analysis. This was so each participant would have a similar timeframe for their weight-trajectory, and so data recorded for the baseline variables in the HSE was in an identical format for each member of the sample.

ELSA was chosen as appropriate data source for background weight trajectory for a number of reasons. Firstly, as the ELSA was a longitudinal study, the same participants were being tracked over time which eliminates any potential discrepancies between the samples each year that may be present in crosssectional data. By using longitudinal data, there is less uncertainty regarding weight-change over time and the weight-change can more easily be attributed to societal trends and the aging process. The second reason was that weights were measured by nurses and so were assumed to be accurate and not subject to any biases that are common with self-reported weights (Robinson and Oldham, 2016). The third reason was that the ELSA participants are aged 50 and above, and as they are recruited from the HSE, weight measurements have the potential to be available from ELSA participants at age 45, which is appropriate for the Slimming World cohort as the mean age in the cohort is in the 40s.

#### 8.2.2.1 The ELSA Dataset

A total of 18,434 individuals were involved in wave 0 of the ELSA, with 11,205 of these individuals being core sample members that included in follow-up. Of these, 796 members did not have a weight recorded at baseline and so were removed from analysis as weight-change was recorded against weight at baseline. This left a total of 10,409 individuals from the ELSA that were included in the data analysis. This sample of individuals was compared with the Slimming World dataset, but it was decided to not match the two samples. This decision was made as a sample based on all available data in the ELSA dataset is only followed up for 4 separate weight-measurements, with the mean time from baseline to the final measurement being 16.9 years. As weight-trajectories are required for a lifetime time-horizon, and these trajectories carry a large amount of uncertainty, it was decided that using all available data from the population of individuals in the ELSA dataset was most appropriate.

The majority of variables were taken at baseline from HSE data, with weight and age being recorded at waves 2, 4, 6 and 8. Table 50 shows each of the baseline variables in the dataset, with a note of the prevalence of missing data for each of the variables. Apart from household income, over 97% of sample members had data for all variables at baseline.

Variable	Missing Number	Missing Percentage (%)
Gender	0	0.00
Age	25	0.24
Weight	0	0.00
BMI	288	2.77
Top Qualification	1	0.01
Employed/Self- Employed	210	2.02
Equivalent Household Income	1,419	13.63

#### Table 50: Missing Data at Baseline

Married and Living with Partner	3	0.03
Number of Children Living at Home	0	0.00
Self-Assessed Health	2	0.02

Table 51 shows a summary of the age, weight and BMI for core members from wave 0. Participants were on average 62.39 years old, which is greater than the mean age of the Slimming World cohort, as the purpose of the analysis is to build future weight trajectories as the individuals in the Slimming World cohort age. The minimum age was 45, as even though the minimum age to be included in the ELSA data was 50, some participants were younger when they were first included in HSE data, with a total of 914 (8.8%) of the ELSA participants were under 50 at baseline. The maximum age recorded by ELSA was age 90. Participants were 75.75kg on average, which corresponded to a BMI of 27.59kg/m<sup>2</sup> – which is classed as overweight. In the sample, 70.3% of respondents had a BMI of over 25kg/m<sup>2</sup> at baseline. A total of 2,566 (25.4%) participants had a BMI of 30kg/m<sup>2</sup> or higher at baseline.

Variable	Observations	Mean	Standard Deviation	Minimum	Maximum
Age (years)	10384	62.17	10.13	45	90
Weight (kg)	10409	75.75	15.03	33.00	162.10
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	10121	27.59	4.57	14.81	55.98

Table 51: A Summary of Key Variables at Baseline

In the sample, 5,688 (54.7%) core members were female. At baseline, 7,090 (68.13%) core sample members were married and living with partners. Sevenhundred and thirty seven (7.1%) of core members were living with at least one child between the ages of two and 15 at baseline.

Half of members (50.1%) had earnings from employment or self-employment at baseline. Mean equalised household income amongst the 8,990 members who had data available was £20,488.54 per annum. Table 52 shows a summary of the highest qualifications obtained by individuals in the sample. Over half of members had some form of qualification with over 20% having some form of higher education.

Top Qualification	Number	Percentage (%)
No Qualifications	4,551	43.7
Foreign/Other	840	8.1
Certificate of Secondary Education equivalent	500	4.8
O-Level equivalent	1,649	15.8
A-Level equivalent	601	5.8
Higher Education below Degree	1,140	11.0
Degree or equivalent	1,127	10.8

Table 52: Frequencies of Top Qualification Achieved

Participants at baseline were asked to rate their general health on a scale of very bad to very good. Table 53, below, shows the distribution of responses. Over a quarter of members reported being in 'very good' health at baseline whilst under 10% considered themselves to be in either bad or very bad health.

General Health Response	Number	Percentage (%)
Very Good	2,944	28.3
Good	4,066	39.7
Fair	2,525	24.3
Bad	693	6.7
Very Bad	179	1.7

Table 53: The Self-Assessed General Health of Respondents

## 8.2.2.2 Analysis of the ELSA Dataset

Before reviewing any weight outcome data, any potential outliers for weight measurements after baseline were identified. To ensure obvious errors were removed, participants who had either greater than a 50% decrease in weight or a 100% increase in weight were set to missing. As a result, a total of four weight observations across the five waves were set to missing.

As not all weight data at each wave were collected at the same time, the times between each wave measurement for each person were created by subtracting each participants age at wave 0 by the age of each participant at subsequent waves. These times were rounded to the nearest year as age was recorded as age at last birthday. A further issue with ELSA is that the age of the participant is not recorded after the age of 90. Therefore, in the data analysis, individuals who were above 90 had missing data for age. Because of the time between weight measurements was recorded as the difference in age between the two measurements, the time of measurement was also missing from the dataset.

The first step of regression analysis was to perform univariate regressions on weight-change, controlling for baseline weight, time and time-squared, which was included due to the non-linear relationship between weight-change and time. This was to identify the influence of each explanatory variable in turn, whilst holding these variables constant. Following univariate analysis, a multivariate regression model was built to predict weight-change for the full sample.

As the purpose of this modelling was to create a background weight-trajectory to be used by those retrospectively assessing weight-management programmes, and not all these variables may be available, a more practical model was created to make predictions about long-term weight-trajectories. This model was built using only readily available variables that BWMs would routinely collect.

Rather than using time from baseline as a predictor of weight-change, the participants' age at the weight observation was used as a predictor instead. This was in order to distinguish between the varying weight-trajectories between different ages, as time does not account for varying weight-change patterns at different ages. As well as this, the longest time period between any two weight observations for a single individual was 22 years. As models will often analyse a period of time longer than 22 years, using baseline age and age at the weight observation is more useful.

#### 8.2.2.3 Creating a Background Weight-Trajectory for the Slimming World Cohort

As the Slimming World dataset also had information about the income and education levels of members, these variables were included in the basic model, as additional variables. Income and education levels were chosen to be included in the model as they are included in projections of weight-loss within the Slimming World programme.

To be able to successfully map the variables concerning income and education levels from the ELSA data to the Slimming World cohort, the variables in the ELSA dataset were adjusted. As the income variable in the Slimming World data was IMD quintiles, equalivalised household income was converted into quintiles, with the assumption being that the sample of ELSA data was representative of the general population, and that the quintiles created in the ELSA data were close to the true quintiles for the general population.

The Slimming World data were again separated into quintiles for Education IMD, whilst in the ELSA data qualifications were ranked from 1-7. To be able to map the 7 ELSA qualification categories to the education IMD quintiles, assumptions regarding the quintile of each class were made. It was assumed that those with no qualifications were in the bottom quintile as these individuals are the most deprived in terms of education. Those with 'foreign'/'other' qualifications and secondary education certificates were assumed to be in the second bottom quintile as in the ELSA data, these were lowest two ELSA categories, and neither were represented by a large proportion of individuals. The middle quintile was assumed to consist of O-level completers. The second highest quintile included A-level completers and non-degree higher education, whilst the top quintile consisted of individuals with higher education degrees. By grouping each type of individual as such, each category had at least 10% of the full sample and so was reasonably well represented.

The model was then applied to a random sample of 10,000 individuals from the Slimming World dataset, and mean weight was plotted against age. As the mean age in the cohort was 43, all individuals were assumed to be 43 at baseline. Each age from the age of 44 was then used as the age at the new observation up to the age of 100. The predicted weight-change each year was then added to the baseline weight to create a mean weight for the cohort each year.

#### 8.2.3 The Slimming World Follow-up Study

As considering the long-term effects of weight-management programmes is vital to evaluating the effectiveness of the programme, Slimming World sent out surveys to members with the primary aim of establishing the most effective method of engaging individuals to assess their long-term weight-management outcomes. A number of secondary aims were also included such as collecting weight outcomes 3 years from the individual's sign-up, why and how individuals may or may not continue their behavioural change and the long-term impacts on their family and health. The members selected to be sent the survey were 8,000 members from the Nottingham, Derbyshire and Coventry areas that joined between January and June in 2012. As an incentive, those who completed the survey were entered into a prize draw.

The Slimming World dataset contained a total of 415 respondents. Of these 293 survey respondents were matched via individual membership IDs to the full Slimming World dataset. Seven respondents were pregnant or had a baby in the last six months and so were excluded due to the effect of pregnancy on bodyweight. A further four individuals who did not have a follow-up weight recorded were also removed. Finally, one participant who left Slimming World before the follow-up, was weighed at the start of the programme, but was not weighed at subsequent attendances after beginning Slimming World was removed from analysis, due to uncertainty about the individual's weight-change within the programme. This led to a total of 281 Slimming World members remaining for analysis. Of the 281 members in the dataset, 51 were still members of the Slimming World programme, with 230 no longer attending classes at the time of follow-up.

Table 54 shows the prevalence of missing data amongst the variables in the follow-up dataset. The amount of missing data was small, except for target weight, with only 63.8% of participants having a target recorded, which is likely because not all Slimming World consultants record the targets members set in the database.

Variable	Number of Missing Observations	Proportion of Missing Observations (%)
Age	4	0.7
Gender	0	0.0
Current Member	0	0.0
Start Weight	0	0.0
Target Weight	102	36.2
Height	1	0.4
Time in Slimming World Programme	0	0.0
Follow-up Time from Baseline	0	0.0

The vast majority of respondents in the dataset were women – a total of 264 (94.0%), compared with 17 men. The mean age of respondents was 46.5 years

at the recorded start date, with the range being 18.2 to 66.0 years of age. Of the remaining 281 respondents, 230 (81.9%) had left the Slimming World programme, with the remaining 51 still attending classes at the time of followup. Twenty-three (8.2%) of the participants joined Slimming World through the Slimming World on Referral (SWoR) programme.

Table 55 shows a summary of start weight, the corresponding start BMI as well as target weight and BMI. The mean start weight was 91.5kg with a range of over 125kg. At baseline, the majority of participants were obese (65.7%) with the average individual having a BMI of 33.7kg/m<sup>2</sup>. This is compared with the full dataset in which the mean start weight was 90.5kg, the mean BMI was 33.3kg/m<sup>2</sup>, and the proportion of individuals with obesity was 66.7%. Participants on average set a target weight-loss of 20.9kg, which corresponded to a target BMI of 26.1kg/m<sup>2</sup> – which is still regarded as overweight, but close to healthy weight.

Variable	n	Mean	SD	Min	Max
Start Weight (kg)	281	91.49	19.64	53.98	179.40
Start BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	280	33.70	6.37	22.50	56.62
Target Weight (kg)	180	70.59	12.13	47.57	114.16
Target BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	179	26.05	3.69	19.85	38.87

Table 55: Baseline Weight, BMI and Targets for All Respondents

This analysis intended to assess the outcomes of these respondents. The outcomes of the participants were assessed before building regression models to predict weight-change for those who left the Slimming World programme. Ordinary least squares regression was the chosen regression technique as weight-change was normally distributed and a linear model was most appropriate.

The first stage of analysis of the Slimming World follow-up study was to perform a series of univariate regressions predicting weight-change after participants dropped out of the Slimming World programme, whilst controlling for start weight, weight-loss in the Slimming World programme, and the time between leaving the programme and follow-up, as well as a squared term for the time to follow-up. Because the purpose of this analysis was to identify weight-change trajectories outside of the Slimming World programme, only the 230 individuals who had left the Slimming World programme prior to follow-up were included. Following the univariate analysis, multivariate regression analysis was performed and used to predict weight-change following the Slimming World intervention for a random sample of 10,000 Slimming World members from the full dataset.

## 8.3 Results

## 8.3.1 The ELSA Dataset

Table 56, below, shows a summary of weight-change across the sample at each wave. The number of observations at each wave declined each wave, which is expected in long-term follow-up, but meaningful sample sizes were maintained in each wave. At wave 2, two-thirds of participants were measured whilst at wave 8, which was around 17 years from baseline, a third of individuals responded to follow-up. Across the whole sample, participants gained weight until wave 4 and lost weight afterwards.

Wave	Observations	N (%)	Mean Time to Wave Measurement (years)	Mean Weight- Change from Baseline (kg)
Wave 2	6,943	66.7	5.16	0.199
Wave 4	5,131	49.3	9.07	0.527
Wave 6	4,332	41.6	12.86	0.101
Wave 8	3,409	32.8	16.91	-0.331

Table 56: Weight-Change from Baseline at each Wave of Observations

The trend is again shown in Figure 29, where weight-change from baseline is plotted against time from baseline. It can be seen that over the 20-year period, sample members on average reached a peak weight-gain around 10-years after baseline before losing weight from there onwards. However, Figure 29 describes an average weight-change from baseline for all ages. To investigate weight-change as people age, regression methods will be used to make predictions regarding weight-change for participants of a given age.


Figure 29: Weight-Change over Time for the Sample

#### 8.3.1.1 Predicting Background Weight-Trajectories using the ELSA Dataset

Before building a regression model, the distribution of weight-change was plotted in a histogram in Figure 30. After baseline, a total of 19,815 weight observations were made for the core members from wave 0 between waves 2 and 8. A close to normal distribution of weight change was identified with a mean of 0.17kg skewness of 0.217. Because of this distribution, OLS regression was chosen to predict weight-change from baseline over time.



Figure 30: A Histogram of Weight-Change from Baseline

Univariate regression analysis found all variables other than self-assessed health were significant predictors of weight-change at the 5% level, as seen in Table 57. Being female, being older and having a greater BMI at baseline predicted more weight-loss/less weight-gain, whilst being more educated, being employed, having a greater household income, being married and having children were predictors of less weight-loss/more weight-gain over time.

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Gender (female=0, male=1)	0.396***	3.59
Age at Baseline (years)	-0.205***	-35.12
Weight at Baseline (kg)	-0.0308***	-9.03
Top Qualification (least qualified=0 -most qualified=7)	-0.0511*	-2.31
Equivalent Household Income (£000s)	0.0108***	4.38
Employed/Self- Employed (no=0, yes=1)	2.389***	23.43
Married and Living with Partner (no=0, yes=1)	0.225*	2.01
Number of Children Living at Home	1.157***	10.35
Self-Assessed Health (very bad=0)	0.0353	0.63
Time from Baseline (years)	0.193***	3.56
Time from Baseline - Squared (years)	-0.00943***	-3.75

Table 57: Univariate Regressions Predicting Weight-Change

p<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001

•

A multivariate regression model was built using the variables in Table 57. All explanatory variables were significant predictors of weight-change other than equivalent household income, the number of children, self-assessed health, and time from baseline. The output from the final regression model is shown in Table 58, below.

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Male	0.504***	4.34
Baseline Age	-0.198***	-24.23
Baseline Weight	-0.0471***	-12.02
Top Qualification	0.154***	6.11
Equivalent Household		-1.15
Income	-0.00346	
Employed	0.569***	4.08
Married	-0.306**	-2.59
Number of Children	0.186	1.53
Self-Assessed Health	0.0813	1.35
Time	0.0877	1.56
Time Squared	-0.00839**	-3.24
Constant	15.117***	20.33
Ν	17,166	

 Table 58: Multivariate Regression Model Predicting Weight-Change

p<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

Being older, having a higher weight at baseline, having a higher level of qualification and being married all predicted more weight-loss, or less weightgain, whilst having earnings from employment or self-employment at baseline predicted less weight-loss or more weight-gain. As in the univariate regressions, the time and time-squared variables tell us participants on average gain weight initially and this weight-gain slows until individuals begin to lose weight. The regression model explained 6.9% of heterogeneity in outcomes, meaning that the predictive power of the model was fairly low. However, the regression output is still able to produce predictions of weightchange as individual's age, and build a background weight-trajectory for use in modelling.

The next step of analysis was to establish a basic multivariate regression model to predict weight-change, using only readily available variables. This model, shown in Table 59, included only five predictors of weight-change over time: gender, age at baseline, baseline weight, and the age at the weightchange observation, with age at the weight-change observation squared also being included.

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Male	0.467***	4.38
Age at Baseline	-0.095***	-8.37
Baseline Weight	-0.0504***	-13.74
Age at New Observation	0.496***	6.03
Age at New Observation	-0.00431***	-7.23
Constant	-3.768***	-1.29
Ν	19,482	

Table 59: The Basic Model of Predicting Weight-Change from Baseline over Time

p<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

All 5 variables were significant at the 1% level. Being male predicted less weight-loss, whilst being older and having a greater starting weight at baseline predicting more weight-loss. Each additional year predicted weight gain, but this weight-gain slowed over time, due to the squared term for age at new observation. This meant that while individuals were younger, their weight increased but this rate of increase slows over time and eventually weight-loss occurs.

8.3.1.2 Creating a Background Weight-Trajectory for the Slimming World Cohort

The final multivariate regression model was the model created with the purpose of predicting weight-change for use inside the cost-effectiveness model. The output from the regression model for making predictions regarding weight-trajectories over time for the Slimming World cohort is shown in Table 60, below.

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Male	0.518***	4.53
Age at Baseline	-0.111***	-8.96
Baseline Weight	-0.0482***	-12.41
Education Quintile	-0.219***	-5.52
Income Quintile	-0.0685	-1.60
Age at New Observation	0.523***	6.01
Age at New Observation	-0.00449***	-7.12
Constant	-3.495	-1.13
Ν	17,175	

Table 60: Regression Model to Predict a Background Weight-Trajectory

p<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

Figure 31 shows the model's projection of a random sample of 10,000 individuals from the Slimming World cohort. The model predicts that from the age of 43, on average individuals in the cohort gain weight at a declining rate until they reach peak weight at age 58. After this, the individuals lose weight on average at an increasing rate for the remainder of the extrapolated time period.



Figure 31: Predicted Mean Weight over Time for the Slimming World Cohort

#### 8.3.2 The Slimming World Follow-up Study

As mentioned previously, 51 participants were still attending Slimming World classes at the time of follow-up, with 230 respondents having left the programme before the follow-up. The mean participant attended Slimming World classes for just over a year, with those who dropped out before the follow-up attending for an average of 8.1 months. The mean time between the last attendance and follow-up was 2 years and 4.2 months.

The mean weight-loss in the Slimming World programme was 7.58kg. A total of 259 (92.22%) of respondents lost weight whilst they were attending Slimming World classes, with 158 (56.2%) losing at least 5% of their baseline bodyweight. Of the 180 participants that had recorded targets, 19 (10.56%) of them were at, or below, their initial target weight, at the time of follow-up. A

total of 153 (54.45%) of participants had maintained a weight-loss of 5% or more at the time of follow-up. The respondents that were members of Slimming World at the time of follow-up had lost an average of 14.96kg – over three times the average weight-loss of 4.61kg for those who dropped out of the programme. Table 61 shows a summary of the time frames and weight change outcomes for respondents to the follow-up survey.

Variable	n	Mean	SD	Min	Max
Time in Programme (months)	281	13.24	13.24	0	40.27
Time from last attendance to follow- up (months)	281	23.09	13.22	0	41.68
Weight-Change in the Slimming World Programme (kg)	281	-7.58	8.49	-71.89	13.38
Weight-Change from Start to Follow-up (kg)	281	-6.49	10.42	-73.48	15.88
Weight-Change from Drop-out to Follow-up (kg)	230	1.34	7.79	-56.69	29.94

Table 61: A Summary of Outcomes for All Respondents

When reviewing BMI groups, Figure 32 shows the proportion of participants in the top four BMI groups falling between baseline and follow-up, with the proportion of respondents in the healthy BMI group increasing substantially from 9 to 47 (3.21% to 16.79%). At baseline, 184 (65.7%) of those surveyed were obese, which fell to 150 (53.6%) at the time of follow-up.



Figure 32: A Histogram of BMI Groups at Baseline and Follow-up

All 23 of the participants who joined via the Slimming World on Referral programme had dropped out at the time of follow-up, with a mean time in the programme of 4.1 months. Referral members lost an average of 5.4kg in the programme, and a further 2.0kg between leaving the programme and follow-up. Twenty-one (91.3%) of the SWoR members lost weight inside the programme, with 14 (60.9%) gaining weight between leaving the Slimming World programme and follow-up.

The mean weight-loss amongst drop-outs within the Slimming World programme was 5.9kg. Participants who dropped out of the programme had regained an average of 1.3kg between the time of their final attendance and follow-up. Of the 230 participants that dropped out before follow-up, 149 (64.8%) of them gained weight after leaving the programme. Those who gained weight gained an average of 5.2kg, whilst those who lost weight lost an average of 5.77kg over the average follow-up period of 18.4 months. 8.3.2.1 Regression Analysis of the Slimming World Follow-up Data

The first step of analysing the drivers of weight change after the Slimming World programme was to perform univariate regression analysis. Table 62 shows a summary of the univariate regressions outputs.

Table 62: Univariate Regressions Predicting Weight Change between Baseline and Follow-up

Explanatory Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Age (years)	-0.0879	-1.89
Gender (female=0, 1=male)	-7.861**	-2.93
Start Weight (kg)	-0.0400	-1.46
Referral Member	-3.347*	-1.97
Target Weight Change (kg)	0.0411	0.49
Weight Change in the Slimming World Programme (kg)	-0.356***	-3.27
Time in the Slimming World Programme (months)	0.406	1.40
Time from leaving the SW Programme to Follow-up (months)	0.0801	-0.27
Time from leaving the SW Programme to Follow-up Squared (months)	-0.00193	-0.30

p<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

The univariate regressions revealed that three variables were significant predictors of weight-change between leaving the Slimming World programme and follow-up. Being male and joining the Slimming World programme via referral were both significant predictors of greater weight-loss at follow-up. Losing more weight within the Slimming World programme predicted an additional 0.356kg of regain for every kilogram lost within the programme. This implies that whilst those who lose more weight gain more after leaving the programme, they still maintain some of their weight-loss. The univariate regression predicted that each month outside of the programme predicting 0.08kg of weight-regain and after the first month this weight-regain came at a declining rate.

The primary aim of the analysis was to run multi-variate regressions using the variables in the univariate regressions, again with weight-change between leaving the programme and follow-up as the dependant variable. Gender was not included in the multi-variate equation as even though the effect size was

significant, only 9 of the 230 individuals were male, and the sample size was determined to be too small to be a meaningful estimate of the effect of gender. Due to target weight change being an insignificant predictor of follow-up weight change, as well as reducing the sample size, the variable was also dropped from analysis. Finally, because all participants were followed up 3-years from baseline, collinearity was present between the time in the Slimming World programme variable and time from the end of the programme to follow-up variable. Therefore, the time in the Slimming World programme variable was not included in the multivariate model. The output from the multivariate model is shown in Table 63, below.

Table 63: Multivariate Regressions Predicting Weight-Change between LeavingSlimming World and Follow-up

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Age	-0.0774	-1.65
Start Weight	-0.0346	-1.25
Referral Member	-3.021	-1.76
Weight Change in the Slimming World Programme	-0.360**	-3.27
Time from the end of the Slimming World Programme to Follow-up	0.0916	0.31
Time from the end of the Slimming World Programme to Follow-up Squared	-0.00194	-0.29
Constant	5.280	1.18
Ν	226	

p<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*

When including all variables, weight-change within the Slimming World programme was the only significant predictor, with each additional kilogram of weight-loss within the programme predicting 0.36kg more regain after leaving. The model found that each month after leaving the programme predicted an additional 0.09kg of weight-regain, with the rate of regain declining over time. As an example, the model was tested on a hypothetical individual with characteristics based on the mean of the 10,000 person sample of the Slimming World dataset, who attended the programme for 1-year and lost 3.44kg in the programme (the mean weight-loss predicted by the Heckmancorrection model). The model predicted that for an individual that lost 3.44kg, the individual would have gained 0.78kg after 1-year outside of the programme and, and have regained a total of 1.04kg at 2-years.

#### 8.4 Discussion

This chapter has provided answers to the two questions set out in the introduction by building regression models to predict a background weight-trajectory, and to predict weight-change after leaving a behavioural weight-management programme. The ELSA dataset provided information regarding long-term weight trajectories in the United Kingdom which can be used to predict long-term weight-change for participants of the Slimming World programme and the control group. The ELSA study provided a sufficient sample size from which to make reliable predictions, as well as being well balanced in terms of the characteristic of the individuals, including age, BMI, income and education. A key benefit of using this regression model to predict weight-trajectories is that the regression model was able to estimate the non-linear relationship with weight-change and age, and so took into account the different weight-change patterns at different ages.

The regression model estimating weight-change predicted that participants gain weight into their late 50s, which is likely caused by increasingly sedentary lifestyles as people age, combined with slowing metabolism (Luhrmann et al., 2009). As individuals age further, the loss in muscle-mass is greater than the decrease in metabolic rate and so individuals begin to lose weight over time, as shown in the weight-trajectory predicted by the regression model (English and Paddon-Jones, 2010). The regression model therefore makes predictions that reflect human biology and the effects of aging on weight, which can improve the accuracy of predictions about long-term weight-change in economic evaluations.

There were however limitations with the use of the ELSA dataset to predict long-term weight-change for the Slimming World population. The first limitation is that because the youngest individual in the dataset was 45 at the time of the first weight-measurement, any projections regarding weight-change before the age of 45 are outside the range of observed weight-change. The second limitation is that data from the ELSA dataset was recorded between 1998 and 2019, and so the assumption is made that future weight-change trajectories from 2019 onwards will mimic the patterns of weight-change seen over the last two decades. Finally, participants of Slimming World were all individuals who had signalled a desire to lose weight, whereas those in the ELSA dataset did not all necessarily have this desire. However, the data does still inform us of trajectories for individuals who did not receive any intervention and those who are no longer in, or receiving the effects of an intervention.

The regression model built in this Chapter using the ELSA data will be used to inform background weight-trajectories in the cost-effectiveness model. These trajectories will be used for the control group, and for the intervention group once the effect of the intervention is assumed to have dissipated. This has therefore provided a solution to the problem of unknown weight-trajectories for individuals in the long-term, and is an improvement on making a basic assumption of a flat rate of weight-change each year.

The analysis of this follow-up study completed by Slimming World has provided information regarding what happens to the weight of Slimming World attendees after they leave the programme, which is valuable for making predictions regarding weight-trajectories of Slimming World members when they leave the programme. The regression analysis found that whilst Slimming World members who stopped attending classes did not maintain as much weight-loss as those who were still attending classes at the time of follow-up, participants were still able to maintain some weight-loss. The change in bodyweight seen in the Slimming World follow-up study shows that both baseline- and lastobservation carried forward analysis are flawed, as baseline-observation carried forward is overly conservative, whilst last-observation carried forward is overly optimistic.

One key finding is that despite those leaving the programme having a significantly lower amount of weight-loss at follow-up, over two-thirds of respondents had a lower body-weight than at baseline, and over half had maintained a clinically significant weight-loss of 3%. The regression analysis showed that individuals who lost more weight in the programme regained more weight at follow-up, but were still able to maintain more weight-loss than those who lost less weight.

A limitation exists in that the sample may be biased as it may be that those who responded to the survey would be more likely to have been successful at maintaining their weight-loss, with those who regained weight being less willing to report their weight-change. However, the upfront gift of a free pen, and the entrance into a raffle for prizes for completing the survey somewhat offsets this. As well as this, weights were self-reported, and so may suffer from bias (Robinson and Oldham, 2016). The meta-regression model predicting weightchange after BWM programmes, in Chapter 7, predicted that an individual with the same characteristics and weight-loss would have regained 1.53kg in the first year, and 3.07kg at year 2, which is a substantially greater weight-regain than predicted by the Slimming World regain model. This may be due to these biases, or it may be that Slimming World provides participants with a better ability to maintain weight-loss compared with other BWMs.

Another limitation is that this is a reasonably small sample size of 230 individuals in comparison to the total number of Slimming World members across the United Kingdom, and so generalisability to the full population may not be accurate. Also, the small sample size contributed to some explanatory variables not proving to be significant predictors of weight-change.

This regression model will be used to make predictions of weight-change for participants of behavioural weight-management programmes after leaving the programme. This is useful as it takes real-world observations of weight-change outside the programme and uses them to form projections for individuals whose long-term weight change is unknown. These weight-change projections will be used in cost-effectiveness modelling in order to gain an understanding of the impact on cost-effectiveness when assuming that Slimming World participants who leave the programme follow these predicted weighttrajectories.

# Chapter 9: The Cost-Effectiveness Model for the Economic Evaluation of Behavioural Weight-Management Programmes

### 9.1 Background

The PhD has sought to explain the relationship between weight-loss in behavioural weight-management programmes and long-term weight following the programme. To improve estimations of the cost-effectiveness of weightmanagement programmes, projections of weight-trajectories should be established for the participants of the programmes. By doing this the effect of weight-management programmes on health outcomes and costs can be established over the course of a lifetime.

To establish these weight-trajectories, data was drawn from a number of sources:

- Weight-change within the Slimming World programme was predicted using a regression modelling in Chapter 5 using Slimming World data and the theoretical framework of weight-management from Chapter 3, which was informed by the review of theories in Chapter 2.
- Chapter 7 consisted of a systematic review and meta-regression of longterm follow-up of weight-management programmes with the aim of identifying patterns of weight-change after programmes ended.
- A follow-up study, undertaken by Slimming World of their own members, was analysed in Chapter 8 to establish long-term weight-change after drop-out for Slimming World participants.
- A longitudinal dataset of the effects of aging in the UK was analysed to create a background weight-trajectory for the population over time in Chapter 8.

Using these weight-trajectories, sophisticated predictions of the outcomes of weight-management programmes can be estimated. Finally, a systematic review of other economic evaluations of behavioural weight-management programmes was performed to identify assumptions made in other cost-effectiveness models, and to test these assumptions and compare the results with the results from the weight-trajectories predicted in this PhD.

To assess the potential impact of an intervention, cost-effectiveness analysis is

required to estimate the change in health outcomes, as well as the change in costs, in order to provide better information to decision-makers (Williams et al., 2008). As the long-term effects to the participants, to the NHS, and to wider society are unknown, predictions must be made regarding disease incidence in the case of both whether the intervention is funded, and whether the intervention is not funded. Health outcomes and the associated costs can then be derived from the predictions of the effects of the intervention. Cost-effectiveness modelling can address this, with more sophisticated models providing more accurate estimates of cost-effectiveness of interventions.

In the case of weight-management programmes, the desired outcome is for participants to reduce their bodyweight. When evaluating a weightmanagement programme, the focus should therefore be the effects associated with change in bodyweight. Bodyweight, and disease incidence from bodyweight, should be compared in both the case of whether the intervention is applied, and whether the intervention is not applied. A cost-effectiveness model should then derive health outcomes and costs from the difference in bodyweight and predicted disease incidence in both the intervention and control group.

The key aim of this chapter is therefore to describe the decision model with a focus on the formation of sophisticated weight trajectory predictions for weightmanagement programme participants over the course of a lifetime by combining data from the preceding chapters. From here, the methodology behind estimating the benefits and costs for the case study, the Slimming World programme, the case, will be made. Finally, the process of the sensitivity analysis on input parameters and weight-trajectories will be explained.

#### 9.2 Methods

#### 9.2.1 The Cost-Effectiveness Model

To assess the cost-effectiveness of weight-management programmes, a Markov model was employed, which was taken from Meads et al. (2014). The model was then adapted in order to be more sophisticated and able to incorporate various weight-trajectory assumptions. A Markov model was chosen over a simulation model as a simulation model would have required a larger amount of data regarding the impacts of age, specific quality of life outcomes and interactions between disease states. The aim of the costeffectiveness modelling was to assess the impact of adjusting weighttrajectories, which the Markov model was able to incorporate. Markov models were also recommended as appropriate to assess cost-effectiveness of weightmanagement programmes in Griffiths et al. (2012). Recreating a case-study of the Slimming World programme in Meads et al. (2014) was therefore chosen to be the most appropriate method.

The calculation of cost-effectiveness begins with the raw data of participants of the weight-management programme. According to this baseline data, weightchange each year is predicted by the various regression models and converted into an estimated BMI for each individual each year.

The second stage of the model takes these BMIs values, and categorises individuals into one of 5 groups: healthy weight (<25kg/m<sup>2</sup>), overweight (25-29kg/m<sup>2</sup>), obese (30-34kg/m<sup>2</sup>), severely obese (35-39kg/m<sup>2</sup>), and severely obese II ( $\geq$ 40kg/m<sup>2</sup>). The model calculates the number of individuals in each group each year, and uses this information to create a transition percentage between BMI groups each year, and therefore dictate the number of people that move between each BMI group, each year.

After BMI groups each year are predicted, each individual can move between disease states according to the disease and mortality rates associated with the individual's age and BMI group. Participants continue to move between BMI groups and disease states for the duration of the model. Following this, the model trace shows the number of people in each BMI group, and each disease state each year, and assigns a QALY and cost value to each individual each year. These QALYs and costs are then compared between the intervention group and control group to permit an estimate of cost-effectiveness.

The following key updates were made to the cost-effectiveness model, and will be explained later in the chapter:

- Individuals continue to be able to change BMI state even after moving into a disease state, so that BMI utility decrements and disease risk can still change according to BMI group.
- Weight-trajectory projections were able to be implemented on an individual level, meaning that different projections by individual can be assessed, and different weight-trajectories can be applied to different individuals.
- 3) Weight-trajectory was able to be predicted through regression models inside the model, given the characteristics of individuals in the model.
- 4) An extension on the number of years modelled from 54 years to 57 years.
- 5) An extension to the number of individuals included in the modelled from 1,000 to 10,000.

## 9.2.2 The Case-Study of the Slimming World Cohort

For the Slimming World case study, a sample of 10,000 Slimming World members was selected from the 2014 dataset described in Chapter 4. This sample was randomly selected, using the sample command in STATA, although individuals had to have full data for four variables which were key to analysis. The first was height, which allowed calculation of BMI, target weight, as regression modelling used personal preferences regarding target weight as an explanatory variable, and both income and education IMD quintile, again as regression modelling used deprivation level as an explanatory variable. The reason for using a random sample was that as the full cohort is very large, it would have required a large amount of computing power. A random sample of 10,000 individuals was judged to be a large enough for the full cohort of Slimming World participants in 2014 would be accurately represented, and generalisations about the full cohort could be made. Participants were then simulated through the model from the age of 43, the mean age of the sample at baseline, until they reach the age of 100, as at this age an insignificant amount of the cohort were predicted to remain alive. The next section will discuss each stage of the cost-effectiveness model in more detail, and how the intervention cohort and control group progress through the model.

# 9.2.3 Weight-Change Trajectories in the Cost-Effectiveness Model

In the cost-effectiveness model, weight-trajectories for each individual were predicted. Rather than the weight-trajectories being predicted as a whole, the various stages of weight-change were grouped into three stages, and then combined to form an overall weight-trajectory. Three groups were created to define the various stages of the weight-trajectory formation, shown below:

- 1) Weight-loss in the weight-management programme
- 2) Weight-regain after leaving the weight-management programme
- 3) Background weight-trajectory

The first stage was the weight-loss phase, which in the case-study of Slimming World, lasted for two years, as the dataset used in the case-study contained up to two-years of data for each individual. An alternative scenario was also tested in which the weight-loss phase was assumed to be only 12-weeks, as GP referrals to Slimming World initially cover 12-weeks. The following stage was the weight-regain phase as Chapter 6 showed that often, participants of behavioural weight-management programme regain weight after leaving the programme. This weight-regain period lasted up to 6-years post-baseline depending on the scenario being considered, as after year 6, predicted weightregain values tend to be similar to the background weight-trajectory. Following the weight-regain phase, participants proceeded to follow the background weight-trajectory, defined by population weight-trends. A diagram is shown in Figure 33, below.

#### Figure 33: The Three Stages of Weight-Change



For the intervention group, as 2 years of Slimming World data was available in the dataset provided, predicted weight-change from regression modelling was used to derive BMI values at years one and two. The meta-regression model predicting weight-change following weight-loss programmes was then used to predict weight-trajectories after the initial two years. After the effects of the intervention had ceased, the intervention group began to follow weighttrajectories at the background rate.

#### 9.2.3.1 The Weight-Loss Phase

The first stage of building weight-trajectory predictions for the individuals in the cost-effectiveness model, was to make predictions of initial weight-loss during the intervention. For the Slimming World programme case study, these predictions were made when analysing the Slimming World dataset, in Chapter 5. Individuals in the intervention group were split into four groups according to when they left the programme: those who left before 3 months; those who continued attending past 3 months but left before 6 months; those that continued past 6 months but left before 12 months; and those that continued attending for over 1 year. These groups were labelled as the 3-month group, the 6-month group, the 12-month group and the 24-month group respectively. These groups were chosen to compare different patterns of attendance behaviour.

The 3-month group was to represent those individuals who dropped out before the initial 12-week programme had finished. The 6-month group represented those who completed the initial 12-weeks, but left the programme shortly after. The 12-month group consisted of those who continued to attend the Slimming World programme up to a year but not past the first year, whilst those in the 24-month group were those who either attended for over a year, including those that attended indefinitely.

A total of four different estimation methods for weight-change in the weightloss period, at 12-months and 24-months, were implemented, and are listed below:

- To apply Heckman-correction predictions of weight-change to all individuals at both 12-months and 24-months, as figures for body-weight were needed each year in the cost-effectiveness model.
- 2) To apply LOCF weight-change for all attendees at 12-months, and at 24months for those in the 24-month group.
- 3) To apply BOCF weight to those in the 3-month and 6-month groups at 12-months, LOCF weight-change for those in the 12-month and 24month group at 12-months and LOCF weight-change for those in the 24month group at 24-months.
- To apply complete-case analysis was performed by only considering LOCF weight-change in the 24-month group and BOCF weight for the other three groups.

In the base-case, scenario 1, the Heckman-correction predictions were used as the estimates of weight-change at year 1 and year 2, as these projections were assumed to be the most accurate projections of weight-change at the end of the initial 24-month weight-loss phase. In the second and third scenarios, those individuals to whom LOCF weight-change was applied at 12-months were assumed to have ended the weight-loss phase, and therefore move to the next weight-trajectory stage earlier than the 24-month group. This was as it was assumed that in these scenarios, after individuals leave the Slimming World programme, the weight-loss intervention was assumed to be over. For the complete-case analysis, the assumption was made that those in the 3-month, 6-month and 12-month groups did not change weight for the entire 24-month weight-loss period to focus the analysis on those in the 24-month group – the complete-case group.

#### 9.2.3.2 Weight-Regain following the Weight-Management Programme

After the end of the initial weight-loss period, the cohort moved into the weightregain phase. Two different weight-regain methods were considered. The first source of weight-regain information was from the meta-regression of long-term follow-up in weight-loss programmes. The second was the follow-up survey Slimming World carried out with participants that left the programme. A decision was made to limit the weight-regain phase to six years. This was for two reasons: the first was that on average after four years the weight-regain was smaller than the average background weight-trajectory, and so it was assumed the effect of the intervention had dissipated at this time point. The second was that only two interventions included in the meta-analysis of long-term weight-change included weight-change information over 6-years from baseline, and so there was a greater level of uncertainty for weight-change predictions past 6-years.

Another assumption made in the weight-regain phase, was that if the weight of a given participant rose above the trajectory in the control group, they joined the control group trajectory in the following period, and continued on the control trajectory for the remainder of the model's time-horizon. This assumption was made so that the model could not make a projection for an individual where attending the Slimming World programme led to the individual being at a higher weight long-term than if they had not attended.

Although there were only two sources of weight-regain information, there were many options of how these methods could be implemented following the weight-loss phase, and ways to apply the different regain types to the different groups of individuals. In the base case, the weight-loss phase was assumed to be the first 24-months for all participants, and so weight-regain from the metaregression model was applied to predict weight-change after 24-months, and therefore BMI, up to 6-years.

#### 9.2.3.3 Long-Term Background Weight-Trajectory

A background weight-change derived from the ELSA dataset was used in all scenarios as the most realistic assumption regarding long-term weight-change. This was as the trajectory was informed by real-world weight-change experienced in the general population, with weight-change being predicted by the regression modelling in Chapter 8.

After the effects of weight-regain following the weight-management programme were assumed to have stopped, and any remaining programme weight-loss was assumed to have been maintained, participants joined a background weight-trajectory predicted by a regression model informed by a panel dataset of UK society – The ELSA. In the base-case, the control group were assumed to follow the background weight-trajectory from baseline, as this weight trajectory indicates what would have happened to the cohort if they had not

attended a weight-management programme. The background weighttrajectories were calculated for each individual by subtracting the predicted weight-change at baseline (where age was equal to baseline age) from the predicted weight-change at the given year.

#### 9.2.3.4 Overall Trajectory of Weight-Change in the Base-Case

Following the predictions of weight-change, and therefore BMI, at each year for each individual in the model, weight-trajectories were created. Figure 34 shows a plot of mean BMI over time for both the intervention group and the control group in the base-case, with the dotted lines marking the end of the weightloss phase and the end of the weight-regain phase. The plot shows that the Slimming World cohort lose weight in the first year before regaining some weight in the second year of the weight-loss phase on average. Following the weight-loss phase, weight is regained at a faster rate by the cohort, with the rate of weight-gain slowing over time. Participants then begin to lose weight again as the effects of aging appear. The control group gain weight initially before losing weight in the longer-term. Under the base-case assumptions, the Slimming World cohort maintain a lower mean BMI than the control group for the duration of the model.



Figure 34: Mean BMI over Time in the Base-Case

#### 9.2.4 Health States and Mortality Rates

Whilst participants change weight according to their individual age, in the costeffectiveness model, all individuals are assumed progress through the model at the same age, with this age having corresponding disease and mortality rates. In this case study the starting age is assumed to be 43 – the mean age of the Slimming World cohort at baseline. This was a simplifying assumption, but one which was hypothesised to have little significance as both the intervention and control group began at the same age. The simplification was made as simulating individuals through disease states based on various ages and BMI groups would make the model overly complex and require a large amount of computing power.

As well as facing a basic age-related mortality, participants are subject to disease risk according to their BMI group and the age of the cohort each year. Mortality and health state transition rates were assumed equal across genders. Three diseases were included in the cost-effectiveness model – T2D, MI and stroke, which were taken from the model in Meads et al. (2014). It is assumed

that once an individual has either T2D, MI or stroke, they keep that disease for the remainder of the model period. Myocardial infarction and stroke were mutually exclusive, as once an individual in the model transitions to one of the two disease states, they cannot contract the other. However, these individuals can become diabetic, and those with T2D can experience a stroke or MI. Individuals who experience MI or stroke cannot remain in the year 1 state, and instead either move into the year 2 state, or a different MI or stroke health state. This is because if an individual initially survives MI or stroke, the following year is assumed to bear a lower risk of death, a greater quality of life, and lower cost than first year of the health event. Individuals that experience MI or stroke are also able to experience a second MI or stroke in the model. A simplified illustration of the model, which depicts only the three diseases is shown in Figure 35, below.



Figure 35: Health States in the Cost-Effectiveness Model

Whilst there were only three diseases included in the model, various stages and combinations of diseases resulted in a total of 15 health states, including healthy and death, shown in Table 64. The table shows an example of transition rates from healthy for an individual aged 43 in the severely obese II group. The table shows there is a 94.9% chance that the individual remains healthy in the next period, with varying degrees of probability of moving into a disease state, and a 0.2% probability of death.

Age 44 Health State	Probability of Transition from Healthy
Healthy	0.949
Diabetes	0.0283
MI Year 1	0.0160
MI Year 2	0
Stroke Year 1	0.00291
Stroke Year 2	0
MI x 2 Year 1	0.000650
MI x 2 Year 2	0
Stroke x 2 Year 1	0.000323
Stroke x 2 Year 2	0
Diabetes + MI Year 1	0.000452
Diabetes + MI Year 2	0
Diabetes + Stroke Year 1	0.0000822
Diabetes + Stroke Year 2	0
Dead	0.00153

Table 64: Health States and the Transition Rates from Healthy at Age 43 for Severely Obese II Group

See Meads et al. (2014) for references

In the model, all 10,000 individuals began in the 'healthy state', in which participants received no negative impact on quality of life from disease. This assumption was made as weight-management programmes are viewed as preventative care, and are therefore designed to target weight-loss in individuals that are high-risk, but without disease. As well this this, the assumption is offset by the control group having identical baseline characteristics as the intervention group as the differences in QALYs gained and costs are still comparable. Therefore, in the model the assumption is that the intervention is applied to 10,000 high-risk, but otherwise healthy individuals.

Each year, participants then move through BMI groups and disease states based on their current BMI group, current disease state and age. Figure 36 shows how many individuals in the Slimming World cohort were in each BMI group each year when including mortality. It can be seen that the number of people in each group declines over time, with the number of people in the larger BMI groups declining at a faster rate, due to the increased rate of mortality within these groups.



Figure 36: BMI Groups over Time (with mortality)

Figure 37 shows this trend more clearly, with the proportion of individuals with obesity at baseline being the same, and the proportion of those with obesity reducing due to higher rates of mortality. At year 57, it can be seen that without mortality, over 20% of the cohort would be in obese, severely obese or severely obese II group, whilst with mortality, only around 7% of the cohort are in these groups.



Figure 37: Proportion of Cohort with Obesity over Time

#### 9.2.5 Model Output Validation

When reviewing the plausibility of weight-trajectory outputs, BMI trends, and mortality, were compared against real-world data. The first stage was to compare the mean BMI of the model cohort at age 80 with the mean BMI of the average Slimming World participant in the full dataset at age 80. The mean BMI at year 37 (when the cohort was 80 on average) was 32.40kg/m<sup>2</sup> in the intervention group, and 32.60kg/m<sup>2</sup> in the control group, compared with a mean BMI of 32.25kg/m<sup>2</sup> for 80 year olds that are in the Slimming World dataset.

When reviewing life expectancy of the cohort, individuals had a life expectancy of 72.84 years in the intervention group in the base-case, and 72.79 years in the control group. This estimation was lower than the average life expectancy in the UK, but this is explained by two factors (Office for National Statistics, 2018). The first is that as the sample of individuals has a greater obesity prevalence rate throughout the lifetime of the cohort, the mortality risk each year is greater, which leads to a lower life expectancy. The second reason is that because the age-related mortality rates used in the decision model included mortality from type II diabetes, myocardial infarction and stroke, mortality from these diseases were counted twice, which led to inflated mortality rates.

#### 9.2.6 Health Utility States and Healthcare Costs

Following the calculation of the number of individuals in each BMI and health state each year, health outcomes and costs were calculated. Each age was associated with a utility value, taken from the model in Meads et al. (2014). These values are shown in Table 65, with younger individuals generally having higher health-related quality of life.

Age Group	Base Utility
16-24	0.938
25-34	0.918
35-44	0.897
45-54	0.856
55-64	0.818
65-74	0.779
75+	0.715

Table 65: Base Utility for Each Age Group

After QALY values have been calculated for each individual each year, deductions from that QALY value are made according the BMI group each individual is in each year (Table 66), and the disease state each individual is in each year (

Table 67). Utility decrements from BMI and disease state were additive. Disease states were assumed to be mutually exclusive, other than type II diabetes, which could be combined with any other disease state. Where individuals were both type II diabetic and in another health state, utility decrements were additive. It was assumed that those who died received 0 QALYs per year. Following this process, total QALYs were calculated by taking the sum of the cohorts QALY values each year, and applying a discount rate of 3.5% per year. A discount rate of 3.5% was chosen as this was the discount rate used in the original model in Meads et al. (2014), and the discount rate most commonly employed in the decision models in the literature from the systematic review of economic evaluations in Chapter 6.

BMI Group	Utility Decrement
BMI <25	0.000
BMI 25-30	0.006
BMI 30-35	0.033
BMI 35-40	0.033
BMI >40	0.117

Table 66: Util	ty Decrements	by BMI Group
----------------	---------------	--------------

Table 67: Utility Decrements by Disease State

Disease State	Utility Decrement
Type II Diabetes	0.096

Stroke Year 1	0.160
Stroke Year 2+	0.080
MI Year 1	0.139
MI Year 2	0.070

A similar method was applied when calculating costs. In the base-case, the cost of the intervention was assumed to be £121.32 per person. This figure considered the total cost from the perspective of a service provider, and so represented three separate costs. A cost of £47.39 for each individual for the first 12-weeks, which was used by the model in Meads et al. (2014), a set-up cost of £22 per person, which were both covered by the GP. In addition to this, it was assumed that all additional attendances made by participants following the initial 12-weeks came at a cost of £4.95. The average participant attended an additional 10.5 classes, and so each participant was assumed to pay an additional £52.05 on average. Each health state was then assumed to carry a cost, shown in Table 68. Both healthy and death were assumed to cost zero, whilst costs for dual disease states were assumed to be additive. Total costs were calculated by taking the sum of the cohort's costs each year, and again applying a discount rate of 3.5% each year.

Disease State	Cost	
Type II Diabetes	£2,765.17	
Stroke Year 1	£11,968.89	
Stroke Year 2	£1,642.77	
MI Year 1	£5,895.42	
MI Year 2	£260.82	

Table 68: Cost of each Health State each Year

Following the calculation of costs and QALYs for the intervention cohort, the same calculation was performed on the control group to identify the total QALYs and costs that would have been obtained from the cohort had they not been provided with an intervention. Cost-effectiveness was then calculated via an ICER, with the formula shown in Equation 37.

Equation 37

The equation calculates the incremental cost of providing the intervention, over the incremental benefit received by providing the intervention, to produce a figure for the cost of one quality-adjusted life year gained. Calculations of net benefit were made using a cost-effectiveness threshold of £20,000 per QALY as a conservative estimate of the £20,000 to £30,000 per QALY threshold that is used by NICE in the UK (Paulden, 2017). The formula is shown in Equation 38.

Equation 38

Net Benefit = Incremental QALYs \* Cost – Effectiveneess Threshold) – Incremental Cost

Comparisons were then made between outcomes in the intervention group and control group. The incremental differences between the outcomes of the two-groups were tested using one-tailed z-tests. One-tail was used as the null hypothesis was that the intervention group outcomes were not significantly better than the control group outcomes, with the alternative hypothesis being that the intervention outcomes were an improvement over the control group.

## 9.3 Sensitivity Analysis of the Base Case

Sensitivity analysis is necessary to analyse the impact of changing model parameters and assumptions on estimates of cost-effectiveness (Briggs et al., 2012). This is because of underlying uncertainty around values used in the models and the assumptions made, which lead to uncertainty in estimates produced. Two types of sensitivity analyses were performed in the cost-effectiveness model – sensitivity analyses to assess parameter uncertainty, and scenario analyses to assess structural uncertainty.

The first stage of assessing the impact of parameter uncertainty was to perform one-way sensitivity analysis, by adjusting each parameter between 75% and 125%, in order to test the robustness of the model, and how influential each parameter input was to overall estimates of cost-effectiveness. Sensitivity analysis was first conducted around groups of conducted around the following parameters:

• Utility decrements of each health state and BMI group

- Health state costs
- Mortality rates
- Disease transition probabilities
- Discount rate
- The cost of the intervention

As well as adjusting the discount rate in one-way sensitivity analysis, an alternative discount rate of 1.5% was also tested. This was because NICE guidelines suggest that public health interventions should also consider a discount rate of 1.5% for costs and health effects (NICE, 2018).

As predictions of weight-change are unobserved, and therefore estimates, sensitivity analysis was also carried out on the estimations. Sensitivity analysis was undertaken by creating prediction intervals around each point estimate, rather than making the assumption that each point estimate is a fixed value (Briggs et al., 2006). The regression models predicting BMI change at each year were made probabilistic using guidance from Briggs et al. (2006). PSA was applied to the regression BMI predictions each year via the Cholesky decomposition, which was needed to control for correlated parameters in regression model. This created a distribution of values for each coefficient in each regression model in each probabilistic model simulation. For the remainder of the parameters PSA was applied to, probability distributions were used around point estimates with random draws taken from the distributions each simulation.

The PSA was performed by taking random draws from each probability distribution each year, and running the model simulation with each set of random draws to determine values for outcomes in both the intervention and control group. Estimates of cost-effectiveness were then taken from these outputs. A total of 10,000 Monte Carlo simulations were performed, allowing generation of an ICER from the means and net benefit estimate. The incremental QALYs and costs estimated in each Monte Carlo simulation were then plotted on a cost-effectiveness plane (Cohen & Reynolds, 2008). The latter was used to estimate the likelihood that the intervention was cost-effective across a range of willingness to pay per QALY gained thresholds

which were plotted on the cost-effectiveness acceptability curve (Fenwick et al., 2004).

# 9.4 Alternative Scenario Analysis

Following sensitivity analysis of the uncertain parameters in the costeffectiveness model, the next phase was to assess the structural uncertainty regarding the assumptions made about weight-trajectories. These scenarios were tested to identify the impact of adjustments to weight-trajectories, and the influence these assumptions have on predictions of cost-effectiveness, which would illustrate the importance of improving the accuracy of weight-trajectory predictions. The scenarios tested are shown in Table 69, below, with the assumptions regarding the weight-loss phase and weight-regain phase for the intervention group stated for each. After the weight-loss phase, individuals move into the weight-regain phase, and when that is complete, individuals follow the background weight-trajectory.

The scenarios were taken from the potential applications of the various data regarding weight-trajectories, discussed in the weight-trajectory section earlier in this chapter. These weight-change trajectories were chosen to illustrate the range of possibilities for long-term weight-change.

Scenario	Weight-Loss	Weight-Regain	
1 (base case)	Heckman weight-loss projections for all groups at years 1 and 2	Weight-regain from meta-regression for all groups from up to year 6	
2	Heckman weight-loss projections for all group at year 1	Regain to year 3 from the Slimming World follow-up study for those in the 3- month, 6-month and 12-month groups	
	Heckman weight-loss projections for only the 24-month group at 2 years	Weight-regain from the meta-regression for those in the 24-month group up to year 6	
3	LOCF weight-change for all groups at years 1 and 2 years	Weight-regain from meta-regression for all groups to year 6	
4	LOCF for all groups at year 1	Regain to year 3 from the Slimming World follow-up study for those in the 3- month, 6-month and 12-month groups	
	LOCF for the 24- month group at year 2	Weight-regain from the meta-regression for those in the 24-month group up to year 6	
5	BOCF for those in the 3-month and 6-month groups at year 1	Weight-regain from meta-regression for those in the 24-month group	
	LOCF weight-change at year 1 for those in the 12-month and 24- month groups		
	LOCF weight-change at year 2 for the 24- month group		

Table 69: Weight-Loss and Weight-Regain Scenarios

\*Individuals who reach the control group weight-trajectory during weight-regain continue on the control trajectory

# 9.5 Alternative Scenarios taken from the Literature of Economic Evaluations

As well as considering the 5 alternative scenarios of weight-change in Table 69, assumptions made in the literature were also tested in the model. These alternative scenarios, including the scenario in the Meads et al. (2014) paper, were identified in the systematic review of modelling methods for weightmanagement programmes, in Chapter 6. These assumptions regarding weighttrajectories from the literature were tested in the model to assess the impact of these assumptions on the patterns of weight-change over time, and the costs and effects derived from these patterns. These scenarios are listed in Table 70, below, and were compared against the control group in the base-case. Where multiple values of regain and regain time frame were mentioned, median, minimum and maximum values were tested, which were used in a tornado plot. Where background rates were employed in the literature, the background rate used in the base-case was used. This was because the background rates were used in both intervention groups and control groups, and using two different background rates would not be representative of the assumptions used.

Scenario	Intervention Group Assumption	Values of Regain Used	Reference
6	No regain after weight-loss	N/A	Gray et al. (2018), Zomer et al. (2017), Smith et al. (2016), Wilson et al. (2015), Gustafson et al. (2009), Bemelmans et al (2008), Olsen et al. (2005), Meads et al. (2014), Miners et al. (2012)
7	Decay of effect each year	0%, 50%, 100%	Ginsberg et al. (2012), Cobiac et al. (2010)
8	Regain BMI points each year until background rate met	0.18, 0.36 and 1.87 BMI per year until background rate met	Lewis et al. (2014), Forster et al. (2011)
9	Linear regain over time to match control trajectory	Control trajectory met at years 3, 5, and 12	Thomas et al. (2017), Haussler and Breyer (2016)
10	Regain BMI points each year until baseline	0.15 BMI points per year, 0.3 BMI points per year, 1.08 BMI points in the first year then 0.36 BMI points per year	Hoerger et al. (2015), Fuller et al. (2014)
11	Linear regain to baseline	Baseline met at year 3 and year 4, and met after maintaining for 6 years then regain to baseline over next 4 years	Ahern et al. (2017), Trueman et al. (2010), Galani et al. (2007)
12	Probability of full weight- regain	67% probability of regain at year 3, 20% probability of maintenance at year 7	Michaud et al. (2017), Roux et al. (2006)

Table 70: Alternative Weight-Change Scenarios in the Intervention Group

# 9.6 Scenario analysis on the Control Group and Background Trajectories

For the control group, multiple scenarios of weight-change were tested. These consistent of hypothetical weight-loss, if 'usual care' was considered successful for the control group, and various methods of implementing the background weight-trajectory. The first scenario was assuming that in the initial 2-year weight-loss phase, the control group maintained their baseline weight, and joined the background weight-trajectory at 2-years (control group scenario 2). This was a conservative assumption, as one would expect those who did not get referred to Slimming World to follow the background weight-trajectory. However, as the control group may have been provided the usual care, which was assumed to be GP information about weight-loss, some of these may have been able to lose weight. Another scenario was considered where in the first year, the control group lost 1kg, and maintained this weight-loss at 2-years, before joining the background weight trajectory (control group scenario 3). The final scenario considered was assuming that participants maintained their baseline weight up to year 6 – which was the end of the weight-regain phase in the base-case, and when all intervention group participants joined the background weight-trajectory (control group scenario 4).

#### 9.6.1 Analysis of Background Weight-Trajectories

To test the effects of background weight-trajectories, alternative trajectories were applied to control group scenario 4, where all participants joined the background weight-trajectory at year 6. The effects of applying no weight-change (background scenario 2), as well as a 1kg per year weight-gain (background scenario 3), on incremental costs and effects after 6-years were tested as extreme values of weight-change as well as 0.429kg per year (background scenario 4), which Meads et al. (2014) employed in their decision model (Miners et al., 2012; Trueman et al., 2010).
# 9.7 Alternative Programme Consideration

As well as considering various assumptions regarding weight-change and weight-regain, an alternative scenario was considered in which only weightchange within the initial 12-week programme was considered. Weight-change at 1-4 years was predicted by the meta-regression model of weight-regain using LOCF weight-change within the first 12-weeks. This scenario was analysed to understand the potential outcomes if only the initial 12-week period that GPs can refer participants to the Slimming World programme for was focussed on, and it was assumed that after this period of referral, the intervention ended.

# 9.8 Probabilistic Sensitivity Analysis of Selected Scenarios of Weight-Change

To assess the overall potential impact of weight-trajectory assumptions, bestcase and worst-case scenarios were assessed against the base-case, at both 6-years and over a full lifetime horizon. The scenario in Meads et al. (2014) was selected as the cost-effectiveness model was taken from Meads et al. (2014). The scenarios are shown in Table 71, below, with each assumption in the scenarios taken separately from the chapter and combined into a new scenario of overall weight-trajectory. A total of 1,000 Monte Carlo simulations were run for each scenario for the 2-year, 6-year, and lifetime time horizons. The number of simulations was chosen as 1,000 simulations was judged to be a large enough number of simulations to draw meaningful conclusions, without taking a long time to run.

Scenario	Weight-Loss	Weight-Regain	Background Rate
Best-Case	Scenario 3	Scenario 6	Background Scenario 2
Worst-Case	Scenario 5	Scenario 8 with control group matched at year- 3	Background Scenario 3
Meads et al. (2014)	Base-Case	Scenario 6	Background Scenario 4

### Table 71: Selected Scenarios for PSA

The base-case and best-case scenarios were then extrapolated to the full adults population of the United Kingdom to gain an idea of the potential difference in effect if all individuals that were overweight or obese participated in the intervention. This extrapolation was performed by first taking an estimate of the full population of the UK from the Office of National Statistics (2019) of 66,435,600. This figure was then multiplied by the estimated proportion of individuals that are overweight or obese in England and Wales from the NHS (NHS Digital, 2019), of 64%. This produced an estimated total population of 42,518,714 adults. The values for incremental QALYs and costs were then multiplied by this figure and used to calculate cost-effectiveness.

## 9.9 Hypothetical Scenarios of Weight-Change and Weight-Regain

The final analysis was to assess cost-effectiveness outcomes for different combinations of initial weight-loss and different periods of time in which weight-loss is regained. Ten separate values for weight-change were used (0.5kg-5kg) and compared against ten separate values for time period of weight-regain (1-year to 10-years). Participants regained weight to match the control group, who followed the background weight-trajectory from baseline. The ICER for each combination of weight-change and weight-regain assumption was noted in a two-way sensitivity analysis table, with non-cost-effective, cost-effective, and cost-saving combinations being highlighted. The purpose of this analysis was to identify the effect of small changes to both weight-change assumptions and weight-regain assumptions on cost-effectiveness, and at what level of weight-change and weight-regain does the intervention become cost-effective, or cost-saving.

### 9.10 Discussion

This chapter has introduced the decision-analytic model that is able to incorporate various assumptions regarding weight-loss and long-term weighttrajectories of individuals over the course of a lifetime. The chapter has also helped to explain how weight-trajectories are input into the model, how participants move through BMI groups and health states within the model, and how cost-effectiveness is calculated. The chapter has also set out the analysis of the Slimming World case study, and the scenarios and different assumptions that will be applied to the case study, in order to assess the impact on outcomes of adjusting long-term predictions of weight-trajectories.

The strengths of this model are that various weight-trajectory patterns can be incorporated into the model, and that sophisticated weight-trajectories can be predicted within the model using basic information routinely collected in weight-management programmes. Another strength is that individuals in the model can change BMI state whilst being in a disease state, and disease risk changes accordingly. The comprehensive probabilistic sensitivity analysis, and scenario analysis has allowed the testing of the impact of changing scenarios. This has informed us of the various potential outcomes that could occur due to the intervention, and the impact of choices made by other modellers in their analyses.

A Markov model was chosen as it was judged to be able to fulfil the aim of illustrating the impact of changing assumptions of weight-trajectories, whilst also remaining simplistic enough to not require large amounts of data, computational power, and time. The majority of models in the review of economic evaluations in Chapter 6 also employed Markov models, and so using a Markov model allowed comparison.

However, there were limitations to using a Markov model. The Markov model employed used a limited range of disease states, whilst a simulation model would have been able to more easily accommodate more complex disease states. Not including the possibility of individuals having both MI and stroke was made for simplicity, but this is a limitation as individuals can have both diseases and they may interact (Putaala and Nieminen, 2018). By making the two diseases mutually exclusive, the cost-effectiveness model likely underestimates the benefits of the intervention. This is because an individual

255

experience both MI and stroke would have a further deduction to their quality of life, and an increase to the cost of treatment for the individual. Because the likelihood of having both diseases would be lower for those not in the intervention group, due to lower disease risk due to weight-loss, the benefits of the intervention would be greater.

Stroke, MI and T2D were the diseases chosen to be included in the model because T2D and CVD were the most common co-morbidities modelled in the past evaluations in Chapter 6. Forms of cancer were considered for inclusion within the model but were not used. This was because only 7 of 22 past decision models and 3 of 12 Markov models in the review of economic evaluations in Chapter 6 included cancers, and inclusion would have made the model much more complex. It was therefore decided that the aims of the study could be achieved without incorporating cancers in the decision model.

If a larger range of diseases associated with obesity, such as cancers, were included, the cost-effectiveness for the intervention estimated would likely be increased. As a higher BMI would cause higher rates of obesity-related diseases, and the intervention group has a lower BMI than the control group, the intervention group would have lower rates of disease, and therefore lower disease incidence. Because of this, the QALYs gained in the intervention group over the control group would increase and the benefits of the intervention would increase. Therefore, the model likely underestimates cost-effectiveness.

Because of this, the health benefits that are shown in the model underestimate the health benefits in the real-world. Therefore, by not including every disease and disease state, the cost-effectiveness of the intervention is underestimated. In addition to the increased health benefits estimated by the model by including more disease states, the difference in costs between the intervention and control groups would also be increased. This is because individuals in worse health would incur a greater cost as they require treatment. This would enhance cost-effectiveness further.

A discrete patient simulation model may have provided more accurate information regarding cost-effectiveness of interventions as individual patient histories would have been able to be incorporated within the model, and heterogeneity could be captured (Standfield et al., 2014). However, a more complex decision would have required a different approach in terms of both model type and software, and because of patient histories and patient-level data, would have required a larger amount of computing power, especially when performing comprehensive sensitivity analysis (Briggs et al., 2006). Patient-level data would have also been difficult, or even impossible to identify. For example, utility values in a given year would not only rely on current age, BMI and current health state, but on past health risks and disease incidences, and would have to be patient level. Being able to find the appropriate data inputs would be challenging.

Markov models were also the most commonly used models in the review of decision models in Chapter 6. The aim of the cost-effectiveness modelling was to assess the impact of adjusting weight-trajectories, and recreating a case-study of the Slimming World programme in Meads et al. (2014) was the chosen to be the most appropriate method. However, it should be noted that by underestimating cost-effectiveness in the decision model, the effect of changing weight-trajectories is also likely to be underestimated, as each additional kilogram of weight-loss provides less benefit in the model than in the real-world.

A key limitations is that for the weight-trajectories, as the predictions of weightchange are based on averages, there is a lower variance in weight-change than may be present in the real-world. In reality, there may be some individuals that gain more weight than they lost during the Slimming World programme, and some individuals that continue to lose weight after leaving the Slimming World programme. However, regression models will use the data available to make a projection of weight-change for each individual, and these projections will tend to the average expected value of weight-change.

As well as this, there were no gender differences according to disease rates and mortality within the model. Costs and QALY discounts for diseases were also assumed to be additive, which was a simplifying assumption, and Mortality rates associated with MI and stroke did not change over time.

Another limitation was that only three disease states were included in the model. As only type II diabetes, stroke and myocardial infarction were the only diseases related to obesity included in the cost-effectiveness model, the cost-

effectiveness of interventions may be understated by estimations made by the model. It is possible that the weight-reduction seen in the intervention group may have contributed positively through increase in quality of life unobserved by the model.

As well as cost-effectiveness potentially being underestimated due to not all disease states being included in the model, there are potential spill over effects that have been found when individuals attending weight-management programmes. These spill over effects come from when individuals who attend these programmes are in families and encourage their partners and children to improve their lifestyles through improving diet quality and frequency of exercise. This creates positive effects on public health which is again unobserved by the cost-effectiveness model.

The next chapter will use the cost-effectiveness model described in this chapter to make estimations of the cost-effectiveness of the Slimming World. Following this, sensitivity and scenario analysis will be performed to assess the impact of changing assumptions, and identify the importance of using sophisticated methods of projecting long-term weight-change.

# Chapter 10: The Results of Cost-Effectiveness Modelling and the Impact of Changing Assumptions of Effectiveness

This chapter will present the results of cost-effectiveness modelling, with reference to the final aim of the PhD – to investigate the impact of changing assumptions on estimates of cost-effectiveness. The stages of analysis performed in this chapter were set out in the previous chapter, which discussed the methods of cost-effectiveness modelling. This chapter first assesses the base-case scenario of weight-trajectories with deterministic parameters. Following this, sensitivity analysis of the base-case was performed to identify the influence of parameters and the ranges of estimates to cost-effectiveness estimates through varying these parameters. Following this, various scenarios of weight-change trajectories in both the intervention group and control group were analysed.

# 10.1 Results from the Base-Case Scenario

The first stage of analysis using the cost-effectiveness model was a deterministic analysis of the base-case using point estimates of parameter values, with the assumptions in the base-case being derived through the theoretical and empirical findings throughout this PhD. The base-case weight change assumptions were run in the model initially to assess the effects of the intervention against the control group under the base-case assumption – where individuals follow the background weight-trajectory from baseline for the full duration of the time horizon.

Table 72 shows the outputs of the model against the control group in terms of the BMI of participants, the disease rates, and the mortality rate at two time points, 2-years and 6-years. Two-years represented the end of the maximum potential time an individual could be involved in the Slimming World programme in the model, and 6-years was the point at which all weight had been regained and all participants had re-joined the background weighttrajectory. Mean BMI was shown for the full 10,000 sample of participants. Outputs at the end of the time-horizon were not shown as at the end of the time-horizon, 99% of both the intervention and control groups had reached mortality.

Measure	Slimming World	Control Group	Incremental Value
2-Year Outcomes			
Mean BMI without mortality (kg/m²)	32.00	33.17	-1.17
BMI >30kg/m² (%)	58.3	63.2	-4.9
BMI >40kg/m <sup>2</sup> (%)	8.8	14.2	-5.4
6-Year Outcomes			
Mean BMI without mortality (kg/m²)	33.07	33.32	-0.25
BMI >30kg/m <sup>2</sup> (%)	65.2	65.6	-0.4
BMI >40kg/m <sup>2</sup> (%)	13.0	14.5	-1.5

Table 72: Outputs from the Base-Case at 2-Years and 6-Years

Table 72 shows that Slimming World was effective at reducing the proportion of individuals with BMIs over 30kg/m<sup>2</sup> and 40kg/m<sup>2</sup> at the end of the intervention period, as well as at 6-years, although the incremental value was lower at 6-years.

Table 73 shows the outcomes across the different time horizons in terms of life years. The table shows Slimming World provided a marginal amount of life years at 2-years and 6-years, but provided a larger amount of healthy life years and QALYs. This was likely because all participants enter the model at age 43, and mortality around this age caused by a high BMI is unlikely. Over the full lifetime time-horizon, the Slimming World programme provided an additional 0.059 life years per person and 0.147 life years in the healthy state. When adjusting life years for quality of life, Slimming World provided an additional 0.056 QALYs per person over the full time-horizon.

Table 73: Health Outcomes in the Base-Case

Measure	Slimming World	Control Group	Incremental Value
2-Years			
Life Years	1.989 (1.988-	1.989 (1.988-	0.000 (0.000-
	1.991)	1.991)	0.000)
Healthy Life Years	1.928 (1.919-	1.922 (1.912-	0.006 (0.004-
	1.937)	1.932)	0.008)
QALYs	1.689 (1.673-	1.676 (1.659-	0.013 (0.010-
	1.705)	1.693)	0.016)
6-Years			
Life Years	5.843 (5.818-	5.842 (5.817-	0.001 (0.000-
	5.868)	5.867)	0.003)
Healthy Life Years	5.483 (5.426-	5.468 (5.411-	0.015 (0.004-
	5.549)	5.534)	0.033)
QALYs	4.468 (4.412-	4.446 (4.389-	0.022 (0.012-
	4.526)	4.506)	0.035)
Lifetime			
Life Years	28.846 (27.700-	28.787	0.059 (0.001-
	29.979)	(27.650-	0.206)
		29.897)	
Healthy Life Years	24.452 (23.137-	24.305	0.147 (0.015-
	25.790)	(23.013-	0.458)
		25.600)	
QALYs	13.433 (12.958-	13.377	0.056 (0.016-
	13.924)	(12.895-	0.144)
		13.865)	

\*95% confidence intervals in parentheses

The costs derived for each group in the base-case scenario in the model are shown in Table 74, below. The table shows that at 2-years, the intervention costs an additional £100.63 per person on average, with the incremental cost being reduced when considering a longer time-horizon of 6 years. When

considering a full lifetime time-horizon, the intervention is cost-saving due to the lower disease rates reducing the burden of care on health-care providers in the long-term. This is important when considering the current financial climate and the scarcity of resources available to health care commissioners.

Measure	Slimming World	Control Group	Incremental Value
2-Year Costs	£425.12	£324.49	£100.63 (£85.18-
	(£291.50-	(£182.43-	£113.71)
	£602.21)	£508.64)	
6-Year Costs	£1,301.94	£1,224.16	£77.78 (£23.69-
	(£805.95-	(£708.10-	£110.67)
	£1,907.10)	£1,850.44)	
Lifetime Costs	£7,096.61	£7,133.09	-£36.47 (-£354.95-
	(£3,956.99-	(£3,916.47-	£100.25)
	£11,042.31)	£11,230.23)	

#### Table 74: Costs in the Base-Case

\*95% confidence intervals in parentheses

Table 75 shows the estimates of cost-effectiveness, derived from the QALYs and costs presented in Table 73 and Table 74 respectively. The table illustrates that the intervention is cost-effective under all three time-horizons under a cost-effectiveness threshold of £20,000 per QALY. When considering longer time-frames, the intervention becomes more cost-effective as the effects of the intervention have more time to manifest themselves. Over the course of a lifetime, the intervention dominates the control group, with a net benefit of  $\pounds$ 1,157.99 per person. This is a large return when considering the cost of funding the intervention was only  $\pounds$ 121.32 per person.

Measure	Incremental Value
2-Years	
Cost per QALY	£7,584.04 (£5,981.39-£10,783.58)
Net Benefit	£164.74 (£90.61-£218.60)

6-Years	
Cost per QALY	£3,536.14 (£767.94-£8,93.82)
Net Benefit	£362.15 (129.95-£658.63)
Lifetime	
Cost per QALY	SW dominates (-£3,595.80-
	£5,950.67)
Net Benefit	£1,157.99 (£223.04-£3,195.08)

\*95% confidence intervals in parentheses

# 10.1.1 One-Way Sensitivity Analysis

To assess the robustness of estimations of cost-effectiveness made by the model, the impact of each parameter group within the model was tested. By setting each group of parameters to 75% and 125% of the deterministic point estimate in turn, the tornado plot in Figure 38 was created. The plot shows that the most influential parameters were the utility cost from being in BMI groups above a healthy BMI, and the discount rate. The largest positive effect on net benefit came from reducing the discount rate, which increased the net benefit by £164.58 to £1,322.57. The largest negative effect on net benefit came from increasing the utility decrement of being in BMI groups above healthy BMI, which reduced the net benefit of the Slimming World programme by £163.32 to a net benefit of £994.67. The group of parameters with the smallest effect on net benefit was the mortality rate from disease.



### Figure 38: A Tornado Plot of One-Way Sensitivity Analysis

When using a discount rate of 1.5%, the largest effect on cost-effectiveness was reported. Changing the discount rate to 1.5% resulted in an increase in QALYs gained to 0.076, whilst the cost-saving increased to £88.80 per person. The lifetime net benefit was found to be £1,600.18 per person. At 2-years and 6-years, the intervention remained cost-effective, but not cost-saving, with ICERs of £7,492.96 and £3,355.16 per QALY and net benefits of £167.57 and £377.33 per person at 2 and 6 years respectively. Intuitively, adjusting the discount rate only had a small effect at 2 and 6 years, but a larger effect on lifetime results as outcomes further in the future are affect most sensitive to changes to discount rates.

### 10.1.2 Probabilistic Sensitivity Analysis of the Base-Case

A probabilistic sensitivity analysis (PSA) was performed by running 10,000 Monte Carlo simulations with random draws from parameter distributions, including random draws for the coefficient values in regression models predicting weight-change each year. Table 76 shows the mean results of the

264

PSA across the 10,000 simulations of the base-case of effectiveness assumptions for a lifetime time-horizon.

Outcome	Mean Value	Worst Outcome	Best Outcome
		Values	Values
QALYs	0.0594	0.00742	0.427
Costs	-£42.04	£128.32	-£1,441.51
Cost per QALY	£508.68	£15,299.53	SW dominates
Net Benefit	£1229.74	£34.86	£9,046.76

Table 76: Results of PSA on Cost-Effectiveness for the Base-Case

The Slimming World programme provided a greater number of QALYs than the control group in each of the 10,000 simulations, with the minimum number of incremental QALYs provided being 0.007 per person. As well as providing a positive effect on QALYs in each simulation, the Slimming World programme was also cost-effective against a threshold of £20,000 per QALY in every simulation. The Slimming World programme was estimated to be cost-saving in 52.9% of simulations.

The incremental QALYs and costs of each of the 10,000 sets of random draws of parameter values were plotted in Figure 39, below, with the cost effectiveness threshold being plotted, and all 10,000 points being plotted to the right of the threshold.



Figure 39: Cost-Effectiveness Plane in the Base-Case

As the intervention was cost-effective over the control group in 100% of cases, the value of information was estimated to be zero, as the intervention was the optimal choice in all 10,000 simulations.

Figure 40 shows the cost-effectiveness acceptability curve, which illustrates that at the threshold of £15,299.53 per QALY and above, the probability that the intervention is cost-effective over usual care is 100%, but this probability declines as the willingness to pay declines.



Figure 40: Cost-Effectiveness Acceptability Curve in the Base-Case

# 10.2 Alternate Weight-Trajectory Scenarios

Following analysis of the effect of PSA, the impact of adjusting the assumptions regarding effectiveness was investigated. The scenarios, taken from Chapter 9, were tested in turn and compared against the assumptions for weight-trajectories for the control group in the base-case. The base-case assumptions were judged to be the most plausible projections of weight-trajectories, and so the results from the alternative scenarios were compared with the base-case results, which is listed as scenario 1. The scenarios are listed again, below, with participants who regained all weight-loss reverting to matching the control group trajectory, and those who did not match the control group trajectory continuing at the background trajectory after weight-regain had occurred.

- Scenario 1 (base-case): Heckman-correction model weight-change projections at 2-years and meta-regression weight-regain model predicting regain up to year 6
- Scenario 2: Heckman weight-loss projections at 1-year for those who stopped attending before the end of the first year, and 2-years for those who continued attending. Those who dropped out before the first year regained weight up to year 3 as predicted by the Slimming World follow-

up study model, whilst those who continued attending regained weight to year 6 according to the meta-regression weight regain model.

- Scenario 3: LOCF weight-change at 2-years and weight-regain up to 6years as predicted by meta-regression model.
- Scenario 4: LOCF weight-change at 1-year for those who dropped out before the end of the first year, and LOCF weight-change at 2-years for those who continued attending. Those who dropped out before the first year regained weight up to year 3 as predicted by the Slimming World follow-up study model, whilst those who continued attending regained weight to year 6 according to the meta-regression weight regain model.
- Scenario 5: BOCF at 1-year for those who stopped attending before 6months and LOCF for those who stopped attending before 1-year, and LOCF at 2-years for those who continued attending past 1-year. Weightregain from the meta-regression model up to year 6 for all.

Table 77, shows outcomes in terms of BMI at both 2-years and 6-years. Scenario 5, which assumed BOCF for those who stopped attending before 6months, had the greatest proportion of obese and severely obese individuals at 2-years, which is expected as the assumptions in the first 2-years were the most conservative. Scenarios 3 and 4, which assumed LOCF weight-change as the measure of effectiveness in the weight-loss phase, had the lowest estimates of mean BMI, which is again expected as no regain was assumed to occur after dropout for these individuals.

Scenario	Mean BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	BMI >30kg/m <sup>2</sup>	BMI >40kg/m <sup>2</sup>	
2-Year				
1 (base case)	32.00	58.33%	8.79%	
2	32.03	57.91%	9.19%	
3	31.49	52.49%	9.81%	
4	31.76	54.78%	9.74%	
5	32.55	59.92%	12.41%	
6-Year				

Table 77: BMI Outcomes	in	Scenario	Analysis
------------------------	----	----------	----------

1 (base case)	33.07	65.19%	12.97%
2	32.41	60.70%	10.60%
3	33.02	64.20%	13.11%
4	32.29	58.93%	10.89%
5	33.07	63.89%	13.36%

At year 6, scenarios 1, 3 and 5, which all took weight regain from the metaregression weight-regain model, had the highest mean BMIs and proportion of obese and severely obese individuals. The meta-regression weight-regain model predicted a faster weight-regain than the Slimming World follow-up model, and was also implemented for a longer possible time-period, due to the follow-up model only having a maximum of 3-years of follow-up time. This helps to explain why the outcomes in scenarios 2 and 4 are more favourable in terms of BMI outcomes. The scenario analysis shows that at 6-years, the assumptions regarding weight-regain are more important that the assumptions about missing data in the weight-loss period.

Figure 41 shows the weight trajectories for each scenario of weight-change up to year 6, as well as the weight-trajectory in the control group. The figure illustrates the importance of weight-regain. When comparing scenario 2 and scenario 3, scenario 2 provides less weight-loss, with the mean BMI at 2-years being over half a BMI point lower. However, as scenario 2 assumes a slower rate of weight-regain, much of this weight-loss is maintained in the long-term, with the mean BMI in scenario 3 becoming greater before year 3. At year 6, the mean BMI in scenario 2 is over half a BMI point less than in scenario 3, and this difference is assumed to be maintained in the long-term as all participants continue on the background weight- trajectory after year 6, when the weight-regain period is assumed to have ended.



Figure 41: Weight-Change over Time for each Scenario

A summary of the outputs in terms of incremental QALYs, costs and costeffectiveness is shown in Table 78, below, with the base-case again being shown for comparison. The table illustrates that all 5 scenarios were costeffective at each time point, with net benefit increasing with the length of the time-horizon considered. As QALYs and costs were derived from BMI groups, similar results for BMI outcomes were seen in estimates of cost-effectiveness. Therefore, scenarios 2 and 4, which had the least weight-regain, both estimated the intervention to provide over £4,000 of net benefit per person, which was much greater than the net benefit estimated in scenarios 1, 3 and 5. This was possible despite scenarios 2 and 4 providing only the second least and second largest net benefit at 2-years – which marked the end of the maximum intervention phase. This illustrates the importance of long-term assumptions regarding weight-regain are for long-term estimates of costeffectiveness. Table 78: Results of Scenario Analysis on QALYs, Costs and Cost-Effectiveness

Scenario	Incremental QALYs	Incremental Costs	ICER	Net Benefit
2-Year				
1 (base case)	0.013	£100.63	£7,584.04	£164.74
2	0.013	£101.06	£7,714.50	£160.94
3	0.016	£95.30	£6,108.97	£216.70
4	0.015	£97.20	£6,567.57	£198.80
5	0.008	£109.01	£14,231.07	£44.19
6-Year		077.70	00 500 44	0000.45
1 (base case)	0.022	£//./8	£3,536.14	£362.15
2	0.034	£39.78	£1,159.77	£646.22
3	0.025	£69.25	£2,770.00	£430.75
4	0.038	£31.46	£836.70	£720.54
5	0.015	£88.52	£6,021.77	£205.48
Lifetime				
1 (base case)	0.056	-£36.47	SW dominates	£1,157.99
2	0.180	-£410.38	SW dominates	£4,010.38
3	0.072	-£82.21	SW dominates	£1,512.21
4	0.200	-£448.28	SW dominates	£4,448.28
5	0.062	-£58.95	SW dominates	£1,290.95

When only considering the initial 2-year and 6-year periods, Slimming World was not cost-saving under any scenario. Over the lifetime time-horizon, Slimming World was cost-effective in all scenarios. The pattern that presents across the cost-effectiveness estimates is that using LOCF weight-change provides the largest level of cost-effectiveness in the short-term (scenarios 3 and 4). Including the weight-regain observed in the Slimming World follow-up study of those who left the programme provided the largest level of costeffectiveness in the long-term (scenarios 2 and 4). Together, these findings indicate that regain assumptions are more influential than assumptions regarding initial weight-loss for those who leave the programme when assessing cost-effectiveness with a lifetime time-horizon.

# 10.3 Testing Weight-Regain Scenarios used in Previous Economic Evaluations

As well as assessing realistic scenarios of weight-regain developed within this PhD, alternative assumptions about weight-regain, taken from the previous economic evaluations, reviewed in Chapter 6, were analysed. For each scenario, weight-change at 2-years came from the Heckman-correction model. Again, each scenario was run against the control group assumptions from the base-case. After weight-regain, participants joined the background weight trajectory. Outcomes were only assessed at the end of the full time-horizon, as 2-year outcomes were defined by the Heckman model in all scenarios, and weight-regain time-periods differ between scenarios. The scenarios are listed below:

- Scenario 6: No weight-regain
- Scenario 7: Annual decay of effect
- Scenario 8: Regain BMI points each year until the background rate was met
- Scenario 9: Linear regain over time to match the control group trajectory
- Scenario 10: Regain BMI points each year until baseline
- Scenario 11: Linear regain to baseline
- Scenario 12: Weight-regain defined by probabilities

Table 79 shows the range of results when reviewing various weight-regain assumptions from other economic evaluations was larger than identified earlier in the scenarios of weight-loss and weight-regain in Table 78. The net benefit from adjusting regain rates had a range of £4,871.33, compared with £3290.29 in the results in scenarios 1-5. Of the scenarios assessed, all seven were cost-

effective, with four being cost-saving over the course of a lifetime. The scenario which provided the largest net benefit was scenario 6, which was as expected, as the scenario assumed no weight-regain, which meant the intervention group maintained the benefits from the weight-loss phase for the full time-horizon. The scenario which provided the least benefit was scenario 9. This was also to be expected as in this scenario a linear regain that matched the control group's weight at 5-years was assumed, and in this case, all no benefit remained after this time-point, unlike in the other scenarios. Scenario 8 was the only other scenario assuming regain to match the control group, but as the rate of regain was slow with participants only regaining 0.36 BMI points per year, at least some benefit to the programme remained after 20-years, which is why the net benefit in scenario 8 is greater. Scenarios 7 and 12 both provided lower net benefit that scenario 8, despite scenario 8 assuming a regain to match the control group. This was because in scenario 7, the decay of effect of 50% per year meant that the effect diminished quickly in the first two to three years, with the remaining effect diminishing slowly over time. In scenario 12, the majority of the sample regained all weight loss to the control group at 1year, which lowered the potential for benefit in the long-term. The plausibility of the effect of adjusting assumption on outcomes helps to provide internal validation to the model.

Scenario	Incremental QALYs	Incremental Costs	ICER	Net Benefit
Lifetime				
1 (base- case)	0.056	-£36.47	SW dominates	£1,158.47
6	0.230	-£585.18	SW dominates	£5,185.18
7	0.037	£32.92	£894.57	£703.08
8	0.046	-£3.74	SW dominates	£917.74
9	0.020	£84.15	£4,228.64	£313.85
10	0.084	-£118.90	SW dominates	£1,792.90

11	0.048	£1.87	£39.12	£954.13
12	0.041	£13.80	£340.74	£796.20

When analysing the extreme values used in each of the scenario types, the net benefits over the course of a lifetime were identified and illustrated in the tornado plot in Figure 42. For scenarios 6 and 12, no alternative values were tested, and so the median value of net benefit was plotted. For scenario 9 both the low and high estimates were lower than the deterministic estimate of net benefit in the base-case, with the opposite being true for scenario 10. The tornado plot illustrates the impact of changing assumptions of weight-regain, with the ranges being much larger than the ranges identified in the one-way sensitivity analysis of model parameters. The lowest value of net benefit was £186.64 which was seen in both scenarios 7 and 9, where all weight-loss was regained in the first year after leaving the programme. The greatest net benefit was £5,181.34, which came from scenarios 6 and 7, where all weight-loss was maintained. The range of estimated net benefits was £4994.74.





The ranges illustrate the problem with previous economic evaluations, and the assumptions regarding weight-regain. The low estimates of net benefit come from making the assumption that all individuals regain weight-quickly, with the high estimates of net benefit being derived from scenarios where either all

individuals maintain the weight-loss, or they all maintain some weight-loss for a long-time before eventually regaining all weight-loss. In reality, it is more likely that different individuals regain weight-loss at different rates and that whilst the majority of individuals will regain their weight-loss, there are some individuals are able to maintain a permanent weight-loss, which is why applying different rates of regain for different individuals is important.

# 10.4 Adjusting the Control group Assumptions and Background Trajectories

Assumptions regarding the control group, and the weight-trajectories for individuals who did not participate in the intervention were tested to identify the importance of the assumptions. Table 80 shows the outputs for the alternative scenarios for the control group with control group scenario 1 being the scenario in the base-case. The alternative scenarios are shown in the list below:

- Control Group Scenario 2: Baseline weight was maintained for the first 2 years before joining the background weight-trajectory.
- Control Group Scenario 3: The control group lost 1kg at year-1 and maintained this weight-loss at year-2 before joining the background weight-trajectory.
- Control Group Scenario 4: Baseline weight was maintained for the first 6 years before joining the background weight-trajectory.

The analysis shows that holding weight constant during the intervention phase (control group scenario 2), and assuming baseline weight was maintained for the first 6-years (control group scenario 4) reduced net benefit, which is as expected considering the intervention provides a lower comparative effect over the control group. Assuming a 1kg weight-loss in the control group (control group scenario 3) further reduced the net benefit provided by the intervention, and meant the intervention was no longer cost-saving. This range of outcomes shows a relatively small impact of adjusting control group assumptions compared with adjusting assumptions of weight-trajectory in the intervention group, especially considering that a flat 1kg weight-loss per person maintained at 2-years would be a reasonably optimistic outcome for a control group in usual care.

Control	Incremental	Incremental	ICER	Net Benefit
Group	QALYs	Costs		
Scenario				
Lifetime				
1 (base-	0.0561	-£36.47	SW dominates	£1,158.47
case)				
2	0.0506	-£18.88	SW dominates	£1,030.88
3	0.0335	£30.90	£922.39	£639.10
4	0.0461	-£3.49	SW dominates	£925.49

### Table 80: Outputs for Alternative Control Group Scenarios

### 10.4.1 Analysis of Adjustments to Background Weight-Trajectories

The final stage of analysis was to test the effect of changing assumptions about background weight-trajectories, to assess the importance of trajectories unrelated to the intervention. Table 81 shows the outcomes when adjusting background weight-trajectories. For all scenarios, is was assumed the intervention group followed the base-case assumptions until year-6, and the control group followed control group scenario 4 – so that both the intervention group and the control group joined the background weight-trajectory at year 6. Background scenario 1 used the background weight-trajectory in the basecase. The scenarios are listed below:

- Background scenario 2: No weight-change
- Background scenario 3: 1kg gain per year
- Background scenario 4: 0.429kg gain per year

When assuming no background weight-change after 6-years (background scenario 2), the estimated net benefit of the intervention increased, despite the difference between the BMI of participants in the intervention group and control group being constant. When considering a weight-gain of 1kg per year (background scenario 3), the opposite effect occurred; net benefit fell.

Background	Incremental	Incremental	ICER	Net Benefit
Scenario	QALYs	Costs		
Lifetime				
1 (control group scenario 4)	0.0461	-£3.49	SW dominates	£925.49
2	0.0506	-£18.88	SW dominates	£1,030.88
3	0.0333	£32.88	£987.39	£633.12
4	0.0398	£11.88	£298.49	£784.12

Table 81: Outputs for Alternative Background Trajectory Rates over a Lifetime

In background scenario 3, the increase in weight of 1kg per year resulted in the mean BMI of the intervention group being 51.76kg/m<sup>2</sup> at age 100 in compared with a mean BMI of 30.27kg/m<sup>2</sup> at age 100 for the intervention group in the base case. This was a result of the total number of QALYs in each cohort decreasing, as BMI in both groups was higher, leading to higher disease and mortality rates. Therefore, the total number of QALYs gained over the control group was reduced.

## 10.5 Alternative Programme Consideration

The alternative programme of 12-weeks was assessed to understand the outcomes if the effect of the 12-week GP referral was considered to be the intervention. When considering only the first 12-weeks of the Slimming World programme, and up to 4-years of regain, as assumed in the base-case, the intervention cohort gained 0.0244 QALYs on average over the course of a lifetime. The incremental cost was £51.63 per person which meant the intervention was cost-effective with an ICER of £2,116.10, which equated to a net benefit of £436.37. It was not cost-saving, in contrast to scenarios 1-5. It is understandable that this scenario is less cost-effective than scenarios 1-5 as all participants begin weight-regain after week 12 rather than continuing to lose weight. This meant that mean BMI was 32.96kg/m<sup>2</sup> at 2-years and 33.19kg/m<sup>2</sup> at years 2 and 6, which was the highest in all 5 scenarios.

At 2-years, the cost per QALY was £24,682.80, which gives a net benefit of -£21.83. This means that the programme is not cost-effective when only considering a 2-year time-horizon. At 6-years, the cost per QALY fell to £14,131.33, which was cost-effective against the £20,000 per QALY threshold. This shows that even when only considering the intervention to compromise of the initial 12-week programme, and instantly begin to regain weight, the intervention is cost-effective over a lifetime, although less cost-effective than when assuming up to two-years of weight-loss.

### 10.6 Probabilistic Sensitivity Analysis of Selected Scenarios

The scenarios assessed with probabilistic sensitivity analysis were assessed to view the range of outcomes that may come from providing the intervention. Each scenario was created using assumptions already analysed in this chapter, and combined into a new scenario of overall weight-trajectory, which are listed in Table 82.

Scenario	Weight-Loss	Weight-Regain	Background Rate
Best-Case	Scenario 3	Scenario 6	Background Scenario 2
Worst-Case	Scenario 5	Scenario 8 with control group matched at year- 3	Background Scenario 3
Meads et al. (2014)	Base-Case	Scenario 6	Background Scenario 4

Table 82: Selected Scenarios

Probabilistic sensitivity analysis was performed on each scenario at both 6years and for the full life time-horizon. For each of the scenarios listed in Table 83, to reduce computational burden, 1,000 iterations were run, rather than the lifetime base-case which had 10,000 iterations. The purpose of the PSA was to fully understand the range of outcomes possible from implementing the intervention.

Table 83 shows the results of the PSA. All scenarios were cost-effective in 100% of Monte Carlo simulations at the £20,000 per QALY threshold, other than the worst-case scenario after 2-years, with only 959 of the 1,000 scenarios reporting a cost-effective outcomes. However, at 6-years and over a

full life-time, even the worst-case scenario was cost-effective in all simulations at both time-points. The best-case scenario and the scenario in Meads et al. (2014) were also cost-saving in over 99% of cases when considering the full lifetime time horizon, which is important in the current financial climate, with health care commissioners being under pressure to find affordable solutions to public health problems. In the base-case, which represents the most plausible outcome, there is still over a 50% likelihood that the intervention is cost-saving.

Scenario	Mean Net Benefit	Min Net Benefit	Max Net Benefit	Probability Cost- Effective (%)	Probability Cost- Saving (%)
2-Year					
Base- Case	£149.58	£42.75	£149.58	100.0	0.0
Best-Case	£348.40	£102.61	£203.68	100.0	0.0
Worst- Case	£29.53	-£20.65	£99.68	95.9	0.0
Meads et al. (2014)	£149.58	£42.75	£149.58	100.0	0.0
6-Year					
Base- Case	£345.41	£59.82	£1,114.99	100.0	1.7
Best-Case	£920.50	£584.63	£1,524.38	100.0	34.2
Worst- Case	£125.96	£42.96	£234.55	100.0	0.0
Meads et al. (2014)	£730.54	£321.10	£1,245.10	100.0	20.6
Lifetime					
Base- Case	£1229.74	£34.86	£9,046.76	100.0	52.9
Best-Case	£6,661.72	£3,341.61	£11,019.88	100.0	99.9
Worst- Case	£527.75	£218.34	£1,024.44	100.0	22.6
Meads et al. (2014)	£4,387.35	£1,517.77	£8712.41	100.0	99.5

#### Table 83: PSA Outcomes for Selected Scenarios

If these results are extrapolated to the full population of adults that are either overweight or obese, and it is assumed that the outcomes of the sample of 10,000 in the modelling is generalisable to the full population the impact of using more informed assumptions becomes clearer. It was estimated in the previous chapter that the population of adults that are overweight or obese in the UK is 42,518,714. If this is multiplied by the incremental QALYs gained per person of 0.056 per person, a total of 2,381,048 QALYs are gained with a cost saving of £1.55bn. When considering the best-case scenario, the total number of QALYs gained was estimated to be 12,755,614, with a cost-saving of £28.97bn. This shows the difference in projections that is possible, coming from different assumptions regarding unknown weight-change trajectories after individuals leave the weight-management programme.

# 10.7 Hypothetical Scenarios of Weight-Change and Weight-Regain

The final analysis was to assess cost-effectiveness outcomes for different combinations of initial weight-loss and different periods of time in which weight-loss is regained. Ten separate values for weight-change were used (0.5kg-5kg) and compared against ten separate values for time period of weight-regain (1-year to 10-years). The net benefit estimations for each of the 100 hypothetical scenarios are shown below in the two-way sensitivity analysis table in Figure 43. Participants regained weight to match the control group, with the control group following the background weight-trajectory from baseline. Each scenario is colour coded where red represents non-cost-effective scenarios, orange represents cost-effective scenarios and green represents cost-saving scenarios.

Weig	ht-Loss	(kg)									
0.5	-68	-53	-39	-23	-6	12	32	55	81	108	
1	-32	-8	18	46	73	102	134	168	205	244	
1.5	4	40	74	111	151	191	235	281	327	377	
2	47	92	137	185	235	285	339	396	452	517	
2.5	84	139	195	253	316	377	444	509	581	654	
3	127	191	260	328	400	475	550	631	714	797	
3.5	162	237	316	394	478	564	654	744	839	936	
4	198	283	371	465	559	656	754	857	961	1072	
4.5	231	327	426	529	633	741	853	968	1082	1205	
5	264	371	481	592	707	829	950	1075	1203	1335	
											Reg
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	(ye

Figure 43: Two-way Sensitivity Analysis showing ICERs (£) for Varying Levels of Weight-Loss and Time for Weight-Regain

The sensitivity analysis shows that the intervention is cost-effective in 93 of the 100 scenarios. Only the scenarios with small magnitudes of weight-loss and faster weight regain rates were not cost-effective over a lifetime. When considering a weight-regain time-frame of 6-years or more, even a 0.5kg weight-loss initially was sufficient to be cost-effective. If a 10-year weight-regain time-frame was assumed, the intervention was cost-saving in 4 of the 10 weight-loss scenarios.

# 10.8 Discussion

These analyses have demonstrated the importance of assumptions regarding long-term effectiveness when evaluating behavioural weight-management programmes. One-way sensitivity analysis assessing the impact of adjusting parameter values showed that estimates of QALYs and costs were robust to changing parameter values to realistic extremes, with the largest impact coming from adjusting the utility decrements from BMI and the discount rate. However, when adjusting weight-change scenarios, the impact on outcomes was much larger.

When varying the parameters inside the model one-by-one, estimates of costeffectiveness were robust, with the largest impact of net benefit being an increase by £164.58 per person, and the range of net benefits being £327.90 (£994.67-£1,321.30). When assessing the impact of PSA on parameters including coefficients in the weight-change model, it was found that the intervention was cost-effective in all 10,000 Monte Carlo simulations. However, the range was much greater at £9,011.90 (£34.86-£9,046.76).

Scenario analysis found that by using LOCF weight-change, a greater weightchange was predicted at 2-years than the Heckman-correction model, whilst BOCF analysis predicted the lowest level of weight-loss. However, whilst using LOCF analysis for weight-change in the first two years did have a positive impact on cost-effectiveness, the rate of regain in the following period was much more influential in terms of lifetime cost-effectiveness, with the scenarios that had less or slower regain following the intervention period having much higher levels of net benefit. This highlights the importance of long-term weighttrajectories when modelling weight-change programmes. If a programme achieves a moderate weight-loss initially which participants are able to maintain, it may be more effective in the long-term than a large weight-loss with poor weight-maintenance. Therefore, programmes should be encouraged to follow-up participants of programmes in the long-term, and if possible provide assistance with weight-maintenance after the intervention has ended. Where follow-up is not possible, sensitivity analysis of weight-regain should be carried out extensively so that decision makers are able to understand the effects of various potential and plausible scenarios.

By performing analysis using the various scenarios of weight-regain taken from previous evaluations of weight-management programmes, the importance of using realistic and plausible assumptions of this regain was made clear, and seen by the large range in values for estimated QALYs and costs. The range of estimated net benefits was £4,994.74, with the range being the difference between assuming that all weight-loss is regained at year 3, and assuming that all weight-loss is maintained permanently. The range shows the importance of accurate assumptions regarding weight-regain, with largest effect on net benefit coming from changing assumptions regarding weight-regain in the intervention group.

NICE guidance for economic modelling of weight-management programmes stated that the largest limitation to modelling of weight-management programmes was the lack of evidence regarding weight-regain (Brown et al., 2013). Similar to the previous literature, the guidelines tested the same assumption for all individuals. A decay of effect each year was assumed, similar to the assumption used by Ginsberg and Rosenberg (2012) and Cobiac et al. (2010). However, the guidance used regain rates of 5%-40% regain per year, with little evidence for these assumptions. This shows that official guidance from NICE may have been poor information due to the basic assumptions made regarding weight-regain with little evidence.

Assumptions regarding weight-change in the control group had less effect on estimates of net benefit, but this was due to the smaller range of plausible scenarios. This is because control groups have less uncertainty regarding weight-loss and weight-regain. There is less need to test extreme scenarios as low-intensity 'usual care' interventions are unlikely to have a large mean impact across all individuals. Therefore, adjustments to control group assumptions do not drastically impact on estimates of net benefit, and modellers should prioritise making predictions regarding weight-trajectories in the intervention group.

Adjusting background weight-trajectory assumptions also had a limited effect on net benefit in comparison with assumptions about weight-regain. However, the range of effect was large, considering the constant difference between BMI in the intervention group and control group. This was due to unrealistic assumptions regarding weight-trajectory which undermined estimates of net benefit. Gaining weight indefinitely for the remainder of the lifetimes results in unrealistically large BMIs in older age, and inaccurate estimations of the QALYs in both groups. Modellers should ensure that background weighttrajectories are realistic and plausible, using information regarding weighttrajectories in population-level data.

When assessing the best- and worst-case scenarios of weight-change, even when assessing the worst-case scenario at 6-years, the programme was cost-effective in all of the 1,000 Monte Carlo simulations that were performed, and cost-saving in over 20% of cases over the course of a life-time. In the best-case scenario, the intervention was cost-saving in 99.9% of cases.

In terms of the effects on the Slimming World programme, Slimming World was cost-effective in all 10,000 of the scenarios in PSA of the base-case, and cost-saving in more than half. This suggests that policy makers can be confident that the Slimming World programme is a value for money investment in the long-term. Even when only considering weight-loss in the first 12-weeks, and

with the regain phase beginning immediately after, the Slimming World programme was cost-effective over usual care. The scenario analysis also showed that the programme was cost-effective at 2-years in all 5 scenarios, which again can provide policymakers with confidence that the money invested will see a return in terms of QALYs in the short-term.

When considering that the only cost of the intervention is the payment for the referral to Slimming World initially, the estimation that the programme is costeffective after two-years, is promising, especially when considering only the first 12-weeks of attendance are funded, and Slimming World participants are willing to self-fund to attend. The results show that commercial behavioural weight-management programmes such as Slimming World have great potential as a low-cost primary care strategy to reduce obesity prevalence, with the intervention often being cost-saving, and even cost-effective when only considering short time-horizons.

In summary, cost-effectiveness programmes, the analysis and sensitivity analysis in this chapter have shown that assumptions regarding weight-regain are the most important factor in assessing the cost-effectiveness of weightmanagement programmes. The next chapter will discuss how this PhD has addressed the questions set out at the beginning, and the recommendations made in light of the findings.

# Chapter 11: Discussion

The aim of this chapter is to discuss the PhD as a whole. This chapter will first present the research problem and the research questions that were set out in the opening chapter. The chapters in this PhD will then be discussed, alongside their findings, and how these findings contribute to answering the research questions and addressing the overall aim of this thesis. These findings will then be placed within the literature. The strengths and weaknesses of the research will be presented, before the suggestions of future research are made. Finally, the recommendations for future economic evaluations will be made in light of the findings in this PhD.

# 11.1 The Research Problem

The problem that this thesis aimed to address was the issues with long-term weight-trajectories following behavioural weight-management programmes, and how economic evaluations should attempt to address these issues when modelling cost-effectiveness. This was an important research topic as longterm trajectories after these weight-management programmes are unobserved, as observations are usually recorded when participants attend the programme during the intervention phase. As only the intervention period is observed in these programmes, and economic evaluations should model long-term outcomes, it is important that weight-management programmes correctly model long-term weight-trajectories.

The overall aim of this PhD was make recommendations for the improvement of the best practice for modelling the cost-effectiveness of weight-management programmes. These recommendations were made through testing various scenarios of weight-trajectories following weight-management programmes to illustrate the effect that errors in assumptions can have on estimates of costeffectiveness.

The following discussion will address how the findings answered the following five research questions, which were set out in Chapter 1:

1) Which economic and behavioural economic theories explain how individuals behave in regard to weight-management?

- 2) Are the hypothesis made by the theoretical framework reflected in real world data?
- 3) How have economic evaluations been modelled in the past?
- 4) What weight-trajectories can be expected following the completion of weight-management programmes?
- 5) What is the impact on cost-effectiveness of adjusting assumptions regarding long-term weight-trajectories?

### 11.2.1 Theoretical Framework of Weight-Management

To identify economic and behavioural economic theories of weightmanagement, a systematic review of the literature was performed in Chapter 2. When analysing the data in the identified papers, three themes of theories emerged in the literature to explain weight-management behaviour – rational choice, time-preference, and habits and self-control. Under these three themes, a theoretical framework was developed, in Chapter 3, to explain why individuals may rationally choose to be obese, why individuals may decide to sacrifice their long-term weight-management goal for short-term impulse, and why it may be difficult for individuals to be able to continue with weightmanagement successfully. The hypotheses made using the theoretical framework were used to build a regression model to predict weight-change within the case study of the Slimming World programme.

#### 11.2.2 The Slimming World Data

This PhD used the commercial weight-loss programme Slimming World as a case study for analysis, with Slimming World providing a dataset of members and outcomes for the purpose of this research. The theoretical framework created in Chapter 3 was used to inform the variables that were used in the regression modelling for the Slimming World data. In general, the hypotheses made regarding the influence of variables on weight-change were reflected in the Slimming World data, although causality is unknown and these relationships may have occurred for other reasons. This was shown by the agreement between the expected influence from the theoretical frameworks, and the signs of the coefficients in the regression models.

Because the sample size was so large, even very small differences were significant at the 5% level. Therefore, when reviewing the influence of variables, coefficients were assessed on whether they had a meaningful effect on weight-change, rather than solely statistical significance.

In the rational choice framework, a larger target weight-loss, less income deprivation, a greater starting weight, joining through a referral and attendances all had a significant positive effect on weight-loss, as predicted by the framework. Education also predicted increased weight-loss, although the magnitude of this impact was small, and when included in multivariate regression, predicted slightly less weight-loss. This may have be due to education and skills IMD level being a poor proxy for knowledge. It was assumed that those living in areas with a greater level of education and skills deprivation would be less able to process information provided to them and convert this into healthy behaviours. However, whilst this measure may be able to broadly represent the area, the difference in ability to process information by individual is likely not well captured.

An individual having diabetes was estimated to achieve less weight-loss, which was opposite to the hypothesis, although again this effect was small in magnitude. Diabetic status was included to represent a health shock, and that an individual who had received this health shock may have been more motivated to lose weight. However, it may be that individuals who are diabetic are less able to lose weight due to dietary and physical activity restrictions. Finally having a partner, children and full-time over part-time employment were included in the model. However, as these were judged to be poor proxies for the amount of free-time available, and as there was a large amount of nonrandom missing data involved with these variables, they were not included in analysis.

From the time-preference framework, both a greater BMI and an older age were found to be significant predictors of weight-loss, which was in line with the hypotheses made by the framework. The framework also hypothesised both education and diabetes would predict a greater weight-loss, although, as discussed earlier, neither of these yielded strong effects on weight-change.

In the habits & self-control framework, individuals who were more overweight

at the start of the programme were hypothesised to have worse weightmanagement behaviours to their strong habits in relation to eating. However, this was found to be not reflected in the real world data, as individuals who were heavier were estimated to lose more weight. This hypothesis was made by the rational choice framework though, where those who were more overweight were expected to lose more weight due to an increased motivation due to being further from their ideal weight. This means that the higher level of motivation from being more overweight enables individuals to overcome poor behaviours in regards to weight-management, but in the long-term, these individuals may have more difficulty maintaining weight-loss. The habits & selfcontrol framework did however correctly predict the influence of the different join-types on weight-loss. The framework hypothesised that those who rejoined the programme would lose less weight than those who had never been Slimming World members before, and that those who joined via a countdown would lose more than other members due to the long-term financial commitment made upon joining the programme.

Due to the theoretical framework being able to identify influential variables in regards to weight-change, the theories were able to be used to create predictions of weight-loss for individuals that left the Slimming World programme, to inform model building when analysing evidence of follow-up, and when predicting long-term weight-trajectories using the ELSA data.

Overall, the regression models created using these theories were found to be significant predictors of weight-loss when tested. Weight-loss for all participants of the case study programme was established using regression modelling techniques informed by economic and behavioural economic theories. As the drop-out rate in obesity interventions is so high, it is important to review the outcomes of all individuals and not only those who complete as drop-out may not be random, and so the outcomes are likely to be biased (Moroshko et al., 2011). By establishing predictors of weight-management behaviour, regression models made projections of weight-change that fell between BOCF imputed values and LOCF imputed values. The method of estimating weight-change for individuals improves upon using BOCF analysis as BOCF implies that for those that leave the programme, which is the vast majority, weight-management interventions do not provide any weight-loss, which is overly conservative (Kaiser et al., 2012). The methodology in this PhD

288
also improves upon LOCF analysis, which in weight-management programmes is likely to produce an overly optimistic estimate of effectiveness (Papp et al., 2008).

# 11.2.3 The Current Literature on Economic Evaluations of Weight-Management

To assess the current literature on economic evaluations in weightmanagement, a systematic review of the literature was undertaken. This review was an update of Griffiths et al. (2012), with a greater focus on cost-analysis in the evaluation of behavioural weight-management programmes. Economic evaluation is a tool to facilitate the allocation of scarce resources (Caro et al., 2012). However, long-term outcomes of interventions are often unobserved, and need long-term modelling to capture the potential outcomes in terms of costs and effects. When considering longer-term horizons, as economic evaluations for preventative care should, predicting weight-regain becomes a fundamental piece of analysis. NICE provides guidance on lifestyle weightmanagement interventions, and states that ideally cost-effectiveness should be assessed over at least 10-years (NICE, 2014). Improving the accuracy of costeffectiveness estimates is especially important in the current financial climates due to the funding cuts to public health care in the United Kingdom (The King's Fund, 2019). This means that now more than ever, health care commissioners must be confident that the new interventions they fund are value for money. The review found that previous decision models evaluating the costeffectiveness of weight-management programmes have made simplistic assumptions in regards to weight-regain, as shown in Chapter 6. The assumptions are often not grounded in theory or based on evidence, and the analyses often do not test alternate scenarios. In some cases, no weightregain following the programme was assumed (Smith et al., 2016). Generally, the cost-effectiveness models all assumed an identical method of weightregain for each individual, rather than, for example, using individual characteristics, the number of attendances an individual made, or the amount of weight-loss an individual experienced to make predictions of weight-regain (Ahern et al., 2017; Meads et al., 2014). Instead, evaluations made more broad assumptions such as all individuals regaining all weight-loss within a certain number of years, all individuals regaining a fixed amount of weight per year, or

a percentage decay of effect for all individuals (Thomas et al., 2017; Hoerger et al., 2015; Ginsberg and Rosenberg, 2012).

Despite long-term weight trajectories being a large unknown, past economic evaluations performed little sensitivity analyses to establish cost-effectiveness under alternative scenarios of post-programme weight-change. The ISPOR-SDSM Modelling Good Practices Task Force states that where long-term timehorizons are used for evaluation, and outcomes must be extrapolated beyond the available data, sensitivity analysis should be performed (Roberts et al., 2012). It is necessary also that this sensitivity analysis tests both upper and lower bounds of potential outcomes (Roberts et al., 2012). This is especially true in the case of weight-management intervention outcomes, as long-term weight-maintenance is unpredictable and is characterised by significant uncertainty (Hall and Kahan, 2018).

Due to uncertainty, these limited assumptions can lead to inaccurate projections regarding long-term weight-trajectories. This, in turn, can lead to inaccurate estimates of cost-effectiveness for the weight-management programmes. By investing in interventions that have errors in their methodology, it can lead to an inefficient allocation of resources, which can mean resources are reallocated from other, more cost-effective, healthcare interventions (Tan-Torres Edjeder, 2003).

As well as weight-regain assumptions often being basic, past economic evaluations mostly did not use appropriate assumptions when considering background weight-trajectories, which should be applied to both the intervention group and the control group after the weight-regain phase. It is important that a model represents reality as accurately as possible (Vemer et al., 2016). By making unrealistic assumptions of long-term weight trajectories, reality is not reflected. By assuming that weight is constant over time, this ignores that humans experience weight-change as they age, whilst also assuming a constant rate of weight-regain each year results in individuals having extremely large BMIs by the end of the time-horizon. Neither of these approaches represent what happens in the real-world, and so external validity of weight-change projections comes into question (Eddy et al., 2012). As bodyweight and BMI are the key drivers of health effects in the economic models, it must be ensured that the weight-trajectories are accurate, as these weight-trajectories define the effect of the intervention. As weight-maintenance is a key issue in ensuring the long-term effectiveness of weight-management programmes, as specified by NICE guidance, economic evaluations should put a greater focus into ensuring the problem is modelled correctly (Squires et al., 2016; NICE, 2014).

### 11.2.4 Evidence of Weight-Regain

The literature was searched for evidence of long-term follow-up weight-change observations after behavioural weight-management programmes, as data regarding long-term weight-change is generally unobserved in real-world weight-management programmes. Following weight-management programmes, the research in this PhD found that on average, individuals regain weight after leaving the weight-loss programme, with weight regain occurring at a declining rate over time. It was also found that because of the declining rate of weightregain, participants of weight-loss programmes on average did not regain weight to baseline, and were therefore able to maintain some weight-loss. This pattern was evident in both the meta-regression model built using a systematic review of the literature, and a regression model built using data from a followup study of Slimming World programme participants.

These findings were consistent with a systematic review of randomised controlled trials of dieting programmes (Mann, 2018). With weight-change behaviour, the reasoning behind decision making is complex, with many potential influencers. One reason is that individuals who need to lose weight initially are likely to have bad habits regarding weight-management. After these individuals have lost weight and been dieting for a long-time, they eventually will succumb to temptation and eventually revert to their old habits, which will cause weight-regain, and a trend towards their pre-weight-loss weight (Cleo et al., 2017). The alternative reason is biological, with the human body wanting to be at a set weight, and adjusting hormones and metabolism in an attempt to return to the physiological equilibrium (Ochner, 2013).

Furthermore, participants who lost more weight were expected to regain more weight, but still maintain a greater weight-loss over individuals who lost less weight when weight-regain flattened. Again, this pattern is consistent with previous literature (Sawamoto et al., 2017; Bacahar et al., 2018). A systematic

review of predictors of weight-loss maintenance found initial weight-loss was a positive predictor of weight-loss maintenance in 71.4% of cases, with the remaining 28.6% of cases being non-significant and 0% being negatively predictive (Varkevisser et al., 2018).

Another finding was that the majority of weight-regain came initially after leaving the programme, with the rate of weight-regain declining over time. A follow-up study of a sample of Slimming World members, undertaken by Slimming World, was also analysed to assess long-term weight-trajectories after leaving the programme, with similar results of weight-regain to the metaregression model. Although the meta-regression model predicted greater weight-regain, the pattern of weight-regain, with the rate of regain slowing over time and participants maintaining some weight-loss was also predicted by the regression model built using the Slimming World follow-up study. These two sources of data on weight-trajectories post-programme were used to inform weight-regain in the cost-effectiveness model after the initial 2-year weightloss phase at Slimming World. By using these sources, weight-regain rates in the decision model were defined by data from studies on behavioural weightmanagement programmes, with the magnitudes of regain depending upon individual characteristics, attendance, and weight-change within the intervention. By using this method, heterogeneity in effect was captured in predictions of weight-regain, rather than assuming an identical parameter value for all individuals. As discussed earlier, individuals who lose more weight, regain more weight, but are able to maintain a greater weight-loss. As well as this, being older and being male predicted greater success with weight-loss maintenance, and this was backed up by the literature (Varkevisser et al., 2018). The implications for these findings is that weight regain is varies by person, and economic modelling should reflect this heterogeneity seen in the real-world. Behavioural weight-management programmes can also learn from these findings and offer more support to subgroups that struggle to maintain weight-loss, whilst policymakers can target subgroups who are more successful with weight-loss maintenance, as interventions targeted at these subgroups should be more cost-effective.

#### 11.2.5 Background Weight-Trajectories

After the initial weight-regain following the weight-management programme had flattened, participants returned to background weight-trajectories that they would have followed if they had not been involved in an intervention. To reflect reality appropriately in the model, a dataset of bodyweight and BMI observations from the English Longitudinal Study of Aging, which has not been used in previous decision models evaluating weight-management programmes before, was analysed to create trends for weight-change over time. A regression model was built to predict weight-change each year for the individuals within the economic model. By building background weight-trajectories, realistic weight-trajectories for individuals in the control group, who did not receive the intervention, and for individuals after weight regain had flattened were created. Again, these trajectories were based on real-world data from the general population and created more valid projections when compared with previous economic evaluations (Eddy et al., 2012).

This improved upon much of the current economic evaluations where often, no background weight-trajectory was assumed, which meant that participants maintained the same weight for the remainder of their lives (Gray et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2016). Another common assumption was that individuals gained a fixed amount of weight per year, which meant that by the end of the model all individuals had very high BMIs, which is not clinically plausible (Trueman et al., 2016; Lewis et al., 2014).

## 11.2.6 Cost-Effectiveness Modelling and Testing Weight-Trajectory Assumptions

By bringing together theory, systematic literature reviews and evidence synthesis, econometric analyses and decision-analytical modelling, this PhD has been able to establish a more plausible scenario of long-term weightchange for participants of behavioural weight-management programmes. In the modelling in Chapters 9 and 10, the assumptions made regarding weighttrajectories in previous economic evaluations were tested against the basecase created in this PhD. Adjusting assumptions and parameter values regarding weight-trajectories was found to be the key influencer of estimates of cost-effectiveness by varying all parameters in the cost-effectiveness model. This is because the weight-regain assumption determines how long individuals in the intervention group receive the benefit of being in a lower BMI group and lower disease risk. If it is assumed that individuals regain weight-loss instantly, they only receive the benefits of weight-loss for the intervention period. However, if it is assumed that weight-loss is not regained, the individuals receive the benefits for the remainder of their life. Therefore, basic assumptions of weight-regain in decision modelling can lead to large errors in estimates of cost-effectiveness.

As these previous economic models have had flaws in their methods, it implies that previous weight-management programmes and guidance have been poorly informed by these models. NICE guidance regarding economic modelling of weight-management programmes acknowledges the importance of weightregain assumptions but then proceeds to use assumptions with little evidence to support them, testing scenarios of a decay of effect between 5% and 40%(Brown et al., 2013). In the open source model offered by Public Health England (2016), the model also uses very basic assumptions of weight-regain. The model predicts a flat increase in weight of 0.56kg per year for all individuals until participants reach baseline, at which the individuals remain at baseline weight for the remainder of the model. This evidence is taken from Johns et al. (2013), which identified the regain rate as 0.56kg per year from a review of studies with follow-up up to 1-year. This means that even in guidance regarding the modelling of cost-effectiveness from Government bodies, longterm weight-trajectory assumptions are extremely basic, and somewhat arbitrary.

## 11.3 Strengths and Weaknesses

The key strength to this PhD is that multiple approaches have been used to inform modelling, with both theory and evidence providing insight. For weighttrajectories within the model, projections have been made using information from the literature on economic and behavioural economic theories of weightmanagement, real-world data in a large-dataset from a weight-management programme, and evidence from the literature and population-level datasets

294

regarding long-term weight-trajectories in both weight-management programme participants and individuals in the UK. Once these approaches were combined to making overall weight-trajectories for individuals, the resulting weighttrajectories were plausible and passed validity tests.

This study has used a large dataset from a real-world commercial weightmanagement programme – Slimming World, with members coming from all demographic groups and from all over the United Kingdom, which means the outcomes are generalisable to a UK setting. As weight-management interventions are not administered in controlled environments, and focus on behavioural change when individuals are in the real-world, results from observational studies are also more generalisable to real-world (Hebert et al., 2016). As well as using real-world data for participants and weight-loss, weight-regain and background weight-trajectories were also defined by real world data, which improves the validity of estimates.

An extensive range of sensitivity analyses was performed in regard to weightchange trajectories. By testing assumptions from past-economic evaluations, this PhD has explored the impact of these assumptions on cost-effectiveness, and the large differences that are possible. As the base-case in this study is defined by real-world data and is a more informed and sophisticated projection of weight-change trajectories, the estimates of cost-effectiveness are able to illustrate the difference in estimates of cost-effectiveness compared with using basic assumptions.

Finally, the transparency of this study is another strength. Transparency in economic modelling is important so decision makers can understand the process behind modelling and the assumptions that have been made (Kent et al., 2019). This PhD has explained each stage of the model adaptation process and all the features of the cost-effectiveness model, where predictions come from, and the sources of the information.

In the Slimming World case-study, there were no defined limits on the time period assessed by Slimming World. Individuals that joined the Slimming World programme were able to attend for as long as they wanted to continue attending, which means that some individuals that are assumed be regaining weight in the cost-effectiveness model after 24-months may still be members of the Slimming World programme and losing weight. Not having defined limits, as well as individuals being able to come and go from the programme as they choose, also meant that individuals needed to be grouped into periods of time when they left the programme, in order to not overly complicate analysis. However, sensitivity analysis was performed where only the first 12-weeks of attendance at the Slimming World programme, as well as testing the impact of BOCF and LOCF analysis. In all cases weight-regain still had a larger effect on life-time cost-effectiveness than the weight-loss assumptions. As well as this, costs were largely based on assumptions, with the cost-effectiveness analysis including all costs in analysis, when in fact the majority of costs come from outof-pocket payments by participants who join Slimming World without any intervention. Another limitation of the study was that this study still relied on assumptions rather than observed data, which limits the certainty of estimates of cost-effectiveness, and the ability to illustrate error with predictions of costeffectiveness in the literature.

A further limitation in the study was that predictions of weight-regain in both the meta-regression study and Slimming World follow-up study were based on individuals who were willing to be followed up in the long-term. This introduced the potential for bias, as individuals who respond to follow-up may be more willing to respond if they have successfully maintained their weight-loss (Holzapfel et al., 2013, Hammer et al., 2009). Another limitation with these sources of weight-regain data was that both had reasonably low sample sizes, which limits the confidence in the evidence provided, and in the metaregression, few studies followed up participants over 4 years into the future. Ideally, evidence regarding weight-regain would have a large number of studies with very high response rates to follow-up and long-time frames for follow-up.

The final key limitation of this study is that the analysis did not use a discrete event simulation model. This is because in the Markov model, all individuals entered the model at the same age, and individuals were only able to transition to different BMI groups and health states each year, for simplicity. In simulation models, individual patient histories can be captured which would mean that event probabilities could depend on previous BMIs and past-disease states, whereas in Markov models event probabilities only depend on the current state, which is limiting as the probabilities are based on more limited

296

information about the individual (Standfield et al., 2014). As well this, Markov model health states are mutually exclusive, which is a simplification. The solution to this was creating co-morbidity health states, but this complicates the model as each combination of health states must be a separate health state. If a simulation model was used, it would have been able to incorporate more diseases which would have improved the accuracy of estimates of effectiveness. In the Markov model, individuals also could only be in one of 5 BMI groups, and individuals moved through the model each year depending on probabilities of transitioning from one BMI group to another. In a simulation model, individuals could be traced, and individuals specific outcomes could be analysed, rather than an estimate of total outcomes based on the number of people in each BMI group each year.

However, there were advantages to using a Markov model rather than a discrete event simulation model. The first of these was that a simulation model would have required a much larger amount of data to incorporate all the various interactions between diseases, the ability to use patient history, and the continuous transitions, rather than transitions each year (Almagooshi, 2015). A simulation model would have also required much more computational time, and when running many iterations of probabilistic sensitivity analysis on a sample of 10,000 individuals over a lifetime, this would have been problematic, due to the computational needs. Overall, Markov models are regarded as an appropriate modelling choice for weight-management programmes, and the Markov model used in this PhD is able to incorporate various assumptions regarding weight-trajectories, and effectively illustrate the impact of adjusting these assumptions, which suits the overall aim of the PhD.

## 11.4 Future Research

Future research should aim to identify trends in public health behaviours, and how well behaviour can be maintained. Both NICE guidance on weightmanagement programmes, and the literature on physical activity, have agreed that maintenance of effect is the key-driver of cost-effectiveness, but literature regarding maintenance of effect is limited (Brown et al., 2013, Gc et al., 2019). Studies should aim to follow-up participants of behavioural weight-change interventions in the long-term, in order to gain an insight into how well their participants are able to maintain weight-loss, and understand whether they need to better equip their participants with weight-maintenance strategies.

NICE guidelines suggest that a focus should be put on improving outcomes with regard to weight-regain but little research is available on long-term outcomes (Brown et al., 2013). If following up participants becomes more common for behavioural weight-management programmes, the currently small amount of existing literature regarding long-term weight-change would be improved upon, which would create for more comprehensive body of literature on the subject. Having comprehensive reviews of the long-term outcomes of weight-management programmes would vastly improve the ability to make accurate of estimates of weight-regain trajectories, and would therefore improve the accuracy of cost-effectiveness estimates, and decision making. Studies should also research the value of this information (Tuffaha et al., 2014).

Another line of research is spill over effects within households. If participants of weight-management programmes are parents and spouses, then improved behaviours in regards to eating and physical activity are likely to have an effect on other members of the household. If participants of weight-management programmes are followed up in the long-term, questions regarding eating habits at home can be asked to identify whether changes to the parents behaviours have impacted their children. If weight-management programmes are able to improve behaviours towards eating, this may, in turn, improve the diets and health of children. Future research should consider these spill over effects in economic evaluations, and the effect that weight-regain has on them (Al-Janabi et al., 2015).

Future research could also use individual level modelling dis-aggregating estimates of cost-effectiveness by subgroups of interest. By identifying costeffectiveness estimates for specific subgroups, policymakers may be better able to target interventions, as they are better informed of the likely impacts of the intervention on these subgroups of interest. Health care commissioners have the aim of maximising health in the area, and by identifying which interventions are most cost-effective for which subgroups, commissioners are better able to optimise their spending to maximise health (NHS England, 2019). Information regarding effects would therefore allow policymakers to focus

298

funding on individuals who would receive the most benefit from the intervention to maximise the use of resources.

Clinical Commissioning Groups in the UK have a key priority of reducing inequalities, and will therefore be aware of the inequalities in health outcomes in the local population and understand which groups require attention (Buck and Maguire, 2015). If a commissioner has a specific target to achieve, such as to improve health outcomes in men, or to improve health in low-income households, it can be useful to have specific information regarding the effect of an intervention on the targeted sub-group. For example, individuals with lowincomes may not have enough disposable income to spend on attending commercial weight-management programmes. If health care providers were informed about the potential effects of providing free programmes for individuals with low-incomes, they may be able provide solutions to this problem and contribute to closing the gap in health between the least and most privileged in society. If policymakers do not have this information, they may be reluctant to employ targeting of policies due to the large uncertainty of outcomes. Distributional cost-effectiveness analysis is a framework used to include health inequalities into economic evaluation, and could be used to inform local decisions regarding referrals to weight-management interventions (Asaria et al., 2016).

As well as policymakers being better informed regarding the targeting of interventions, GPs may also be aided by disaggregated results. For example, with referral programmes, a GP may see a commercial weight-loss programme as a weight-loss solution aimed at women, as the vast majority of participants tend to be women, and therefore be reluctant to refer male patients. However, men within the Slimming World programme perform better than women. If GPs are aware of the benefits the programme provides specifically to men, it may encourage more referrals to male patients. Knowing this may also mean the marketing of these programmes would be better targeted at men.

To achieve cost-effectiveness estimates by subgroup, future research would require information regarding weight-loss, weight-regain, and long-term weighttrajectories for individuals in these specific sub-groups. This would be required in order to make accurate projections of future weight-trajectories for the given sub-group. Costs and benefits for the sub-group would then be derived from the projected weight-trajectories to provide cost-effectiveness estimates specific to the chosen subgroup. As well as this, the decision model would require inputs specific to the chosen subgroup, for example disease rates and outcomes. By using these, the model would be able to produce a best-estimate of cost-effectiveness. Whilst this research would be useful, there is little information about long-term weight-regain in the current literature, and it would therefore be difficult to be able to identify weight-regain trajectories for specific subgroups. Assumptions based on the general population would therefore have to be made regarding weight-regain, which would limit the usefulness of subgroup analysis. Sensitivity analysis could assess hypothesised realistic ranges of parameter values to provide some insight into potential effects on subgroups however.

Other subgroups of interest could be those with physical or mental health problems caused by BMI. For example, individuals who have suffer from diabetes, or have had a stroke in the past may behave differently to healthy individuals following weight-management programmes. Similarly, individuals who have a bad relationship with food and suffer from mental health problems because of it may also behave differently in regards to weight-regain. These are the most at-risk groups and being able to improve the accuracy of estimates of outcomes in these individuals could possibly provide the most immediate benefit to health.

#### 11.5 Recommendations

This PhD has provided valuable insight into the effect of post-programme weight-trajectory assumptions on cost-effectiveness, and shown how weighttrajectories following the programme are the most influential driver of the costeffectiveness of behavioural weight-management programmes. Economic evaluations should ensure that projected weight-trajectories are well thought out and represent real-world possibilities, checking the validity of these projections against real-world data. Evaluations should put more focus on including more sophisticated projections regarding weight-trajectories. In order for healthcare commissioners to gain a full understanding of the potential outcomes before making any funding decisions, various possible outcomes when considering missing data, including worst-case scenario analysis, should be considered. Obesity has health implications and more evidence is needed of the long-term effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of weight-management programmes. Weight-management programmes should seek to follow-up participants in the long-run to improve the depth of the current evidence on long-term weight-change outcomes after behavioural weight-management programmes.

The findings from the PhD were combined into a recommendations table, in Table 84, designed to provide guidance to economic modellers aiming to make estimates of the cost-effectiveness of a behavioural weight-management programme.

By following these recommendations, modelling practice will be improved, which should lead to more accurate evidence being generated, and better decision making. Expanding the evidence base will allow for more informed estimates of the long-term effectiveness and cost effectiveness of these programmes which in turn will allow policymakers to make more informed decisions when allocating funding in regard to obesity. Table 84: Recommendations for Economic Modelling

Area of Study	Recommendation	Comments
Choice of Model	Markov models are appropriate for analysis	Markov and patient-simulation models are able to capture time which is important in weight-management as there is no end-point for health risk
	Simulation models should also be considered	
Missing Data	Values for individuals who drop out of weight- management programmes should be predicted controlling for attendance	BOCF should be avoided as it is overly conservative whilst LOCF should be avoided as it is overly optimistic
		Where prediction is not possible, LOCF may be considered for very short-term programmes, whilst BOCF should be used for long-term programmes
Weight-Regain	Weight-regain should be predicted using regression modelling with data sourced from evidence of weight-regain from similar weight-management programmes	Weight-regain rates are the key driver of estimates of cost- effectiveness and modelling should devote enough time to ensuring they create robust, valid estimates for this parameter
	Sensitivity analysis should be performed assessing both lower and upper bounds of parameter values for weight-regain	Sensitivity analysis must be performed to highlight the range of possibilities in outcomes
Background Weight- Trajectories	Background weight-trajectories should be taken from population-level datasets	The purpose of background weight-trajectories is to reflect the reality of weight-trajectories in the real-world
Control Group	If a control group is not available, control groups should be a matched sample of individuals to the intervention group	Individuals in the hypothetical control group should be assumed to have the weight-trajectories they would have if no intervention was offered

Sub-Groups	Where possible, subgroups should be modelled separately	Subgroups should be modelled separately as it has been shown that different groups have different weight-management behaviours This is not a crucial, but may improve the potential targeting of programmes
Testing of Weight- Prediction Models	Weight-prediction models should first pass the face validity test, with weight-trajectories appearing to be plausible Weight-regain patterns in the model should be compared with the literature on weight- regain to assess whether the model predicts similar outcomes to the literature on weight- regain after weight-management programmes Weight-trajectories should be compared with population trends in the country of origin	Predictions should be compared with evidence to assess whether the model predicts similar outcomes to the literature on weight- regain after weight-management programmes, and general weight- trajectories associated with population trends
How to report	The modelling process should be presented alongside a description of the Markov Trace Cost-effectiveness predictions should be presented over a lifetime horizon alongside results from probabilistic sensitivity analysis Worst-case and best-case outcomes should also be presented	This is so policymakers understand the range of outcomes that are possible in order to have the ability to make the most informed decision

# **Reference List**

AHERN, A. L., WHEELER, G. M., AVEYARD, P., BOYLAND, E. J., HALFORD,
J. C. G., MANDER, A. P., WOOLSTON, J., THOMSON, A. M.,
TSIOUTSIOURA, M., COLE, D., MEAD, B. R., IRVINE, L., TURNER, D.,
SUHRCKE, M., PIMPIN, L., RETAT, L., JACCARD, A., WEBBER, L., COHN, S.
R. & JEBB, S. A. 2017. Extended and Standard Duration Weight-Loss
Programme Referrals for Adults in Primary Care (WRAP): A Randomised
Controlled Trial. The Lancet, 389, 10085, 2214-2225.

AILSHIRE, J. A. & HOUSE, J. S. 2012. The Unequal Burden of Weight Gain: an Intersectional Approach to Understanding Social Disparities in BMI Trajectories from 1986 to 2001/2002. Social forces, 90, 2, 397-423.

ALESKEROV, F., BOUYSSOU, D., MONJARDET, B. 2007. Utility Maximisation, Choice and Preference. Springer, Berlin.

ALEXOPOULOUS, E. C. 2010. Introduction to Multivariate Regression Analysis. Hippokratia, 14(Suppl 1), 23-28.

AL-JANABI, H., VAN EXEL, J., BROUWER, W. & COAST, J. 2015. A Framework for Including Family Health Spillovers in Economic Evaluation. Medical Decision Making, 36, 2, 176-186.

ALMAGOOSHI, S. 2015. Simulation Modelling in Healthcare: Challenges and Trends. Procedia Manufacturing, 3, 301-307.

ANAND, P. & GRAY, A. 2009. Obesity as Market Failure: Could a 'Deliberative Economy' Overcome the Problems of Paternalism? Kyklos, 62, 2, 182-190.

ANANTHAPAVAN, J., SACKS, G., MOODIE, M. & CARTER, R. 2014. Economics of Obesity — Learning from the Past to Contribute to a Better Future. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 11, 4007.

ANDERSON, P., BUTCHER, K. & LEVINE, P. 2003. Economic Perspectives on Childhood Obesity. Economic Perspectives, 3Q, pp. 30-48.

ASARIA, M., GRIFFIN, S. & COOKSON, R. 2016. Distributional Cost-Effectiveness Analysis: A Tutorial. Medical Decision Making, 36, 1, 8-19.

ATELLA, V. & KOPINSKA, J. 2014. Body Weight, Eating Patterns, and Physical Activity: The Role of Education. Demography, 51, 4, 1225-49. AVERY, A., LANGLEY-EVANS, S. C., HARRINGTON, M. & SWIFT, A. 2016. Setting Targets Leads to Greater Long-Term Weight Losses and 'Unrealistic' Targets Increase the Effect in a Large Community-Based Commercial Weight Management Group. Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics, 29, 6, 687-696.

BAHCHAR, A., LIVSHITS, G. & BIRK, R. 2018. Predictors of Weight Reduction and Maintenance in a Large Cohort of Overweight and Obese Adults in a Community Setting. Nutrition and Dietetics, 75, 4, 390-396.

BARLOW, P., REEVES, A., MCKEE, M., GALEA, G. & STUCKLER, D. 2016. Unhealthy Diets, Obesity and Time Discounting: a Systematic Literature Review and Network Analysis. Obesity Reviews, 17, 9, 810-819.

BAUM, C. F. 2006. An Introduction to Modern Econometrics Using STATA. STATA Press.

BECKER, G. S. & MURPHY, K. M. 1998. The Theory of Rational Addiction. The Journal of Political Economy, 96, 4, 675-700.

BEEKEN, R. J., LEURENT, B., VICKERSTAFF, V., WILSON, R., CROKER, H., MORRIS, S., OMAR, R. Z., NAZARETH, I. & WARDLE, J. 2017. A Brief Intervention for Weight Control Based on Habit-Formation Theory Delivered through Primary Care: Results from A Randomised Controlled Trial. International Journal of Obesity, 41, 2, 246-254.

BEMELMANS, W., VAN BAAL, P., WENDEL-VOS, W., SCHUIT, J., FESKENS, E., AMENT, A. & HOOGENVEEN, R. 2008. The Costs, Effects and Cost-Effectiveness of Counteracting Overweight on a Population Level: A Scientific Base for Policy Targets for the Dutch National Plan for Action. Preventative Medicine, 46, 2, 127-132. BIMBO, F., BONANNO, A. & VISCECCHIA, R. 2015. Adult Obesity, Food Access, and Eating Habits in Italy: an Empirical Analysis. British Food Journal, 117, 6, 1689-1705.

BLANKERS, M., BUISMAN, R., HOPMAN, P., VAN GOOL, R. & VAN LAAR, M. 2016. Modelling Intentions to Provide Smoking Cessation Support among Mental Health Professionals in The Netherlands [online]. Tobacco Induced Diseases, 14, 32. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12971-016-0096-5 [Accessed 12 May 2018].

BLOMAIN, E. S., DIRHAN, D. A., VALENTINO, M. A., KIM, G. K. & WALDMAN, S. A. 2013. Mechanisms of Weight Regain following Weight Loss [online]. International Scholarly Research Notices: Obesity. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2013/210524 [Accessed 10 November 2018].

BRIGGS, A. H., WEINSTEIN, M. C., FENWICK, E., KARNON, J., SCHULPHER, M. J., PALTIER, A. D. & ISPOR-SMDM MODELLING GOOD RESEARCH PRACTICES TASK FORCE. 2012. Model parameter estimation and uncertainty analysis: a report of the ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force Working Group-6. Medical Decision Making, 32, 5, 722-732.

BRIGGS, A., SCULPHER, M. & CLAXTON, K. 2006. Decision Modelling for Health Economic Evaluation, Oxford University Press.

BROWN, C. & ROUTON, P. W. 2018. On the Distributional and Evolutionary Nature of the Obesity Wage Penalty. Economics & Human Biology, 28, 160-172.

BROWN, M., MARSH, T., RETAT, L., FORDHAM, R., SUHRCKE, M., TURNER,
D., LITTLE, R. & FILANI, O. 2013. Managing Overweight and Obesity among
Adults: Report on Economic Modelling and Cost Consequence Analysis
[online]. WMA Economic Modelling Report. Available from:
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph53/evidence/economic-modelling-reportpdf-431715709 [Accessed 14 April 2019].

BUCK, D. & MAGUIRE, D. 2015. Inequalities in Life Expectancy: Changes over Time and Implications for Policy [online]. The King's Fund. Available from: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field\_publication\_file/inequ alities-in-life-expectancy-kings-fund-aug15.pdf [Accessed 18 August 2019].

BUSCEMI, J., MURPHY, J. G., BERLIN, K. S. & RAYNOR, H. A. 2014. A Behavioral Economic Analysis of Changes in Food-Related and Food-Free Reinforcement during Weight Loss Treatment. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 82, 4, 659-669.

BUTLAND, B., JEBB, S., KOPELMAN, P., MCPHERSON, K., THOMAS, S., MARDELL, J. & PARRY, V. 2007. Tackling Obesity: Future Choices - Project Report. In: SCIENCE, G. O. F. (ed.) 2nd Edition ed.

CAMPOS, J., ERICSSON, N. R. & HENDRY, D. F. 2005. General-to-Specific Modeling: An Overview and Selected Bibliography. Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System: International Finance Discussion Papers, 838.

CARO, J. J., BRIGGS, A. H., SIEBERT, U., KUNTZ, K. M. & ISPOR-SMDM MODELLING GOOD RESEARCH PRACTICES TASK FORCE. 2012. Modelling Good Research Practices – Overview: A Report of the ISPOR: SMDM Modelling Good Research Practices Task Force – 1. Medical Decision Making, 32, 5, 667-677.

CAVALIERE, A., DE MARCHI E., & BANTERLE, A. 2014. Healthy-Unhealthy Weight and Time Preference. Is there an Association? An Analysis through a Consumer Survey. Appetite, 83, 135-143.

CAWLEY, J. 2004. An Economic Framework for Understanding Physical Activity and Eating Behaviors. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 27, 3, 117-125.

CAWLEY, J. 2004. The Impact of Obesity of Wages. Journal of Human Resources, 39, pp. 451-474.

CAWLEY, J. 2015. An economy of scales: A selective review of obesity's economic causes, consequences, and solutions. Journal of Health Economics, 43, 244-268.

CELNIK, D., GILLESPIE, L. & LEAN, M. 2012. "Time-scarcity, ready-meals, illhealth and the obesity epidemic. Trends in Food Science & Technology, 27, 1, 4-11.

CHAN, R. S. M. & WOO, J. 2010. Prevention of Overweight and Obesity: How Effective is the Current Public Health Approach. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 7, 765-783.

CHRISTIANSEN, T., BRUUN, J. M., MADSEN, E. L. & RICHELSEN, B. 2007. Weight Loss Maintenance in Severely Obese Adults after an Intensive Lifestyle Intervention: 2- To 4-Year Follow-Up. Obesity, 15, 413-420.

CLEO, G., ISENRING, E., THOMAS, R. & GLASZIOU, P. 2017. Could Habits Hold the Key to Weight Loss Maintenance? A Narrative Review. Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics, 30, 5, 655-664.

COBIAC, L., VOS, T. & VEERMAN, L. 2010. Cost-Effectiveness of Weight Watchers and the Lighten Up to a Healthy Lifestyle Program. Australian and Zealand Journal of Public Health, 34, 3, 240-247.

COHEN, D. J. & REYNOLDS, M. R. 2008. Interpreting the Results of Cost-Effectiveness Studies. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 52, 25, 2119-2126.

COURTEMANCHE, C. J., HEUTEL, G. & MCALVANAH, P. 2014. Impatience, Incentives, and Obesity, National Bureau of Economic Research. NBER Working Papers, 17483.

COURTEMANCHE, C., TCHERNIS, R. & UKERT, B. 2016. The Effect of Smoking on Obesity: Evidence from a Randomized Trial. National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc.

CUTLER, D., GLAESER, E. & SHAPIRO, J. 2003. Why Have Americans Become More Obese? : National Bureau of Economic Research. DE VOS, B. C., RUNHAAR, J., VAN MIDDELKOOP, M., KRUL, M. & BIERMA-ZEINSTRA, S. M. A. 2016. Long-Term Effects of a Randomized, Controlled, Tailor-Made Weight-Loss Intervention in Primary Care on the Health and Lifestyle of Overweight and Obese Women. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 104, 33-40.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH. 2011. Healthy Lives, Healthy People: A Call to Action on Obesity in England.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH. 2013. Slimming World Promotes the CMO's Physical Activity Guidelines [Online]. Available from: https://responsibilitydeal.dh.gov.uk/slimming-world-pa-guidelines/ [Accessed 16 February 2017].

DEVAUX, M., GRAF, S., GORYAKIN, Y., CECCHINI, M., HUBER, H. & COLOMBO, F. 2017. Obesity Update 2017. In: OECD (ed.) Obesity Update.

DJAWADI, B. M., FAHR, R. & TURK, F. 2014. Conceptual Model and Economic Experiments to Explain Nonpersistance and Enable Mechanism Designs Fostering Behavioural Change. Value in Health, 17, 8, 814-822.

DODD, M. 2008. Obesity and Time-Inconsistent Preferences. Obesity Research & Clinical Practice, 2, 2, 83-89.

DRAGONE, D. & SAVORELLI, L. 2012. Thinness and Obesity: A Model of Food Consumption, Health Concerns, and Social Pressure. Journal of Health Economics, 31, 1, 243-256.

DRAGONE, D. 2009. A Rational Eating Model of Binges, Diets and Obesity. Journal of Health Economics, 28, 4, 799-804.

DREWNOWSKI, A. & DARMON, N. 2005. The Economics of Obesity: Dietary Energy Density and Energy Cost...Science-Based Solutions to Obesity: what are the Roles of Academia, Government, Industry, and Health Care? Proceedings of the Symposiums held in Boston, MA March 10-11, 2004 and in Anaheim, CA October 2, 2004. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 82, 1, 265S-273S 261p. DREWNOWSKI, A. & SPECTER, S. E. 2004. Poverty and Obesity: the Role of Energy Density and Energy Costs. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 79, 1, 6-16.

DREWNOWSKI, A. 2012. The Economics of Food Choice Behavior: why Poverty and Obesity are linked. Obesity Treatment and Prevention: New Directions, Karger Publishers, 73, 95-112.

DREWNOWSKI, A., AGGARWAL, A., TANG, W. & MOUDON, A.V. 2015. Residential Property Values Predict Prevalent Obesity but do not Predict 1year Weight Change. Obesity, 23, 3, 671-676.

DRUMMOND, M. F., SCULPHER, M. J., TORRANCE, G. W., O'BRIEN, B. J. & STODDART, G. L. 2005. Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes, Oxford University Press.

EDDY, D. M., HOLLINGSWORTH, W., CARO, J. J., TSEVAT, J., MCDONALD, K. M., WONG, J. B. & ISPOR-SMDM MODELLING GOOD RESEARCH PRACTICES TASK FORCE. 2012. Model Transparency and Validation: A Report of the ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force-7. Medical Decision Making, 32, 5, 733-743.

EISENHAUER, J. G. & VENTURA, L. 2006. The Prevelence of Hyperbolic Discounting: Some European Evidence. Applied Economics, 38, 11, 1223-1234.

ENGLISH LONGITUDINAL STUDY OF AGING. 2019. About ELSA [online]. English Longitudinal Study of Aging. Available from: https://www.elsaproject.ac.uk/about-elsa [Accessed 12 May 2019].

ENGLISH, K. L. & PADDON-JONES, D. 2010. Protecting muscle mass and function in older adults during bed rest. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care, 13, 1, 34-39.

ETILE, F. 2000. Usage de Drogues et Dependence: une Analyse Economique. PhD Thesis, University of Paris. FAN, M. & JIN, Y. 2014. Obesity and Self-Control: Food Consumption, Physical Activity, and Weight-Loss Intention. Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy 36, 1, 125-145.

FENWICK, E., O'BRIEN, B. J. & BRIGGS, A. 2004. Cost-Effectiveness Acceptability Curves – Facts, Fallacies and Frequently Asked Questions. Health Economics, 13, 5, 405-415.

FERSTERER, J. & WINTER-EBMER, R. 2003. Smoking, Discount Rates, and Returns to Education. Economics of Education Review, 22, 561-566.

FINKELSTEIN, E., FRENCH, S., VARIYAM, J. N & HAINES, P. S. 2004. Pros and Cons of Proposed Interventions to Promote Healthy Eating. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 27, 3 Suppl, 163-171.

FLINT, S. W., Cadek, M., Codreanu, S. C., Ivic, V., Zomer, C. & Gomoiu, A.2016. Obesity Discrimination in the Recruitment Process: "You're Not Hired!".Frontiers in Psychology, 7, 647.

FORSTER, M., VEERMAN, J. L., BARENDREGT, J. J. & VOS, T. 2011. Cost-Effectiveness of Diet and Exercise Interventions to Reduce Overweight and Obesity. International Journal of Obesity, 35, 8, 1071-1078.

FULLER, N. R., CARTER, H., SCHOFIELD, D., HAUNER, H., JEBB, S. A., COLAGIURI, S. & CATERSON, I. D. 2014. Cost-Effectiveness of Primary Care Referral to a Commercial Provider for Weight Loss Treatment, Relative to Standard Care–a Modelled Lifetime Analysis. International Journal of Obesity, 38, 8, 1104-1109.

GADDEY, H. L. & HOLDER, K. 2014. Unintentional Weight Loss in Older Adults. American Family Physician, 89, 9, 718-722.

GALANI, C., AL, M., SCHNEIDER, H. & RUTTEN, F. F. H. 2007. Uncertainty in Decision-Making: Value of Additional Information in the Cost-Effectiveness of Lifestyle Intervention in Overweight and Obese People. Value in Health, 11, 3, 424-434.

GC, V. S., SUHRCKE, M., ATKIN, A. J., VAN SLUIJS, E. & TURNER, D. 2019. Cost-Effectiveness of Physical Activity Interventions in Adolescents: Model Development and Illustration Using Two Exemplar Interventions. British Medical Journal Open, 9, 8.

GILLIS-JANUSZEWSKA, A., LINSTROM, J., TUOMILEHTO, J., PIWONSKA-SOLSKA, B., TOPOR-MADRY, R., SZYBINSKI, Z., PELTONEN, M., SCHWARZ, P. E. H., WINDAK, A. & HUBALEWSKA-DYDEJCZYK, A. 2017. Sustained Diabetes Risk Reduction after Real Life and Primary Health Care Setting Implementation of The Diabetes in Europe Prevention Using Lifestyle, Physical Activity and Nutritional Intervention (DE-PLAN) Project. BMC Public Health, 17, 198.

GINSBERG, G. M. & ROSENBERG, E. 2012. Economic Effects of Interventions to Reduce Obesity in Israel. Israel Journal of Health Policy Research, 1, 17.

GLOBAL BMI MORTALITY COLLABORATION. 2016. Body-mass index and allcause mortality: individual-participant-data meta-analysis of 239 prospective studies in four continents. The Lancet, 388, 776-786.

GOETTLER, A., GROSSE, A. & SONNTAG, D. 2017. Productivity loss due to overweight and obesity: a systematic review of indirect costs. BMJ Open, 7.

GRAY, C. M., WYKE, S., ZHANG, R., ANDERSON, A. S., BARRY, S., BOYER, N., BRENNAN, G., BRIGGS, A., BUNN, C., DONNACHIE, C., GRIEVE, E., KOHLI-LYNCH, C., LLOYD, S., MCONNACHIE, A., MCCOWAN, C., MCLEAN, A., MUTRIE, N. & HUNT, K. 2018. Long-Term Weight Loss Following a Randomised Controlled Trial of a Weight Management Programme for Men Delivered through Professional Football Clubs: the Football Fans in Training Follow-Up Study. International Journal of Behavioural Nutrition and Physical Activity, 15, 60.

GRIFFITHS, U. K., ANIGBOGU, B. & NANCHAHAL, K. 2012. Economic Evaluations of Adult Weight Management Interventions. Applied Health Economics and Health Policy, 10, 3, 145-162.

GROSSMAN, M. 1972. On the Concept of Health Capital and the Demand for Health. The Journal of Political Economy, 80, 2, 223-225.

GRUNERT, K. G., SHEPHERD, R., TRAILL, W. B. & WOLD, B. 2012. Food Choice, Energy Balance and its Determinants: Views of Human Behaviour in Economics and Psychology. Trends in Food Science & Technology, 28, 2, 132-142.

GUERRA, F., STRINGHINI, S., VOLLENWEIDER, P., WAEBER, G. & MARQUES-VIDAL, P. 2015. Socio-Demographic and Behavioural Determinants of Weight Gain in the Swiss Population. BMC public health, 15, 73, 1-7.

GUH, D. P., ZHANG, W., BANSBACK, N., AMARSI, Z., BIRMINGHAM, C. L. & ANIS, A. H. 2009. The incidence of co-morbidities related to obesity and overweight: A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health, 9, 88-88.

GUJARATI, D. N. 2003. Basic Econometrics. McGraw-Hill Education.

GUSTAFSON, A., KHAVJOU, O., STEARNS, S. C., KEYSERLING, T. C., GIZLICE, Z., LINDSLEY, S., BRAMBLE, K., GARCIA, B., JOHNSTON, L., WILL, J., POINDEXTER, P., AMMERMAN, A. S. & SAMUEL-HODGE, C. D. 2009. Cost-Effectiveness of a Behavioral Weight Loss Intervention for Low-Income Women: The Weight-Wise Program. Preventative Medicine, 49, 5, 390-395.

HALL, K. D. & KAHAN, S. 2018. Maintenance of Lost Weight and Long-Term Management of Obesity. Medical Clinics of North America, 102, 1, 183-197.

HAMMER, G. P., DU PREL, J-B. & BLETTNER, M. 2009. Avoiding Bias in Observational Studies. Deutsches Arzteblatt International, 106, 41, 664-668.

HARBORD, R. M. & HIGGINS, J. P. T. 2008. Meta-Regression in STATA. The STATA Journal, 8, 4, 493-519.

HASHEMI, A., YOU, W., BOYLE, K. J., PARMETER, C. F., KANNINEN, B. & ESTABROOKS, P. A. 2015. Identifying Financial Incentive Designs to Enhance Participation in Weight Loss Programs. Journal of Obesity & Weight Loss Therapy, 5, 1, 1-8.

HAUSSLER, J. & BREYER, F. 2016. Does Diabetes Prevention Pay for Itself? Evaluation of the M.O.B.I.L.I.S. Program for Obese Persons. European Journal of Health Economics, 17, 4, 379-389.

HEBERT, J. R., FRONGILLO, E. A., ADAMS, S. A., TURNER-MCGRIEVY, G.M. HURLEY, T. G., MILLER, D. R. & OCKENE, I. S. 2016. Perspective:Randomized Controlled Trials Are Not a Panacea for Diet-Related Research.Advances in Nutrition, 7, 3, 423-432.

HOERGER, T. J., CROUSE, W. L., ZHUO, X., GREGG, E. W., ALBRIGHT, A. L. & ZHANG, P. 2015. Medicare's Intensive Behavioral Therapy for Obesity: An Exploratory Cost-Effectiveness Analysis. American Journal of Preventative Medicine, 48, 4, 419-425.

HOLZAPFEL, C., CRESSWELL, L., AHERN, A. L., FULLER, N. R., EBERHARD, M., STOLL, J., MANDER, A. P. JEBB, S. A., CATERSON, I. D. & HAUNER, H. 2013. The Challenge of a 2-Year Follow-Up after Intervention for Weight Loss in Primary Care. International Journal of Obesity, 38, 806-811.

HRUSCHKA, D. J. 2012. Do economic constraints on food choice make people fat? A Critical Review of Two Hypotheses for the Poverty–Obesity Paradox. American Journal of Human Biology, 24, 3, 277-285.

HUSEREAU, D. DRUMMOND, M. PETROU, S. MAUSKOPF, J. & LODER, E. 2013. Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards (CHEERS)—Explanation and Elaboration: A Report of the ISPOR Health Economic Evaluation Publication Guidelines Good Reporting Practices Task Force. Value in Health, 16, 2, 231-250.

JACKOBSEN, J., C., GLUUD, C., WETTERSLEV, J. & WINKEL, P. 2017. When and How should Multiple Imputation be Used for Handling Missing Data in Randomised Clinical Trials – a Practical Guide with Flowcharts [online]. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 17, 162. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-017-0442-1 [Accessed 19 March 2020]. JEFFERY, R. W. 2012. Financial Incentives and Weight Control. Preventive Medicine, 55, S61-S67.

JIN, J. 2016. The Heckman Correction: An Introduction [online]. Jimmy Jin. Available from: www.yichijin.com/files/heckman.pdf [Accessed 13 March 2017].

JOHNS, D., HARTMANN-BOYCE, J., AVEYARD, P., ONAKPOYA, I., JEBB, S., PHILLIPS, D., OGDEN, J., SUMMERBELL, C. & PERERA, R. 2013. Weight Regain after Behavioural Weight Management Programmes: Review 1c [online]. University of Oxford. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph53/evidence/evidence-review-1c-pdf-431707935 [Accessed 16 August 2019].

JOHNSTONE, A. M., MURISON, S. D., DUNCAN, J. S., RANCE, K. A. & SPEAKMAN, J. R. 2005. Factors influencing variation in basal metabolic rate include fat-free mass, fat mass, age, and circulating thyroxine but not sex, circulating leptin, or triiodothyronine. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 82, 941-948.

JUNG, H. & CHANG, C. 2015. Is Obesity Related to the Deteriorating Mental Health of the U.S. Working-Age Population. Journal of Behavioral Medicine, 38, 1, 81-90.

JUST, D. R. & PAYNE, C. R. 2009. Obesity: Can Behavioral Economics Help? Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 38, S47-S55.

JUST, D. R. 2014. Introduction to Behavioural Economics. Wiley, Hoboken. KAISER, K. A., AFFUSO, O., BEASLEY, T. M. & ALLISON, D. B. 2011. Getting Carried Away: A Note Showing Baseline Observation Carried Forward (BOCF) Results Can be Calculated from Published Complete-Cases Results. International Journal of Obesity, 36, 6, 886-889.

KANG, H. 2013. The Prevention and Handling of the Missing Data. Korean Journal of Anesthesiology, 64, 5, 402-406.

KENT, S., BECKER, F., FEENSTRA, T., TRAN-DUY, A., SCHLACKOW, I., TEW, M., ZHANG, P., YE, W., LIZHENG, S., HERMAN, W., MCEWAN, P., SCHRAMM, W., GRAY, A., LEAL, J., LAMOTTE, M., WILLIS, M. & PALMER, A. J. 2019. The Challenge of Transparency and Validation in Health Economic Decision Modelling: A View from Mount Hood. Pharmacoeconomics, 1-8.

KENWARD, M. G. & MOLENBERGHS, G. 2009. Last Observation Carried Forward: A Crystal Ball? Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics, 19, 5, 872-888.

KING'S FUND. 2019. Health Charities Make Urgent Call for £1 Billion a Year to Reverse Cuts to Public Health Funding [online]. The King's Fund. Available from: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/press/press-releases/reverse-cuts-public-health-funding [Accessed 14 August 2019].

KULLER, L. H., PETTEE GABRIEL, K. K., KINZEL, L. S., UNDERWOOD, D.
A., CONROY, M. B., CHANG, Y., MACKEY, R. H., EDMUNDOWICZ,
D., TYRRELL, K.S., BUHARI, A.M. & KRISKA, A. M. 2012. The Women on the Move through Activity and Nutrition (WOMAN) Study: Final 48-Month Results.
Obesity (Silver Spring), 20, 3, 636-643.

LAKDAWALLA, D. & PHILIPSON, T. 2007. Labor Supply and Weight. The Journal of Human Resources, 42, 85-116.

LAKDAWALLA, D. & PHILIPSON, T. 2009. The Growth of Obesity and Technological Change. Economics and human biology, 7, 283-293.

LAKDAWALLA, D. & PHILLIPSON, T. 2002. The Growth of Obesity and Technological Change: A Theoretical and Empirical Examination. National Bureau of Economic Research.

LANTZ, H., PELTONEN, M., AGREN, L. & TORGERSON, J. S. A Dietary and Behavioural Programme for the Treatment of Obesity. A 4-Year Clinical Trial and a Long-Term Posttreatment Follow-Up. Journal of Internal Medicine, 254, 3, 272-279.

LEWIS, L., TAYLOR, M., BROOM, J. & JOHNSTON, K. L. 2014. The Cost-Effectiveness of the Lighterlife Weight Management Programme as an Intervention for Obesity in England. Clinical Obesity, 4, 3, 180-188. LIAO, T. F. 1994. Interpreting Probability Models: Logit, Probit, and Other Generalized Linear Models. Series: Quantitative Applications in the Social Sciences. SAGE Publications.

LIM, H. R., Park, E. J., OH, H. J., SEO, C. N. & HAN. S. H. 2017. A Comparative Study on the Depression, Anxiety, Quality of Life, Psychological Well-Being Index and Sleep-Quality in Obese Clinic-Visited Patients. Korean Journal of Family Practice, 7, 1, 30-35.

LIM, S-L. & BRUCE, A. S. 2015. Prospect Theory and Body Mass: Characterizing Psychological Parameters for Weight-Related Risk Attitudes and Weight-Gain Aversion. Frontiers in Psychology, 6, 330, 1-8.

LOOK AHEAD RESEARCH GROUP. 2014. Eight-Year Weight Losses with an Intensive Lifestyle Intervention: The Look AHEAD Study. Obesity (Silver Spring), 22, 1, 5-13.

LUHRMAN, P. M., BENDER, R., EDELMANN-SCHAFER, B. & NEUHAUSER-BERTHOLD, M. 2009. Longitudinal changes in energy expenditure in an elderly German population: a 12-year follow-up. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 62, 986-992.

LYNCH, C., LLOYD, S. M., MCCONNACHIE, A., MCCOWAN, C., MACLEAN, A., MUTRIE, N. & HUNT, K. 2018. Long-Term Weight Loss Trajectories Following Participation in a Randomised Controlled Trial of a Weight Management Programme for Men Delivered through Professional Football Clubs: A Longitudinal Cohort Study and Economic Evaluation. International Journal of Behavioural Nutrition and Physical Activity, 15, 60.

MANN, T. 2018. Why Do Dieters Regain Weight? [online]. American Psychological Association. Available from: https://www.apa.org/science/about/psa/2018/05/calorie-deprivation [Accessed 14 August 2019].

MASTERS, R. K., POWERS, D. A. & LINK, B. G. 2013. Obesity and US Mortality Risk Over the Adult Life Course. American Journal of Epidemiology, 177, 5, 431-442. MCKINSEY & COMPANY, M. 2014. Obesity Costs Global Society 2.0 Trillion a Year [Online]. Available: https://www.consultancy.uk/news/1078/mckinsey-obesity-costs-global-society-20-trillion-a-year [Accessed 14 September 2016].

MCKINSEY & COMPANY, M. 2015. Obesity Costs UK Society 73 Billion per Year [Online]. Available: https://www.consultancy.uk/news/1278/mckinseyobesity-costs-uk-society-73-billion-per-year). [Accessed 14 September 2016].

MEADS, D. M., HULME, C. T., HALL, P. & HILL, A. J. 2014. The Cost-Effectiveness of Primary Care Referral to a UK Commercial Weight Loss Programme. Clinical Obesity, 4, 6, 324-332.

MICHAUD, T. L., YOU, W., WILSON, K. E., SU, D., MCGUIRE, T. J., ALMEIDA, F. A., BAYER, A. L. & ESTABROOKS, P. A. 2017. Cost Effectiveness and Return on Investment of a Scalable Community Weight Loss Intervention. Preventative Medicine, 105, 295-303.

MIDDLETON, K. R., ANTON, S. D. & PERRI, M. G. 2013. Long-Term Adherence to Health Behavior Change. American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine, 6, 7, 395-404.

MILLER, R. G. Jr. 1997. Beyond ANOVA: Basics of Applied Statistics. Chapman & Hall, London.

MILSOM, V. A., MIDDLETON, K. M. R. & PERRI, M. G. 2011. Successful Long-Term Weight Loss Maintenance in a Rural Population. Clinical Interventions in Aging, 6, 303-309.

MINERS, A., HARRIS, J., FELIX, L., MURRAY, E., MICHIE, S. & EDWARDS, P. 2012. An Economic Evaluation of Adaptive E-Learning Devices to Promote Weight Loss via Dietary Change for People with Obesity. BMC Health Services Research, 12, 190.

MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT. 2015a. English Indices of Deprivation: Postcode Lookup [Online]. Available from: http://imd-by-postcode.opendatacommunities.org/ [Accessed 30 January 2017]. MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT. 2015b. English Indices of Deprivation 2015 [Online]. Available from: www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015 [Accessed 4 March 2020].

MOKDAD, A. H. 2017. Burden of obesity in the Eastern Mediterranean Region: findings from the Global Burden of Disease 2015 study. International Journal of Public Health.

MOODY, A. 2014. Adult Anthropometric Measures, Overweight and Obesity. Health Survey for England, 2013, Volume 1, Chapter 10.

MORNINGSTAR. 2018. Morningstar [online]. Available from https://www.morningstar.co.uk/uk/ [Accessed 22 September 2018].

MOROSHKO, I., BRENNAN, L. & O'BRIEN, P. 2011. Predictors of dropout in Weight Loss Interventions: a Systematic Review of the Literature. Obesity Reviews, 12, 11, 912-934.

MORRIS, K. D. 2013. An Analysis of the Relationship between Food Deserts and Obesity Rates in the United States. Master of Public Policy, Georgetown University.

MOZAFFARIAN, D., HAO, T., RIMM, E. B., WILLETT, W. C. & HU, F. B. 2011. Changes in Diet and Lifestyle and Long-Term Weight Gain in Women and Men. New England Journal of Medicine, 364, 25, 2392-2404.

NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE. 2019. Overview: Obesity [Online]. Available from: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/obesity/ [Accessed 14 July 2019].

NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE DIGITAL. 2019a. Statistics on Obesity, Physical Activity and Diet, England, 2019 [Online]. Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-onobesity-physical-activity-and-diet/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-anddiet-england-2019 [Accessed 23 June 2019]. NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE DIGITAL. 2019b. Statistics on Obesity, Physical Activity and Diet, England, 2019 [Online]. Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-smoking/statistics-on-smoking-england-2019 [Accessed 23 June 2019].

National Health Service England. 2019. Evidence-Based Interventions: Guidance for CCGs [online]. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/ebi-statutory-guidance-v2.pdf [Accessed 3 March 2020].

NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF CLINICAL EXCELLENCE. 2018. Developing NICE Guidelines: The Manual [online]. Available from: nice.org.uk/process/pmg20/chapter/incorporating-economic-evaluation [Accessed 26 March 2020].

NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CARE EXCELLENCE. 2014. Weight Management: Lifestyle Services for Overweight or Obese Adults [Online]. Available from: http://nice.org.uk/guidance/ph53 [Accessed March 2016].

NEW WEIGHT WATCHERS. No Date. Our Impact Manifesto [Online] https://www.weightwatchers.com/uk/impact-manifesto [accessed 27 June 2019].

NORTH, B. J. & SINCLAIR, D. A. 2012. The Intersection between Aging and Cardiovascular Disease. Circulation Research, 110, 8, 1097-1108.

OCHNER, C. N., BARRIOS, D. M., LEE, C. D. & XAVIER PI-SUNYER, F. 2013. Biological Mechanisms that Promote Weight Regain Following Weight Loss in Obese Humans. Physiological Behaviour, 0, 106-113.

OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS. 2018. National Life Tables, UK: 2015 to 2017 [online]. Office for National Statistics. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarria ges/lifeexpectancies/bulletins/nationallifetablesunitedkingdom/2015to2017 [Accessed 16 May 2019].

OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS. 2019. National Statistics Postcode Lookup (February 2019) User Guide. Office for National Statistics. Available from:

http://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/datasets/4d93c0ffc6ec48249b44df84060eb688 [Accessed 30 March 2019].

OLSEN, J., WILLAING, I., LADELUND, S. & JORGENSEN, T. 2005. Cost-Effectiveness of Nutritional Counseling for Obese Patients and Patients at Risk of Ischemic Heart Disease. International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care, 21, 2, 194-202.

O'NEAL, C. W., ARNOLD, A. L., LUCIER-GREER, M., WICKRAMA, K. & BRYANT, C. M. 2015. Economic Pressure and Health and Weight Management Behaviors in African American Couples: A Family Stress Perspective. Journal of Health Psychology, 20, 5, 625-637.

O'NEAL, C. W., ARNOLD, A. L., LUCIER-GREER, M., WICKRAMA, K. & BRYANT, C. M. 2015. Economic Pressure and Health and Weight Management Behaviors in African American Couples: A Family Stress Perspective. Journal of Health Psychology, 20, 5, 625-637.

OSWALD, A. J. & POWDTHAVEE, N. 2007. Obesity, Unhappiness and the Challenge of Affluence: Theory and Evidence. Economic Journal, 117, 521, 441-454.

PAMPEL, F. C., DENNEY, J. T. & KRUEGER, P. M. 2012. Obesity, SES, and Economic Development: A Test of the Reversal Hypothesis. Social Science and Medicine, 74, 7, 1073-1081.

PAN, L., SHERRY, B. NJAI, R. & BLANCK, H. M. 2012. Food Insecurity is associated with Obesity among US Adults in 12 States. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 112, 9, 1403-1409.

PAPP, K. A., FONJALLAZ, P., CASSET-SEMANAZ, F., KRUEGAR, J. G. & WITTKOWSKI, K. M. 2008. Approaches to Reporting Long-Term Data. Current Medical Research and Opinion, 24, 7, 2001-2008.

PATAKY, Z., ARMAND, S., MÜLLER-PINGET, S., GOLAY, A. & ALLET, L. 2014. Effects of obesity on functional capacity. Obesity, 22, 56-62.

PAULDEN, M. 2017. Recent Amendments to NICE's Value-Based Assessment of Health Technologies: Implicitly Inequitable? Expert Review of Pharmacoeconomics & Outcomes Research, 3, 239-242.

PAULY, M. V., MCGUIRE, T. G. & BARROS, P. P. 2012. Health Economics, Elsevier.

PEREZ-ARCE, F. 2017. The Effect of Education on Time Preferences. Elsevier, Economics of Education Review, 56, 52-64.

PHILIPS, Z., BOJKE, L., SCULPHER, M., CLAXTON, K. & GOLDER, S. 2006. Good practice guidelines for decision-analytic modelling in health technology assessment: a review and consolidation of quality assessment. Pharmacoeconomics, 24, 355-371.

PHILLIPSON, T. & POSNER, R. 1999. The Long-Run Growth in Obesity as a Function of Technological Change. National Bureau of Economic Research.

PIGOTT, T. D. 2001. A Review of Methods for Missing Data. Educational Research and Evaluation, 7, 4, 353-383.

PIPPITT, K., Li, M. & GURGLE, H. E. 2016. Diabetes Mellitus: Screening and Diagnosis. American Family Physician, 93, 2, 103-109.

PROSPECTIVE STUDIES COLLABORATION. 2009. Body-mass index and cause-specific mortality in 900 000 adults: collaborative analyses of 57 prospective studies. The Lancet, 373, 1083-1096.

PUBLIC HEALTH ENGLAND. 2016. Weight Management Economic Assessment Tool [online]. Public Health England. Available from: https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20170303145236/http://www.yhpho. org.uk/default.aspx?RID=257148 [Accessed 11 August 2019]. PUBLIC HEALTH ENGLAND. 2017a. Health Matters: Obesity and the Food Environment [Online]. Available from:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-obesity-and-thefood-environment/health-matters-obesity-and-the-food-environment--2 [Accessed 7 July 2017].

PUBLIC HEALTH ENGLAND. 2017b. UK and Ireland Prevalence and Trends [Online]. Available:

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20170110171021/https://www.noo.or g.uk/NOO\_about\_obesity/adult\_obesity/UK\_prevalence\_and\_trends [Accessed 9 July 2017].

PUHL, R. M. & HEUER, C. A. 2009. The Stigma of Obesity: A Review and Update. Obesity, 17, 5, 941-964.

PUTAALA, J. & NIEMINEN, T. 2018. Stroke Risk Period After Acute Myocardial Infarction Revised [online]. Journal of the American Heart Association, 7, 22. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.118.011200 [Accessed 2 March 2020].

REICHART, A. 2015. Obesity, Weight Loss, and Employment Prospects: Evidence from a Randomized Trial. Journal of Human Resources, 50, 3, 759-810.

RICHARDS, T. J. & HAMILTON, S. F. 2012. Obesity and Hyperbolic Discounting: An Experimental Analysis. Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics, 37, 2, 181-198.

ROBERTO, C. A. & KAWACHI, I. 2016. Behavioral Economic and Public Health, Oxford University Press.

ROBERTS, M., RUSSELL, L. B., PALTIEL, D., CHAMBERS, M., MCEWAN, P., KRAHN, M. & ISPOR-SMDM MODELING GOOD RESEARCH PRACTICES TASK FORCE. 2012. Conceptualizing a Model: A Report of the ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force-2. Value in Health, 15, 804-811. ROBINSON, E. & OLDHAM, M. 2016. Weight status misperceptions among UK adults: the use of self-reported vs. measured BMI. BMC Obesity, 3, 21.

ROLLAND, C., JOHNSTON, K. L., LULA, S., MACDONALD, I. & BROOM, J. 2014. Long-Term Weight Loss Maintenance and Management Following a VLCD: A 3-Year Outcome. International Journal of Clinical Practice, 68, 379-387.

ROSIN, O. 2012. Weight-Loss Dieting Behavior: an Economic Analysis. Health Economics, 21, 7, 825-838.

ROUX, L., KUNTZ, K. M., DONALDSON, C. & GOLDIE, S. J. 2006. Economic Evaluation of Weight Loss Interventions in Overweight and Obese Women. Obesity, 14, 6, 1093-1106.

RUHM, C. J. 2012. Understanding Overeating and Obesity. Journal of Health Economics, 31, 6, 781-796.

RYDER, H. F., MCDONOUGH, C., TOSTESON, A. N. A. & LURIE, J. D. 2009. Decision Analysis and Cost-Effectiveness Analysis. Seminars in Spine Surgery, 21, 4, 216-222.

SABA, A., CUPELLARO, E. & VASSALLO, M. 2014. Which Dimensions of Food-Related Lifestyle are Likely to be Associated with Obesity in Italy? Public health nutrition, 17, 03, 607-613.

SAWAMOTO, R., NOZAKI, T., NISHIHARA, T., FURUKAWA, T., HATA, T., KOMAKI, G. & SUDO, N. 2017. Predictors of Successful Long-Term Weight Loss Maintenance: A Two-Year Follow-Up. BioPsychoSocial Medicine, 11, 14.

SEGUIN, R. A., FOLTA, S. C., NELSON, M. E., HANSON, K. L. & LACROIX, A. Z. 2017. Long-Term Body Weight Maintenance among StrongWomen-Healthy Hearts Program Participants. Journal of Environmental and Public Health, 4372048.

SEWARD, H. 2014. Socioeconomic Status and Weight Loss Behaviors. Master of Science, Virginia Commonwealth University.
SLIMMING WORLD. 2019. Terms of Use [Online]. Available from: https://www.slimmingworld.co.uk/terms-of-use [Accessed 24 August 2019].

SLIMMING WORLD. no date a. About Slimming World [Online]. Available from: https://www.slimmingworld.co.uk/about-us/about-slimming-world.aspx [Accessed 12 March 2017].

SLIMMING WORLD. no date b. Healthy Eating [Online]. Available from: https://www.slimmingworld.co.uk/healthy-eating/food-optimising.aspx [Accessed 12 March 2017].

SLIMMING WORLD. no date c. What Happens in a Slimming World Group [Online]. https://www.slimmingworld.co.uk/what-happens-in-group [Accessed 24 August 2019].

SLIMMING WORLD. no date d. Getting Active [Online]. Available: https://www.slimmingworld.co.uk/getting-active/getting-active.aspx [Accessed 12 March 2017].

SLIMMING WORLD. no date e. What is Slimming World on Referral? [Online]. Available: https://www.slimmingworld.co.uk/health/swor/what-is-swor.aspx [Accessed 12 March 2017].

SMITH, K. J., KUO, S., ZGIBOR, J. C., MCTIGUE, K. M., HESS, R., BHARGAVA, T. & BRYCE, C. L. Cost Effectiveness of an Internet-Delivered Lifestyle Intervention in Primary Care Patients with High Cardiovascular Risk. Preventative Medicine, 87, 103-109.

SORENSEN, L. B., MOLLER, P., FLINT, A., MARTENS, M. & RABEN, A. 2003. Effect of sensory perception of foods on appetite and food intake: a review of studies on humans. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord, 27, 1152-1166.

SPERANDI, S. 2014. Understanding Logistic Regression Analysis. Biochemical Medicine, 24, 1, 12-18.

SQUIRES, H., CHILCOTT, J., AKEHURST, R., BURR, J. & KELLY, M. P. 2016. A Framework for Developing the Structure of Public Health Economic Models. Value Health, 19, 5, 588-601. STANDFIELD, L., COMANS, T. & SCHUFFHAM, P. 2014. Markov Modeling and Discrete Event Simulation in Health Care: A Systematic Comparison. International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care, 30, 2, 165-172.

STATACORP. 2013. Stata Statistical Software: Release 13. College Station, TX: StataCorp LP.

STERNE, J., A., C., WHITE, I., R., CARLIN, J., B., SPRATT, M., ROYSTON, P., KENWARD, M., G., WOOD, A., M. & CARPENTER, J., R. 2009. Multiple Imputation for Missing Data in Epidemiological and Clinical Research: Potential and Pitfalls [online]. British Medical Journal, 338, b2393. Available from: 10.1136/bmj.b2393 [Accessed 19 March 2020].

STOKES, P. 2012. 2011 Census: Population and Household Estimates for Small Areas in England and Wales, March 2011 [online]. Office for National Statistics. Available from:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigratio n/populationestimates/bulletins/2011censuspopulationandhouseholdestimatesf orsmallareasinenglandandwales/2012-11-23 [Accessed 9 March 2017].

STUBBS, R. J., MORRIS, L. PALLISTER. C, HORGAN. G & LAVIN. J. H. 2015. Weight Outcomes Audit in 1.3 Million Adults during their First 3 Months' Attendance in a Commercial Weight Management Programme. BMC Public Health, 15, 882.

STURM, R. & AN, R. 2014. Obesity and Economic Environments. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 65, 5, 337-350.

SUN, R. 2016. Optimal Weight Based on Energy Imbalance and Utility Maximization. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications, 442, 429-435.

SUNDMACHER, L. 2012. The Effect of Health Shocks on Smoking and Obesity. European Journal of Health Economics, 13, 4, 451-460.

SUTIN, A. R. & TERRACCIANO, A. 2013. Perceived Weight Discrimination and Obesity. PLOS ONE, 8, e70048.

TAMBORINI, C. R., KIM, C. H. & SAKAMOTO, A. 2015. Education and Lifetime Earnings in the United States. Demography, 52, 4, 1383-1407.

TAN-TORRES EDEJER, T., BALTUSSEN, R., ADAM, T., HUTUBESSY, R., ACHARYA, A., EVANS, D. B. & MURRAY, C. J. L. 2003. WHO Guide to Cost-Effectiveness Analysis [online]. World Health Organisation. Available from: https://www.who.int/choice/publications/p\_2003\_generalised\_cea.pdf [Accessed 12 August 2019].

THOMAS, C., SADLER, S., BREEZE, P., SQUIRES, H., GILLETT, M. & BRENNAN, A. 2017. Assessing the Potential Return on Investment of the Proposed UK NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme in Different Population Subgroups: An Economic Evaluation. British Medical Journal Open, 7, 8, e014953.

TOVEY, M. 2017. Obesity and the Public Purse: Weighing up the True Cost to the Taxpayer. In: AFFAIRS, I. O. E. (ed.). Institute of Economic Affairs.

TREMMEL, M., GERDTHAM, U.-G., NILSSON, P. M. & SAHA, S. 2017. Economic Burden of Obesity: A Systematic Literature Review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 14, 435.

TRUEMAN, P., HAYNES, S. M., LYONS, G. F., MCCOMBIE, E. L., MCQUIGG, M. S. A., MONGIA, S., NOBLE, P. A., QUINN, M. F., ROSS, H. M., THOMPSON, F., BROOM, J. I., LAWS, R. A., RECKLESS, J. P. D., KUMAR, S., LEAN, M. E. J., FROST, G. S., FINER, N., HASLAM, D. W., MORRISON, D. & SLOAN, B. 2010. Long-Term Cost-Effectiveness of Weight Management in Primary Care. The International Journal of Clinical Practice.

TUFFAHA, H. W., GORDON, L. G. & SCUFFHAM, P. A. 2014. Value of Information Analysis in Healthcare: A Review of Principles and Applications. Journal of Medical Economics, 17, 6, 377-383.

USSHER, M., LEWIS, S., AVEYARD, P., MANYONDA, I., WEST, R., LEWIS, B., MARCUS, B., RIAZ, M., TAYLOR, A., DALEY, A. & COLEMAN, T. 2015. Physical Activity for Smoking Cessation in Pregnancy: Randomised Controlled Trial. British Medical Journal, 350, h2145. VAN DER POL, M. 2011. Health, Education and Time Preference. Health Economics, 20, 8, 917-929.

VAN STRIEN, T., VAN DE LAAR, F. A., VAN LEEUWE, J. F. J., LUCASSEN, P. L. B. J., VAN DEN HOOGEN, H. J. M., RUTTEN, G. E. H. M. & VAN WEEL, C. 2007. The Dieting Dilemma in Patients with Newly Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes: Does Dietary Restraint Predict Weight Gain 4 Years after Diagnosis? Health Psychology, 26, 105-112.

VAN DER KLAAUW, AGATHA A. & FAROOQI, I. S. 2015. The Hunger Genes: Pathways to Obesity. Cell, 161, 119-132.

VANDEWATER, E. A., SHIM, M.-S. & CAPLOVITZ, A. G. 2004. Linking obesity and activity level with children's television and video game use. Journal of Adolescence, 27, 71-85.

VARKEVISSER, R. D. M., VAN STRALEN, M. M., KROEZE, W., KET, J. C. F. & STEENHUIS, I. H. M. 2018. Determinants of Weight Loss Maintenance: A Systematic Review. Obesity Reviews, 20, 2, 171-211.

VEMER, P., CORRO RAMOS, I., VAN VOORN, G. A. K., AL, M. J. & FEENSTRA, T. L. 2015. AdViSHE: A Validation-Assessment Tool of Health-Economic Models for Decision Makers and Model Users. Pharmacoeconomics, 34, 349-361.

VERBEEK, M. 2012. A Guide to Modern Econometrics. John Wiley & Sons.

WADDEN, T. A., NEIBERG, R. H., WING, R. R., CLARK, J. M., DELAHANTY,
L.M., HILL, J.O., KRAKOFF, J., OTTO, A., RYAN, D. H., VITOLINS, M. Z.
& LOOK AHEAD RESEARCH GROUP. 2011. Four-Year Weight Losses in the
Look AHEAD Study: Factors Associated with Long-Term Success. Obesity
(Silver Spring), 19, 10, 1987-1998.

WEINSTEIN, M. C., TORRANCE, G. & MCGUIRE, A. 2009. QALYs: The Basics. Value in Health, 12, S5-S9.

WEINTRAUB, E. R. 1993. General Equilibrium Analysis: Studies in Appraisal. The University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor. WHITLEY, E. & BALL, J. 2002. Statistics Review 6: Nonparametric Methods. Critical Care, 6, 6, 509-513.

WILES, P. 1974. The Correlation between Education and Earnings: The External-Test-not-Content Hypothesis (ETNC). Higher Education, 3, 43-58.

WILLIAMS, I., MCIVER, S., MOORE. & BRYAN, S. 2008. The use of Economic Evaluation in NHS Decision-Making: A Review and Empirical Investigation. Health Technology Assessment, 12, 7.

WILSON, K. J., BROWN, H. S. & BASTIDA, E. 2015. Cost-Effectiveness of a Community-Based Weight Control Intervention Targeting a Low-Socioeconomic-Status Mexican-Origin Population. Health Promotion Practice, 16, 1, 101-108.

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. 2016. Obesity [Online]. Available: http://www.who.int/topics/obesity/en/ [Accessed 6 March 2016].

XIAOMENG, X., LEAHEY, T. M., BOGUSZEWSKI, K., KRUPEL, K., MAILLOUX K. A. & WING R. R. 2016. Self-Expansion is Associated with Better Adherence and Obesity Treatment Outcomes in Adults. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 51, 1, 13-17.

YOO, W., MAYBERRY, R., BAE, S., SINGH, K., HE, Q. & LILLARD JR., J. W. 2014. A Study of Effects of MultiCollinearity in the Multivariable Analysis. International Journal of Applied Science and Technology, *4, 5, 9-19.* 

YUSEFZADEH, H., RAHIMI, B. & RASHIDI, A. 2019. Economic Burden of Obesity: A Systematic Review. Soc Health Beheav, 2, 7-12.

ZENG, D., THOMSEN, M. R. & NAYGA JR, R. M. 2015. Food Desert and Weight Outcome: Disentangling Confounding Mechanisms. 2016 Allied Social Science Association (ASSA) Annual Meeting, January 3-5, 2016, San Francisco, California, Agricultural and Applied Economics Association.

ZOMER, E., LEACH, R., TRIMMER, C., LOBSTEIN, T., MORRIS, S., JAMES, W. P. & FINER, N. 2016. Effectiveness and Cost-Effectiveness of Interventions

that Cause Weight Loss and Reduce the Risk of Cardiovascular Disease. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism, 19, 1, 118-124.

ZUKIEWICZ-SOBCZAK, W., WROBLEWSKA, P., ZWOLINSKI, J., CHMIELEWSKA-BADORA, J., ADAMCZUK, P., KRASOWSKA, E., ZAGORSKI, J., ONISZCZUK, A., PIATEK J. & SILNY, W. 2014. Obesity and Poverty Paradox in Developed Countries. Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine, 21, 3, 590-594.

# Appendix

Paper	Theory	Formula	Short Description	Evidence
Anand and	Rational	N/A	Utility from bodyweight	None
Gray (2009)	Choice	influenced by society.		identified
Buscemi et al.	Habits and	N/A	Individuals that find	Those who
(2014)	Self-Control		food reinforcing need	had more
			to engage in	frequent
			reinforcing substitute	engagement
			activities.	with food-
				free activities
				lost most
Cavaliere et	Time	N/A	Weight will only be	Positive and
al $(2014)$	Preference		managed if the utility	significant
al. (2014)	Treference		from the discounted	relationship
			future wellbeing	found
			outweighs the current	between
			satisfaction from not	time-
			managing weight.	preference
				and BMI.
Cawley (2004)	Rational	S+L+O+T+H = 24	Daily time constraint	None
	Choice	hours	(SLOTH model) where	identified
			individuals must	
		S: sleep, L: leisure,	allocate nours to 5	
		transport H: home	separate activities.	
		nroduction		
Courtemanche	Time-	$\max_{max} \Pi(f) - nf$	Two-period model food	Found strong
et al. (2014)	Preference	$+ \delta V'(f)$	consumption affects	evidence of a
( ,		f' food	present utility and	relationship
		consumption. U:	weight in the second	between
		utility, p: prices, $\delta$ :	period, with decisions	time-
		discount rate, V:	being based on	preference
		utility in period 2	individual discount	and BMI.
Diousedi		N1/A	rates.	Found in on
(2014)	Habits and	IN/A	Pramework of medical	Found in an
(2014)	Sell-Control		states that once losses	name that
			have been	plavers
			compensated and	played a safe
			individual will likely	option until
			stop treatment early.	losses were
				compensated
				and then
				switched to a
				risky option.
Dodd (2008)	l'ime-	N/A	Sophisticated	None
	Preierence,		their time proference	identified
	Self-Control		and can set up	
			mechanisms to alter	
			future pavoffs.	
Dragone	Habits and	$V(c(t), \dot{c}(t)) =$	Model of eating	None
(2009)	Self-Control	$    (c(t)) - c^{\dot{c}(t)^2}$	behaviour where a	identified
		$O(O(1)) = U = \frac{1}{2}$	change in eating	
			behaviour has a cost	

# Appendix 1: Data Extraction Summary Table

		V: future utility, C(t): food consumption, ċ(t): food consumption after change, U: utility, α: marginal disutility of changing food intake	attached with the cost depending on the magnitude of the change and the strength of the individual's habits.	
Dragone and Savorelli (2012)	Rational Choice	$\begin{split} U_{i,G}(c_i,w_i) &= c_i \left(c_i^F - \frac{c_i}{2}\right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left(w_i - w_i^H\right)^2 \\ &- \frac{\beta}{2} (w_i - w^G)^2 \\ U: \text{ utility, i:} \\ \text{ individual, G:} \\ \text{ society, c:} \\ \text{ consumption, w:} \\ \text{ weight, F: energy,} \\ \text{H: health} \end{split}$	Model of eating behaviour where utility depends on food and bodyweight, with the utility from bodyweight depending on the healthy bodyweight and societal preferences.	None identified
Drewnowski and Darmon (2005)	Rational Choice	N/A	Food is chosen based on taste, cost, convenience, health and variety with diet based on awareness, motivation and food choices.	Healthier foods cost more meaning a healthier diet may be unaffordable for low- income groups.
Drewnowski and Specter (2004)	Rational Choice	N/A	Energy-dense foods are cheap which promotes overconsumption of energy for low-income groups.	Low-income households spend 18.7% of income on food and cannot allocate more to buy healthier foods.
Fan and Jin (2013)	Time- Preference, Habits and Self-Control	N/A	Time-preference affects how individuals evaluate costs and benefits. Hyperbolic discounters discount irrationally with preferences changing depending on which time period the individual is in.	Individuals with obesity showed significant difference between intended weight-loss and actual behaviour. Low self- control associated with poor eating and exercise behaviours.
rinkeistein et al. (2004)	Rational Choice	N/A	individuals weigh up costs and benefits of	identified

			every option alongside their preferences and constraints. Current environment leads to sub-optimal decision making from the perspective of society.	
Grunert et al. (2012)	Rational Choice, Time- Preference	N/A	Utility is maximised to preferences and constraints with informed consumers better able to do so. Food decisions often made with limited information and time so people make choices out of habit. Older people face more immediate threat to health from obesity and are therefore more motivated to manage weight.	None identified
Hruschka (2012)	Rational Choice	N/A	Deprivation results in overconsumption of energy as the cheapest foods are the most energy dense. Local stores in deprived areas may not stock healthy foods either. Obese may be sorted into deprived areas due to biased work and educational systems.	Relationship found between deprivation and obesity.
Jeffery (2012)	Time- Preference, Habits and Self-Control	N/A	Behaviour producing rewards/punishments likely to be repeated more frequently/less often. Delayed consequences are given a lower weighting to immediate ones.	Increasing financial incentives improves weight loss outcomes, reducing incentives worsens outcomes.
Just and Payne (2009)	Rational Choice	N/A	In situations where time is sparse individuals do not have time to make a fully informed decision and have to rely on heuristics.	None identified
Lim and Bruce (2015)	Habits and Self-Control	N/A	Many eating behaviours are suboptimal and habitual. People are loss averse and prefer to avoid weight gain than losing weight.	Individuals found to place same loss-averse to weight as monetary outcomes.

O'Neil et al. (2015)	Rational Choice	N/A	Those with economic stress have poorer access to food and can result in poor behaviours. Spousal support can encourage healthy eating.	Stress linked to poorer weight decisions for wives but not husbands.
Pampel et al. (2012)	Rational Choice	N/A	Higher socio-economic status groups have a larger cost associated with being obese due to longevity advantage.	Negative relationship between BMI and socio- economic status.
Richards and Hamilton (2012)	Rational Choice, Time- Preference	N/A	Equilibrium weight higher than ideal so rational to be overweight as weight not only source of utility. Rational addiction theory states utility from present consumption increases with increased stock of past consumption	None identified
Rosin (2012)	Habits and Self-Control	E= $(1+\alpha)(t)\delta)e(d,C^d)$ E: disutility from dieting, t: number of weight loss diets, d: duration of diet, $\alpha(t)$ : additional effort needed for repeated dieting, $\delta$ : binary variable for if individual has dieted in the past, C <sup>d</sup> – minimum quantity of calories consumed	Individuals plan out diet periods with increased duration and energy deficit requiring more willpower. Each additional diet requires more willpower than the last. Sophisticated individuals appreciate their behaviours change with time, naive individuals do not.	None identified
Ruhm (2012)	Rational Choice, Habits and Self-Control	Deliberative system: $Max_{f,c}$ U(W(f), f, c) subject to c + pf = I f: food consumption, c: other consumption, U: utility, W: weight, p: price, I: income	Dual decision theory with a rational deliberative system that analyses costs and benefits. Affective system acts on impulses. Decisions are made with conflicting inputs from each system.	None identified
Sundermacher (2012)	Rational Choice	$\begin{array}{l} \lambda_i \left( t,  HS_{it}  , HS_{it-1i} ,  X_{it} \right) \\ = P(T_i = t  \Big   T_i > t,  H_{it}, \\ HS_{it-1} ,  X_{it} \right) \\ \lambda_i : \mbox{ conditional probability of behaviour change, } \\ t: \mbox{ time period, } HS: \\ health \mbox{ shock, } i: \\ individual,  X_{it}: \\ vector \mbox{ of } \end{array}$	Rational addiction is the theory that present utility increases for each extra unit of past consumption. Model of health shocks assumes individuals learn about their actions when they have a health shock	Literature found no evidence of health shocks on behaviour change for individuals who were overweight.

		covariates summarising observed differences at t	which forces a behaviour change.	
Zukiewicz- Sobczak et al. (2014)	Rational Choice	N/A	'Poverty paradox' exists because deprived individuals cannot afford to eat healthily and overconsume energy due to cheap energy dense foods being the bulk of their diet.	None identified

# Appendix 2: Data Extraction Forms for Empirical Evidence Papers

Paper (Author/ Year)	Main Findings
Ailshire et al. (2012)	Large US database found those in society that were most disadvantaged gained more weight than higher social classes over- time, with most of the difference being in early life.
Barlow et al. (2016)	Systematic review of time-preference literature found moderate evidence of a significant link between discounting and the risk of overweight and obesity.
Bimbo et al. (2015)	Having a supermarket in the neighbourhood linked to improved diet quality and a lower obesity prevalence rate.
Celnik et al. (2012)	An increased number of households with both partners working has meant that both partners have less free time. This has led to a reduction in average cooking time and an increase in the use of ready meals and takeaways which has contributes to an overconsumption of energy.
Drewnowski (2012)	Found in the US those with lower education and income had a greater obesity prevalence rate. Factors contributing to this were found to be the affordability of healthy foods and having a supermarket in the local area. Low property values predicted bodyweights for women better than education and income. In summary deprivation had a large impact on obesity.
Drewnowski et al. (2015)	Property values in the US were able to predict obesity, but not 1-year weight change. No other measures of socio-economic status were able to predict 1-year weight change.
Guerra et al. (2015)	5.5 year-long study in Switzerland on a cohort of people that financial difficulties were positively associated with weight gain.
Hashemi et al. (2015)	More immediate forms of payments caused a significant increase in participation in a weight loss programme.
Morris (2013)	Found a positive and significant effect of food desert intensity on obesity prevalence. However, it was small in magnitude.
Pan et al. (2012)	US data found that those that had been most stressed about being able to afford healthy meals over the last 12 months were significantly more likely to be obese than those who hadn't faced the same level of food insecurity.
Saba et al. (2014)	Found that in Italy, obese respondents to a survey were significantly less interested in nutritional information than their non-obese peers.
Seward (2014)	Low-income groups in the US found to have a lower desire to lose weight, and attempted less weight loss attempts than less deprived groups.
Sturm and An (2014)	Increase in the obesity prevalence rate in the US coincided with an increase in leisure time.
Sun (2016)	Found that in a study to find the optimal weight of a person that it was greater than the health maximising weight for both females and males.

Zeng et al. (2015)	5) Found that there was an ambiguous effect of food deserts on body	
	weight.	

## Appendix 3

Join Type	Ν	N (%)
Standard	307,465	47.1
Re-Join	144,447	22.1
Countdown	63,875	9.8
Discount	119,786	18.3
Referral	17,896	2.7

## Appendix 4

Attendance in Time-period	Count	Proportion (%)
Up to 3 Months	692,945	100.0
3 Months - 6 Months	309,881	44.2
6 Months - 12 Months	167,578	23.9
12 Months - 24 Months	81,902	11.8

#### Appendix 5: Rational Choice Variables and Proxies

Theory	Ideal Variable	Proxy Variable
More overweight means more motivation to lose weight	How much weight the individual is above ideal weight	Distance between baseline weight and target BMI
More disposable income means less barriers to weight loss	Budget constraint	Income IMD quintile
More free time means more time to diet/exercise	Free hours per week	Full-time/part-time work, partner at home, children at home
More deprived individuals may have supportive partners to help individuals manage weight	How supportive the individual's partner is	N/A
More societal discrimination more to gain from losing weight	How much discrimination the person receives	Distance between baseline weight and healthy BMI of 25
More information means better equipped to lose weight, and better information processing	Knowledge of weight loss of the individual	Attendances where the individual did not leave early, education IMD, diabetic and referral

PF

Theory	Ideal Variable	Drowy Variable
Theory		FIOXY VAHADIE

Those that put more emphasis on the present find it more difficult to lose weight	Discount rate	Education IMD quintile, age
Those with greater risk to their health in the present will have more motivation to lose weight	Probability of health event	Age, diabetic
Hyperbolic discounters lose less weight	Hyperbolic discounter	Education IMD quintile, age

Appendix 7: Habits and Self-Control Variables and Proxies

Theory	Ideal Variable	Proxy Variable
Individual's with weaker habits are better able to lose weight	Strength of habits	Re-join membership and distance between baseline BMI and healthy BMI of 25
Replacing overeating with an alternative activity means more weight loss	Alternative activity dummy	N/A
Those that invest more in the programme initially should continue for longer	Payments, travel cost	Interaction between join type and income IMD quintile
Those that are sophisticated about self- control problems should lose more weight	Sophisticated dummy	Countdown
Each successive weight loss attempt is more difficult than the last	Number of past weight loss attempts	Re-join membership
Those with a higher stock of past consumption should find it harder to lose weight	Stock of past- overeating	Distance between baseline BMI and healthy BMI of 25

Appendix 8: Table 23 with Categorical IMD Variables

Variable	n	Coefficient	t-
			statistic

Target Weight Change (kg)	554,300	0.0216***	45.37
Income IMD Quintile 0 (0 most deprived, 4: least deprived)	509,926	-	-
Income IMD Quintile 1	509,926	-0.0947***	-6.92
Income IMD Quintile 2	509,926	-0.167***	-12.31
Income IMD Quintile 3	509,926	-0.232***	-17.08
Income IMD Quintile 4	509,926	-0.218***	-15.46
Partner at Home (1=yes, 0=no)	252,321	-0.393***	-28.45
Children at Home (1=yes, 0=no)	252,321	-0.0720***	-5.83
Employment Status (1=part-time, 0=full-time)	252,321	-0.119***	-9.01
Diabetic (1=yes, 0=no)	692,945	-0.362***	-15.17
Full Attendances	692,945	-0.513***	-530.93
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 0 (0: most deprived, 4: least deprived)	516,796	-	-
Education and Skills IMD Quintile	516,796	-0.0705***	-5.52
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 2	516,796	-0.129***	-10.01
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 3	516,796	-0.118***	-8.97
Education and Skills IMD Quintile	516,796	-0.0578***	-4.05
Age at Start Date (years)	692,945	-0.121***	-45.90
Join Type (re-join=1, standard=0)	451,912	1.891***	211.14
Join Type (countdown=1, standard=0)	371,340	-0.127***	-9.65
Join Type (discount, standard=0)	427,251	0.491***	47.81
Join Type (referral=1, standard=0)	325,361	-0.472***	-19.85

Appendix 9: Table 24 with Categorical IMD Variables

Variable	n	Coefficient	t-
			statistic

Target Weight Change (kg)	554,300	0.0225***	62.14
Income IMD Quintile (0: most deprived, 4: least deprived)	509,926	-	-
Income IMD Quintile 1	509,926	-0.0318**	-3.01
Income IMD Quintile 2	509,926	-0.0447***	-4.28
Income IMD Quintile 3	509,926	-0.0755***	-7.21
Income IMD Quintile 4	509,926	-0.0762***	-7.00
Partner at Home (1=yes, 0=no)	252,321	-0.120***	-11.58
Children at Home (1=yes, 0=no)	252,321	-0.120***	-13.03
Employment Status (1=part-time, 0=full-time)	252,321	-0.00421	-0.43
Diabetic (1=yes, 0=no)	692,945	0.0586**	3.19
Full Attendances	692,945	-0.0880***	-61.73
Education and Skills IMD Quintile (0: most deprived, 4: least deprived)	516,796	-	-
Education and Skills IMD Quintile	516,796	-0.0117	-1.19
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 2	516,796	-0.0344**	-3.48
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 3	516,796	-0.0290**	-2.86
Education and Skills IMD Quintile	516,796	-0.0250*	-2.28
Age at Start (years)	692,945	0.00632***	30.78
Join Type (re-join=1, standard=0)	451,912	1.189***	171.26
Join Type (countdown=1, standard=0)	371,340	0.473***	48.42
Join Type (discount, standard=0)	427,251	0.494***	65.36
Join Type (referral=1, standard=0)	325,361	0.458***	26.37

Appendix	10:	Table	25	with	Categorical	IMD	Variables
					0		

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Target Weight Change	0.0192***	45.36
Income IMD Quintile	0	
Income IMD Quintile 1	-0.0492***	-3.67

Income IMD Quintile 2	-0.0810***	-5.10
Income IMD Quintile 3	-0.133***	-7.57
Income IMD Quintile 4	-0.162***	-8.40
Diabetic	0.342***	15.25
Full Attendances	-0.109***	-61.10
Total Attendances	-0.517***	-296.51
Education and Skills IMD Quintile	0	
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 1	0.00707	0.54
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 2	0.0148	0.95
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 3	0.0361*	2.09
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 4	0.0361	1.87
Age at Start Date	0.00486***	17.88
Standard Join Type	0	
Rejoin Join Type	1.140***	107.17
Countdown Join Type	0.371***	31.54
Discount Join Type	0.385***	38.85
Referral Join Type	0.315***	16.24
Baseline Weight	-0.0299***	-132.27
Male	-1.125***	-64.23
Constant	3.672***	151.47
Ν	393,318	

Appendix 11: Table 26 with Categorical IMD Variables

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Target Weight Change	0.0195***	35.01
Income IMD Quintile 0	0	
Income IMD Quintile 1	-0.114***	-6.46
Income IMD Quintile 2	-0.217***	-10.39
Income IMD Quintile 3	-0.322***	-14.00

Income IMD Quintile 4	-0.363***	-14.35
Diabetic	0.337***	11.42
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 0	0	
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 1	0.0396*	2.28
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 2	0.101***	4.94
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 3	0.187***	8.25
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 4	0.270***	10.66
Age at Start Date	-0.0155***	-43.82
Standard Join Type	0	
Rejoin Join Type	1.818***	131.07
Countdown Join Type	-0.154***	-10.03
Discount Join Type	0.297***	22.86
Referral Join Type	1.818***	-17.93
Baseline Weight	-0.0343***	-115.91
Male	-1.286***	-56.78
Constant	0.393***	12.82
Ν	393,318	

Variable	Coefficient (model 1)	t-statistic (model 1)	Coefficient (model 2)	t-statistic (model 2)
Target Weight Change	-0.0000719	-0.21	-0.000567*	-2.35
Income IMD Quintile	0		0	
Income IMD Quintile	0.0131	1.18	0.0394***	5.14
Income IMD Quintile 2	0.0105	0.80	0.0801***	8.82

Income IMD Quintile 3	0.0162	1.13	0.110***	11.02
Income IMD Quintile 4	0.0240	1.52	0.121***	11.01
Diabetic	0.0113	0.63	0.00985	0.78
Full Attendances	0.0217***	17.21		
Total Attendances	0.546***	281.14		
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 0	0		0	
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 1	-0.00874	-0.80	-0.0285***	-3.77
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 2	0.0223	1.74	-0.0455***	-5.10
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 3	0.0264	1.87	-0.0793***	-8.03
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 4	0.0308	1.95	-0.127***	-11.53
Age at Start Date	0.00125***	5.73	0.0105***	68.11
Standard Join Type	0		0	
Rejoin Join Type	0.0861***	9.51	-0.361***	-57.65
Countdown Join Type	0.0531***	5.94	0.212***	32.21
Discount Join Type	0.0445***	5.51	0.0404***	7.21
Referral Join Type	0.124***	8.41	0.426***	38.90
Baseline Weight	0.000413*	2.24	0.00207***	16.09
Male	0.0156	1.15	0.0914***	9.38
Constant	-5.278***	-215.00	-0.936***	-69.89
Ν	393,318		393,318	

Variable	Coefficient (12- Weeks)	t-statistic (12- Weeks)	Coefficient (6-Monts)	t-statistic (6- Months)	Coefficient (1-Year)	t-statistic (1-Year)
Target Weight Change	-0.000145	-0.42	-0.000310	-0.98	0.0000261	-0.08
Income IMD Quintile 0	0		0		0	
Income IMD Quintile 1	0.0315**	2.89	0.0509***	5.05	0.0257*	2.24
Income IMD Quintile 2	0.0572***	4.44	0.0906***	7.61	0.044**	3.26
Income IMD Quintile 3	0.0849***	6.00	0.111***	8.51	0.0607***	4.09

Income IMD Quintile 4	0.0960***	6.17	0.132***	9.16	0.0699***	4.29
Diabetic	-0.0305	-1.66	-0.0180	-1.15	-0.00555	-0.33
Full Attendances	0.0572***	42.51	0.0815***	67.88	0.0596***	27.83
Total Attendances	0.463***	286.03	0.241***	43.41	0.109***	15.64
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 0	0		0		0	
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 1	0.00630	0.59	-0.0150	-1.52	0.00446	0.4
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 2	0.0239	1.89	-0.00938	-0.81	-0.0153	-1.17
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 3	0.0420	3.00	-0.0123	-0.96	-0.0141	-0.97
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 4	0.0482	3.10	-0.0206	-1.44	-0.0267	-1.65
Age at Start	0.00554***	25.40	0.00834***	40.99	0.00778***	29.05
Standard Join Type	0		0		0	
Rejoin Join Type	0.0126	1.48	-0.125***	-14.58	-0.133***	-12.51
Countdown Join Type	0.0858***	9.47	-0.00930	-1.15	0.0100	1.13
Discount Join Type	-0.0152	-1.89	-0.0536***	-7.35	-0.0487***	-5.89
Referral Join Type	0.0282	1.84	-0.192***	-14.99	-0.0422**	-2.95
Baseline Weight	0.00134***	7.33	0.00204***	12.24	0.000901***	4.78
Male	0.0344*	2.49	-0.00554	-0.46	-0.0415**	-3.1
Attendance after 12- Weeks	-	-	0.467***	10.71	0.181***	3.65
Attendance after 6- Months	-	-	-	-	1.209***	22.53

Constant	-4.532***	-204.49	-4.165***	-120.52	-3.548***	-69.33
Ν	393,318		393,318		393,318	

Appendix 14: Selection Output for the Heckman Correction Model Predicting Weight-Change at Week 11

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Attendance at Week 11		
Target Weight Change	-0.0000719	-0.21
Income IMD Quintile	0.00532	1.44
Diabetic	0.0113	0.63
Full Attendances	0.0217***	17.20
Total Attendances	0.546***	281.17
Education and Skills Quintile	0.00961**	2.58
Age at Start Date	0.00124***	5.71
Standard Join Type	0	
Rejoin Join Type	0.0860***	9.50
Countdown Join Type	0.0530***	5.93
Discount Join Type	0.0445***	5.52
Referral Join Type	0.124***	8.42
Baseline Weight	0.000413*	2.24

Male	0.0156	1.15
Constant	-5.281***	-219.81
mills		
lambda	2.420***	128.75
Ν	393,318	

## Appendix 15: Table 29 with Categorical IMD Variables

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Target Weight Change	0.0351***	39.03
Income IMD Quintile 0	0	
Income IMD Quintile 1	-0.107***	-3.67
Income IMD Quintile 2	-0.181***	-5.26
Income IMD Quintile 3	-0.260***	-6.87
Income IMD Quintile 4	-0.310***	-7.45
Diabetic	0.291***	6.63
Full Attendances	-0.107***	-34.66
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 0	0	
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 1	0.0299	1.05
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 2	0.0786*	2.33
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 3	0.109**	2.91
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 4	0.158***	3.79
Age at Start Date	0.0107***	18.85
Baseline Weight	-0.0463***	-96.12
Male	-1.439***	-41.73
Constant	-1.114***	-19.39
Selection Output		
Attendance at Week 11		
Target Weight Change	-0.0000719	-0.21
Income IMD Quintile 0	0	
Income IMD Quintile 1	0.0131	1.18
Income IMD Quintile 2	0.0105	0.80
Income IMD Quintile 3	0.0162	1.13
Income IMD Quintile 4	0.0240	1.52
Diabetic	0.0113	0.63
Full Attendances	0.0217***	17.21

Total Attendances	0.546***	281.14
Education and Skills Quintile	0	
Education and Skills Quintile	-0.00874	-0.80
Education and Skills Quintile 2	0.0223	1.74
Education and Skills Quintile 3	0.0264	1.87
Education and Skills Quintile	0.0308	1.95
Age at Start Date	0.00125***	5.73
Standard Join Type	0	
Rejoin Join Type	0.0861***	9.51
Countdown Join Type	0.0531***	5.94
Discount Join Type	0.0445***	5.51
Referral Join Type	0.124***	8.41
Baseline Weight	0.000413*	2.24
Male	0.0156	1.15
Constant	-5.278***	-215.00
mills		
lambda	2.420***	128.72
N	393,318	

Appendix 16: Table 30 with Categorical IMD Variables

Group	Ν	LOCF Weight- Change (kg)	OLS Model Prediction of LOCF Weight- Change (kg)	Heckman Correction of Weight- Change at Week 11 (kg)
Full Sample	393,318	-3.499 (3.167)	-3.499 (2.230)	-6.111 (1.300)
Attended Week 11	155,230	-5.376 (3.340)	-5.357 (1.340)	-6.409 (1.323)
Did Not Attend Week 11	238,088	-2.275 (2.346)	-2.288 (1.824)	-5.917 (1.247)

\*standard deviation in parentheses

Appendix 17: Selection Output for the Heckman Correction Model Predicting Weight-Change at 6-Months

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic

Attendance after 12-Weeks		
Target Weight Change	-0.000146	-0.42
Income IMD Quintile	0.0244***	6.66
Diabetic	-0.0305	-1.66
Full Attendances	0.0572***	42.50
Total Attendances	0.463***	286.08
Education and Skills Quintile	0.0135***	3.68
Age at Start Date	0.00554***	25.42
Standard Join Type	0	
Rejoin Join Type	0.0125	1.46
Countdown Join Type	0.0857***	9.45
Discount Join Type	-0.0153	-1.91
Referral Join Type	0.0280	1.82
Baseline Weight	0.00134***	7.33
Male	0.0344*	2.49
Constant	-4.530***	-209.70
mills		
lambda	-0.590***	-33.19
Ν	393,318	

Appendix 18: Selection Output for the Heckman Correction Model Predicting Weight-Change at 1-Year

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Attendance after 6-Months		
Target Weight Change	-0.000304	-0.97
Income IMD Quintile	0.0317***	9.42
Diabetic	-0.0179	-1.15
Full Attendances	0.0815***	67.84
Total Attendances	0.241***	43.40
Education and Skills Quintile	-0.00337	-1.00
Age at Start Date	0.00834***	41.03
Standard Join Type	0	
Rejoin Join Type	-0.126***	-14.61
Countdown Join Type	-0.00933	-1.16
Discount Join Type	-0.0540***	-7.40
Referral Join Type	-0.193***	-15.02
Baseline Weight	0.00204***	12.24
Male	-0.00537	-0.44

Predicted Attendance after 12- Weeks	0.468***	10.73
Constant	-4.155***	-121.40
mills		
lambda	-1.525***	-28.28
Ν	393,318	

Appendix 19: Selection Output for the Heckman Correction Model Predicting Weight-Change at 2-Years

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Attendance after 1-Year		
Target Weight Change	-0.0000250	-0.07
Income IMD Quintile	0.0174***	4.57
Diabetic	-0.00556	-0.33
Full Attendances	0.0596***	27.83
Total Attendances	0.109***	15.64
Education and Skills Quintile	-0.00721	-1.90
Age at Start Date	0.00779***	29.07
Standard Join Type	0	
Rejoin Join Type	-0.133***	-12.51
Countdown Join Type	0.0100	1.14
Discount Join Type	-0.0488***	-5.91
Referral Join Type	-0.0422**	-2.96
Baseline Weight	0.000900***	4.77
Male	-0.0413**	-3.08

Predicted Attendance after 12- Weeks	0.180***	3.65
Predicted Attendance after 6- Months	1.210***	22.54
Constant	-3.538***	-69.69
mills		
lambda	-1.852***	-14.78
Ν	393,318	

# Appendix 20: Table 31 with Categorical IMD Variables

Variable	Coefficient (6-Months)	t-statistic (6- Months)	Coefficient (12-Months)	t- statistic (1- Year)	Coefficient (24- Months)	t- statistic (2-Year)	
Target Weight Change	0.0108***	15.52	0.0285***	16.31	0.0363***	10.85	
Income IMD Quintile 0	0	•	0	•	0	•	
Income IMD Quintile 1	-0.0512*	-2.26	-0.00131	-0.02	-0.158	-1.4	
Income IMD Quintile 2	-0.0878**	-3.29	-0.0247	-0.36	-0.0762	-0.57	
Income IMD Quintile 3	-0.0916**	-3.13	-0.0606	-0.81	-0.169	-1.16	
Income IMD Quintile 4	-0.0602	-1.87	-0.0142	-0.17	-0.0479	-0.3	
Diabetic	-0.0671*	-1.97	0.225**	2.71	0.204	1.34	
Full Attendances	-0.122***	-48.83	-0.0734***	-9.32	-0.0113	-0.6	
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 0	0	•	0		0		
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 1	0.0520*	2.34	-0.0105	-0.18	0.0505	0.46	
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 2	0.0743**	2.84	0.0835	1.25	0.0131	0.1	
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 3	0.0670*	2.32	0.113	1.53	0.133	0.93	
Education and Skills IMD Quintile 4	0.0951**	2.96	0.167*	2.03	0.0950	0.6	
Age at Start Date	-0.0179***	-40.81	-0.0184***	-16.13	-0.0138***	-5.89	
Baseline Weight	-0.00306***	-8.02	-0.0248***	-25.35	-0.0491***	-25.13	

Male	0.651***	24.32	1.193***	17.87	1.314***	10.28
LOCF Weight- Change 3 Months	1.419***	664.79	-	-	-	-
Heckman Weight- Change 6 Months	-	-	1.154***	296.67	-	-
Heckman Weight- Change 12 Months	-	-	-	-	0.919***	137.63
Constant	2.847***	62.94	4.838***	31.77	5.727***	14.27
Selection Output						
	Attendance after 12- Weeks		Attendance after 6- Months		Attendance after 1- Year	
Target Weight Change	-0.000145	-0.42	-0.000310	-0.98	-0.0000261	-0.08
Income IMD Quintile 0	0		0			
Income IMD Quintile 1	0.0315**	2.89	0.0516***	5.11	0	
Income IMD Quintile 2	0.0572***	4.44	0.0915***	7.69	0.0336**	2.95
Income IMD Quintile 3	0.0849***	6.00	0.112***	8.6	0.0552***	4.1
Income IMD Quintile 4	0.0960***	6.17	0.131***	9.15	0.0678***	4.58
Diabetic	-0.0305	-1.66	-0.0180	-1.15	0.0717***	4.4
Full Attendances	0.0572***	42.51	0.0815***	67.88	-0.00557	-0.33
Total Attendances	0.463***	286.03	0.241***	43.39	0.0596***	27.84
Education and Skills Quintile 0	0		0		0.109***	15.64
Education and Skills Quintile 1	0.00630	0.59	-0.01570	-1.59	0	
Education and Skills Quintile 2	0.0239	1.89	-0.00970	-0.83	-0.000550	-0.05
Education and Skills Quintile 3	0.0420**	3	-0.0122	-0.95	-0.0165	-1.26
Education and Skills Quintile 4	0.0482**	3.1	-0.0212	-1.48	-0.0149	-1.03
Age at Start Date	0.00554***	25.4	0.00833***	40.99	-0.0298	-1.85

Standard Join Type	0		0		0.00778***	29.03
Rejoin Join Type	0.0126	1.48	-0.125***	-14.58	0	•
Countdown Join Type	0.0858***	9.47	-0.00930	-1.16	-0.132***	-12.5
Discount Join Type	-0.0152	-1.89	-0.0536***	-7.35	0.0100	1.14
Referral Join Type	0.0282	1.84	-0.192***	-14.99	-0.0485***	-5.87
Baseline Weight	0.00134***	7.33	0.00204***	12.24	-0.0420**	-2.93
Male	0.0344*	2.49	-0.00555	-0.46	0.000901** *	4.78
Predicted Attendance after 12-Weeks	-	-	0.468***	10.73	-0.0415**	-3.1
Predicted Attendance after 6-Months	-	-	-	-	0.180***	3.65
Constant	-4.532***	-204.49	-4.165***	-120.57	1.210***	22.53
mills					-3.552***	-69.57
lambda	-0.590***	-33.23	-1.527***	-28.3		
N	393,318		393,318		-1.855***	-14.79
					393,318	

#### Appendix 21: Table 32 with Categorical IMD Variables

Group	N	LOCF Weight- Change (kg)	Heckman Correction Predicted Weight-Change (kg)
Full Sample	393,318	-4.328 (4.718)	-3.993 (4.756)
Attended after 3 months (observed)	191,275	-6.925 (5.329)	-6.722 (4.755)
Last attendance before 3 months (unobserved)	202,043	-1.870 (2.006)	-1.410 (2.984)

\*standard deviation in parentheses

Appendix 22: Table 33 with Categorical IMD Variables

Group	N	LOCF Weight-	Heckman
		Change (kg)	Correction

			Predicted Weight-Change
Full Sample	393,318	-4.532 (5.535)	-3.510 (5.848)
Attended after 6 months (observed)	107,767	-9.454 (7.470)	-8.278 (5.896)
Last attendance between 3 and 6 months (unobserved)	84,187	-4.606 (3.753)	-5.011 (5.181)
Last attendance before 3 months (unobserved)	201,364	-1.867 (2.003)	-0.335 (3.715)

\*standard deviation in parentheses

Appendix 23: Table 34 with Categorical IMD Variables

Group	N	LOCF Weight-Change (kg)	Heckman Correction Predicted Weight-Change
Full Sample	393,318	-4.387 (5.522)	-3.0581 (5.914)
Attended After 12 Months (observed)	55,042	-10.644 (8.995)	-8.494 (6.212)
Last attendance between 6 and 12 months (unobserved)	53,523	-7.115 (5.682)	-6.668 (5.812)
Last attendance between 3 and 6 months (unobserved)	83,588	-4.587 (3.744)	-4.443 (5.298)
Last attendance before 3 months (unobserved)	201,165	-1.867 (2.003)	-0.0543 (3.981)

\*standard deviation in parentheses

\*\*Last attendance before 3 months was lower when predicting weight-change at 24 months as some participants who dropped out in the first 3-months attended again after a year



Dimension	Question for Critical Appraisal	Gray et al. (2018)	Thomas et al. (2017)	Michaud et al. (2017)	Zomer et al. (2017)	Ahern et al. (2017)	Smith et al. (2016)	Haussler and Breyer (2016)	Hoerger et al. (2015)	Wilson et al. (2015)	Fuller et al. (2014)	Lewis et al. (2014)	Meads et al. (2014)	Ginsberg and Rosenberg	Miners et al. (2012)	Forster et al. (2011)	Cobiac et al. (2010)	Trueman et al. (2010)	Gustafson et al. (2009)	Bemelmans et al. (2008)	Galani et al. (2007)	Roux et al. (2006)	Olsen et al. (2005)
Structure (S1)																							
S1	Is there a clear statement of the decision problem?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	Is the objective of the evaluation and model specified and consistent with the stated decision problem?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	Is the primary decision maker specified?	Y	Y	U	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y
S2	Is the perspective of the model stated clearly?	Y	Y	U	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	U

## Appendix 24: Quality Assessment of Studies Included in the Systematic Review

	Are the model inputs consistent with the stated perspective?	Y	Y	U	Y	NA	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	U
	Has the scope of the model been stated and justified?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N
	Are the outcomes of the model consistent with the perspective, scope and overall objective of the model?	Y	Y	U	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	U
S3	Has the evidence regarding the model structure been described?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y
	Is the structure of the model consistent with a coherent theory of the health condition under evaluation?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	U	Y	Y	U	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	U
	Have any competing theories regarding model structure been considered?	N	Y	U	N	N	N	Y	N	Y	N	N	U	N	Y	Y	N	N	U	N	N	N	N
	Are the sources of data used to develop the	Y	Y	Y	N	Y	Ν	Y	U	Y	Y	N	N	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y

	structure of the model specified?																						
	Are the causal relationships described by the model structure justified appropriately?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	N	Y	Ν	Y	Y	U	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Ν
S4	Are the structural assumptions transparent and justified?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	N	Y	Ν	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	N
	Are the structural assumptions reasonable given the overall objective, perspective and scope of the model?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	N	Y	U	Y	Y	U	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Ν
S5	Is there a clear definition of the options under evaluation?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	Have all feasible and practical options been evaluated?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	Is there justification for the exclusion of feasible options?	NA																					
S6	Is the chosen model type appropriate given the decision problem and specified	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	Y	U	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Ν

	causal relationships within the model?																						
S7	Is the time horizon of the model sufficient to reflect all important differences between options?	Y	U	Y	N	U	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	U
	Is the time horizon of the model, the duration of treatment and the duration of treatment effect described and justified?	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y
	Has a lifetime time horizon been used?	Y	Ν	Y	N	N	N	N	Y	Y	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N	U	Y	Y	N
	If not, has a shorter time horizon been justified?	NA	N	NA	Y	N	Y	Y	NA	Y	Ν	NA	NA	Y									
S8	Do the disease states (state transition model) or the pathways (decision tree model) reflect the underlying biological process of the disease in	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N	Y	U	Y	Y	U	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Ν

	question and the impact of interventions?																						
S9	Is the cycle length defined and justified in terms of the natural history of disease?	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	U	U	Y	Ν	Y	N	Ν	N	Ν	N	N	N	Y	U	N
Data (D)																							
D1	Are the data identification methods transparent and appropriate given the objectives of the model?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	N
	Where choices have been made between data sources, are these justified appropriately?	U	Y	Y	U	U	N	U	Ν	U	Y	U	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	N	U	N	U	Y	U
	Has particular attention been paid to identifying data for the important parameters in the model?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	U	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	U	Y	Y	N
	Has the process of selecting key parameters been justified and systematic methods used to	Ζ	Y	N	N	U	N	N	Ν	Y	N	Ν	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	N	N	N	U	Y	Ν

	identify the most appropriate data?																						
	Has the quality of the data been assessed appropriately?	N	Y	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	U	U	N
	Where expert opinion has been used, are the methods described and justified?	Y	Y	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Y	Y	NA	NA	Y	NA								
D2	Are the pre- model data analysis methodology based on justifiable statistical and epidemiological techniques?	Y	Y	Y	NA	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν
D2a	Is the choice of baseline data described and justified?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν
	Are transition probabilities calculated appropriately?	Y	Y	Y	U	U	Y	Y	U	U	Y	U	Y	U	Y	Y	U	U	U	U	Y	Y	U
	Has a half cycle correction been applied to both cost and outcome?	Y	U	N	Y	U	U	N	U	U	Y	N	U	N	N	U	U	U	U	N	Y	NA	N
	If not, has this omission been justified?	NA	NA	Ν	NA	NA	NA	Ν	NA	NA	NA	N	NA	Ν	NA	NA	Ν						

D2b	If relative treatment effects have been derived from trial data, have they been synthesised using appropriate techniques?	NA	Y	NA	U	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA												
	Have the methods and assumptions used to extrapolate short-term results to final outcomes been documented and justified?	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Y	N	N	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν
	Have alternative extrapolation assumptions been explored through sensitivity analysis?	Ν	U	U	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν
	Have assumptions regarding the continuing effect of treatment once treatment is complete been documented and justified?	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Ν
	Have alternative assumptions been explored	Y	Y	U	N	N	N	N	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N	N	Y	N
	through sensitivity analysis?																						
-----	---	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	---	----
D2c	Are the utilities incorporated into the model appropriate?	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	U	Y	Y	N
	Is the source for utility weights referenced?	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	N	Y	N	N	Y	Y	N
	Are the methods of derivation for the utility weights justified?	Y	Y	N	N	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	N	N	N	Y	N	N	Y	Y	N
D3	Have all data incorporated into the model been described and referenced in sufficient detail?	Y	Y	Y	N	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Y	Y	N
	Has the use of mutually inconsistent data been justified (i.e. are assumptions and choices appropriate)?	NA	N	NA	Y	NA																	
	Is the process of data incorporation transparent?	N	Y	Y	N	N	Y	N	N	N	Y	N	Y	N	N	Y	N	Y	N	N	Y	Y	N
	If data have been incorporated as distributions, has the choice of distribution for	N	Y	Y	NA	NA	Y	NA	NA	NA	N	NA	Y	NA	NA	Y	Y	NA	N	N	N	Y	N

	each parameter been described and justified?																						
	If data have been incorporated as distributions, is it clear that second order uncertainty is reflected?	Y	Y	Y	NA	NA	Y	NA	NA	NA	Y	NA	Y	NA	NA	Y	Y	NA	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	N
D4	Have the four principal types of uncertainty been addressed?	Ν	Ν	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ν	Ν	N	Ν	N	Ν	Ν	N
	If not, has the omission of particular forms of uncertainty been justified?	Ν	N	Ν	N	N	N	Ν	Ν	N	N	Ν	N	Ν	Ν	Z	Ν	Ν	Ν	N	Ν	Ν	N
D4a	Have methodological uncertainties been addressed by running alternative versions of the model with different methodological assumptions?	Y	Y	N	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	N	Y	Y
D4b	Is there evidence that structural uncertainties have been assessed via sensitivity analysis?	Ν	Ν	N	N	N	N	U	N	N	N	N	N	N	Y	Ζ	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	N

D4c	Has heterogeneity been dealt with by running the model separately for different sub- groups?	N	Y	Y	Y	N	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	Y	N	N	Y	N	N	N	N	Y	N	N
D4d	Are the methods of assessment of parameter uncertainty appropriate?	Y	Y	Y	U	N	Y	N	N	N	Y	N	Y	N	N	Y	Y	N	U	N	Y	Y	N
	Has probabilistic sensitivity analysis been done?	Y	Y	Y	N	N	Y	N	N	N	Y	N	Y	N	N	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	Y	Y
	If not has this been justified?	NA	NA	NA	Ν	Ν	NA	Ν	Ν	Ν	NA	Ν	NA	Ν	Ν	NA	NA	Ν	NA	Ν	NA	NA	NA
	If data are incorporated as point estimates, are the ranges used for sensitivity analysis stated clearly and justified?	Y	Y	Y	NA	NA	Y	NA	NA	NA	Y	NA	N	NA	NA	Y	Y	NA	Ν	NA	N	Y	Y
Consistency (C2)																							
C1	Is there evidence that the mathematical logical of the model has been tested thoroughly before use?	N	U	N	N	U	N	U	U	N	N	Ν	N	N	U	U	Ν	N	Ν	Ν	Ν	U	N

C2	Are the conclusions valid given the data presented?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	Are any counterintuitive results from the model explained and justified?	NA	Y	NA	NA	NA	NA	Y	Y	NA													
	If the model has been calibrated against independent data, have any differences been explained and justified?	NA																					
	Have the results of the model been compared with those of previous models and any differences in results explained?	N	Y	Y	N	N	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y

Appendix 25: Regression Results from Predicting Weight-Change without VLCD Programmes

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Age	0.283	1.89
Female	0.286	0.22
Start Weight	-0.00293	-0.05
Weight Loss Phase	-0.379	-1.26
Weight Loss Phase Squared	0.0143	1.21
Physical Activity Programme	-2.068*	-2.22
Initial Weight Loss	0.388**	3.05
Maintenance Phase	-0.732	-0.79
Time from Weight-Loss Phase End	0.170***	3.57
Time from Weight-Loss Phase End Squared	-0.00159**	-2.79
Constant	-16.25	-1.26
N	52	

P<0.05\*, p<0.01\*\*, p<0.001\*\*\*